HUMAN-ANIMAL INTERACTION (HAI) RESEARCH: A DECADE OF PROGRESS

EDITED BY: Peggy D. McCardle, Sandra McCune and James A. Griffin PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Veterinary Science, Frontiers in Psychology, Frontiers in Public Health and Frontiers in Pediatrics







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-601-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-601-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

1

HUMAN-ANIMAL INTERACTION (HAI) RESEARCH: A DECADE OF PROGRESS

Topic Editors:

Peggy D. McCardle, Haskins Laboratories, New Haven, CT, United States **Sandra McCune,** Waltham Centre for Pet Nutrition, United Kingdom **James A. Griffin,** National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States



Human-Animal Interaction Research

Citation: McCardle, P. D., McCune, S., Griffin, J. A., eds. (2020). Human-Animal Interaction (HAI) Research: A Decade of Progress. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-601-3

Table of Contents

- **05** Editorial: Human-Animal Interaction (HAI) Research: A Decade of Progress Sandra McCune, Peggy McCardle, James A. Griffin, Layla Esposito, Karyl Hurley, Regina Bures and Katherine A. Kruger
- 08 Infants' Daily Experience With Pets and Their Scanning of Animal Faces Karinna Hurley and Lisa M. Oakes
- 19 Long-Term Effect of Therapeutic Horseback Riding in Youth With Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Randomized Trial Robin L. Gabriels, Zhaoxing Pan, Noémie A. Guérin, Briar Dechant and Gary Mesibov
- 27 Children's Relationship With Their Pet Dogs and OXTR Genotype Predict Child–Pet Interaction in an Experimental Setting Darlene A. Kertes, Nathan Hall and Samarth S. Bhatt
- 36 Enhanced Selection of Assistance and Explosive Detection Dogs Using Cognitive Measures

Evan L. MacLean and Brian Hare

- 50 The Role of Animal Assisted Intervention on Improving Self-Esteem in Children With Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Sabrina E. B. Schuck, Heather L. Johnson, Maryam M. Abdullah, Annamarie Stehli, Aubrey H. Fine and Kimberley D. Lakes
- 59 Reliability and Validity Assessment of the Observation of Human-Animal Interaction for Research (OHAIRE) Behavior Coding Tool Noémie A. Guérin, Robin L. Gabriels, Monique M. Germone, Sabrina E. B. Schuck, Anne Traynor, Katherine M. Thomas, Samantha J. McKenzie, Virginia Slaughter and Marguerite E. O'Haire
- 74 Compatibility of Cats With Children in the Family Lynette A. Hart, Benjamin L. Hart, Abigail P. Thigpen, Neil H. Willits, Leslie A. Lyons and Stefanie Hundenski
- **86 Teaching Children and Parents to Understand Dog Signaling** Kerstin Meints, Victoria Brelsford and Tiny De Keuster
- 100 Associations Between Pet Ownership and Attitudes Toward Pets With Youth Socioemotional Outcomes Kristen C. Jacobson and Laura Chang
- **112 To a Future Where Everyone Can Walk a Dog Even if They Don't Own One** Eunice Y. Chen
- **117** Adolescents' Affective and Physiological Regulation Shape Negative Behavior During Challenging Equine Assisted Learning Activities Patricia Pendry, Alexa M. Carr and Jaymie L. Vandagriff
- **130** Dog Training Intervention Shows Social-Cognitive Change in the Journals of Incarcerated Youth

Tiffany Syzmanski, Rita J. Casey, Amy Johnson, Annmarie Cano, Dana Albright and Nicholas P. Seivert

- 141 Replication Pilot Trial of Therapeutic Horseback Riding and Cortisol Collection With Children on the Autism Spectrum
 Zhaoxing Pan, Douglas A. Granger, Noémie A. Guérin, Amy Shoffner and Robin L. Gabriels
- **152** *Measuring Human-Animal Attachment in a Large U.S. Survey: Two Brief Measures for Children and Their Primary Caregivers* Regina M. Bures, Megan Kiely Mueller and Nancy R. Gee
- **157** *Human-Animal Interaction Research: Progress and Possibilities* James A. Griffin, Karyl Hurley and Sandra McCune





Editorial: Human-Animal Interaction (HAI) Research: A Decade of Progress

Sandra McCune^{1*}, Peggy McCardle^{2,3}, James A. Griffin⁴, Layla Esposito⁴, Karyl Hurley⁵, Regina Bures⁴ and Katherine A. Kruger⁶

¹ Waltham Centre for Pet Nutrition, Melton Mowbray, United Kingdom, ² PM Consulting LLC, Tarpon Springs, FL, United States, ³ Haskins Laboratories, New Haven, CT, United States, ⁴ Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD), Bethesda, MD, United States, ⁵ Mars Inc, McLean, VA, United States, ⁶ School of Veterinary Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Keywords: human-animal bond, human-animal interaction (HAI), human-animal relationships, child development, animal assisted intervention, animal assisted activities

Editorial on the Research Topic

Human-Animal Interaction (HAI) Research: A Decade of Progress

In 2008, the *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD), one of the 27 Institutes and Centers that make up the U.S. National Institutes of Health (NIH), and the WALTHAM[®] Centre for Pet Nutrition (WALTHAM[®]), a division of Mars Inc., entered a public-private partnership (henceforth referred to as "the Partnership") to explore the science of human-animal interaction (HAI), specifically as it relates to children's health and overall development. To take stock of existing research and more fully understand research needs in this area, the partners convened a series of workshops, bringing together researchers and practitioners currently working in HAI as well as individuals with expertise in other relevant fields including ethology, developmental, cognitive, clinical and comparative (animal) psychology, pediatric and veterinary medicine, epidemiology, and public health. Based on the research needs identified, the NICHD established a new research program on HAI and child health and development (1).

Those initial meetings also led to the publication of two edited volumes to disseminate the information from the presentations and the rich discussions that took place. The first volume, *Animals in Our Lives* (2), provided information about HAI research design and methodology and studies of HAI in child development and human health. The second, *How Animals Affect US* (3), had a more applied focus, highlighting HAI in family, community, and therapeutic settings and emphasizing the need for evidence-based practice in this relatively young and rapidly growing research area.

Informed by the workshops, NICHD, joined by the NIH's National Institute of Nursing Research, issued the first in a series of Funding Opportunity Announcements (FOAs) (1) partially funded through a gift to the NICHD from Mars, Incorporated under the Partnership. The first FOAs focused on how children perceive, relate to, and think about animals; how pets in the home impact children's social and emotional development and health (e.g., allergies, asthma, mitigation of obesity); and whether and under what conditions therapeutic use of animals is safe and effective. Seven research grants were funded under the initial FOAs, and between 2008 and 2018 the NICHD has issued 8 FOAs and funded a total of 27 research grants in HAI (for current information on funded grants and current FOAs see https://www.nichd.nih.gov/about/org/der/branches/cdbb/ programs/psad/HAI).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Mary M. Christopher, University of California, Davis, United States

*Correspondence: Sandra McCune drsandramccune@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Humanities and Social Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 11 December 2019 Accepted: 17 January 2020 Published: 18 February 2020

Citation:

McCune S, McCardle P, Griffin JA, Esposito L, Hurley K, Bures R and Kruger KA (2020) Editorial: Human-Animal Interaction (HAI) Research: A Decade of Progress. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:44. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00044 As the research investments began to bear fruit the Partnership continued to evolve and new Research Topics emerged involving a wider range of scientific fields. Researchers were documenting the relationship between the impact of HAI and child development, but little was known about the mechanisms underlying these effects. In 2011, a workshop was held on the social neuroscience of HAI, which formed the basis for another edited volume, *The Social Neuroscience of Human-Animal Interaction* (4), addressing the basic neurobiological mechanisms that underlie the effects observed in HAI. The Partnership also continued to disseminate information regarding new directions in HAI research (5) as well as how new research findings were relevant to clinical applications such as Animal-Assisted Therapy (6, 7) and HAI in school settings (8).

These Partnership workshops, research solicitations, and publications over the past 10 years have promoted the adoption and use of more rigorous designs and methods, raising the bar for the quality of research in HAI. As a result, the field has broadened the scope of studies undertaken, addressing not only correlational studies examining the association between interactions with pets and the subsequent social-emotional benefits generally, but also potential mechanisms for those quantifiable effects, including intervention studies employing randomized controlled trial designs.

In addition to promoting randomized controlled trials, the NICHD-Mars Partnership also has recognized the need to encourage and support more public health research through population representative studies. These efforts have included the development of survey questions/instruments and their inclusion in ongoing large-scale cross-sectional surveys and longitudinal studies that use population representative samples (5).

Embedding pet ownership questions in these studies informs our knowledge of the prevalence of pets and offers a costeffective way to collect data on the impact of pets on health and development for children, adults, and families for secondary analyses. Because data from these studies are publicly available, this also increases the research resources for the field of HAI. While cross-sectional data help describe the relationships between pet ownership and health and development, the Partnership's goal is, where possible, to encourage longitudinal data collection on the same individuals to allow for the study of changes in pet ownership over time and concomitant changes in owner physical and mental health status and overall well-being.

The Partnership also has fostered an increased focus on the health benefits of interaction with animals, including therapeutic and rehabilitative interventions for children and adults with intellectual, developmental, physical, and mental health-related disabilities and other disorders. These studies frequently examine the effects of HAI interventions on both the humans and the animals involved, exploring how the animals may benefit but also suffer stress as the result of their role in the intervention. Such studies are needed to identify appropriate selection, training, and monitoring protocols to ensure the well-being of the animal and the optimal conditions for the therapeutic interaction with the person receiving the intervention.

There is ample evidence that the field of HAI has grown and matured over the last decade (9), including the increased number of academic positions in research and education, the development of HAI Centers of expertise (e.g., Tufts' s Institute for HAI and Purdue's Center for the Human-Animal Bond), and funding and industry support through non-governmental organizations such as the Human-Animal Bond Research Institute (HABRI) and the Horses and Humans Research Foundation (HHRF). Likewise, journals dedicated to HAI research have expanded beyond *Anthrozoos* (a peerreviewed journal launched in 1987) to include the *HAI Bulletin* in 2013, which resulted from the establishment of the Human-Animal Interaction Section of Division 17 (Society of Counseling Psychology) by the American Psychological Association (APA) in 2012, as well as the creation of a special section devoted to HAI research in the journal *Applied Developmental Science* in 2016.

As recognition of the success of this decade-long collaborative effort, the Research Topic "Human-Animal Interaction: A Decade of Progress" highlights the research jointly funded by the Partnership. This thematic series of original research papers addresses a variety of topics within HAI research. Several papers address children's experiences and relationships with pets (Hart et al.; Hurley and Oakes; Kertes et al.; Meints et al.), one on teaching families to read the body language of dogs (Meints et al.), and an Opinion article highlighting potential health benefits of dog walking even when you are not the owner (Chen). There are reports on the social-emotional effects of pet ownership (Jacobson and Chang), and intervention studies of behavioral and biological effects of animal-assisted interventions on stress (Pendry et al.), including stress-reduction and adaptive behaviors in children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) (Gabriels et al.; Pan et al.), Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) (Schuck et al.), and incarcerated youth (Syzmanski et al.). Three papers address new measures and methods (Guérin et al.; MacLean and Hare; Bures et al.). The final paper, by members of the NICHD-Mars Partnership (Griffin et al.) addresses what will be necessary to sustain and accelerate progress in HAI research over the coming decade. We note that this Research Topic does not reflect all of the research of all the investigators funded under the Partnership, as many have already published their findings and others are still in the data collection phase of their projects.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All co-authors contributed to the design and writing of the paper. SM, PM, and JG served as Editors for the Research Topic. LE, KH, RB, and KK were not Topic Editors of this Research Topic but co-wrote the Editorial.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to acknowledge some of the many individuals who supported us in establishing the Public-Private Partnership and developing the field of human-animal interaction research: From Mars, Inc., John Lunde, Megan Sibole Rottcher, Harold Schmitz, Cathie Wotecki, Susan Blount, and Kay O'Donnell; from the NIH, Duane O'Donnell; from the NIH, Duane Alexander, Lisa Freund, Alan Guttmacher, Yvonne Maddox, and Valerie Maholmes.

REFERENCES

- Esposito L, McCune S, Griffin JA, Maholmes V. Directions in human-animal interaction research: child development, health, and therapeutic interventions. *Child Dev Perspect.* (2011) 5:205–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00175.x
- McCardle P, McCune S, Griffin JA, Maholmes V, editors. How Animals Affect Us: Examining the Influence of Human-Animal Interaction on Child Development and Human Health. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2011).
- 3. McCardle P, McCune S, Griffin JA, Esposito L, Freund L, editors. *Animals in Our Lives: Human-Animal Interaction in Family, Community, and Therapeutic Settings.* Baltimore, MD: Paul Brookes Publishing (2011).
- Freund LS, McCune S, Esposito L, Gee NRC, McCardle P, editors. Social Neuroscience and Human- Animal Interaction. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2016).
- McCune S, Kruger KA, Griffin JA, Esposito L, Freund LS, Hurley KJ, et al. Evolution of research into the mutual benefits of human-animal interaction. *Anim Front.* (2014) 4:49–58. doi: 10.2527/af.2014-0022
- 6. McCune S, Kruger KA, Griffin JA, Esposito L, Freund L, Bures R, et al. Strengthening the foundation of human-animal interaction research: Recent developments in a rapidly-growing field. Chapter 32. In: Fine A, editor. Handbook on Animal-Assisted Therapy: Foundations and Guidelines for Animal-Assisted Interventions, 5th Edn. San Francisco, CA: Academic Press (2019). p. 487–97.
- McCune S, Esposito L, Griffin JA. Introduction to a thematic series on animal assisted interventions in special populations. *Appl Dev Sci.* (2017) 21:136–8. doi: 10.1080/10888691.2016.1252263

- Gee NR, Griffin JA, McCardle PM. Human-animal interaction research in school settings: current knowledge and future directions. *AERA Open.* (2017) 3:1–9. doi: 10.1177/23328584177 24346
- 9. Beck AM, Barker S, Gee NR, Griffin JA, Johnson R. Background to humananimal interaction (HAI) research. *Hum Anim Int Bull.* (2018) 6:47–62.

Disclaimer: The views expressed in this chapter are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the National Institutes of Health, *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, or the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Conflict of Interest: SM and KH are employed by Mars Incorporated. KK was supported by a grant from Mars Inc. PM was employed by PM Consulting and as a science and ethics consultant by Mars Inc.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 McCune, McCardle, Griffin, Esposito, Hurley, Bures and Kruger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Infants' Daily Experience With Pets and Their Scanning of Animal Faces

Karinna Hurley^{1,2} and Lisa M. Oakes^{1,3*}

¹ Center for Mind and Brain, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ² Human Development, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ³ Department of Psychology, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States

Very little is known about the effect of pet experience on cognitive development in infancy. In Experiment 1, we document in a large sample (N = 1270) that 63% of families with infants under 12 months have at least one household pet. The potential effect on development is significant as the first postnatal year is a critically important time for changes in the brain and cognition. Because research has revealed how experience shapes early development, it is likely that the presence of a companion dog or cat in the home influences infants' development. In Experiment 2, we assess differences between infants who do and do not have pets (N = 171) in one aspect of cognitive development: their processing of animal faces. We examined visual exploration of images of dog, cat, monkey, and sheep faces by 4-, 6-, and 10-month-old infants. Although at the youngest ages infants with and without pets exhibited the same patterns of visual inspection of these animals faces, by 10 months infants with pets spent proportionately more time looking at the region of faces that contained the eyes than did infants without pets. Thus, exposure to pets contributes to how infants look at and learn about animal faces.

t Edited by:

OPEN ACCESS

Peggy D. McCardle,

Consultant, New Haven, CT, United States

Reviewed by:

Federica Pirrone, Università degli Studi di Milano, Italy Mitsuaki Ohta, Tokyo University of Agriculture, Japan

> *Correspondence: Lisa M. Oakes Imoakes@ucdavis.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Humanities and Social Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

> Received: 30 April 2018 Accepted: 18 June 2018 Published: 10 July 2018

Citation:

Hurley K and Oakes LM (2018) Infants' Daily Experience With Pets and Their Scanning of Animal Faces. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:152. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00152 Keywords: infant development, pets, experience, cognitive development, human-animal interaction, face processing

INTRODUCTION

Many families with children have pets (1-3), and there has been significant interest in the connection between experience with animals and development in childhood (4-8). However, few studies have considered the impact of exposure to pets on very young infants (9). Instead, the vast majority of work on how exposure to animals influences development has focused on older children and, often, in therapeutic settings (4, 10, 11). The lack of work on the period of infancy is surprising because it is a developmental period profoundly influenced by experience. For example, experience with particular sounds, faces, and objects contribute to infants' rapidly developing abilities in language (12), facial perception (13), and categorization (14). Why has the effect of pets on infants' development been so neglected? One possibility is that because households without children often have high levels of pet ownership (15, 16) people assume that most families with infants are unlikely to have pets, and thus there are few opportunities for infant development to be shaped by pets. Another possibility is that research on the effect of pet experience on development has not focused on typical cognitive development, as the examples given for the effect of languages, faces, and categorization.

Here we address both of these possibilities. First, we present data on the prevalence of pets in homes with infants between 4 and 12 months of age. These data provide an important context for why researchers should focus on the influence of pets on development during this age range.

To preview our findings, we observe that families with infants have companion dogs and cats at similar rates as have been reported for families with older children (17). Thus, there is no reason to assume that infants have less exposure to pets than do children at other developmental stages.

Next, we examine the effect of pet exposure on one aspect of typical cognitive development in infancy, their learning of animal faces. Thus, our work will fit in the context of findings that infants' developing face processing is related to their experience with faces of a particular gender, race, or species. For example, infants have a processing advantage for female faces (18-20), perhaps because most infants have female primary caregivers (21), and therefore, in general, have more experience with female faces. By 3 months infants show preferences for ownrace faces over those from unfamiliar races (22-24), presumably reflecting, at least in part, their daily experience with faces of a particular (parents') race. In addition, experience shapes the development of infants' face processing. Although 3-month-old infants discriminate between individual faces from both their own (parents') racial group as well as from other less familiar racial groups, 9-month-old infants discriminate faces only from their own racial group (25). Similarly, whereas 6-month-old infants discriminate both individual human and monkey faces, 9-month-old infants discriminate only individual human faces and are unable to discriminate between individual monkey faces (26).

We extend this work to examine the effect of daily exposure to companion dogs and cats on infants' developing processing of animal faces. Providing infants with daily experience with monkey faces between 6 and 9 months helped them maintain the ability to discriminate monkey faces (27, 28), and this effect is particularly robust when that daily experience with each animal emphasized animals as an individuals [i.e., looking at pictures of named individuals (28)]. Exposure to a pet in the home, which emphasizes that pet as an individual (i.e., pets are named, they are talked to), may influence infants' perceptual processing of face stimuli similar to that pet. Thus, our results will allow us to generalize the effect of this artificial experimental manipulation to a naturalistic difference that occurs in infants' daily life. Family pets have the potential to have a profound effect on infants' development. Not only do infants with and without pets differ in their amount of exposure to animals, their experience with pets likely differs in other ways given the interactive social nature of domestic animals (29-33) and the fact that pets commonly are considered family members (34-38).

The work presented here builds on previous findings demonstrating that infants who live with indoor pets perceive and learn about images of dogs and cats in the lab differently than infants who do not live with indoor pets (39–43). For example, Kovack-Lesh et al. (41, 43) found that 4-monthold infants with pets responded differently in a categorization task than did infants without pets, at least if they engaged in high levels of looking back-and-forth between the two images during familiarization. Thus, observed differences in infants' responding during test trials appears to have been a function of their past experience. Other work points to differences in how infants actually *approach* stimuli as a function of their

pet experience. Hurley et al. (39) observed that 6-monthold infants with pet experience engaged in more looking and comparison when viewing images of animals than did infants without pet experience, consistent with other findings that infants are more interested in stimuli relevant to their past experience (19, 44). Examinations of eye-movements of 4month-old infants as they inspected individual images of cats and dogs revealed that infants with pets looked more at the informationally-rich head regions than did infants without pets (40, 42). Thus, experience with dogs and cats in the home appears to have translated into differences in attentional biases when infants processed images similar to that experience. Hurley and Oakes (40) further showed that infants with and without pets did not differ in their visual inspection of human faces and vehicles, suggesting that the effect of such animal experience was specific to images of animals that were similar to the animals common in the everyday experience of infants with pets.

The current work addressed several important unanswered questions. First, none of the previous studies of pet experience examined age-related changes in the effect of pet experience on infants' visual processing of animals. All of the existing work in this area has examined the relation between pet experience and visual processing of animal images in infants at a single age (39-43). We predict from the work on infants' processing of human faces, however, that pet experience will differentially influence how younger and older infants visually process images of animals, presumably as both the result of older infants having more experience-and that experience having more time to influence processing-than younger infants and the result of the effect of experience on development at early ages having a cascading effect on later developing skills and abilities. As described in more detail in the General Discussion section, we assume that daily experience with a pet helps to shape the attentional strategies infants adopt when looking at animal images. Thus, we anticipate that there will be differences in how older infants visually explore or scan images of animal faces as a function of pet experience, although there may be few, if any, differences in how younger infants visually explore or scan animal faces. We tested this prediction by observing separate groups of 4-, 6-, and 10month-old infants' looking at animal faces. These are key ages in the work on changes in infants' processing of human faces.

A second question we addressed in this investigation is whether the effect of experience would be observed for infants' processing of animal *faces*. All the previous investigations of pet experience on infants' processing of dog and cat images have used representations of whole animals as stimuli. Although this work has shown that infants with pets have a stronger bias to look at the head and face region of these images (40, 42), we do not know whether differences will be observed for how infants process the *faces* of animals. Previous work suggests head regions are especially informative for infants' processing of animal images (45, 46), and Mareschal et al. (47) established that infants are sensitive to variations in the facial features of cats and dogs. Moreover, if the effects of experience on infants' processing of human faces reflect general processes, then we should see similar effects for the effect of experience on infants' processing of nonhuman faces. For these reasons, in the present investigation we presented infants with images of novel animal faces.

Finally, we asked how infants' pet experience extended to their processing of different types of animals. The previous work has focused on infants' visual cognitions of images of dogs and cats (39–43). Although (40) showed that the effect of pet experience did not extend to images of human faces and vehicles, we do not know how infants' pet experience influences their processing of other kinds of animals. Therefore, we presented infants with images of dogs and cats, that are likely highly familiar to infants (particularly infants who have pets at home) and images of animals monkeys and sheep, that are likely relatively unfamiliar to infants.

EXPERIMENT 1

The goal of Experiment 1 was to document the prevalence of pet ownership in families with infants between 4 and 12 months of age. This Experiment will demonstrate that many infants are exposed to companion dogs and cats in their daily lives, and that there are significant opportunities for pets in the home to shape development in infancy.

Both Experiments 1 and 2 were carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Institutional Review Board of the University of California, Davis. The protocols were approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of California, Davis. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Methods

Participants

Between 12/13/2007 and 12/12/2014, we asked the parents of 1,270 infants between 106 and 320 days of age (M = 176.70, SD = 61.13) who were visiting our lab about the companion dog and cat animals who live in their homes. There were 648 boys and 622 girls. Infants were full healthy, typically developing full-term infants recruited from the greater Sacramento Valley region of Central California.

Names of potential participants were initially obtained from the State Vital Records office. All parents who lived within a \sim 30-min drive from the lab were sent informational packets describing our work and a general invitation to participate in studies, and parents who were interested in volunteering contacted us. Infants were recruited for this investigation solely based on age, and any infant in our pool who was born full term and who was healthy and typically developing was recruited to participate in this study via phone call or e-mail (depending on parental stated preference when they volunteered). Parents and infants received a certificate and a t-shirt, toy, or book as a thank-you for participation.

The parents of our sample were highly educated. Of the 1,256 mothers who reported their education, all but 17 completed high school, all but 70 had at least some college, and 847 had earned at least a bachelor's degree. Of the 1,196 parents who reported their infants' race, 852 reported their infant to be White, 36 reported

their infant to be Black, 56 reported their infant to be Asian, 232 reported their infants to be of mixed race, and 20 reported their infants to be Native Hawaiian, American Indian, or other. Of the 1,196 parents who reported it, 323 indicated that their infant was Hispanic (165 White, 69 mixed race, 66 with no race reported, and the remaining were Black, Asian, Native Hawaiian, American Indian, or other race). Thus, our infants represented the diversity of the community.

Procedure

When infants came to our lab to participate in a study of infant cognition, parents completed a questionnaire about family demographics (see Appendix). In this questionnaire, parents reported infant birthdate, due date, sex, race, and mother's education and the age of any older siblings. In addition, they reported on their infants' pet experiences by replying verbally to the following question: "Do you have pets?" If the answer was yes they were asked about the number and type as well as whether the pet(s) lived indoors with the family.

Results and Discussion

To examine the likelihood of proportions, we conducted binomial probabilities of observing the number of occurrences or more given the sample size. We compared the difference in proportions between two groups (e.g., infants with and without siblings, Hispanic vs. non-Hispanic families) with z-ratios for the difference between two independent proportions. We used twotailed tests to evaluate these z-ratios. All binomial and z-tests were conducted using vassarstats.net. We compared group means on continuous variables (e.g., age, maternal education) using twotailed *t*-tests independent groups, performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Mac (Armonk, NY: IBM Corp). Our critical *p*-value for significance was 0.05, except as noted to correct for multiple comparisons.

Of the 1,270 parents who completed our questionnaire, 804 (63.31%) reported having a pet dog or pet cat (or both), a proportion that was significantly different from chance, binomial probability (804 or more out of 1270), p < 0.001 (see **Table 1**). Of the 1,253 families who reported whether or not their pet lived indoors, 696 (55.55% of the sample) reported having an indoor pet, a proportion that was significantly different from chance, binomial probability (696 or more out of 1253), p < 0.001. The numbers of families who had dogs and cats or both are presented in **Table 1**. Clearly, in our sample more families had dogs than cats; 387 62%) of the 626 families who had only dogs or cats had only dogs, a proportion that is significantly different from chance, p < 0.001. Thus, most of the families in our sample had one or more pet, and more than half of the infants in our sample had exposure daily to a pet in the home.

To gain a clearer understanding of the frequency and type of pet ownership in this group, we provide in **Table 1** demographics for families who had any dog or cat (indoor or outdoor) and families without any pets. As is clear from this table, the two groups of infants looked very similar; they both had approximately equal proportion of boys and girls and the average age of the samples did not differ. For the infants who had information about siblings reported, the proportion of infants TABLE 1 | Demographics of infants with and without pets in Experiment 1.

Group	N	Number of boys	Average age in days (SD)	Infants with older siblings (of 1240 who reported sibling information)	Number years maternal education (SD)
Pet	804	417 (52%)	176.08 (59.64)	381 (48%)	15.99 (2.05)
Cat only	239	120 (50%)	176.19 (61.23)	(105) 47%	16.46 (2.04)
Dog only	387	214 (55%)	174.23 (58.66)	(263) 48%	15.74 (2.07)
Dog and cat	178	83 (47%)	180.00 (59.75)	(75) 42%	15.87 (1.94)
No Pet	466	231 (50%)	177.76 (63.68)	250 55%	15.83 (2.16)
Total	1,270	648 (51%)	176.70 (61.13)	631 (51%)	15.93 (2.09)

TABLE 2	Race information	for infants with	and without	pets in Experiment 1.
	11000 1110111100111		and manoat	

	White/not Hispanic	Not White/not Hispanic	Hispanic
Pet	474 (70%)	126 (50%)	195 (60%)
Cat only	155 (43%)	41 (33%)	42 (22%)
Dog only	203 (33%)	61 (48%)	116 (59%)
Cat and dog	116 (24%)	24 (19%)	37 (20%)
No pet	205 (30%)	127 (50%)	128 (40%)
Total	679	253	323

without pets who had siblings was significantly greater than the proportion of infants with pets who had siblings, z = 2.23, p = 0.03.

Overall, maternal education did not differ for families who had pets compared to families who did not have pets, $t_{(1254)} = 1.25$, p = 0.21, d = 0.07. Mother's education was higher for families who only had cats than families who had no pets, $t_{(701)} = 3.71$, p < 0.001, d = 0.30, families who had only dogs, $t_{(617)} = 4.23$, p < 0.001, d = 0.35, and families who had both dogs and cats, $t_{(410)} = 2.94$, p = 0.003, d = 0.29. Mother's education did not differ between families without pets and families who had only dogs, $t_{(842)} = 0.63$, p = 0.53, d = 0.04, or who had both dogs and cats, $t_{(635)} = 0.21$, p = 0.84, d = 0.02. Similarly, maternal education did not differ between families who had only dogs and families who had both dogs and cats, $t_{(551)} = 0.70$, p = 0.48, d = 0.06. We also evaluated these differences for families who reported having indoor pets, and the patterns were identical.

Next we examined how pet ownership varied according to infant race, which is a proxy for the family race (in our sample, all infants have the same race as their parents; if the parents are of different races, the infant is reported as mixed race). For the present purposes we divided the infants into three groups according to reported race: White and not Hispanic, infants who were rated as neither White nor Hispanic, and infants who were reported as Hispanic regardless of race. The proportion of families in each of these groups that had pets is presented in **Table 2**.

In our sample, the proportion of White/non-Hispanic families with pets was greater than the proportion of non-White/non-Hispanic families with pets, z = 5.67, p < 0.001, and than

Hispanic families, z = 2.96, p = 0.003. More Hispanic families had pets than did non-White/non-Hispanic families, z = 2.53, p = 0.01. This is not due to the fact that most Hispanic families were White; 165 (51%) of the infants who were reported to be Hispanic were also reported to be White. In addition 95 (58%) of the White/Hispanic families had pets and 100 (63%) of the non-White/Hispanic families had pets. Thus, the differences appear to be a lower rate of pet ownership by families who are non-White and non-Hispanic. However, this finding would need to replicated in a larger, more representative sample before strong conclusions could be drawn about racial differences in pet ownership by families with infants.

What is clear from these data is that many infants have opportunities to learn from household pets, and that this is a naturally occurring difference in experience that could yield different developmental outcomes. Interestingly, infants were not more likely to have a pet *and* a sibling; more families in our sample with pets had only one child. In addition, although there were no overall differences in maternal education and the presence of a pet, maternal education was highest for families who had only cats than for any other group. These data are the first to our knowledge to describe aspects of the home context of infants under 1 year who do and do not live with pets.

EXPERIMENT 2

Experiment 1 revealed that \sim 63% of the infants between the ages of 4 and 12 months living in our region have daily experience with pets. In Experiment 2, we asked how infants with this experience differed from infants without such experience in their processing of animal faces. Importantly, we examined the effect of animal experience across age, allowing us to determine whether infants with and without pets differed at all points in development, or whether the effect of such experience changed across this developmental period.

Methods

Participants

The final sample included a total of 171 healthy, full-term infants with no known vision problem: 52 infants were 4 months old (M = 125.02 days, SD = 7.46 days; 24 girls and 28 boys), 57 infants were 6 months old (M = 184.91 days, SD = 7.92 days; 27 girls and 30 boys), and 62 infants were 10 months old

(M = 304.11 days, SD = 7.89 days; 26 girls and 36 boys). The same self-report questionnaire was used here as in Experiment 1, probing the presence of pets and whether they lived indoors. These parental reports revealed that in our sample 64 infants did not have an indoor pet, 35 had only a cat or cats that lived indoors with the family, 52 had only a dog or dogs that lived indoors with the family, and 20 had both a cat or cats and a dog or dogs that lived indoors with the family; thus the proportion of infants in our sample with pets (63%) was similar to that in Experiment 1. Infants were recruited as described in Experiment 1. We tested 28 additional infants, but excluded their data from the final analyses due to fussiness or inattention (N = 8), equipment or experimenter error (N = 8), ambiguous pet status (i.e., an infant who had a dog for several months and then did not) (N = 1), or failure to provide useable data on the minimum number of trials (N = 11, see Data Processing section below).

In the final sample of 171 infants, 116 infants were reported to be White. The remaining infants were reported to be Asian (N = 4), Black or African American (N = 2), mixed race (N = 38), or other (N = 2); 9 parents did not report the race of their infant. Thirty-seven infants were reported to be Hispanic; of these infants 17 infants were White, 11 infants were mixed race, and 9 infants did not have their race reported. The sample was highly educated; of the 167 mothers who reported their educational background, all but one mother had completed high school, 47 had completed at least some college, and 113 had earned at least a bachelor's degree. Thus, the sample was demographically similar to that in Experiment 1.

Stimuli

Stimuli were digitized photographs of 12 different faces from each of four animal categories: cat, dog, monkey, and sheep (see Figure 1). Using these four types of images allowed us to compare infants' responding to both relatively familiar and relatively unfamiliar animal faces. Specifically, we selected cats and dogs because they are relatively familiar to infants (even infants who do not have a dog or cat as pet at home likely see one or both types of animals at the homes of friends and relatives, in the park, walking in their neighborhood, etc.), and we selected sheep and monkeys because they are relatively unfamiliar to infants. Thus, these four face types will allow us to determine how general any effect of pet experience is on infants' face scanning; if it extends only to familiar cats and dogs or even to unfamiliar sheep and monkeys. We selected monkeys and sheep specifically because they varied configurally, with the monkey faces being configurally more similar to cat faces (e.g., relatively large eyes, small noses) and sheep faces being configurally more similar to dog faces (e.g., smaller eyes at the top of the face, prominent snout with larger nose at the bottom of the face). Thus, this will allow us to determine if pet experience extends more to some configurations than to others. Finally, we selected sheep and monkeys faces because both species had been used in facial discrimination studies and thus good quality stimuli sets already existed.

Sheep faces came from a photograph stimuli set previously used to study facial discrimination in infants' and adults' (48) as well as in sheep (49). Monkey faces came from a photograph



FIGURE 1 | Examples of the four types of stimulus faces. A mask was imposed to reduce infants' attention to external features (such as ear shape).

stimuli set used to understand facial discrimination in monkeys (50, 51). Cat and dog photographs were gathered from breed books and cropped to match in size in Adobe Photoshop. All faces were front-oriented, symmetrical, and similar in breed (dogs were either Golden Labradors or Golden Retrievers) species (all monkeys were tufted capuchins), or coloring and marking (all sheep where white and all cats were brown tabbies). Using Adobe Photoshop, an oval mask was overlaid on the images to make the external contours of the images identical within face type and similar across faces, similar to the mask used in Chien et al. (52). Thus, differences in infants' looking or scanning would not reflect differences in face shape, protrusion of ears, etc., but rather would primarily reflect differences in internal features, such as the prominence of the nose, the top-heaviness, etc. Due to differences in the overall shape of the different faces we created two masks; one mask for the dog and cat faces and another for the sheep and monkey faces. The mask covered the ears of all animals (see Figure 1). Images were \sim 38 cm \times 25 cm in size, subtending \sim 21.5 by 14.25 degrees visual angle.

Apparatus

A Dell computer was used to present the stimuli and control the experiment. Stimulus images were presented side-by-side in the center of a 37-inch LCD TV monitor (19:9 aspect ratio), and subtended \sim 21.5 by 14.25° visual angle at a viewing distance of 100 cm. Eye gaze was recorded using an Applied Science Laboratory (ASL) pan/tilt R6 eye-tracker controlled by a second Dell computer. An eye-camera located at the bottom and center of the monitor focused on the infants' right eye; using the image from this camera, the eye-tracker calculated the location of infants' fixations from the reflections of an infrared light source of the cornea and pupil. A wide-angle camera was affixed to the eyecamera to provide an image of infants' heads and torsos. A sensor, attached to an infant-sized headband, was positioned above the right eye and was used to locate the infants' head in a magnetic field produced by a generator located directly behind the parents' chair. This position was communicated to the eye-tracker, which, if necessary, was used to adjust the camera to refocus the infants' eye (e.g., if the infant looked at the parent and then back at the screen). A white curtain separated the infants from the observers and equipment.

Procedure

Infants sat on their parents' lap in a dimly lit room ~ 100 cm from the monitor and ~ 75 cm from the eye-camera. Parents wore occluding glasses in order to reduce any bias their reaction

to the stimuli could have on infants' looking. Sessions began with a five-point calibration protocol in which a looming circle was presented at each point: (1) 11.5° above and to the left of the central fixation point, (2) 11.5° above and to the right of the central fixation point, (3) at the central fixation point, (4) 11.5° below and to the left of the central fixation point, and (5) 11.5° below and to the right of the central fixation point. As infants fixated at each point an experimenter pressed a key on the computer to record the relative locations of the corneal and pupil reflections when the infant was fixating on that known location. This information was used to calculate the point-of-gaze (POG) for each data sample during the experiment.

Immediately after calibration the experimenter initiated the experimental paradigm. Each trial began with a geometric colored shape (e.g., a purple diamond, green triangle, yellow star) presented at the central fixation point; the shape continuously loomed for 800 ms (from $0^{\circ} \times 0^{\circ}$ visual angle to $\sim 16^{\circ} \times 16^{\circ}$ visual angle) and was accompanied by a randomly selected sound (e.g., buzz, beep, ding). When infants fixated this stimulus (as indicated by cross-hairs superimposed on the stimulus by the ASL eye-tracking system) the experimenter pressed a computer key to initiate the start of an experimental trial.

The experimental trials were 5 s in duration, and on each trial a pair of images from the same category was presented (e.g., two dogs, two cats, two sheep, or two monkeys). We presented two images on each trial, center-to-center distance was 22° (the center of each image was ~11.5° to the left or right of midline). Each trial was initiated when infants looked at an attention getter at *center* of the monitor; thus when the stimuli were first presented, infants were fixating the center of the monitor and they had to move their eyes from fixation to look at either image. A bias to look at a particular region (e.g., eyes, nose) therefore could not reflect infants simply maintaining fixation in the location where the stimulus happened to be presented; rather any observed bias will reflect infants' selecting that region and maintaining their attention to it.

We created a custom program in Adobe Director to control stimulus presentation and randomly order image pairs in blocks of four trials. Each block contained one trial with a pair of dogs, one trial with a pair of cats, one trial with a pair of sheep, and one trial with a pair of monkeys. Thus, infants saw a pair of images from each animal category in each block of four trials. On each trial, a randomly selected clip of classical music (Bach, Beethoven Mozart, Pachelbel, Vivaldi, or Ravel) was played to aid in keeping infants' attention.

If the infant became uninterested in general and looked away from the monitor, the experimenter could present one of several stimuli to recapture their attention. These stimuli included sequences of randomly chosen clips of children's television shows (Teletubbies, Blues Clues, Sesame Street), a cartoon of animated animals singing, a series of pictures of babies accompanied by classical music, and the calibration stimuli. Key commands in the computer program were used to present the stimuli and allowed the experimenter to present any of the attention-getting stimuli between trials if infants' attention needed to be redirected to the center of the screen. There were a maximum of 264 experimental trials, and trials were presented



FIGURE 2 An example of one possible pair of stimuli presented on a single (cat) trial. To illustrate how we evaluated infants' looking times, Areas of Interest (AOIs) corresponding to the top and bottom halves of the faces are superimposed on the images.

until infants showed signs of disinterest in looking at screen (e.g., fussing, looking at the parent, refusing to look at the screen).

Results Data Processing

Data processing was similar to that reported in Hurley et al. (40). The point of gaze data was recorded at a rate of 60 Hz, using an online average of 4 samples (the current sample and the 3 previous samples) to minimize noise in the data. In addition, a blink filter was implemented in which pupil loss of fewer than 12 samples was considered a blink. The horizontal and vertical position of the gaze was recorded at each sample with a code to indicate which type of stimulus was presented on each trial. Data were first processed using the software program ASL Results to parse the datastream into trials. Next, we used custom a Matlab routine to determine how may samples fell into prespecified Areas of Interest (AOIs). We evaluated infants' looking in four AOIs: the top and bottom halves of each of the two stimuli presented side-by-side (see Figure 2). This approach allowed us to have the same AOIs across faces and species, while having one AOI contain the eye region, known to be important for face processing (53). This approach—of dividing the face into upper and lower halves-has been used in other studies of face processing (54).

The number of samples in each AOI was converted to *duration* for analysis. We included in the analyses any trial in which at least 200 ms of looking was recorded; across all infants at all ages the analyses are based on an average of 28.49 trials per infant (Range = 4-105, SD = 14.85). All infants who contributed at least one trial of each type (cat, dog, monkey, and sheep) that met this criterion were included in the final analyses (as described in the Participants section, 11 infants failed to meet this criterion).

Analysis Plan

We tested our hypotheses by examining differences in infants' preferences for the *top half* of the faces. To examine how infants' scanning of these faces varied by age and pet status we calculated infants' preference for the *top half* of each type of face. If infants focus more on the eye-region on our faces, as is typical when young infants scan human faces (53), we should see a strong preference for the top half of the faces. If infants scan more broadly—a pattern exhibited by older infants when exhibiting

human faces (55)—will should see a weaker top-half preference. To evaluate any effect of age, pet experience, or type of face on infants' top half preference, we conducted Analyses of Variance (ANOVAs) comparing the top half preferences. We conducted follow up comparisons for any significant effects using *t*-tests, adjusting our criterion of significance to control for multiple comparisons. We also examined infants' preference for the top half by comparing their preferences using one-sample *t*-tests and Bayes Factors.

Analyses

We calculated preference for the top half of faces by dividing the looking to the top half of the face by the looking to the top and bottom half combined. We use infants' *median* top half preference across trials because the median is less influenced than the mean by extreme values. We entered each infants' median top half preference for each stimulus type (dog, cat, sheep, monkey) with pet group and age as the between-subjects variables. This analysis revealed a main effect of trial type, $F_{(3, 495)} = 14.64$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.08$, and a trial type by age group interaction, $F_{(6, 495)} = 2.38$, p = 0.03, $\eta_p^2 = 0.03$. The means for this interaction are provided in **Figure 3**. It can be seen in this figure that, overall, there were few age differences in infants' preference for the top halves of cat, monkey, or sheep faces, but that in general older infants had a weaker preference for the top half of dog faces than did the younger infants.

To better understand the age by trial type interaction and how infants' preferences for the top halves of the different face types varied by age, we conducted separate ANOVAs on each age group. The analyses of the top half preferences by 4-month-old infants revealed only a main effect of trial type, $F_{(3, 150)} = 7.15$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.13$. As is evident in Figure 3, 4-month-old infants (open bars) had a weaker top half preference for sheep faces than for the other faces. We confirmed this impression by conducting the mean preference scores for each of the face types, using $p \le 0.008$ as our cut-off for significance to control for multiple comparisons. The preference for top halves of sheep faces was significantly lower than that of cat faces, $t_{(51)} = 4.51$, p < 0.001, d = 0.63, or monkey faces, $t_{(51)} = 3.34, p = 0.002$, d = 0.46, and the difference between sheep faces and dog faces was marginal, $t_{(51)} = 2.68$, p = 0.01, d = 0.37. To provide further insight into infants' top half preferences, we compared each preference score to chance (0.50); these comparisons would confirm whether infants looked at the top half of any of the face more than expected by chance. These 4-month-old infants significantly preferred the top halves of cat faces, $t_{(51)} = 5.23$, p $< 0.001, d = 0.73, \text{ dog faces}, t_{(51)} = 3.35, p = 0.002, d = 0.46,$ and monkey faces, $t_{(51)} = 3.92$, p < 0.001, d = 0.55. Their preference for the top half of sheep faces did not differ from chance, $t_{(51)} = 1.12$, p = 0.27, d = 0.16. Thus, in general, at the youngest age infants preferred the top half of all the faces except the sheep faces which were both relatively unfamiliar and, as can be seen in Figure 1, dominated by the nose in the bottom half of the face.

The ANOVA on the mean preference for the 6-monthold infants also revealed only a main effect of trial type, $F_{(3,165)} = 8.31$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.13$, however as can be seen in **Figure 3** the pattern was somewhat different. At this age, infants had a stronger preference for the top half of both cat and monkey than dog and sheep faces; cat versus dog, $t_{(56)} = 3.97$, p < 0.001, d = 0.53, monkey faces vs. dog faces, $t_{(56)} = 3.61$, p = 0.001, d = 0.48, cat vs. sheep $t_{(56)} = 3.89$, p < 0.001, d = 0.52, monkey versus sheep, $t_{(56)} = 3.70$, p < 0.001, d = 0.49. In general, 6-month-old infants seemed to have stronger preferences for the top halves of the faces that are configured with larger eyes toward the top than the faces with longer snouts and relatively large noses at the bottom.

Comparisons of the preference for the top halves to chance corroborated this conclusion. Six-month-old infants had clearly significant preferences for the top halves of cat faces, $t_{(56)} = 5.09$, p < 0.001, d = 0.67, and monkey faces, $t_{(56)} = 5.10$, p < 0.001, d = 0.68. They had non-significant preferences for the top halves of sheep faces, $t_{(56)} = 2.14$, p = 0.04, d = 0.28, and dog faces, $t_{(56)} = 1.76$, p = 0.08, d = 0.23. Bayes factor analyses confirmed that these preferences were ambiguous, at best. For the sheep faces, Bayes factor analyses with a scale r on effect size of 0.707, revealed a Scaled JZS Bayes Factor in favor of the Null of 0.85; the Scaled JZS Bayes Factor in favor of the alternative was 1.18. For the dog faces, Bayes factor analyses with a scale r on effect size of 0.707, revealed a Scaled JZS Bayes Factor in favor of the Null of 1.62; the Scaled JZS Bayes Factor in favor of the alternative was 0.62. Thus, neither the *t*-tests nor the Bayes Factor analyses provided strong support for the conclusion that 6-month-old infants preferred the top halves of dogs and sheep. In general, therefore, these 6-month-old infants preferred the top halves of faces with large eyes in the top halves, but not the top halves of faces that were dominated by long snouts.

The analysis of the top half preference by 10-monthold infants revealed significant main effects of trial type, $F_{(3, 180)} = 4.67, p = 0.004, \eta_p^2 = 0.07, \text{ and pet group},$ $F_{(1, 60)} = 4.16, p = 0.046, \eta_p^2 = 0.07.$ Comparisons of infants' preferences for the top halves of each type of face revealed that overall 10-month-old infants had weaker preferences for the top halves of dog faces than cat faces, $t_{(61)} = 3.25$, p = 0.002, d = 0.41, and monkey faces, $t_{(61)} = 3.44$, p = 0.001, d = 0.44; the difference between the preference for the top halves of dogs and sheep did not reach our adjusted criterion of significance, $t_{(61)} = 2.02, p = 0.047, d = 0.26$. The pet group main effect reflects the fact that across face types, 10-month-old infants with pets had stronger preferences for the top halves of faces (M = 0.65, SD = 0.27) than did 10-month-old infants without pets (M = 0.50, SD = 0.28). Moreover, comparison of the average top half preference to chance revealed that only infants with pets differed significantly, $t_{(39)} = 3.52$, p = 0.001, d = 0.56; the average top half preference of infants without pets was not different from chance, $t_{(21)} = 0.14$, p = 0.89, d = 0.03.

Finally, to provide additional insight into the preferences of 10-month-old infants, we compared the preferences for the top halves of each type of face to chance separately for infants with and without pets (see **Figure 4**). The 10-month-old infants with pets significantly preferred the top halves of cat faces, $t_{(39)} = 3.75$, p = 0.001, d = 0.59, monkey faces, $t_{(39)} = 3.55$, p = 0.001, d = 0.56, and sheep faces, $t_{(39)} = 2.85$, p = 0.007,







FIGURE 4 | Mean preference for the top half of each face type by age and pet status. The individual blue circles represent a single infant; the squares represent the mean of each group.

d = 0.45. Ten-month-old infants without pets did not have preferences for the top halves of any faces that significantly differed from chance; cat faces, $t_{(21)} = 0.753$, p = 0.46, d = 0.16,

dog faces, $t_{(21)} = 1.38$, p = 0.18, d = 0.29, monkey faces, $t_{(21)} = 0.54$, p = 0.60, d = 0.11, and sheep faces, $t_{(21)} = 0.03$, p = 0.98, d = 0.006. Bayes Factor analyses, with an r scale of

0.707, provided modest support for the null hypothesis that the preferences were equivalent to chance for cat faces, Scaled JZS Bayes Factor of 3.47, monkey faces, Scaled JZS Bayes Factor of 3.94, and sheep faces, Scaled JZS Bayes Factor of 4.48. The Bayes Factor analysis did not provide clear support for either the null or the alternative hypothesis for the dog faces. Over time, experience with pets seems to help *maintain* an infant's interest in the top halves of these animal faces, as 10-monthold infants without pets show a reduced top half preference compared to the other age groups. All of the analyses from the 10-month-old infants lead to the same conclusion: infants with and without pets visually scanned these animal faces differently.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

The experiments presented here provide important insight into the role of companion cats and dogs on development in infancy. Experiment 1 revealed that more than half of the infants we sampled lived with one or more pet. Thus, pets have the opportunity to have an influence on development for many infants. Experiment 2 showed that between 4 and 10 months, exposure to a pet in the home was related to how infants visually inspected images of animal faces. Although young infants with and without pets responded in the same way to animal faces, by 10 months infants with and without pets exhibited different patterns of visual inspection when looking at these images. Clearly, therefore many infants have experience with pets, and that experience seems to influence at least one aspect of their development.

These findings contribute to two separate literatures. First, they address the literature focused on the role of animals on child development (4-6, 8, 9). As described earlier, little research has examined either the prevalence of pet experience during infancy, or the effect of pet exposure on infant development. The present work addresses both gaps in the literature. In Experiment 1, we show that in our sample, ~63% of families with infants had household cats or dogs. Clearly our sample is not representative of all families, but does show that the rates of pet ownership in families with infants-at least middle-class families in the Sacramento Valley of California-are similar to those documented in other studies of pet ownership [As reported by the American Pet Products Association (56); http://www.americanpetproducts.org/press_industrytrends.asp] including in families with children (17). These data confirm that many infants have opportunities to develop in the context of experience with pets, and that this is a real difference in experience between infants. Thus, it is important to understand more about how infants' development is shaped by exposure to and experience with pets.

In addition, the data presented here confirm previous reported findings that exposure to a household cat or dog seems to induce different strategies for learning about images of dogs and cats in laboratory tasks (39–43). That is, we not only documented the prevalence of pet ownership, we also showed how infants' visual investigation of animal faces varied as a function of pet ownership. These results converge with previous findings that infants as young as 4 months visually investigate images of cats and dogs differently as a function of pet ownership (39, 42, 43), and that infants at 4 months learn about images of cats and dogs differently as a function of pet ownership (41). The results we reported here extend this previous work in several ways. First, we showed that these differences a function of pet ownership hold even when infants are shown only animal faces. The previous work revealed differences when infants were shown images of full bodied animals. Thus, not only does this extend previous work showing that by 4 months infants show a bias to look at the heads of whole body animal images as a function of pet experience (39, 42), it shows that previously reported results about the effect of experience on developmental changes in infants' processing and scanning of human faces (21, 27, 57, 58) may extend to the role of experience on their processing of other kinds of faces. Just as previous work suggested a tuning of human face perception between 4 and 9 months based infants' experience with face of a particular race (24, 25, 52, 59, 60), here we show a shift in the specificity of infants' investigation of animal faces as a function of their experience with dogs or cats.

Moreover, the *timing* of the effects suggests that experience with pets is not a single, unified influence, but rather that exposure to pets may have different effects at different time points. Specifically, previous work showed that pet experience influences young infants' processing of whole body images of animals (39, 42). The current results show that pet experience has an influence on infants' processing of animal faces during the same developmental time period during which infants show shifts in their perception, discrimination, and visual investigation of human faces (24, 25, 52, 54, 59– 62).

Importantly, these results also show that pet experience influences not only infants' processing of familiar animals such as cats and dogs, but that daily experience with a companion animal also has an effect on infants' processing of relatively unfamiliar animals such as sheep and monkeys. Thus, the current investigation addresses the *specificity* of the effect of infants' pet experience on their face processing. Our results suggest that experience with a pet influences infants' inspection of animal faces beyond their specific pet experience, as at 10 months we observed a difference in how infants with and without pets scanned monkey faces. This effect may reflect a mechanism like that is responsible for the effect of pet experience on children's understanding of biology and living kinds (63, 64).

In summary, the results reported here add to both the literatures on the impact of animals in child development and on the effect of experience on infants' processing of visual stimuli. We showed here that pet experience is pervasive in infancy, and that this experience influences one aspect of infant development. Future research on animals and child development should not overlook the important developmental period of infancy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KH and LO both contributed to the design and implementation of the research, analysis of the results, and writing of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was made possible by grants R03HD070651 Awarded by the National Institutes of Child Health and Human Development and BCS 095158 awarded by the National Science Foundation to LO. We thank Karen Leung, Mielle Setoodehnia, Mirjam Harrison, and all the lab members at the Infant Cognition Lab at the UC Davis Center for Mind and Brain for their help in

REFERENCES

- Russo N, Vergnano D, Bergero D, Prola L. Small pilot survey on parents' perception of the relationship between children and pets. *Vet Sci.* (2017) 4:4. doi: 10.3390/vetsci4040052
- Walsh F. Human-animal bonds II: the role of pets in family systems and family therapy. *Fam Process* (2009) 48:481–99. doi: 10.1111/j.1545-5300.2009.01297.x
- Westgarth C, Heron J, Ness AR, Bundred P, Gaskell RM, Coyne KP, et al. Family pet ownership during childhood: Findings from a UK birth cohort and implications for public health research. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2010) 7:3704–29. doi: 10.3390/ijerph7103704
- Endenburg N, van Lith HA. The influence of animals on the development of children. Vet J. (2011) 190:208–14. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2010.11.020
- 5. Melson GF. Why the Wild Things Are: Animals in the Lives of Children. Cambridge: Harvard University Press (2001).
- Melson GF, Fine AH. Animals in the lives of children. In: Fine AH editor, Handbook of Animal-Assisted Therapy, 2nd Edition: Theoretical Foundations and Guidelines for Practice. New York, NY: Academic Press (2006). p. 207-26.
- Miles JNV, Parast L, Babey SH, Griffin BA, Saunders JM. A propensityscore-weighted population-based study of the health benefits of dogs and cats for children. *Anthrozoös* (2017) 30:429–40. doi: 10.1080/08927936.2017. 1335103
- Mueller MK. Human-animal interaction as a context for positive youth development: a relational developmental systems approach to constructing human-animal interaction theory and research. *Hum Dev.* (2014) 57:5–25. doi: 10.1159/000356914
- Purewal R, Christley R, Kordas K, Joinson C, Meints K, Gee N, et al. Companion animals and child/adolescent development: A systematic review of the evidence. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2017) 14:3. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14030234
- Brelsford VL, Meints K, Gee NR, Pfeffer K. Animal-assisted interventions in the classroom - A systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2017) 14:7. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14070669
- Martin F, Farnum J. Animal-assisted therapy for children with pervasive developmental disorders. West J Nurs Res. (2002) 24:657–70. doi: 10.1177/019394502320555403
- Werker JF, Desjardins RN. Listening to speech in the 1st year of life: experiential influences on phoneme perception. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci.* (1995) 4:76–81. doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.ep10772323
- Simion F, Leo I, Turati C, Valenza E, Dalla Barba B. How face specialization emerges in the first months of life. *Prog Brain Res.* (2007) 164:169–85. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(07)64009-6
- Bornstein MH, Mash C. Experience-based and on-line categorization of objects in early infancy. *Child Dev.* (2010) 81:884–97. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01440.x
- 15. Pirrone F, Albertini M, Mazzola SM, Pierantoni L, Bavagnoli F, Vigo D. Correlation between the size of companion dogs and the profile of

collecting and coding these data. We also thank Jennifer Pokorny and Keith Kendrick for sharing their animal face stimuli. We are especially grateful to the families who participated and made this research possible. This research was submitted by KH as partial fulfillment of a doctoral dissertation for the University of California, Davis. A version of this article was presented at the International Conference on Infant Studies in Minneapolis in 2012.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2018.00152/full#supplementary-material

the owner: a cross-sectional study in Italy. *Dog Behav.* (2015) 1:23–33. doi: 10.4454/db.vli2.14

- Pirrone F, Pierantoni L, Mazzola SM, Vigo D, Albertini M. Owner and animal factors predict the incidence of, and owner reaction toward, problematic behaviors in companion dogs. J Vet Behav. (2015) 10:295–301. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2015.03.004
- Melson GF. Child development and the human-companion animal bond. Am Behav Sci. (2003) 47:31–9. doi: 10.1177/0002764203255210
- Leinbach MD, Fagot BI. Categorical habituation to male and female faces: gender schematic processing in infancy. *Infant Behav Dev.* (1993) 16:317–32. doi: 10.1016/0163-6383(93)80038-A
- Quinn PC. Beyond prototypes: asymmetries in infant categorization and what they teach us about the mechanisms guiding early knowledge acquisition. In: Kail RV, Reese HW, editors. *Advances in Child Development and Behavior*. San Diego, CA: Academic Press (2002). p. 161–93.
- Ramsey JL, Langlois JH, Marti NC. Infant categorization of faces: ladies first. Dev Rev. (2005) 25:212–46. doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2005.01.001
- Rennels J, Davis R. Facial experience during the first year. *Infant Behav Dev.* (2008) 31:665–78. doi: 10.1016/j.infbeh.2008.04.009
- 22. Bar-Haim Y, Ziv T, Lamy D, Hodes M. Nature and nurture in own-race face processing. *Psychol Sci.* (2006) 17:159–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2006.01679.x
- Kelly DJ, Quinn PC, Slater AM, Lee K, Gibson A, Smith M, et al. Threemonth-olds, but not newborns, prefer own-race faces. *Dev Sci.* (2005) 8:F31–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2005.0434a.x
- Liu S, Xiao WS, Xiao NG, Quinn PC, Zhang Y, Chen H, et al. Development of visual preference for own- versus other-race faces in infancy. *Dev Psychol.* (2015). 51:500–11. doi: 10.1037/a0038835
- Kelly DJ, Quinn PC, Slater AM, Lee K, Ge L, Pascalis O. The other-race effect develops during infancy: Evidence of perceptual narrowing. *Psychol Sci.* (2007). 18:1084–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.02029.x
- 26. Pascalis O, de Haan M, Nelson CA. Is face processing species-specific during the first year of life? *Science* (2002) 5571:1321–2. doi: 10.1126/science.1070223
- Pascalis O, Scott LS, Kelly DJ, Shannon RW, Nicholson E, Coleman M, et al. (2005). Plasticity of face processing in infancy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 102:5297–300. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0406627102
- Scott LS, Monesson A. The origin of biases in face perception. *Psychol Sci.* (2009) 20:676–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02348.x
- Albuquerque N, Guo K. Dogs recognize dog and human emotions. *Biol Lett.* (2016) 12:20150883. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2015.0883
- Bekoff M. The Emotional Lives of Animals. Novato, CA: New World Library (2007).
- Call J, Brauer J, Kaminski J, Tomasello M. Domestic dogs (Canis familiaris) are sensitive to the attentional state of humans. J Comp Psychol. (2003) 117:257–63. doi: 10.1037/0735-7036.117.3.257
- Merola I, Lazzaroni M, Marshall-Pescini S, Prato-Previde E. Social referencing and cat-human communication. *Anim Cogn.* (2015) 18:639–48. doi: 10.1007/s10071-014-0832-2

- Téglás E, Gergely A, Kupán K, Miklósi Á, Topál J. Dogs' gaze following is tuned to human communicative signals. *Curr Biol.* (2012) 22:209–12. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2011.12.018
- 34. Cain A. A study of pets in the family system. In: Katcher A, Beck A, editors. New Perspectives on Our Lives With Companion Animals. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania Press (1983). p. 5–10.
- 35. Cohen SP. Can pets function as family members? West J Nurs Res. (2002) 24:621-38. doi: 10.1177/019394502320555386
- MacDonald A. The pet dog in the home: a study of interactions. In: B. Fogel editor. *Interrelations Between Pets and People*. (Springfield, MA: Thomas Books) (1981).
- Mueller MK, Fine AH, O'Haire ME. Understanding the role of human-animal interaction in the family context. In: A. H. Fine editors. *Handbook on Animal-Assisted Therapy Fourth Edn*. (San Diego, CA: Academic Press) (2015). p. 237–48.
- Serpell J. Animals in children's lives. Soc Anim. (1999) 7:87–94. doi: 10.1163/156853099X00013
- Hurley KB, Kovack-Lesh KA, Oakes LM. The influence of pets on infants' processing of cat and dog images. *Infant Behav Dev.* (2010) 33:619–28. doi: 10.1016/j.infbeh.2010.07.015
- Hurley KB, Oakes LM. Experience and distribution of attention: pet exposure and infants' scanning of animal images. J Cogn Dev. (2015) 16:11–30. doi: 10.1080/15248372.2013.833922
- Kovack-Lesh KA, Horst J, Oakes LM. The cat is out of the bag: the joint influence of previous experience and looking behavior on infant categorization. *Infancy* (2008) 13:285–307. doi: 10.1080/15250000802189428
- Kovack-Lesh KA, McMurray B, Oakes LM. Four-month-old infants' visual investigation of cats and dogs: Relations with pet experience and attentional strategy. *Dev Psychol.* (2014) 2:402–13. doi: 10.1037/a0033195
- Kovack-Lesh KA, Oakes LM, McMurray B. Contributions of attentional style and previous experience to 4-Month-old infants' categorization. *Infancy* (2012) 17:324–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7078.2011.00073.x
- Kelly DJ, Liu S, Ge L, Quinn PC, Slater AM, Lee K, et al. Cross-race preferences for same-race faces extend beyond the African versus Caucasian contrast in 3month-old infants. *Infancy* (2007) 11:87–95. doi: 10.1207/s15327078in1101_4
- Quinn PC, Eimas PD. Perceptual cues that permit categorical differentiation of animal species by infants. J Exp Child Psychol. (1996) 63:189–211. doi: 10.1006/jecp.1996.0047
- Spencer J, Quinn PC, Johnson MH, Karmiloff-Smith A. Heads you win, tails you lose: evidence for young infants categorizing mammals by head and facial attributes. *Early Dev Parent*. (1997) 6:113–26.
- Mareschal D, French RM, Quinn PC. A connectionist account of asymmetric category learning in early infancy. *Dev Psychol.* (2000) 36:635–45. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.36.5.635
- Simpson EA, Varga K, Frick JE, Fragaszy D. Infants experience perceptual narrowing for nonprimate faces. *Infancy* (2011) 16:318–28. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7078.2010.00052.x
- Kendrick KM, da Costa AP, Leigh AE, Hinton MR, Peirce JW. Sheep don't forget a face. *Nature* (2001) 414:165–6. doi: 10.1038/35102669
- Pokorny JJ, de Waal FB. Face recognition in capuchin monkeys (cebus apella). J Comp Psychol. (2009) 123:151–60. doi: 10.1037/a0014073
- Pokorny JJ, de Waal FB. Monkeys recognize the faces of group mates in photographs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:21539–43. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0912174106

- Chien SH, Wang JF, Huang TR. Developing the own-race advantage in 4-, 6-, and 9-month-old Taiwanese infants: a perceptual learning perspective. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:1606. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.0 1606
- 53. Gliga T, Csibra G. Seeing the face through the eyes: a developmental perspective on face expertise. *Prog Brain Res.* (2007) 164:323–39. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(07)64018-7
- 54. Liu S, Quinn PC, Wheeler A, Xiao N, Ge L, Lee K. Similarity and difference in the processing of same- and other-race faces as revealed by eye tracking in 4- to 9-month-olds. *J Exp Child Psychol.* (2011) 108:180–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2010.06.008
- Oakes LM, Ellis AE. An eye-tracking investigation of developmental changes in infants' exploration of upright and inverted human faces. *Infancy* (2013) 18:134–48. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7078.2011.0 0107.x
- 56. American Pet Products Association. Available online at: http://www. americanpetproducts.org/press_industrytrends.asp
- Ferguson KT, Kulkofsky S, Cashon CH, Casasola M. The development of specialized processing of own-race faces in infancy. *Infancy* (2009) 14:263–84. doi: 10.1080/15250000902839369
- Quinn PC, Yahr J, Kuhn A, Slater AM, Pascalis O. Representation of the gender of human faces by infants: a preference for female. *Perception* (2002) 31:1109–21. doi: 10.1068/p3331
- Fassbender I, Teubert M, Lohaus A. The development of preferences for own-race versus other-race faces in 3-, 6- and 9-month-old Caucasian infants. *Eur J Dev Psychol.* (2016) 13:152–65. doi: 10.1080/17405629.2015.10 73585
- Xiao WS, Quinn PC, Pascalis O, Lee K. Own- and other-race face scanning in infants: Implications for perceptual narrowing. *Dev Psychobiol.* (2014) 56:262–73. doi: 10.1002/dev.21196
- Wheeler A, Anzures G, Quinn PC, Pascalis O, Omrin DS, Lee K. Caucasian infants scan own- and other-race faces differently. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e18621. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018621
- Xiao WS, Xiao NG, Quinn PC, Anzures G, Lee K. Development of face scanning for own- and other-race faces in infancy. *Int J Behav Dev.* (2013) 37:100–5. doi: 10.1177/016502541246 7584
- Geerdts MS, Van de Walle GA, LoBue V. Daily animal exposure and children's biological concepts. J Exp Child Psychol. (2015) 130:132–46. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2014.10.001
- Inagaki K. The effects of raising animals on children's biological knowledge. Br J Dev Psychol. (1990) 8:119–29. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-835X.1990.tb 00827.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Hurley and Oakes. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Long-Term Effect of Therapeutic Horseback Riding in Youth With Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Randomized Trial

Robin L. Gabriels^{1,2,3*}, Zhaoxing Pan^{1,3}, Noémie A. Guérin⁴, Briar Dechant^{2,3} and Gary Mesibov⁵

¹ Department of Pediatrics, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States, ² Department of Psychiatry, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States, ³ Children's Hospital Colorado, Aurora, CO, United States, ⁴ Department of Comparative Pathobiology, Center for the Human-Animal Bond, College of Veterinary Medicine, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, United States, ⁵ Frank Porter Graham Child Development Institute, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

This paper presents 6-month follow-up data of 44% (N = 64/116) of participants

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Consultant, New Haven, CT, United States

Reviewed by:

Sophie Hall, University of Lincoln, United Kingdom Mitsuaki Ohta, Tokyo University of Agriculture, Japan

*Correspondence: Robin L. Gabriels robin.gabriels@childrenscolorado.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Humanities and Social Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

> **Received:** 16 April 2018 **Accepted:** 20 June 2018 **Published:** 16 July 2018

Citation:

Gabriels RL, Pan Z, Guérin NA, Dechant B and Mesibov G (2018) Long-Term Effect of Therapeutic Horseback Riding in Youth With Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Randomized Trial. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:156. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00156

(ages 6-16 years) with a diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder, who participated in a previously-published randomized controlled trial of therapeutic horseback riding (THR) compared to a no-horse contact active control. The objective of this study was to examine whether significant improvements of irritability, hyperactivity, social, and communication behaviors observed in participants randomized to receive a 10-week manual-based THR intervention were sustained 6 months after the intervention conclusion. Participants' caregivers from both the THR (n = 36) and active control (n = 28) groups completed a measure of irritability and hyperactivity behaviors (primary outcome variables). Additionally, only the THR group participants completed the full battery of study outcomes assessments. Between group comparisons examining the extended interval from baseline (1-month pre-intervention assessment) to 6-months after the intervention revealed that the THR group maintained reductions in irritability behavior at a 0.1 level (effect size = 0.32, p = 0.07). (Effect size = 0.32, p = 0.07), which was 73% of efficacy preserved from the primary post-intervention endpoint (within 1-month post-intervention). Hyperactivity behaviors did not sustain this same trend. Comparisons from baseline and 6-months after the intervention revealed that the THR group sustained significant initial improvements made in social and communication behaviors, along with number of words and different words spoken during a standard language sample. This is the first known study to examine and demonstrate the longer-term effects of THR for individuals with ASD and warrants a more thorough evaluation of whether the effects of THR are maintained for at least 6-months after the intervention compared to a control.

Clinical Trial Registration Information: Trial of Therapeutic Horseback Riding in Children and Adolescents with Autism Spectrum Disorder; http://clinicaltrials.gov; NCT02301195.

Keywords: animal-assisted interventions, autism spectrum, therapeutic horseback riding, long-term outcomes, irritability

19

INTRODUCTION

Along with the diagnostic social, communication, restricted, and repetitive behavior features of autism spectrum disorder (ASD) this population has particular difficulties with emotion regulation (1). Emotional dysregulation and related aberrant behavior responses (e.g., irritability and aggression) can detrimentally affect the daily social functioning of this population (2). Such issues can also contribute to an increase risk of exhibiting highly inappropriate and unsafe behaviors, the consequences of which can erode the quality of life (QoL) for the child with ASD and caregivers (3-5). The fact that there is no "one-size-fitsall" ASD intervention package (6) fuels a particular interest in seeking complementary and alternative ASD treatment options (7). One increasingly popular practice is the inclusion of animals in interventions to enhance human health, quality of life or wellbeing, known as animal-assisted intervention (AAI) (8). The use of AAI for individuals with ASD has been hypothesized to provide a unique social partnership experience with the animal, one that can reduce arousal levels (i.e., dampen stressed/anxious states) and can address the unique social, communication, and behavior challenges of individuals with ASD (9).

Emerging evidence for the benefits of animals on the health and well-being of individuals with ASD is highlighted by recent systematic literature reviews (10, 11). Research on AAI for ASD has increased in recent years, from only 14 studies meeting inclusion criteria for empirical research between 1989 and 2012, to 28 studies between 2012 and 2015. Early studies reported improvements in social and communication skills, decreases in ASD symptom severity, amelioration of behavior problems (e.g., aggression), reduced stress, and enhanced quality of life (10). However, a majority of these studies lacked methodological rigor, making these findings difficult to interpret or rely upon. Although diverse methods continue to be employed methodological quality of some of the more recent AAI studies have improved (11). In this more recent review of 22 out of 28 AAI studies, social interaction skills was identified as the most consistent outcome reported with additional outcome indications of improved communication skills, positive emotions, and reduced arousal levels (11). In this same review, equines were the most common animal species included in AAI (55% of studies) (11).

A systematic mapping review of equine-assisted activities and interventions (EAAT) studies with the ASD population revealed a wide variety of intervention methods ranging from equine assisted activities (EAA) (e.g., psychoeducational horseback riding, therapeutic riding) involving riding instructors, coaches or trainers, and equine-assisted therapies (EAT) (e.g., hippotherapy, simulated developmental horse-riding) involving therapists (e.g., occupational or physical therapists) and therapeutic riding instructors (12). In 31 of 33 studies reviewed, riding the horse was a key component, but EAA and EAT had different aims. Horsemanship, communication, and social skills were an emphasis of EAAs, with 13 out of 25 involving group sessions. Conversely, the eight EAT studies did not always specify group or individual session type, instead focused on the use of the horse's movement to target physical and sensorimotor functioning. Outcome improvement areas reported by EAA studies included social interactions, communications, sensory processing, movement control, ASD symptom severity, and QoL, whereas EAT studies reported outcome improvements in motor control and adaptive living skills (12).

Although THR appears to be a wide-spread practice that has become popular for individuals with ASD, few studies have systematically validated the effects of THR for individuals with ASD following recommended guidelines for ASD research of therapeutic interventions (13). Such a practice is necessary to guide consumers' AAI treatment choice making and third-party payers' interest in funding evidenced-based AAI. In response to this need, this research team conducted the first known largescale (N = 127) randomized controlled trial (RCT) of THR compared to a no-horse activity control with children ages 6-16 years diagnosed with ASD (14). Results showed a significant medium effect size improvement in participants from the THR group (n = 58) compared to the control (n = 58) on measures of irritability, hyperactivity, social cognition, social communication, and total words and new words spoken during a standardized language sample.

There is a paucity of research examining the longer-term maintenance of AAI benefits for individuals with ASD beyond immediate outcomes. A recent follow-up study by Hall et al. (15) examined the maintenance of the immediate observed improvements in family functioning and stress made after families of children diagnosed with ASD either acquired a dog or did not (16, 17). This two-and-a-half-year followup revealed maintenance of family functioning gains in the subset of those who followed-up from the intervention group (n = 22) compared to the control (n = 15) (15). One study to date has attempted to prospectively examine residual effects of THR for children with ASD (18). That study conducted a repeated measure, interrupted treatment design to evaluate 21 participants with ASD before and after 10-weeks of THR. An unintentional 6-week break from treatment interrupted the study design. Participant outcome assessment following this initial 16 week-period indicated that participants showed improvements in sensory processing abilities and autism-related symptoms. However, none of these improvements remained when re-evaluating participants after discontinuing THR for 6 weeks. After re-introducing 6 weeks of THR, an immediate follow-up assessment revealed initial improvements resumed. However, of note, this study had several methodological limitations including only teacher-report that limited outcome evaluation to the school environment, lack of a control condition, and an unplanned 6-week break during the initial treatment phase (18). Examining the durability of AAI improvements is an important area of research needed in the growing effort to validate the efficacy of these interventions.

This article presents 6-month follow-up data from a subset of participants who were randomized as part of a previously published RCT to receive either 10-weeks of THR intervention or 10-weeks of a barn activity (BA) control group with no exposure to horses (14). In this study, we examined whether the behavioral, social, and communication improvements remained 6 months after the completion of the THR intervention.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The following summarizes the methods of our previously published RCT (14), which was conducted at a Première certified PATH international center follows industry guidelines to insure horse welfare. For additional details concerning participant consent/assent process, inclusion, and exclusion criteria, ASD study diagnostic confirmation, screening, randomization, measures, and interventions, please see the discussion in Gabriels et al. (14).

Participants

At the onset of the RCT (14), all of the 127 participants ages 6-16 years with a study confirmed diagnosis of ASD were invited to engage in this 6-month follow-up assessment, approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at the first author's institution. Specifically, participants and caregivers completed an informed consent/assent process, giving consent for three evaluation points: (1) baseline assessment, (2) postintervention assessment, and a (3) 6-month post-intervention follow-up assessment contingent on agreement to refrain from continuing participation in THR for 6-months after the initial intervention phase. The informed consent process included mention of monetary incentives offered for each assessment period of the study, including the 6-month follow-up. From the 127 participants enrolled in the RCT (14), only 116 participants were eligible to complete this third study phase because they had completed RCT baseline (pre-intervention) assessments. However, only a subset of these 116 participants, 96 were invited to be included in the follow-up assessment process, because they completed 1-month post-intervention follow-up assessments and chose to refrain from continued participation in THR until after the 6-month follow-up evaluation period. Six months after completing the intervention phase of the RCT (14), the study coordinator contacted these 96 participants. A subset of these 96 participants contacted (64/66.67%) responded (THR group n = 36; control group n = 28). Of the 32 participants who did not complete this third study phase, two were no longer living with the same caregivers, rather were living in community-based placements, and the remainder were otherwise unable to schedule and/or complete study forms. Participating families received compensation for travel to study visits and for completing and returning the study questionnaire.

Study Design

Following institutional review board-approved informed consent/assent procedures for the RCT (14), participants were randomized in a 1:1 ratio to receive either a 10-week THR group or a no-horse barn activity (BA) control group based on a priori randomization list generated study statistician. This was stratified by participants' nonverbal intelligence quotient (NVIQ) standard score (85 or >85) measured by the Leiter-R (19). Weekly intervention and control group lessons lasted 45-min, consisted of two to four participants, were led by a

THR instructor, followed a consistent routine, and were taught horsemanship skills via activities tailored to ASD learning styles outlined in the THR intervention manual (20). Specifically, the THR group participants each had one or multiple assigned volunteers (one horse leader and up to two side walkers) and the BA group participants each had one assigned volunteer. BA group participants had no contact with horses at the riding center, but were just able to view horses from a distance. There was a life-sized stuffed horse present in the BA group for hands-on learning related to the weekly horsemanship topic.

Six-Month Outcome Measures

Six months following the completion of the intervention phase of the study, the same caregiver who completed baseline (preintervention) study forms for THR (n = 36) and control (n = 28) groups, completed the 6-month follow-up study measures. Only the THR group participants (n = 36) were scheduled to come into the study clinic site for a re-administration of all baseline assessment measures (i.e., language assessment and social-communication caregiver report form). The speech therapist, who had conducted the baseline and post-intervention evaluations as a blinded evaluator, was unblinded at the 6month follow-up, because only THR participants received the 6-month follow-up language assessment. However, baseline and post-intervention assessments were not available to the speech therapist during the 6-month evaluation period.

The Irritability and Hyperactivity subscales of the Aberrant Behavior Checklist-Community (ABC-C) (21) were the primary outcome measures for the RCT (14). For this follow-up, the subset of caregivers from both groups (THR and BA) were asked to complete the ABC-C (21). The ABC-C is a 58item symptom checklist that assesses problem behaviors /selfregulation in children and adults with developmental disabilities (22, 23) and is commonly used as a primary outcome measure in psychopharmacological studies with the ASD population (21). Caregivers received this questionnaire electronically or by mail and were asked to report on participants' current (within the past 4 weeks) observed irritability and hyperactivity behaviors.

The persistence of the previously-reported (14) improvements in social communication and social-cognition behaviors observed in the THR group, were again measured using the Social Responsiveness Scale (SRS) (24) completed by the subset of caregivers from the participants who completed the THR intervention. The SRS has high internal consistency and retest temporal stability in males and females with ASD (25).

To evaluate the persistence of word fluency improvements made in the THR group compared to the control from baseline to post-intervention (14), the subset of participants from the THR group were again administered the Systematic Analysis of Language Transcripts (SALT) (26) 6-months postthe THR intervention. The SALT (26) consists of a 5min standardized language sample that includes software to structure the collection, transcription, and analysis of language samples obtained from individuals, including those with ASD. TABLE 1 | Demographics for participants with follow-up at 6 months' post-treatment and those without follow-up.

Characteristic		With 6 months	follow-up		Wi	thout 6 m	onths follow-up	
	THR	Barn	Total	pa	THR	p ^b	Barn	pb
No. of participants	36	28	64		22		30	
Age, [Mean (SD)], years	10.7 (2.9)	9.4 (2.5)	10.1 (2.8)	0.09*	10.3 (3.7)	0.67	10.5 (2.8)	0.14
Gender, males/females (counts)	29/7	25/3	54/10	0.34	20/2	0.46	27/3	1.0
IQ [Mean (SD)]	88.4 (25.1)	89.2 (19.8)	88.8(22.8)	0.89	83.8 (26.4)	0.51	83.1 (25.2)	0.31
Repetitive behavior scale total score [Mean (SD)]	38.1 (22.4)	37.2 (19.8)	37.7 (21.0)	0.86	37.7 (18.7)	0.94	38.9 (20.1)	0.74
Community psychiatric diagnoses, Y/N(Counts)	18/18	11/17	29/35	0.45	10/12	0.79	17/13	0.20
Mood disorder, Y/N(Counts)	6/30	5/23	11/53	1.0	2/20	0.70	7/23	0.75
Anxiety disorder, Y/N(Counts)	10/26	2/26	12/52	0.05*	6/16	1.0	7/23	0.15
ADHD, Y/N(Counts)	10/26	8/20	18/46	1.0	7/15	0.78	8/22	1.0
Learning disability, Y/N(Counts)	3/33	8/20	11/53	0.25	0/22	0.28	1/29	1.0
Current seizure disorder, Y/N(Counts)	1/35	0/28	1/63	1.0	0/22	1.0	2/28	0.49
Psychotropic medicine, Y/N(Counts)	17/19	11/17	18/36	0.53	10/12	1.0	18/12	0.19
Distance traveled to riding center [mean (SD)]	28.3 (6.4)	22/0 (5/4)	25.5 (19.3)	0.20	34.92(19.5)	0.20	31.6 (16.6)	0.049**
Latino/Hispanic, Y/N(Counts)	5/31	5/23	10/54	0.66	5/17	0.48	6/23	1.0
Race (counts)				0.24		0.38		0.90
American Indian or Alaska native	0	2	2		0		1	
Asian/ Hawaiian/Pacific Islander	0	2	2		2		1	
Black or African American	1	0	1		0		0	
White	30	20	50		18		25	
Mixed Race	4	1	5		1		1	
Other	1	2	3		0		2	
Missing	0	1	2		1		0	

^ap-value for comparisons between THR and Barn group among participants with 6-month follow-up.

^b p-values for comparisons between participants with 6-month follow-up and those without respectively for THR and Barn participants.

**p < 0.05; *p < 0.1 (Significant p-values are in bold).

Statistical Analysis

SAS 9.4 was used for all the analyses (SAS Institute Inc.,)¹. Participant characteristics and outcome data were compared between the THR and BA groups using two-sample *t*-test or chi square test as appropriate. The outcome analysis used a linear mixed effects model (LMM). For irritability and hyperactivity, the fixed effects of LMM included the classification variables of evaluation time (i.e., baseline, post-THR, and 6-month follow-up) and group indicator (THR or BA) as well as their interaction. Statistical test of the interaction of group by time was used to examine the significance of efficacy. Cohen's D effect size for efficacy is estimated based on this interaction test using 2 times *t* value divided by degree of freedom. Other outcome variables collected only for THR participants were also analyzed by LMM. Compound symmetry was the covariance structure used for all LMM analyses.

RESULTS

Patient Demographics and Baseline Clinical Data

Summary statistics of demographic and baseline clinical characteristics for the 64 participants who chose to followup 6-months post the initial THR intervention (n = 64) and

¹SAS Institute Inc. "SAS" (Cary, NC).

those participants (n = 52) who did not follow-up are listed in **Table 1**. There were no statistically significant differences between these two groups with respect to demographic and clinical data collected, except for the fact that those participants who did not chose to follow-up tended to travel from farther distances to the riding center (see **Table 1**).

Between Group Efficacy Maintenance at Six-Month Follow-Up

For the subgroup of participants from the RCT (14) who completed the 6-month follow up assessment (THR group, N = 36; BA group, N = 28), the THR group experienced significantly more improvements (effect size = 0.44, p = 0.016) on the ABC-C (21) Irritability subscale between pre-intervention and within 1-month post-intervention as compared to the BA group (Table 2 and Figure 1). This efficacy is consistent with the larger RCT study results (14). Examining the extended interval from baseline to 6-months after intervention, showed significance at the 0.1 level (effect size = 0.32, p = 0.07) results favoring the THR group for the ABC-C (21) Irritability subscale. The observed effect size at 6 months are 73% of that at postintervention in this sample and 64% of that observed in the larger RCT study. For the ABC-C (21) Hyperactivity subscale, the THR group showed a greater (non-significant) improvement compared to the BA group from pre-intervention to within 1

month post-intervention (effect size = 0.32, p = 0.08), in contrast to the significant finding in the original RCT study (14). There was no significant difference; however, when examining the extended interval from baseline to 6 months after intervention for the hyperactivity subscale (effect size = 0.09, p = 0.61), indicating efficacy of THR on hyperactivity was not sustained.

Six-Month Follow-Up of the THR Group

Consistent with the original RCT study (14), significant improvements were observed in the THR group participants who completed the 6-month follow-up data collection using the SRS (24) Social Communication and Social Cognition subscales along with number of words and different words spoken during the SALT (26) from baseline (within 1-month pre-intervention) to 1-month post-intervention (each p < 0.01). These post-intervention changes sustained from 1-month postintervention to the 6-month follow-up period (see **Figure 2**). Specifically, there was significant improvement for each outcome (p < 0.01) between baseline and 6 months' post-intervention, while there was not a significant difference between 1-month post-intervention and 6 months' post-intervention.

DISCUSSION

This report presents follow-up data from a subset of participants (n = 64) in a previously published RCT (14) study of the effects of a 10-week THR group intervention on children and adolescents with an ASD compared to a no-horse contact activity control group. Results from this follow-up study show that in the subset of THR participants measured, they retained some of their initial improvements made in irritability compared to the BA control. Additionally, an exploratory analysis of only the THR group revealed that they sustained their significant initial improvements made in social and communication behaviors, along with number of words and different words spoken during a standard language sample for at least 6 months following the completion of the THR intervention.

For reference, the previously published results of that RCT reported that after 10 weeks of intervention (THR or BA control), participants in the THR group showed significantly more improvements on the in irritability and hyperactivity behaviors compared to the BA control (14). The THR group also showed significant improvements on the SRS (24) subscales of social cognition and communication and used a greater number of different words as measured by the SALT (26), while the control group did not show similar improvements (14). The significant irritability and hyperactivity effects began by the fifth week of the THR intervention. Although the BA control showed significant within-group improvements in irritability and hyperactivity behaviors at end of intervention and 6 months after intervention, such improvements could be due to a variety of factors other than the BA group (e.g., placebo response). It would be misleading to make conclusions about the effects of this active (BA) control intervention due to the absence of a nonintervention control for comparison, a necessary element to test treatment effects as discussed in the literature [e.g., (29, 30)].

Outcome	Group	Baseline	EOT	6 Months post Intervention	Baseline minus EOT	ESb	٩	Baseline minus 6 months post Intervention	ESb	٩	EOT minus 6 Months post intervention	đ
Irritability	Barn	14.43 (8.69)	11.96 (9.29)	11.50 (7.87)	2.46 (1.10)		0.03**	2.93 (1.10)		0.01**	0.46 (1.10)	0.67
	THR	15.86 (9.52)	9.00 (8.08)	9.69 (6.87)	6.86 (1.42)		<0.001**	6.17 (1.42)		<0.001**	-0.69 (1.42)	0.63
	Difference	-1.43 (2.13)	2.96 (2.13)	1.81 (2.13)	-4.40 (1.79)	0.44	0.02**	-3.24 (1.79)	0.32	0.07*	1.16 (1.79)	0.52
Hyperactivity	Barn	20.71 (20.75)	17.07 (13.28)	15.86 (14.81)	3.64 (1.59)		0.02**	4.86 (1.59)		0.003**	1.21 (1.59)	0.45
	THR	20.75 (20.71)	13.28 (17.07)	14.81 (15.86)	7.47 (1.43)		<0.001**	5.94 (1.43)		<0.001**	-1.53 (1.43)	0.29
	Difference	-0.04 (2.48)	3.79 (2.48)	1.05 (2.48)	-3.83 (2.14)	0.32	•80.0	-1.09 (2.14)	•0.09	0.61	2.74 (2.14)	0.20

^bCohen's D Effect size for efficacy at EoT or 6 months, estimated by 2 times t value divided by sqrt (DF).

**p < 0.05; *p < 0.1 (Significant p-values are in bold).

These results suggest that THR may be an effective complementary intervention to enhance social and verbal core symptoms of ASD, and to reduce irritability behaviors. Given the results of this study, particularly the lingering effects on irritability behaviors, we hypothesize that our THR manualbased approach may induce a reduction in arousal states, dampening stress/anxiety, in youth with ASD. Therefore, an important next step might be to examine the physiological regulation mechanisms involved in THR may explain (at least partially) improved outcomes in youth with ASD. Additionally, this study's finding of the long-term sustained improvements in irritability behaviors have clinical practice implications for youth with ASD that can add to the current standard of practice of administering anti-psychotic medications (i.e., Risperidone and



FIGURE 1 | Profile of irritability (IRR) and hyperactivity (HYP) over three assessment periods. Note, the typical clinical threshold for the ABC-C irritability subscale is >14–16 in psychopharmacology clinical trials for the ASD population [e.g., (27, 28)].

aripiprazole) to reduce symptoms of irritability in this population (ages 5–16 years and 6–17 years) (31–33). For example, it has been proposed that THR might be a safe adjunct intervention to facilitate lowering medication dosages in this population (34). Finally, this study expands the AAI research base by prospectively examining the residual effects of THR for children with ASD.

The limitations of this study include its small sample size due to the high dropout rate 6 months following the initial intervention phase. This limits the validity of the results, as findings may not represent the greater population of youth with ASD. Another limitation is the fact that for those participants who did not chose to follow-up, attrition might be because they lived farther away from the study site. This also presents a possible selection bias. Even though we only included participants who refrained from engaging in THR for 6-months following the initial intervention, we did not specifically assess what other, if any, contact with horses was made during that time, which is a limitation. Another limitation is the fact that this study did not assess the efficacy of THR compared to the BA control group on all outcome measures employed in the previously published RCT (14). This limits the validity of these study results and warrants a more thorough evaluation of whether the positive effects of THR can be maintained for at least 6-months after the THR intervention compared to a control.

Despite these limitations, this study provides useful preliminary data to both support and extend the significant findings from our previously published pilot study and RCT (14, 35). This study also provides suggestions for future investigations of the longer-term benefits of THR in children and adolescents with ASD. For example, future investigations should consider the addition of incentives to lower follow-up attrition rates such as conducting outcome evaluations in closer proximity to participants' residence and providing increased monetary



incentives for completing follow-up assessments. Future THR studies may consider collecting follow-up outcome assessments at several time points post-intervention to elucidate information regarding the lingering time course of outcome improvements. Finally, additional long-term outcome research will help to establish empirical evidence for THR as a valid intervention for youth with ASD, one that leads to the acquisition and long-term maintenance of behaviors skills that may enhance the quality of life for individuals with ASD and their caregivers.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RG was the principal investigator of this study and contributed to writing the majority of this manuscript. ZP served as the statistical expert for this study and wrote the result section of this manuscript. GM served as a consultant for this study and provided editorial edits to this manuscript. BD served as the clinical coordinator for this study and provided editorial edits to this manuscript. NG assisted in writing the introduction of this manuscript.

REFERENCES

- 1. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition*. Washington, DC : American Psychiatric Association (2013).
- Jahromi LB, Bryce CI, Swanson J. The importance of self-regulation for the school and peer engagement of children with high-functioning autism. *Res Autism Spect Disord.* (2013) 7:235–46. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2012. 08.012
- Lecavalier L, Leone S, Wiltz J. The impact of behaviour problems on caregiver stress in young people with autism spectrum disorders. *J Intel Disab Res.* (2006) 50:172–83. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2005. 00732.x
- Schieve LA, Blumberg SJ, Rice C, Visser SN, Boyle C. The relationship between autism and parenting stress. *Pediatrics* (2007) 119(Suppl. 1):S114–21. doi: 10.1542/peds.2006-2089Q
- Cadman T, Eklund H, Howley D, Hayward H, Clarke H, Findon J, et al. Caregiver burden as people with autism spectrum disorder and attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder transition into adolescence and adulthood in the United Kingdom. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2012) 51:879–88. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2012.06.017.
- Levy SE, Hyman SL. Novel treatments for autistic spectrum disorders. Mental Retard Dev Disab Res Rev. (2005) 11:131–42. doi: 10.1002/mrdd. 20062
- Christon LM, Mackintosh VH, Myers BJ. Use of complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) treatments by parents of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Res Autism Spect Disord*. (2010) 4:249–59. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2009.09.013
- Kruger KA, Serpell JA. Animal-assisted interventions in mental health: Definitions and theoretical foundations. In: AH Fine, editor, *Handbook* on Animal-Assisted Therapy Third Edition. San Diego, CA: Elsevier (2010). p. 33–48.
- 9. Grandin T, Johnson C. Animals in Translation. New York, NY: Simon and Schuster (2005).
- O'Haire ME. Animal-assisted intervention for autism spectrum disorder: a systematic literature review. J Autism Dev Disord. (2013) 43:1606–22. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1707-5.
- O'Haire ME. Research on animal-assisted intervention and autism spectrum disorder, 2012–2015. *Appl Dev Sci.* (2017) 21:200–16. doi: 10.1080/10888691.2016.1243988

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Portions of the research described in this study have been previously presented at the International Meeting for Autism Research in May 2012 (Toronto, CA) and the Society for Research in Child Development in April 2013 (Seattle, WA). This research was supported by the NIH/National Institutes of Nursing Research grant NR012736-01. Luitpold Pharmaceuticals donated Adequan[®] medication for the horses in the study in collaboration with the riding center's veterinarian. The authors would like thank the families and children who participated in this study as well as our colleagues who assisted with this project: John Agnew, Natalie Brim, Laurie Burnside, Tina Farrell, Oren Gordon, Syd Martin, Shana Holderness, Amy Shoffner and the staff of the Colorado Therapeutic Riding Center, particularly Carol Heiden, Jody Howard, Heather McLaughlin, Mary Mitten, Penelope Powell and Sharon Van Boven. We also thank PATH International for supporting this study as well as Stephanie Luallin and James Heathers for their technical assistance formatting sections of this manuscript.

- Peters BCM, Wood W. Autism and equine-assisted interventions: a systematic mapping review. J Autism Dev Disord. (2017) 47:3220–42. doi: 10.1007/s10803-017-3219-9
- Smith T, Scahill L, Dawson G, Guthrie D, Lord C, Odom S, et al. Designing research studies on psychosocial interventions in autism. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2007) 37:354–66. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0173-3
- Gabriels RL, Pan Z, Dechant B, Agnew JA, Brim N, Mesibov G. Randomized controlled trial of therapeutic horseback riding in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2015) 54:541–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2015.04.007.
- Hall SS, Wright HF, Hames A, Mills DS. The long-term benefits of dog ownership in families with children with autism. *J Vet Behav.* (2016) 13:46–54. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2016.04.003
- Wright H, Hall S, Hardiman J, Mills R, Milla D. Pet dogs improve family functioning and reduce anxiety in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Anthrozoos* (2015) 28:611–24. doi: 10.1080/08927936.2015.1070003
- Wright H, Hall S, Hames A, Hardiman J, Mills R, Milla D. Acquiring a pet dog significantly reduces stress of primary carers for children with autism spectrum disorder: a prospective case control study. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2015) 45:2531–40. doi: 10.1007/s10803-015-2418-5
- Ward SC, Whalon K, Rusnak K, Wendell K, Paschall N. The association between therapeutic horseback riding and the social communication and sensory reactions of children with autism. J Autism Dev Disord. (2013) 43:2190–8. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1773-3
- Roid GH, Miller LJ. Leiter International Performance Scale-Revised (Leiter-R). Wood Dale, IL: Stoelting (1997).
- Shoffner A, Gabriels R. Therapeutic Horseback Riding Intervention Manual Denver, CO: University of Colorrado and Children's Hospital Colorado (2008).
- Aman MG, Singh NN, Stewart AW, Field CJ. The aberrant behavior checklist: a behavior rating scale for the assessment of treatment effects. *Am J Mental Defici*. (1985) 89:485–91.
- Aman MG, Richmond G, Stewart AW, Bell JC, Kissel RC. The aberrant behavior checklist: Factor structure and the effect of subject variables in American and New Zealand facilities. *Am J Mental Defici*. (1987) 91:570–8.
- Aman MG, Burrow WH, Wolford PL. The aberrant behavior checklistcommunity: factor validity and effect of subject variables for adults in group homes. *Am J Mental Retard*. (1995) 100:283–92.
- 24. Constantino JN. *The Social Responsiveness Scale*. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services (2002).

- Constantino JN, Davis SA, Todd RD, Schindler MK, Gross MM, Brophy SL, et al. Validation of a brief quantitative measure of autistic traits: Comparison of the social responsiveness scale with the autism diagnostic interview-revised. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2003) 33:427–33. doi: 10.1023/A:1025014929212
- Miller JF, Chapman RS. SALT: A Computer Program for the Systematic Analysis of Language Transcripts. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin (2000).
- McCracken JT, McGough J, Shah B, Cronin P, Hong D, Aman MG, et al. Risperidone in children with autism and serious behavioral problems. *N Engl J Med.* (2002) 347:314–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa013171
- Owen R, Sikich L, Marcus RN, Corey-Lisle P, Manos G, McQuade RD, et al. Aripiprazole in the treatment of irritability in children and adolescents with autistic disorder. *Pediatrics* (2009) 124:1533–40. doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-3782
- Bland MJ, Altman DG. Best (but oft forgotten) practices: testing for treatment effects in randomized trials by separate analyses of changes from baseline in each group is a misleading approach. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 102:991–4. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.119768
- Paulus JK, Dahabreh IJ, Balk EM, Avendano EE, Lau J, Ip S. Opportunities and challenges in using studies without a control group in comparative effectiveness reviews. *Res Synth Methods* (2014) 5:152–61. doi: 10.1002/jrsm.1101
- Marcus RN, Owen R, Manos G, Mankoski R, Kamen L, McQuade RD, et al. Safety and tolerability of aripiprazole for irritability in pediatric patients with autistic disorder: a 52-week, open-label, multicenter study. J Clin Psychiatry (2011) 72:1270–6. doi: 10.4088/JCP.09m05933
- 32. Arnold LE, Aman MG, Martin A, Collier-Crespin A, Vitiello B, Tierney E, et al. Assessment in multisite randomized clinical trials of patients with autistic disorder: the Autism RUPP Network. *Res Units Pediatr Psychopharmacol J Aut Dev Disord*. (2000) 30:99–111.

- 33. DeFilippis M, Wagner KD. Treatment of autism spectrum disorder in children and adolescents. *Psychopharmacol Bull.* (2016) 46:18
- Arnold LE. The alone rangers and silver. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2015) 54:535–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2015.04.010
- 35. Gabriels RL, Agnew JA, Holt KD, Shoffner A, Zhaoxing P, Ruzzano S, et al. Pilot study measuring the effects of therapeutic horseback riding on school-age children and adolescents with autism spectum disorders. *Res Autism Spectr Disord.* (2012) 6:578–88. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2011. 09.007

Conflict of Interest Statement: RG is a co-author of the book, Growing Up with Autism: Working with School-aged Children and Adolescents (Guilford Press) and the book, Autism from Research to Individualized Practice (Jessica Kingsley Publishers), from which she receives royalties. Current grant funding for RG provided by Simons and Lurie Foundations and The Human-Animal Bond Research Institute (HABRI) Foundation.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Gabriels, Pan, Guérin, Dechant and Mesibov. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Children's Relationship With Their Pet Dogs and OXTR Genotype Predict Child–Pet Interaction in an Experimental Setting

Darlene A. Kertes^{1,2*}, Nathan Hall³ and Samarth S. Bhatt¹

¹ Department of Psychology, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States, ² Genetics Institute, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States, ³ Department of Animal and Food Sciences, Texas Tech University, Lubbock, TX, United States

Human–animal interaction (HAI) research has increasingly documented the important role of pet dogs in children's lives. The quality of interaction between children and their pet dogs, however, is likely influenced by individual differences among children as well as their perceived relationship with their pet dog. Ninety-seven children aged 7–12 years and their pet dogs participated in a laboratory protocol during which the child solicited interaction with their dog, from which time petting and gazing were recorded. Children reported on their perceived relationship with the pet dog via interview. Children provided saliva samples, from which a polymorphism in the oxytocin receptor, *OXTR* rs53576, which has long been implicated in social behavior, was genotyped. The results showed that *OXTR* genotype and children's perceived antagonism with the pet dogs. This research adds to the growing body of HAI research by documenting individual differences that may influence children's interactions with animals, which is key to research related to pet ownership and understanding factors that may impact therapeutic interventions involving HAI.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Peggy McCardle Consulting, LLC and Haskins Laboratories, United States

Reviewed by:

Sabrina E. B. Schuck, University of California, Irvine, United States Kristine Ann Kovack-Lesh, Ripon College, United States

*Correspondence:

Darlene A. Kertes dkertes@ufl.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Developmental Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 24 May 2018 Accepted: 26 July 2018 Published: 05 September 2018

Citation:

Kertes DA, Hall N and Bhatt SS (2018) Children's Relationship With Their Pet Dogs and OXTR Genotype Predict Child–Pet Interaction in an Experimental Setting. Front. Psychol. 9:1472. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01472 Keywords: human-animal interaction, relationships, child, petting, dogs, OXTR, oxytocin receptor gene, oxytocin

INTRODUCTION

Human-animal interaction (HAI) research has increasingly documented the important role of pet dogs in providing social support to children (e.g., Friedmann et al., 1983; Kotrschal and Ortbauer, 2003; Anderson and Olson, 2006). However, the bulk of this research has been descriptive or correlational in nature, with long-standing concerns about methodological rigor (Griffin et al., 2011) and few well-controlled laboratory experiments that afford greater confidence to the validity of results (Wilson and Barker, 2003). Our group has previously reported that children randomly assigned to experience a standard laboratory stressor accompanied by their pet dog for social support reported feeling less stressed compared to children who completed the stressor with their parent present or with no social support (Kertes et al., 2017). Among the children who underwent the stressful experience with their pet dog, those who naturally solicited their dog to be stroked or petted had lower levels of the stress-sensitive hormone cortisol compared to children who engaged their dog less.

27

Indeed, petting, and to a lesser extent gazing, have been suggested as potential mechanisms by which HAI impact humans by altering their emotional and physiological state (e.g., Odendaal and Meintjes, 2003; Shiloh et al., 2003). Among adults, petting is associated with reduced perceived stress or anxiety (Shiloh et al., 2003; Barker et al., 2005), increased immunoglobulin A (Charnetski et al., 2004), lower heart rate or blood pressure (Jenkins, 1986; Vormbrock and Grossberg, 1988; Demello, 1999; Handlin et al., 2011), and changes in β-endorphins, prolactin, β-phenylethylamine, oxytocin, cortisol, and dopamine (Odendaal, 2000; Barker et al., 2005). Adult owner-pet gazing has been linked with increased oxytocin levels (Nagasawa et al., 2009, 2015). Among children, petting during child-dog interaction has been associated with lowered cortisol stress response (Kertes et al., 2017) and positive affect (Kerns et al., 2018). The vast majority of research on HAI with children has focused on dog presence, which has been linked with reduced blood pressure (Friedmann et al., 1983) perceived stress (Kertes et al., 2017), enhanced emotional stability in the classroom (Anderson and Olson, 2006), increase social interaction, and decrease aggression and hyperactivity (Kotrschal and Ortbauer, 2003), and reduced distress to a routine medical procedure (Vagnoli et al., 2015).

Its potential benefits notwithstanding, the degree to which children's interactions with their pet dogs spontaneously include petting and gazing may be influenced by individual differences in children's perceived relationship with their pet dog. To date, the majority of research on pet owners' feelings toward their pets have centered on positive emotions (Johnson et al., 1992; Cromer and Barlow, 2013). This area of research has shown that children and adults alike report strong positive feelings toward their pet dogs (Serpell, 1996; Daly and Morton, 2006; Kurdek, 2008). Noticeably absent from most HAI studies is the role of perceived negative aspects of the child-pet relationship, such as feeling annoyed with or hassled by interactions with the pet. A more complete evaluation of effects of children's feelings toward their pet necessarily involves inclusion of both positive and negative components to children's perceived relationships (e.g., DeRosier and Kupersmidt, 1991; Furman and Buhrmester, 1992; Shantz and Hartup, 1992; Van Horn and Cunegatto, 2000; Moilanen and Raffaelli, 2010).

Another factor that may contribute to individual differences in children's interactions with their pet is variability within the oxytocinergic system. Oxytocin is a hormone and neuromodulator shown to be involved in a variety of social behaviors (Carter, 2014). Oxytocin is linked with affiliative behavior (Insel, 1992), formation of social bonds (Lim and Young, 2006), and responses to stressful social situations (Neumann et al., 2000; Kirsch et al., 2005).

Endogenous circulating oxytocin effects are influenced by actions at the oxytocin receptor. This receptor is encoded by the gene *OXTR*, which is variably expressed across individuals. Among the most commonly studied genetic polymorphisms at *OXTR* is rs53576, involving a guanine (G) to adenine (A) substitution. Genetic variation at this locus has been associated with both prosocial and negative behaviors. For example, A carriers, (i.e., individuals with the AA or AG genotype),

compared to those with the GG genotype, have demonstrated lower levels of interpersonal empathy (Rodrigues et al., 2009; Smith et al., 2014), trust (Krueger et al., 2012), as well as lower self-esteem (Saphire-Bernstein et al., 2011), and higher negative affect and loneliness (Lucht et al., 2009). Among adolescents, A-carriers are reported to be less responsive to parental support (Smearman et al., 2016). Consistent with the differential susceptibility hypothesis (Belsky et al., 2009), it has been suggested that *OXTR* rs53576 may be one of a set of susceptibility loci in the genome, whereby genetic variation influences an individual's sensitivity to the social environment (Kim et al., 2010).

Notably, the extensive literature examining *OXTR* rs53576 in relation to social behavior has focused exclusively on human social interaction. To date, there are no published studies examining *OXTR* genotype with respect to children's interaction with animals. This is notable because interaction with and ownership of lay or trained therapy dogs is increasingly becoming a mainstay of clinical interventions for children with anxiety disorders, autism spectrum diagnoses, or a history of maltreatment, on the assumption that interacting with animals is particularly beneficial for individuals for whom social interactions are challenging (Nimer and Lundahl, 2007). The present report is the first to assess whether the *OXTR* genotype among children is related to HAI.

This study focused on typically developing children in middle childhood (aged 7–12 years). During this developmental period, the amount of time children spend with parents declines dramatically compared to earlier ages (Lam et al., 2012). Although parents continue to be important social partners, in middle childhood, children begin to rely on a broader network of social support figures compared to earlier ages, including pets (Bryant, 1985).

The purpose of the present study was to test whether children's perceived relationships (including both positive emotional support and negative interactions) along with child genotype at the OXTR rs53576 polymorphism predict directly observable child-pet interaction. To achieve this aim, we assessed two essential elements of child-pet interaction, petting, and gazing, via direct behavioral observation in the context of a controlled laboratory environment with minimal distractions. Based on the extant literature linking OXTR rs53576 genotype to social behavior, we expected that children who are A-carriers would differ from those with the GG genotype with respect to the amount of time spent petting and gazing with their pet dogs. Because of the complex associations of the OXTR genotype with respect to social behavior, and the fact that this is the first study to examine the rs53576 polymorphism with respect to HAI rather than human social interactions, we did not specify a priori directional predictions for the OXTR genotype. With respect to children's relationships, we anticipated that children's perceived relationship with their pet dogs, as reflected in higher levels of perceived support and lower levels of perceived negative interactions, would be associated with higher levels of petting and gazing with their pet dogs. Children were also asked about their perceived relationship with the mother, which was included on conceptual grounds for their key role in social emotional

development, and to evaluate whether child–parent relationships were related to child–pet interactions.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Participants were 97 children (49 boys; 48 girls) accompanied by a parent (81% mother) and pet dog. Participating families were recruited through locally distributed mailings, flyers, and radio and TV advertisements. Interested families contacted the research lab and were screened for eligibility. To be eligible for the study, children could not have any diagnosed physical or behavioral health conditions, and the pet dog must have lived with the family for at least 6 months and have no history of aggression. If multiple dogs resided in the home that met inclusion criteria, the family selected one dog based on the child–pet relationship to accompany the child to the research lab.

Child age ranged from 7 to 12 years (M = 10.3 years, SD = 1.32) Child ethnicity was reported by parents as follows: 11% Hispanic; 89% non-Hispanic. The majority of the sample was White (84%), with the remainder reporting their race as follows: 7% two or more races; 3% Latino; 2% Native American; 2% African American, and 2% Asian.

Procedure

Procedures were approved by the University of Florida Institutional Review Board and the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. All procedures took place in three adjacent rooms – a waiting room, interview room, and experimental testing room – at the research laboratory at the University of Florida. Children were aware of their parent's and dog's location at all times. All rooms were temperature controlled and water was available for the dog.

At the start of the study visit, parents provided written informed consent in the waiting room. The study was also explained to children verbally for purposes of oral assent. A trained dog handler brought the dog to the experimental testing room to familiarize the dog to the room and study personnel. Then, the child accompanied an experimenter to the interview room, decorated in child-friendly décor while the dog remained with the parent in the waiting room.

In the waiting room, parents completed questionnaires providing basic demographic information on their child, family, and pet dog. Parents also provided information about the breed of the dog, which was subsequently classified into breed groups. Children's pets included lap/toy dogs (n = 31), sporting breeds (n = 20), herders (n = 18), terriers/ratters (n = 12), bully/fighting breeds (n = 11), and unknown mixes (n = 5). A research assistant was present throughout to answer any parent questions.

Children's Perceived Relationships

In the interview room, children completed an experimenterassisted questionnaire about their relationships with their mother and their pet dog using the Network of Relationships Inventory (NRI) (Furman and Burmheister, 1985). The original NRI, comprised of 21 items, was designed and has been validated for assessing relationship qualities across a broad variety of social relationships, including but not limited to parents, teachers, and peers. An example item from this measure is, "How often do you tell this person everything that you are going through?" The measure contains 10 subscales typically collapsed into two broader scales, termed Support and Negative Interactions. We have previously evaluated the NRI among children owning pet dogs to determine the relevance of items for assessing child–pet relationships. With the exception of two subscales, Instrumental Aid and Conflict, the remaining subscales were retained as applicable to child–pet relationships (Hall et al., 2016).

The NRI items tapping relationship with the mother was scored as recommended by the scale developers (Furman and Burmheister, 1985). Then, the overarching dimension of Support was created by computing the mean of the items on the subscales Companionship, Intimate Disclosure, Nurturance, Affection, Admiration, Reliable Alliance, and Instrumental Aid. The dimension of Negative Interactions was computed as the mean of the scores on Conflict and Antagonism.

The NRI pet items were subjected to a principal component analysis (PCA) to determine whether a two-dimension solution was appropriate with the more limited set of subscales assessed for child-pet relationships. As described in the Section "Results," a two-dimension solution was deemed appropriate for the data, and therefore the subscale means were computed and averaged into the two broad dimensions as follows: Support (Companionship, Intimate Disclosure, Nurturance, Affection, Admiration, Reliable Alliance) and Negative Interactions (Antagonism).

Behavioral Assessment of Child-Pet Interaction

The child and pet dog were brought to the experimental testing room for behavioral assessment of interaction between the child and pet. Specifically, this assessment measured the proportion of time the child and dog spent interacting while the child was sitting quietly in a room (4.5 m by 3 m) that contained a chair, desk, and lamp for 10 min. This task was based on components of past sociability tests (e.g., Barrera et al., 2010; Jakovcevic et al., 2012), but were simplified such that the child could implement the protocol with brief instruction. The child sat in a chair in the center of a 1 m radius semi-circle marked with tape on the floor. The dog handler brought the dog to the opposite end of the room, where the dog was able to greet a second observer for approximately 1 min before beginning the task. The child was asked to direct attention to the dog, and call the dog over twice while remaining seated, once at the beginning of the 10 min session and again after the first 5 min. The child was asked to otherwise remain neutral unless the dog entered the semi-circle. If the dog entered the circle the child was told to interact with it as if they were at home, to capture natural variability in childpet interaction. During the assessment, the handler and observer stood along the wall opposite of where the child was seated for an unobstructed view of the child-pet interaction.

The handler and the observer, both trained in coding dog behaviors, scored each session live on two dimensions: gazing and petting. Each behavior was scored using partial-interval recording by breaking the 10 min session into 120 5 s. epochs. If a target behavior occurred during that epoch, the interval was scored. The percentage of epochs during which a target behavior occurred was averaged across the scorers. Gazing was defined as the percentage of intervals in which the dog and child were facing each other. Petting was defined as the percentage of intervals in which the dog with their hand. Interclass correlations among the two coders was 0.85 for gazing and 0.99 for petting.

Genotype Assessment

Children were asked to provide a 4 mL saliva sample by passive drool into Oragene-DNA (OGR-500) saliva collection tube (DNA Genotek, Kanata, ON, Canada), which was stored at room temperature until the DNA extraction step. DNA extraction was performed using our lab's standardized protocol. Briefly, 750 µl of the content from OGR-500 tube was incubated at 50°C in a GeneMate dry bath (Bioexpress, Kaysville, UT, United States) for 2 h, followed by incubation on ice for 10 min and centrifugation at 21,100 \times g for 10 min. The DNA was precipitated by transferring the supernatant to a tube containing 750 µl of ethanol, mixing the content gently, incubating at room temperature for 10 min, and centrifuging at $16,000 \times g$ for 3 min. The DNA pellet was washed using 70% ethanol, dried at room temperature, dissolved in 100 µl TE buffer and stored at -80° C. The DNA quality and quantity was measured using NanoDrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, DE, United States). Genotyping was performed using TaqMan Genotyping Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, United States), TaqMan SNP Genotyping assay (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, United States) for OXTR (rs53576), with the StepOnePlus real time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Frederick, MD, United States), according to the manufacturer's instructions. PCR was performed using 10:1 reaction mix with 1.5 ng DNA and the following cycling conditions: 60°C for 30 s, 95°C for 10 min, 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 s and 60°C for 1 min, 60°C for 30 s. Allelic discrimination was performed using StepOne v.2.1 (Applied Biosystems, Frederick, MD, United States).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted in R version 3.3.2 (R Core Team, 2016). A hierarchical regression framework with backward selection was utilized to test for significant predictors of two dimensions of child-pet interaction, with predictors of petting and gazing tested in separate models. Tested predictors included demographics, relationship qualities, and child genotype.

RESULTS

Evaluating the NRI to Assess the Child–Dog Relationship

We first calculated the mean scores for each subscale for the child-dog relationship. We then conducted Principal Component Analysis on the scaled scores of each subscale. Two components explained 71% of the variance (55 and 16% respectively). The loadings of each component are shown in **Table 1**. Inspection of the loadings suggests a two-factor solution identical to *Support* and *Negative Interactions* used for computing summary scores for the child–mother relationship. This suggested that these two summary scores can be computed similarly for the child–dog relationship.

Descriptives

Descriptive statistics of child-reported relationship qualities and behavioral observation of child-pet interaction are shown in **Table 2**. Genotype assessment of rs53576 yielded the following genotypes: 41% GG, 53% AG, and 6% AA. These proportions are comparable to other U.S.-based studies (see for review Luo and Han, 2014). As is common in analysis of rs53576, the AG, and AA genotypes were combined into one genotype group, termed A-carriers, yielding two genotype groups for analysis, GG homozygotes, (41%) and A-carriers (59%).

Analysis of Petting

Predictors of child–dog petting during the child–pet interaction task were determined via regression analyses using backward selection to obtain a reduced model with the strongest predictors. An initial model included all predictors (demographic covariates, child self-reported relationship qualities, and child genotype). The initial model suggested that petting was associated with child age [$F_{(1,84)} = 4.18$, p = 0.044], *OXTR* rs53576 genotype [$F_{(1,84)} = 6.15$, p = 0.015], and Negative Interactions with the dog [$F_{(1,84)} = 6.31$, p = 0.014]. Specifically, more petting was observed with older child age, *OXTR* rs53576 A-carrier status, and lower child-reported Negative Interactions with the pet dog (see **Figure 1**). Petting was not associated with child sex [$F_{(1,84)} = 0.37$,

TABLE 1 | Principal component analysis (PCA) loadings of dog NRI subscales.

	PC1	PC2
Companionship	-0.45	0.19
Antagonism	0.14	0.98
Intimate	-0.41	-0.05
Nurturance	-0.45	0.08
Affection	-0.43	0.01
Reassurance	-0.47	0.08

Loading absolute values >0.4 are in bold.

TABLE 2 Descriptive statistics for child self report relationship qualities and behavioral observation.

	Mean	SD
Children's reported relationships		
Support from mom	3.78	0.66
Negative interactions with mom	2.02	0.81
Support from dog	3.91	0.68
Negative interactions with dog	1.52	0.81
Behavioral observation of child pet in	nteraction	
Percent time spent petting	50.00	31.04
Percent time spent gazing	19.85	14.84



FIGURE 1 | The proportion of time spent petting during a child-dog interaction task was independently predicted by child age, child genotype, and children's self-reported relationship with the pet dog. (A) Higher levels of child-reported negative relationships with the pet dog was associated with less petting. The relationship effect is shown averaged across child genotype and illustrates the overall main effect for the child-pet relationship. The regression line shows the final model prediction with the shaded area indicated standard error of the mean. (B) Older child age is associated with more time spent petting. Lines shows reduced model prediction for each genotype and shading indicates standard error of the mean. (C) Children who are A-carriers at the *OXTR* rs53576 genetic polymorphism, compared to GG homozygotes, engaged in more petting during the child-pet interaction.

Step	df	Deviance	Residual df	Residual deviance	AIC
Full model	NA	NA	84	69857.28	664.21
Dog support	1	9.91	85	69867.19	662.22
Child sex	1	242.34	86	70109.53	660.56
Breed	5	6680.03	91	76789.56	659.39
Negative interaction mom	1	373.48	92	77163.05	657.86
Mom support	1	517.13	93	77680.18	656.51

Values are shown for each variable successively dropped from the model to achieve the best fitting results.

p = 0.54], dog breed group [$F_{(5,84)} = 1.47$, p = 0.21], childreported Support from dog [$F_{(1,84)} = 1.09$, p = 0.300], or either of the two child-reported measures of relationship quality with the mother [$F_{(1,84)} = 0.53-1.21$, p = 0.27-0.47]. To obtain the most parsimonious model for our dataset, the model was subjected to backward selection using the *Step* routine, which identifies the most parsimonious model based on Akaike's information criterion (AIC; see **Table 3** for AIC values at each regression step). All three significant predictors – child age, child genotype, and the Negative Interactions dimension of the child-reported relationship measure – were retained in the final model, as shown in **Table 4**.

Analysis of Gazing

A comparable regression model was created for gazing during the child-pet interaction. The initial model including all predictors revealed that none of the demographic, genotype, or relationship quality variables was significantly associated with gazing (F's = 0.01–2.14, P's > 0.15). The backward selection procedure was implemented to yield the most parsimonious

TABLE 4 Final regression model of significant pred	dictors of child–dog petting
during behavioral observation.	

	Estimate	Std. Error	t-value	P-value
Intercept	4.63	23.06	0.20	0.84
Age	5.12	2.30	2.23	0.03
OXTR (GG vs. A-carrier)	12.66	6.16	2.06	0.04
Negative interactions with dog	-9.63	3.81	-2.52	0.01

model. The final model of gazing during the child–pet interaction task included only child age as a predictor, however, the association was not statistically significant (F = 2.28, p = 0.13; see **Table 5**).

DISCUSSION

The present study was the first to test whether the OXTR genotype and children's perceived relationships with their pet dogs are related to HAI, specifically, petting and gazing. The research design simulated a common, naturally occurring HAI, in which human owners call over their pets, within the context of a controlled laboratory experiment with minimal distractions. On average across children, the total time spent petting was approximately 50% of the 10 min interaction period. The results showed that variation at the OXTR polymorphism rs53576 was associated with the proportion of time spent petting during child-pet interactions. Specifically, A-carriers engaged in more petting than children with the GG genotype. This observation is noteworthy given that OXTR rs53576 has previously been suggested as a genetic locus associated with sensitivity to the social environment. Prior research with typically developing children has demonstrated that A-carrier youth are less responsive to parental support (Smearman et al., 2016) and to social consequences of peer relational aggression (Kushner et al., 2017), and show lower levels of interpersonal empathy (Rodrigues et al., 2009; Smith et al., 2014), trust (Krueger et al., 2012), and self-esteem (Saphire-Bernstein et al., 2011). This may be relevant to growing trend of incorporating HAI into behavioral therapy with children for whom human social interactions are challenging (Nimer and Lundahl, 2007; Silva et al., 2018). Although little empirical research has been conducted in this area, there is preliminary evidence that dogs may be preferred social partners for such children. Children with autism, a neurodevelopmental disorder in which social deficits are common, prefer to interact with a dog over another person or toy (Prothmann et al., 2009). Children with anxiety disorders tend to spend long durations interacting with a pet dog but tend to engage in fewer interactions with another person compared to children with other behavioral health problems (Prothmann et al., 2005). Although highly speculative, our results contribute to emerging evidence that pet dogs may be an important source of social interaction for children that have difficulty in other social environments.

The results of this study also demonstrated that children's selfreported negative interactions in the context of their relationship with their pet was related to the proportion of time spent petting the dog. Specifically, higher levels of antagonism, reflecting children's reports that they and their dog hassle each other, annoy each other, and "get on each others' nerves," spent less time engaged with petting. Children's perceptions of support, reflecting items tapping aspects of affection, companionship, and other positive features, were not associated with the proportion of time spent petting. Of note, this was the first study that simultaneously assessed both positive and negative components of children's relationships with their pet dog. Psychometric data from the principal components analysis demonstrated that children's responses about positive and negative relationship qualities were distinct measurable aspects of the child-dog relationship that paralleled the relationship dimensions measured for the child-parent relationship. The observation that negative interactions, and not support, was associated with petting speaks to the need to incorporate both positive and negative aspects of relationships in HAI research.

We also observed that older child age was associated with more time spent petting. This observation was of interest in light of the broad consensus in the developmental literature that, beginning in middle childhood, children spend proportionally less of their social time with parents and more time with other social partners (Lam et al., 2012). Research with 7–10 year old children has shown that with age, children broaden their network of social support figures, including pets (Bryant, 1985). With age, intimate disclosure also declines to parents whereas it rises with other social partners such as peers (Buhrmester and Furman, 1987). Although we did not assess peer relationships in this study, the age effected observed is consistent with the notion that

TABLE 5 AIC for each step in the	ABLE 5 AIC for each step in the regression predicting gazing using backward regression.									
Step	df	Deviance	Residual df	Residual deviance	AIC					
Full model	NA	NA	88	20320.92	536.443					
Support from mom	1	1.83	89	20322.76	534.44					
Negative interactions mom	1	6.66	90	20329.42	532.48					
OXTR Genotype	1	13.87	91	20343.28	530.54					
Negative interactions dog	1	35.40	92	20378.69	528.71					
Breed	1	36.44	93	20415.13	526.88					
Child sex	1	47.90	94	20463.02	525.11					
Support from dog	1	188.62	95	20651.65	524.00					

Values are shown for each variable successively dropped from the model.

non-parental sources of social interaction and support gain in importance during the course of middle childhood, and highlight the role that pets may play in this important developmental transition.

There was no evidence in this study that either genotype or relationship quality was associated with gazing. There are at least two possible explanations for this finding. First, the literature on owner-dog gazing has to date been restricted to research with adults, and there may be unknown differences in childrens' interactions with their pet dogs compared to adult owners. In the absence of any studies comparing adult to child owner's interactions with pets, this possibility cannot be ruled out. Second, in contrast to some studies with adults (e.g., Nagasawa et al., 2015), we did not attempt to manipulate owner-dog gazing, but rather quantified the degree to which such behavior naturally occurred in the context of the child soliciting interaction with the dog. It may be that the amount of naturally occurring gazing (approximately 20% of the total interaction time) was too low in our behavioral paradigm to detect association with children's individual differences.

The present results should be considered in light of several considerations. First, participants were primarily from non-Hispanic White families and thus the generalizability to a more diverse population warrants further study. Second, the participants in this study were typically developing children prescreened for known health conditions. Whether these findings generalize to clinical populations is unknown; however, the present results may serve as foundational research for application to clinical populations. Third, we did not genotype the pet dogs for variation at the OXTR gene. There is some evidence to suggest that dogs' human-directed behavior is associated with genetic polymorphisms at OXTR (Kubinyi et al., 2017; Oláh et al., 2017) or OXTR methylation (Cimarelli et al., 2017). Genotyping OXTR in both children and the pet dogs may reveal more nuanced associations of OXTR genotype within the context of HAIs. Fourth, this study focused on families who already owned a pet dog. This was intentional to avoid the inherent challenge of interpreting child-dog interaction among a mixed group of dog owners vs. non-owners. Finally, the study was conducted in a research laboratory. It is possible that childdog interaction in a laboratory environment may not be the same as in more naturalistic environments. This limitation is

REFERENCES

- Anderson, K. L., and Olson, M. R. (2006). The value of a dog in a classroom of children with severe emotional disorders. *Anthrozoos A Multidiscip. J. Interact. People Anim.* 19, 35–49. doi: 10.2752/089279306785593919
- Barker, S. B., Knisely, J. S., McCain, N. L., and Best, A. M. (2005). Measuring stress and immune response in healthcare professionals following interaction with a therapy dog: a pilot study. *Psychol. Rep.* 96, 713–729. doi: 10.2466/pr0.96.3. 713-729
- Barrera, G., Jakovcevic, A., Elgier, A. M., Mustaca, A., and Bentosela, M. (2010). Responses of shelter and pet dogs to an unknown human. J. Vet. Behav. Clin. Appl. Res. 5, 339–344. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2010.08.012
- Belsky, J., Jonassaint, C., Pluess, M., Stanton, M., Brummett, B., and Williams, R. (2009). Vulnerability genes or plasticity genes? *Mol. Psychiatry* 14, 746–754. doi: 10.1038/mp.2009.44

offset, however, by the benefits of the tightly controlled context of a laboratory, with standardized environmental and testing conditions for maximizing the validity of the observed results and reducing distractions and confounding variables. Moreover, the direct behavioral observation of child-pet interaction lends higher confidence in the validity of the observed empirical associations compared to descriptive or self-report studies.

This study adds to the growing body of literature on HAI by documenting two key factors that predict natural variation in children's interactions with their pet dogs. This knowledge is critical as the field as a whole strives to maximize the potential therapeutic benefits of HAI for clinical populations. A greater understanding of the individual differences that influence children's interactions with familiar animals will also aid in the broader research goal of determining the potential benefits and challenges of pet ownership for children.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DK developed the study, oversaw its execution, analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript. NH collected the data, conducted the behavioral coding, and analyzed the data. SB conducted the genotyping and analyzed the data. All authors contributed to the writing of the manuscript and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the National Institutes of Health grant HD071288 to DK. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the funders.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Clive Wynne, Jingwen Liu, and Natalie Hadad for their contributions to the research from which this study was developed. We gratefully acknowledge the families who participated in this study, without whom this research would not have been possible.

- Bryant, B. K. (1985). The neighborhood walk: sources of support in middle childhood. *Monogr. Soc. Res. Child Dev.* 50, 1–122. doi: 10.2307/3333847
- Buhrmester, D., and Furman, W. (1987). The development of companionship and intimacy. *Child Dev.* 58, 1101–1113. doi: 10.2307/1130550
- Carter, C. S. (2014). Oxytocin pathways and the evolution of human behavior. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 65, 17–39. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115110
- Charnetski, J. C., Riggers, S., and Brennan, F. X. (2004). Effect of petting a dog on immune system function. *Psychol. Rep.* 95, 1087–1091. doi: 10.2466/pr0.95.3f. 1087-1091
- Cimarelli, G., Virányi, Z., Turcsán, B., Rónai, Z., Sasvári-Székely, M., and Bánlaki, Z. (2017). Social behavior of pet dogs is associated with peripheral OXTR methylation. *Front. Psychol.* 8:549. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00549
- Cromer, L. D., and Barlow, M. R. (2013). Factors and convergent validity of the pet attachment and life impact scale (PALS). *Hum. Anim. Interact. Bull.* 1, 34–56. doi: 10.1037/e634302013-004

- Daly, B., and Morton, L. L. (2006). An investigation of human-animal interactions and empathy as related to pet preference, ownership, attachment, and attitudes in children. Anthrozoos A Multidiscip. J. Interact. People Anim. 19, 113–127. doi: 10.2752/089279306785593801
- Demello, L. R. (1999). The effect of the presence of a companion-animal on physiological changes following the termination of cognitive stressors. *Psychol. Health* 14, 859–868. doi: 10.1080/08870449908407352
- DeRosier, M., and Kupersmidt, J. (1991). Costa rican children's perceptions of their social networks. Dev. Psychol. 27, 656–662. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.27.4.656
- Friedmann, E., Katcher, A., Thomas, S. A., Lynch, J. J., and Messent, P. R. (1983). Social interaction and blood pressure: influence of animal companions. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 171, 461–465. doi: 10.1097/00005053-198308000-00002
- Furman, W., and Buhrmester, D. (1992). Age and sex differences in perceptions of networks of personal relationships. *Child Dev.* 63, 103–115. doi: 10.2307/ 1130905
- Furman, W., and Burmheister, D. (1985). Children's perceptions of the personal relationships in their social networks. *Dev. Psychol.* 21, 1016–1024. doi: 10.1037/ 0012-1649.21.6.1016
- Griffin, J., McCune, S., Malholmes, V., and Hurley, K. (2011). "Scientific research on human-animal interaction," in *Animals in Our Lives: Human-Animal Interaction in Family, Community, and Therapeutic Settings*, eds P. McCardle, S. McCune, J. A. Griffin, L. Esposito, and L. Freund (Baltimore MD: Paul H. Brooks Publishing Co.), 227–236.
- Hall, N., Liu, J., Kertes, D. A., and Wynne, C. D. L. (2016). Behavioral and self-report measures influencing children's reported attachment to their dog. *Anthrozoös* 29, 137–150. doi: 10.1080/08927936.2015.1088683
- Handlin, L., Hydbring-Sandberg, E., Nilsson, A., Ejdebäck, M., Jansson, A., and Uvnäs-Moberg, K. (2011). Short-term interaction between dogs and their owners: effects on oxytocin, cortisol, insulin and heart rate-an exploratory study. *Anthrozoos* 24, 301–315. doi: 10.2752/175303711X13045914865385
- Insel, T. R. (1992). Oxytocin A neuropeptide for affiliation: evidence from behavioral, receptor autoradiographic, and comparative studies. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 17, 3–35. doi: 10.1016/0306-4530(92)90073-G
- Jakovcevic, A., Mustaca, A., and Bentosela, M. (2012). Do more sociable dogs gaze longer to the human face than less sociable ones? *Behav. Process.* 90, 217–222. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2012.01.010
- Jenkins, J. L. (1986). Physiological effects of petting a companion animal. *Psychol. Rep.* 58, 21–22. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1986.58.1.21
- Johnson, T. P., Garrity, T. F., and Stallones, L. (1992). Psychometric evaluation of the lexington attachment to pets scale (LAPS). *Anthrozoös* 5, 160–175. doi: 10.2752/089279392787011395
- Kerns, K. A., Stuart-Parrigon, K. L., Coifman, K. G., van Dulmen, M. H. M., and Koehn, A. (2018). Pet dogs: does their presence influence preadolescents' emotional responses to a social stressor? *Soc. Dev.* 27, 34–44. doi: 10.1111/sode. 12246
- Kertes, D. A., Liu, J., Hall, N., Hadad, N., Wynne, C., and Bhatt, S. S. (2017). Effect of pet dogs on children's perceived stress and cortisol stress response. *Soc. Dev.* 26, 382–401. doi: 10.1111/sode.12203
- Kim, H. S., Sherman, D. K., Sasaki, J. Y., Xu, J., Chu, T. Q., Ryu, C., et al. (2010). Culture, distress, and oxytocin receptor polymorphism (OXTR) interact to influence emotional support seeking. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 107, 15717–15721. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1010830107
- Kirsch, P., Esslinger, C., Chen, Q., Mier, D., Lis, S., Siddhanti, S., et al. (2005). Oxytocin modulates neural circuitry for social cognition and fear in humans. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 11489–11493. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3984-05.2005
- Kotrschal, K., and Ortbauer, B. (2003). Behavioral effects of the presence of a dog in a classroom. *Anthrozoös* 16, 147–159. doi: 10.2752/089279303786992170
- Krueger, F., Parasuraman, R., Iyengar, V., Thornburg, M., Weel, J., Lin, M., et al. (2012). Oxytocin receptor genetic variation promotes human trust behavior. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:4. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00004
- Kubinyi, E., Bence, M., Koller, D., Wan, M., Pergel, E., Ronai, Z., et al. (2017). Oxytocin and opioid receptor gene polymorphisms associated with greeting behavior in dogs. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1520. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01520
- Kurdek, L. A. (2008). Pet dogs as attachment figures. J. Soc. Pers. Relat. 25, 247–266. doi: 10.1177/0265407507087958
- Kushner, S. C., Herzhoff, K., Vrshek-Schallhorn, S., and Tackett, J. L. (2017). Depression in early adolescence: contributions from relational aggression and

variation in the oxytocin receptor gene. Aggress. Behav. 44, 60–68. doi: 10.1002/ ab.21724

- Lam, C. B., McHale, S. M., and Crouter, A. C. (2012). Parent-child shared time from middle childhood to late adolescence: developmental course and adjustment correlates. *Child Dev.* 83, 2089–2103. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624. 2012.01826.x
- Lim, M. M., and Young, L. J. (2006). Neuropeptidergic regulation of affiliative behavior and social bonding in animals. *Horm. Behav.* 50, 506–517. doi: 10. 1016/j.yhbeh.2006.06.028
- Lucht, M. J., Barnow, S., Sonnenfeld, C., Rosenberger, A., Grabe, H. J., Schroeder, W., et al. (2009). Associations between the oxytocin receptor gene (OXTR) and affect, loneliness and intelligence in normal subjects. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 33, 860–866. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2009.04.004
- Luo, S., and Han, S. (2014). The association between an oxytocin receptor gene polymorphism and cultural orientations. *Cult. Brain* 2, 89–107. doi: 10.1007/ s40167-014-0017-5
- Moilanen, K. L., and Raffaelli, M. (2010). Support and conflict in ethnically diverse young adults' relationships with parents and friends. *Int. J. Behav. Dev.* 34, 46–52. doi: 10.1177/0165025409348553
- Nagasawa, M., Kikusui, T., Onaka, T., and Ohta, M. (2009). Dog's gaze at its owner increases owner's urinary oxytocin during social interaction. *Horm. Behav.* 55, 434–441. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2008.12.002
- Nagasawa, M., Mitsui, S., En, S., Ohtani, N., Ohta, M., Sakuma, Y., et al. (2015). Oxytocin-gaze positive loop and the coevolution of human-dog bonds. *Science* 348, 333–336. doi: 10.1126/science.1261022
- Neumann, I. D., Wigger, A., Torner, L., Holsboer, F., and Landgraf, R. (2000). Brain oxytocin inhibits basal and stress-induced activity of the hypothalamopituitary-adrenal axis in male and female rats: partial action within the paraventricular nucleus. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 12, 235–243. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2826.2000.00442.x
- Nimer, J., and Lundahl, B. (2007). Animal-assisted therapy: a meta-analysis. Anthrozoos A Multidiscip. J. Interact. People Anim. 20, 225–238. doi: 10.2752/ 089279307X224773
- Odendaal, J. S. J., and Meintjes, R. A. (2003). Neurophysiological correlates of affiliative behaviour between humans and dogs. *Vet. J.* 165, 296–301. doi: 10. 1016/S1090-0233(02)00237-X
- Odendaal, J. S. J. (2000). Animal-assisted therapy magic or medicine? J. Psychosom. Res. 49, 275–280. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(00)00183-5
- Oláh, K., Topál, J., Kovács, K., Kis, A., Koller, D., Park, S. Y., et al. (2017). Gaze-following and reaction to an aversive social interaction have corresponding associations with variation in the OXTR gene in dogs but not in human infants. *Front. Psychol.* 8:2156. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017. 02156
- Prothmann, A., Albrecht, K., Dietrich, S., Hornfeck, U., Stieber, S., and Ettrich, C. (2005). Analysis of child—dog play behavior in child psychiatry. *Anthrozoös* 18, 43–58. doi: 10.2752/089279305785594261
- Prothmann, A., Ettrich, C., and Prothmann, S. (2009). Preference for, and responsiveness to, people, dogs and objects in children with autism. *Anthrozoös* 22, 161–171. doi: 10.2752/175303709X434185
- R Core Team (2016) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Availabel at: https://www.Rproject.org/
- Rodrigues, S. M., Saslow, L. R., Garcia, N., John, O. P., and Keltner, D. (2009). Oxytocin receptor genetic variation relates to empathy and stress reactivity in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 21437–21441. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0909579106
- Saphire-Bernstein, S., Way, B. M., Kim, H. S., Sherman, D. K., and Taylor, S. E. (2011). Oxytocin receptor gene (OXTR) is related to psychological resources. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108, 15118–15122. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1113137108
- Serpell, J. A. (1996). Evidence for an association between pet behavior and owner attachment levels. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 47, 49–60. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(95)01010-6
- Shantz, C. U., and Hartup, W. W. (1992). "Conflict in child and adolescent development," in *Cambridge Studies in Social and Emotional Development*, eds C. U. Shantz and W. W. Hartup (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press).

- Shiloh, S., Sorek, G., and Terkel, J. (2003). Reduction of state-anxiety by petting animals in a controlled laboratory experiment. *Anxiety Stress Coping* 16, 387–395. doi: 10.1080/1061580031000091582
- Silva, K., Lima, M., Santos-Magalhães, A., Fafiães, C., and de Sousa, L. (2018). Can dogs assist children with severe autism spectrum disorder in complying with challenging demands? an exploratory experiment with a live and a robotic dog. J. Altern. Complement. Med. 24, 238–242. doi: 10.1089/acm.2017. 0254
- Smearman, E. L., Yu, T., and Brody, G. H. (2016). Variation in the oxytocin receptor gene moderates the protective effects of a family-based prevention program on telomere length. *Brain Behav.* 6, 1–12. doi: 10.1002/brb3.423
- Smith, K. E., Porges, E. C., Norman, G. J., Connelly, J. J., and Decety, J. (2014). Oxytocin receptor gene variation predicts empathic concern and autonomic arousal while perceiving harm to others. *Soc. Neurosci.* 9, 1–9. doi: 10.1080/ 17470919.2013.863223
- Vagnoli, L., Caprilli, S., Vernucci, C., Zagni, S., Mugnai, F., and Messeri, A. (2015). Can presence of a dog reduce pain and distress in children during venipuncture? *Pain Manag. Nurs.* 16, 89–95. doi: 10.1016/j.pmn.2014. 04.004

- Van Horn, K. R., and Cunegatto, M. J. (2000). Interpersonal relationships in Brazilian adolescents. Int. J. Behav. Dev. 24, 199–203. doi: 10.1080/ 016502500383322
- Vormbrock, J. K., and Grossberg, J. M. (1988). Cardiovascular effects of humanpet dog interactions. J. Behav. Med. 11, 509–517. doi: 10.1007/BF0084 4843
- Wilson, C. C. and Barker, S. B. (2003). Challenges in designing human-animal interaction research. Am. Behav. Sci. 47, 16–28. doi: 10.1177/0002764203255208

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Kertes, Hall and Bhatt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Enhanced Selection of Assistance and Explosive Detection Dogs Using Cognitive Measures

Evan L. MacLean^{1,2*} and Brian Hare^{3,4}

¹ School of Anthropology, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States, ² Department of Psychology, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States, ³ Evolutionary Anthropology, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States, ⁴ Center for Cognitive Neuroscience, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Consultant, New Haven, CT, United States

Reviewed by:

Mitsuaki Ohta, Tokyo University of Agriculture, Japan Nathaniel James Hall, Texas Tech University, United States

> *Correspondence: Evan L. MacLean evanmaclean@email.arizona.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Humanities and Social Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 18 June 2018 Accepted: 10 September 2018 Published: 04 October 2018

Citation:

MacLean EL and Hare B (2018) Enhanced Selection of Assistance and Explosive Detection Dogs Using Cognitive Measures. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:236. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00236 Working dogs play a variety of important roles, ranging from assisting individuals with disabilities, to explosive and medical detection work. Despite widespread demand, only a subset of dogs bred and trained for these roles ultimately succeed, creating a need for objective measures that can predict working dog aptitude. Most previous research has focused on temperamental characteristics of successful dogs. However, working dogs also face diverse cognitive challenges both in training, and throughout their working lives. We conducted a series of studies investigating the relationships between individual differences in dog cognition, and success as an assistance or detection dog. Assistance dogs (N = 164) and detection dogs (N = 222) were tested in the Dog Cognition Test Battery, a 25-item instrument probing diverse aspects of dog cognition. Through exploratory analyses we identified a subset of tasks associated with success in each training program, and developed shorter test batteries including only these measures. We then used predictive modeling in a prospective study with an independent sample of assistance dogs (N = 180), and conducted a replication study with an independent sample of detection dogs (N = 90). In assistance dogs, models using data on individual differences in cognition predicted higher probabilities of success for dogs that ultimately succeeded in the program, than for those who did not. For the subset of dogs with predicted probabilities of success in the 4th quartile (highest predicted probability of success), model predictions were 86% accurate, on average. In both the exploratory and prospective studies, successful dogs were more likely to engage in eye contact with a human experimenter when faced with an unsolvable task, or when a joint social activity was disrupted. In detection dogs, we replicated our exploratory findings that the most successful dogs scored higher on measures of sensitivity to human communicative intentions, and two measures of short term memory. These findings suggest that that (1) individual differences in cognition contribute to variance in working dog success, and (2) that objective measures of dog cognition can be used to improve the processes through which working dogs are evaluated and selected.

Keywords: cognition, assistance dog, detection dog, canine, behavior, cognition

INTRODUCTION

Working dogs play a wide variety of important roles in human society, performing tasks ranging from assisting people with disabilities, to explosive and medical detection (1). Despite widespread demand, only a subset of dogs bred and trained for these roles are ultimately able to succeed as working dogs (2–4). Attrition from training programs, or failure to succeed after training, have important consequences with respect to public health (e.g., wait lists to receive certified assistance dogs) as well as the financial costs of breeding, training, and placing working dogs (e.g., through investment of resources in dogs that ultimately do not succeed). Therefore, there is an important need for objective measures that can predict whether individual dogs are likely to succeed in diverse types of working dog programs [reviewed in (5, 6)].

To date, most research on predictors of success as a working dog have focused largely on measures related to temperament and behavior. Studies of temperament have been motivated by the idea that working dogs are often utilized in highly stimulating environments, that these dogs frequently encounter unfamiliar people, other animals, and potentially startling stimuli, and that dogs must be able to remain calm, and task-focused in these situations. Similarly, inappropriate behaviors (e.g., excessive barking, scavenging, inappropriate elimination) can cause problems for dog handlers, or compromise a dog's ability to effectively perform his or her role. Studies across the last two decades have developed a wide range of approaches for assessing these characteristics, many of which serve as useful predictors of working dog success (2, 3, 7-17). For example, Wilsson and Sinn (16) found that scores on a principal component relating to a tendency to engage in tug-of-war, chasing, and interest in object retrieval, were positively associated with training success in the Swedish armed forces. In assistance dog populations, Duffy and Serpell (3) found that dogs prone to excitability, stranger- and dog-directed aggression, and social and nonsocial fear were less likely to successfully complete training. Lastly, Svobodová et al. (14) found that puppies that were more willing to chase and fetch a ball, and least reactive to noise, were the most likely to pass police dog certification. Therefore, previous studies have identified a range of temperamental and behavioral traits that relate to working dog training outcomes.

However, working dogs also face a variety of cognitive challenges, both in their initial training, and throughout their working lives (2, 18). Therefore, it is possible that individual differences in dog cognition also explain variance in aptitude for working roles (2). The cognitive skills that dogs require in these roles are likely to be diverse, extending beyond the basic learning mechanisms typically emphasized in dog training (e.g., operant and classical conditioning). For example, while animal trainers can shape behavior so that a dog associates the completion of a goal (e.g., retrieve the keys), with a social or food reward, trainers cannot train animals to flexibly and spontaneously respond to barriers that might prevent the completion of a trained goal (e.g., the closest door to the room where the keys are is closed, the keys are on the floor among many objects and are partially occluded by a book). In retrieving the keys, it is cognitive flexibility and not just temperament or trained responses that allows a dog to solve the problem. A dog's cognitive abilities allow her to mentally represent space and infer the need to take a detour (19, 20); to categorize objects as either being keys or not, and to inhibit bringing back incorrect object(s) (21-23); to maintain a mental representation of the referent of the verbal command (keys) in short-term memory even though it is not at first visible (24, 25); and to understand the communicative intention behind a human pointing gesture to infer the location of the occluded keys and finally retrieve them (26, 27).

Relative to studies of temperament, there have been very few investigations of whether individual differences in cognition relate to aptitude as a working dog. Bray et al. (2) recently tested young adult candidate guide dogs with a series of temperament and problem-solving tasks, and found that performance on a multistep problem-solving task was a significant predictor of subsequent success in the guide dog program. However, current work has employed relatively few cognitive measures, and has not explored associations between cognition and working dog outcomes in working roles beyond guide dogs.

The importance of assessing dog cognition broadly is evidenced through work describing the psychometric structure of individual differences in dog cognition. Specifically, individual differences in dogs are best described by multiple factors, reflecting psychological processes such as memory, understanding of communicative intentions, inhibitory control, and social engagement (28, 29). Thus, individual differences in dog cognition vary across multiple cognitive domains, yet we know little about which domains of cognition are most important for working dogs. Moreover, given that different working roles present different sets of job-specific challenges, it is probable that the aspects of cognition associated with working dog success will vary between different working roles. Therefore, the central challenges for this line of research are to (1) measure diverse cognitive processes when assessing links between cognition and working dog performance, and (2) identify the specific links between these aspects of cognition, and success in different working dog roles.

Here, we present a series of studies investigating associations between individual differences in dog cognition and success as an assistance or explosive detection dog. We implemented a similar research approach with both working dog populations. Within each population, we first conducted an exploratory study in which a sample of dogs was tested with a 25item cognitive test battery, probing diverse aspects of dog cognition. We then identified associations between individual differences on items in this test battery, and measures of success as a working dog. Based on these preliminary findings, we then developed short-format test batteries including the subset of tasks that were most strongly associated with outcomes (specific to each population). Lastly, we implemented predictive models (Experiment 1) or a replication study with an independent sample of dogs (Experiment 2) to validate or confirm the associations between individual differences on the cognitive measures, and measures of success as a working dog.

GENERAL METHODS (ALL POPULATIONS)

During exploratory studies, large samples from both populations of working dogs were tested in the Dog Cognition Test Battery [DCTB; (28)]. The DCTB consists of 25 problem solving tasks designed to assess skills for reasoning about social and physical problems as well as domain-general cognitive processes. A detailed description of the DCTB, including its factor structure and implementation with the populations described here, is reported by MacLean et al. (28). All tasks in the DCTB are described briefly in **Table 1**, and were conducted by trained experimenters (university students and researchers). Detailed methods for these tasks are provided in the **Supplemental Material**. In all experiments, researchers were blinded to the training outcomes of dogs during testing, and dog trainers were blind to the results of the cognitive tests.

All testing was voluntary, and dogs were free to stop participating at any time. Subjects participated for food and toy rewards, and were not deprived of food or water. All experimental procedures were approved by the Duke University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (protocol number: A138-11-06). Inter-rater reliability was assessed for a randomly selected sample of 20% of the data and was excellent for all measures [mean \pm SEM: kappa = 0.96; correlation = 0.94 \pm 0.02; (28)].

EXPERIMENT 1

Exploratory Study

Methods

Subjects

Candidate assistance dogs were tested at Canine Companions for Independence (CCI) in Santa Rosa, CA (N = 164; 107 females, 57 males, 19 Labrador retrievers, 4 golden retrievers, 141 Labrador retriever x Golden retriever crosses). CCI raises and places assistance dogs for diverse roles, including service dogs (placed with adults with physical disabilities), hearing dogs (placed with adults who are deaf or hard of hearing), skilled companion and facility dogs (placed with an adult or child with a disability under the guidance of a facilitator, or partnered with a facilitator in a health care, visitation, or education setting). Because hearing dogs are selected for a different behavioral phenotype than the other roles, hearing dogs (N = 21) were excluded from analysis. Dogs who aborted more than 2 tasks in the battery (N = 24) or were released for medical reasons (N = 8), were also excluded from analysis, yielding a final sample of 111 dogs included for exploratory analysis (mean age = 1.98 years, SD = 0.19 years).

Assistance dog outcome measures

After entering professional training and passing medical clearances, dogs in CCI's program either graduate and are placed in one of the roles described above, or are released for behavioral problems during training (a decision made by professional trainers without input from the researchers or knowledge of performance on cognitive tests). Therefore, success was coded as a categorical variable with two levels (graduate, release). In the sample for the exploratory study, 76 dogs graduated the program and 35 dogs were released. Assistance dogs were tested in the DCTB prior to obtaining an outcome in the program.

Analysis

For exploratory analysis, we implemented a variety of predictive modeling strategies. The cognitive data were prepared for analysis using a Box-Cox transformation (30) with missing data imputed using a K nearest neighbors approach. Exploratory analysis was conducted using eight different predictive modeling techniques to assess the utility of diverse modeling strategies, as well as consensus across models regarding variable importance. Specifically, we employed the following models from the *caret* package (31) in the R programming environment (32): (1) generalized linear model [GLM], (2) linear discriminant analysis [LDA], (3) regularized regression [RR], (4) partial least squares [PLS], (5) naïve Bayes classification [NB], (6) multivariate adaptive regression splines [MARS], (7) K nearest neighbors, and (8) random forest.

Because our aim was to develop a short-format battery using only the cognitive measures most strongly associated with training outcomes, we investigated the relative importance of predictor variables across models. To do so, we extracted the variable importance statistic from each of the training models, which reflects the relative importance of variables in a model (31), with values scaled to a range between 0 (unimportant) and 100 (most important). We also conducted univariate analyses (logistic regression) using each individual cognitive task as a predictor of training outcomes. We ranked the results of these analyses by p-value, and interpreted associations with the smallest *p*-values as those warranting future investigation. Across these analyses we identified 5 cognitive measures which were implicated as being strongly associated with training outcomes in exploratory analyses (causal reasoning [visual], spatial transpositions, inferential reasoning, cylinder, and social referencing). We further identified an additional 6 measures with more modest associations with training outcomes, or which were important covariates, that warranted further investigation (unsolvable task, odor discrimination, laterality: object manipulation, laterality: first step, arm pointing, and reward preference).

We then used data from these 11 measures to develop statistical models predicting training outcomes. Models were trained and evaluated using 4-fold cross validation, repeated 100 times (data randomly divided into 4-folds, 3 folds used for model construction, 1 fold used to assess model accuracy, with this process repeated 100 times). To assess model performance we used the cross-validated accuracy and area under the curve (AUC) from the receiver operating characteristic (ROC), a measure of sensitivity and specificity for a binary classifier. AUC values range between 0.5 and 1, with a value of 0.5 indicating a non-informative model, and a value of 1 indicating a perfectly predictive model.

Categorical predictions (graduate, release) were made using a probability threshold of 0.5 (i.e., predict release when predicted probability of graduation <0.5; predict graduate when predicted probability of graduation >0.5) but we retained predicted probabilities for additional analyses. Specifically, to assess whether accuracy was higher for observations with the highest and lowest predicted probability of success, we calculated cross-validated model accuracies for dogs with

TABLE 1 | Brief descriptions of measures included in the Dog Cognition Test Battery (DCTB).

Task	Description
Affect discrimination	Preference to approach unfamiliar human based on positive or negative affective cues
Arm pointing	Ability to use human arm pointing gesture to locate hidden reward
Causal reasoning	Use of visual and auditory cues to infer the location of a hidden reward
Contagious yawning	Tendency to yawn during auditory exposure to human yawning vs. control sounds
Cylinder	Ability to inhibit prepotent motor response in object retrieval task
Detour navigation	Navigation of shortest route around an obstacle
Gaze direction	Ability to use human gaze direction to locate hidden reward
Hiding-finding	Object permenence
Inferential reasoning	Ability to infer the location of a hidden reward through the principle of exclusion
Laterality: First step	Forelimb preference when initating a step off of a platform
Laterality: Object manipulation	Forepaw preference when physically manipulating an object
Marker cue	Ability to infer location of hidden reward when human uses a novel communicative marker
Memory - distraction	Memory for location of reward across delays while dog's attention is distracted
Odor control trials	Control trials ruling out ability to locate hidden food using olfaction
Odor discrimination	Discrimination and memory for which of two locations is baited using olfaction
Perspective-taking	Tendency to obey/disobey a command depending on whether human is watching
Reaching	Ability to infer reward location based on experimenter's reaching toward baited location
Retrieval	Tendency to retrieve object and return it to in front of experimenter
Reward preference	Preference for food or toy reward
Rotation	Egocentric vs. allocentric use of spatial cues
Sensory bias	Prioritization of visual vs. olfactory information when senses pitted against one another
Social referencing	Tendency to look at human face when joint social activity is interupted
Spatial perseveration	Ability to inhibit previously established motor pattern when environment changes
Spatial transpositions	Ability to track location of hidden reward across spatial transformations
Transparent obstacle	Ability to inhibit direct approach to experimenter when a detour is required
Unsolvable task	Help seeking from human vs. independent behavior when facing unsolvable task
Visual discrimination	Ability to learn arbitrary visual discrimination predicting reward location
Working memory	Memory for location of reward across temporal delays

Detailed methods for all tasks are provided in MacLean et al. (28) and the Supplemental Materials.

predicted probabilities of success in the 1st and 4th quartiles (at each iteration of the cross validation procedure).

TABLE 2 | Model statistics from the exploratory phase of Experiment 1.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The results from predictive models using the 11 candidate cognitive measures in the exploratory study are shown in **Table 2**. The best performing models (partial least squares, k nearest neighbors [n = 7]) yielded cross-validated AUCs of 0.76, and an overall cross-validated accuracy of 72%. However, all models tended to be much more accurate for dogs predicted to have the highest probabilities of graduating (**Table 2**). Specifically, for dogs in the 4th quartile of predicted probability of success (i.e., the 25% of dogs with the highest predicted probability of success), predictions were 87% accurate during cross validation. In contrast, for dogs in the 1st quartile of predicted probability of success, predictions tended to be less accurate (mean = 50%). Thus, we expected that future predictions would be most reliable for dogs with the highest probabilities of success.

On a descriptive level, the largest differences between graduate and released dogs in the exploratory study were for the following

	LDA	GLM	RR	PLS	NB	MARS	KNN	RF
Accuracy (training data)	0.79	0.85	0.82	0.79	0.85	0.70	0.79	1.00
AUC (training data)	0.86	0.90	0.89	0.86	0.92	0.62	0.86	1.00
Accuracy (CV)	0.68	0.70	0.71	0.72	0.69	0.64	0.72	0.69
AUC (CV)	0.71	0.74	0.75	0.76	0.68	0.55	0.76	0.70
1st quartile accuracy (CV)	0.88	0.91	0.90	0.91	0.82	0.73	0.87	0.90
4th quartile accuracy (CV)	0.51	0.54	0.55	0.56	0.52	0.40	0.46	0.45

Accuracy (training data) and AUC (training data) reflect model performance with the training dataset. Metrics denoted as (CV) derive from cross validation with the training dataset (4-fold, 100 repeats). Columns represent the 8 different modeling strategies employed in this study. AUC, Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; LDA, linear discriminant analysis; GLM, generalized linear model; RR, regularized regression; PLS, partial least squares; NB, naïve Bayes; MARS, multivariate adaptive regression splines; KNN, K nearest neighbors; RF, random forest.

tasks: spatial transposition, odor discrimination, causal reasoning (visual), unsolvable task (look at experimenter), inferential reasoning, social referencing. Specifically, graduate dogs scored higher than released dogs on the odor discrimination and inferential reasoning tasks, and made more eye contact with the experimenter during the social referencing and unsolvable tasks. However, release dogs scored higher than graduate dogs on the spatial transpositions task (one-cross condition) and the causal reasoning (visual) task. Therefore there was no clear pattern of graduates or releases systematically scoring higher across diverse cognitive measures.

Prediction Study

Following the exploratory study, we designed a shorter test battery consisting of the 11 tasks determined to be potentially promising measures during initial predictive modeling. Because some of these tasks included relatively few trials in their initial format, we added additional trials to assess whether more data from these measures would improve predictive power. Specifically, we implemented changes in the number of trials as follows: causal reasoning [visual]: 4 trials \rightarrow 8 trials; spatial transpositions [one-cross condition]: 4 trials \rightarrow 8 trials; inferential reasoning: 6 trials \rightarrow 10 trials; odor discrimination: 6 trials \rightarrow 10 trials. The revised test battery consisted of two test sessions (conducted on two consecutive days).

Subjects

We tested an independent sample of 180 dogs (i.e., none had participated in the exploratory study) in the revised assistance dog battery (115 females, 65 males, 43 Labrador retrievers, 4 golden retrievers, 133 Labrador retriever X golden retriever crosses). Of these, 33 dogs were excluded from analysis because they were transitioned into the hearing dog program (N = 19), released for medical reasons (N = 5), placed in a new program not represented in the training data (N = 7), or were still in training at the time of the analysis (N = 2). Twenty-six additional dogs were excluded from analysis due to missing data on more than two of the cognitive predictor variables. Therefore, our final sample for predictive modeling included 121 dogs (mean age = 1.88 years, SD = 0.23 years).

Procedure

Testing procedures were identical to those in the exploratory study with the exception that the revised battery included a smaller number of tasks, as well as additional test trials for some tasks, as described above. The order of tasks in the revised test battery for assistance dogs was: Day 1: warm-ups > causal reasoning (visual) > spatial transpositions > inferential reasoning > cylinder > mutual gaze; Day 2: warm-ups > unsolvable task > odor discrimination > laterality (object manipulation) > arm pointing > laterality (first step) > reward preference. Inter-rater reliability was assessed for ~40% of trials in the prediction study (Cohen's κ for discrete measures, Pearson correlation for continuous measures), and was excellent across measures (mean Cohen's $\kappa = 0.98$; mean Pearson's R: 0.96).

Analysis

To assess predictive validity, we used the predictive models in the exploratory study to predict training outcomes for dogs in the independent sample tested on the short-format battery. As in the exploratory study, we assessed model performance via accuracy and area under the curve (AUC) from the receiver operating characteristic (ROC). To assess the effect of including additional test trials in the short-format battery, we initially ran all predictive models both including and excluding data from these additional trials. Model performance was better using data including the additional trials, and we report these analyses below. Based on the results of the exploratory study, we expected that models would be most accurate for the subset of dogs with the highest predicted probability of success. To evaluate this prediction, we calculated accuracy separately for dogs with predicted probabilities of success in the 4th quartile of predicted probabilities.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

At a descriptive level, all but one model (Naïve Bayes Classifier), predicted higher average probabilities of success for dogs that ultimately did graduate from the program, than for dogs who were released from training. However, one-tailed t-tests indicated that only the random forest model yielded predicted probabilities of success that were significantly higher for graduate than release dogs (Table 3). The best performing models (generalized linear model, random forest, and regularized regression) yielded AUCs of 0.60-0.61 (accuracy range: 68-74%; Table 4). Thus, overall model performance was considerably poorer than expected based on initial cross-validation with the training data set. However, the distribution of training outcomes varied considerably between the exploratory and prediction datasets, an issue that can seriously affect model performance (33). Specifically, in the exploratory dataset, 68% of dogs graduated from the program whereas considerably more dogs did so in the independent sample (77%). In addition, as expected based on the exploratory study, predictions were much more accurate for dogs in the 4th quartile of predicted probabilities of success. On average (across models), outcome predictions for dogs with predicted probabilities of success in the 4th quartile were 86% accurate (Table 4). Two models (linear discriminant analysis and random forest) yielded predictions that were 90% accurate for this subset of observations (Table 4).

As a further test of the ability to discriminate between dogs most and least likely to succeed, we used one-tailed t-tests to compare the predicted probability of success for graduate and release dogs, restricting our analyses to dogs with predicted probabilities of success in the 1st and 4th quartiles (calculated separately for each model). In these analyses, 5 of 8 models produced significantly higher predicted probabilities of success for graduate compared to release dogs (Table 3; Figure 1). At a descriptive level, some differences in mean performance between graduate and release dogs were consistent between the exploratory and predictive studies, whereas others were not. Consistent with findings from the exploratory study, in the independent sample, graduate dogs again tended to make more eye contact with the experimenter in the unsolvable and social referencing tasks, and tended to score higher on the inferential reasoning task. However, in contrast to the exploratory study, graduate dogs scored higher on the spatial transpositions task, and scored lower on the odor discrimination task.

Overall, we were able to produce useful predictions regarding training outcomes with an independent sample, although relative to initial cross-validations, predictions for the independent sample tended to be less accurate. One important finding from **TABLE 3** | Results from *t*-tests comparing the predicted probability of success for dogs that were ultimately successful (graduates) or unsuccessful (releases) in the assistance dog training program.

	All data			1st vs. 4th quartiles		
	t	df	p	t	df	p
Generalized linear model	-1.49	43.35	0.07	-2.00	27.44	0.03
K nearest neighbors	-0.91	44.99	0.18	-0.96	13.62	0.18
Linear discriminant analysis	-1.15	41.45	0.13	-2.02	13.95	0.03
Multivariate adaptive regression splines	-1.38	37.71	0.09	-1.68	22.20	0.05
Naive bayes classifier	0.39	53.56	0.65	-0.24	15.99	0.41
Partial least squares	-1.10	50.18	0.14	-0.67	17.73	0.25
Random forest	-1.89	52.44	0.03	-1.88	22.53	0.04
Regularized regression	-1.42	45.85	0.08	-1.65	36.46	0.05

First vs. fourth quartiles reflects this comparison restricting the data to dogs with predicted probabilities of success in the 1st and 4th quartiles. All tests were one-tailed to evaluate the directional hypothesis that predicted probability of success would be higher for graduate than release dogs.

TABLE 4 | Model statistics from the prediction study of Experiment 1.

	LDA	GLM	RR	PLS	NB	MARS	KNN	RF
AUC	0.57	0.61	0.60	0.57	0.52	0.57	0.55	0.60
Accuracy	0.64	0.68	0.70	0.67	0.71	0.76	0.71	0.74
Accuracy (upper quartile)	0.90	0.87	0.83	0.83	0.87	0.83	0.83	0.90

AUC, Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; LDA, linear discriminant analysis; GLM, generalized linear model; RR, regularized regression; PLS, partial least squares; NB, naïve Bayes; MARS, multivariate adaptive regression splines; KNN, K nearest neighbors; RF, random forest.

this study was that predictions were much more accurate for the subset of dogs predicted to have the highest probability of success (with the strongest models performing at 90% accuracy in these cases). Therefore, from an applied perspective, we expect that it will be challenging to produce accurate predictions for all candidate assistance dogs, but that these measures and models may be particularly valuable for identifying the subset of dogs with the most potential for success. Given that these cognitive measures (1) can be collected in <2 h per dog, (2) do not require any training of dog participants, and (3) do not require specialized or costly equipment, these types of measures will provide a useful addition to the existing screening mechanisms employed by assistance dog agencies.

EXPERIMENT 2

Exploratory Study

Methods

Subjects

Detection dogs were tested at K2 Solutions Inc. in Pinehurst, North Carolina. All detection dogs were Labrador retrievers (N = 222, 131 male, 91 female, mean age = 3.96 ± 1.66 years). Twohundred and eight dogs completed the DCTB, and partial data were available for an additional 14 dogs.

Detection dog performance measures

Unlike the assistance dog organization, the detection dog provider did not employ a definitive metric to define success

in the program. Therefore, we worked with the detection dog provider to assess diverse training and performance-related records which could be incorporated as proxies for success as a detection dog. These records included weekly training log entries, survey reports from trainers and individuals who had overseen a dog during deployment, standardized postdeployment evaluations, and dog status in the program. For several of these sources, we compiled information about 7 specific subcategories of dog performance, focusing on traits that program staff noted as important for detection work. These subcategories included the following: (1) Handling-ability to respond to directional signals when working off leash; (2) Temperament-nervous or fearful responses to loud noises or unfamiliar people and physical environments; (3) Motivationeagerness to execute searches and follow verbal and gestural commands; (4) Handler dependence—overreliance on cues from the handler and limited ability to work independently; (5) Odor recognition-consistent detection of trained target odors; (6) Odor Response-appropriateness of behavioral response upon detection of a target odor; (7) False responses-tendency to indicate the presence of an odor when the odor was not present at that location. Below, we describe all data sources on dog performance and associated scoring protocols.

Training logs

Weekly training logs provided prose descriptions of dog behavior during training exercises (written by a dog trainer). Records primarily focused on aspects of performance needing additional attention (e.g., weaknesses rather than strengths). For each training session in the weekly log, researchers documented the occurrence of notes about weaknesses in the 7 subcategories described above. If no deficiencies were noted, the dog received a score of 0 for that category for a given week. If deficiencies were noted, they were assigned a prevalence score of 1-3, denoting the following categories: 1-rare and extremely minor weaknesses; 2-multiple, but sporadic weaknesses; 3-consistent patterns of deficiency. Most weekly logs contained notes about 3 or more days of training during the week. Logs in which 2 or fewer days of training were reported were excluded from analysis due to limited information for these periods. For each dog, we calculated a ratio of total scores in each behavioral category to the number of weekly training logs that were scored. Thus, higher ratios reflected more behavioral problems in training, controlling for the number of records available for analysis. Training log scoring was performed by two coders, with 20% of the sample coded by both individuals to assess inter-rater reliability (correlation). Reliability, was excellent for all measures (handling: R = 0.89; temperament: R = 0.93; motivation: R =0.98; handler dependence: R = 0.96, odor recognition: R = 0.94; odor response: R = 0.97; false response: R = 0.99). Training log data for 162 dogs was available for analysis, with an average of 33 weeks of data per dog (SEM = 1.33 weeks).

Trainer surveys

For a subset of dogs in our sample (N = 34) we were able to administer quantitative surveys to the dog's primary trainer. Respondents rated dogs on a 3-point scale (above average, average, below average) relative to other dogs in the training



program, with respect to each of the 7 behavioral subcategories described above.

Performance while deployed

For dogs that had previously deployed, we distributed a quantitative survey (identical to that used with trainers) to the individuals who were responsible for overseeing the dog during deployment. We obtained completed survey data for 62 dogs.

Post-deployment evaluation

Within 3 weeks of return from deployment, the provider performs a behavioral evaluation assessing temperament, detection and search abilities, obedience, and motivation. Each item on the evaluation is scored (by the provider) on a pass/fail basis. Within each category, we calculated the percent of passed items as the dependent measure. Evaluators also provided free-form comments on the dog's behavior at the time of the evaluation. Using these notes, coders assessed the presence/absence of deficiencies in the 7 behavioral subcategories described above. Data were available for 132 dogs. Coding of free-form comments was performed by two coders with 30% of the sample coded by both individuals to assess inter-rater reliability (Cohen's κ). Reliability was excellent for all measures (handling: $\kappa = 1$; temperament: $\kappa = 0.88$; motivation: $\kappa = 0.84$; handler dependence: $\kappa = 1$; odor recognition: $\kappa = 0.93$; odor response: $\kappa = 0.78$; false response $\kappa = 0.94$).

Status in program

The detection dog program assigned dogs a "status" relating to their fitness for future detection work. At the broadest level, dogs were considered serviceable if they were reserved for future use in the program, and unserviceable if they were being released from the program. Excluding dogs being released for non-behavioral reasons (e.g., medical problems), we used program status as a proxy measure for identifying the least and most successful dogs. Status records were available for 83 dogs that were identified as serviceable, or unserviceable due to behavioral reasons.

Analysis

Because detection dog performance could not be summarized using any single measure (the program did not use a definitive outcome), and data availability varied across measures, it was not feasible to build formal predictive models as in Experiment 1. Therefore, for the purpose of exploratory analysis, we conducted univariate analyses assessing associations between each performance measure described above, and individual item scores on the DCTB.

Scores on all outcome measures were discretized into two (training survey, post-deployment evaluation, program status, performance while deployed) or three (training log) quantile categories corresponding to dogs with below and above average scores on each measure (or below average, average, and above average for the measure discretized into 3 categories). For each performance measure, we conducted a *t*-test (2 category outcomes) or ANOVA (3 category outcomes) to test for differences on cognitive measures as a function of the discretized performance measure.

For exploratory analysis, we treated each analysis yielding a p-value <0.05 as a significant association. Each significant association was then annotated to describe the direction of association between the cognitive and performance measure. For *t*-tests, these associations were either positive (higher scores on the cognitive measure associated with better performance) or negative (higher scores on the cognitive measure associated with worse performance). For the ANOVAs, we included a third category, "neutral" to annotate cases in which the omnibus test was significant, but there was no clear directional association with the performance measure (e.g., dogs in the above and below average categories performed similarly, whereas dogs in the average category deviated).

For aggregation across analyses, we assigned a score of -1for each "negative" association, a score of 0 for a "neutral" association, and a score of +1 for each "positive" association. For each cognitive measure, we then added these scores (across analyses with the different performance measures) to derive an aggregate measure of the direction and strength of association between the cognitive and performance measures. For example, a cognitive measure that was significantly associated with 6 performance measures, with all 6 of these associations being positive (higher scores on the cognitive measure corresponding to better performance) would receive an aggregate score of 6. In contrast, a cognitive measure that was significantly associated with 6 performance measures, but with three of these associations being positive, and three being negative, would receive an aggregate score of 0 (-3 + 3 = 0). Thus, while we expected many false positives due to the large number of statistical tests, we predicted that the direction of false positive associations should be random. Consequently, we expected that the cognitive measures with the strongest positive or negative aggregate scores (consistent directional associations) would be those with the most robust and meaningful links to detection dog performance.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Aggregate measures describing the association between cognitive tests and detection dog performance measures are shown in **Table 5** and **Figure 2**. On average, there were 3.2 ± 0.4 associations with each cognitive measure. However, the mean aggregate score was 0.4 ± 0.4 , which was not significantly different than the hypothesized value of 0, if false positives were equally likely to be positive or negative (one-sample *t*-test, $t_{28} = 0.86$, p = 0.40). However, the number of significant associations, and the directional consistency of these associations varied widely across cognitive measures.

Figure 2 depicts the aggregate score for each cognitive measure in the test battery. While some tasks (e.g., transparent obstacle) had many significant associations, the direction of these associations was highly variable, yielding an aggregate score near 0. In contrast, five cognitive measures had four or more significant associations, all of which were positive (i.e., higher scores on the cognitive measure linked to better measures of performance as a detection dog), and two additional measures had five significant associations, with 80% of these being positive. One cognitive measure had 6 associations with performance metrics, all of which were negative. Based on these results, and the aim of developing an approximately 1 h short-format test battery, we retained all measures with an aggregate score of $\geq |3|$ (marker cue, odor discrimination, arm pointing, causal reasoning [visual],

working memory, memory—distraction, and unsolvable task). We opted to retain one additional measure which yielded two negative associations with performance metrics (laterality: object manipulation) due to the simplicity and potential utility of this measure.

The cognitive measures yielding consistent directional associations with detection dog performance included measures of sensitivity to human communication, short-term memory, odor discrimination, causal reasoning, and persistence at an unsolvable task. Several of these tasks index processes that are likely to be important for dogs performing off-leash explosive detection. For example, off-leash detection dogs are required to use gestural communication from a human handler when executing search routes, and individual differences in sensitivity to human communication may be an important determinant of success in this aspect of detection work. Similarly, detection dogs rely on short-term memory in a variety of situations ranging from memory for recent commands, to locations recently searched, and odorants (or the strength thereof) recently encountered. Lastly, detection dogs are required to make olfactory discriminations, and individual differences in spontaneous odor discrimination tasks may predict a dog's potential for employing these skills during trained detection work. Therefore, several of the positive associations from the exploratory study can be intuitively interpreted with respect to the requirements of detection work.

One limitation of this study was that because there was no definitive outcome measure in the detection dog population, it was not possible to develop formal predictive models as we did with the assistance dogs. Because the outcomes we recorded were not available for all dogs, and data availability varied widely between measures, it was similarly not possible to develop a unified outcome measure (e.g., through dimension reduction). However, by relying on a diverse set of outcome measures, it is possible that this type of analysis provides a more sensitive measure of working dog performance than a simple pass/fail type of metric.

REPLICATION STUDY

To assess the replicability of associations from the exploratory study, we tested an independent sample of detection dogs in a short-format assessment consisting of the measures most strongly associated with detection dog performance in the exploratory study.

Methods

Subjects

Ninety Labrador retriever dogs (60 male, 30 females) participated in the replication study. All dogs were from the detection dog population described above, and none of them had participated in the initial exploratory study.

Procedure

Testing procedures were identical to those in the exploratory study with the exception that a smaller number of tasks were employed, and tasks were implemented in a novel order. Unlike TABLE 5 | Distribution of positive, negative and neutral associations between cognitive measures and metrics of success as a detection dog from the exploratory study in Experiment 2.

Measure		Aggregate score			
	Total	Negative	Netural	Positive	
Odor discrimination	5	0	0	5	5
Marker cue	5	0	0	5	5
Causal reasoning (visual)	4	0	0	4	4
Arm pointing	4	0	0	4	4
Memory-distraction	5	1	0	4	3
Working memory	5	1	0	4	3
Odor control trials	2	0	0	2	2
Inferential Reasoning	2	0	1	1	1
Affect discrimination	2	0	1	1	1
Spatial transpositions	3	0	2	1	1
Laterality: First step	1	0	0	1	1
Causal reasoning (auditory)	2	1	0	1	0
Reaching	2	1	0	1	0
Perspective-taking (obey command)	2	1	0	1	0
Cylinder	0	0	0	0	0
Retrieval	1	0	1	0	0
Rotation	2	1	0	1	0
Unsolvable task (look at experimenter)	3	2	0	1	-1
Spatial perseveration	5	3	0	2	-1
Perspective-taking (steal food)	1	1	0	0	-1
Transparent obstacle	10	5	1	4	-1
Detour navigation	1	1	0	0	-1
Social referencing	1	1	0	0	-1
Gaze direction	1	1	0	0	-1
Sensory bias	3	2	0	1	-1
Visual discrimination	6	3	1	2	-1
Contagious yawning	6	4	0	2	-2
Laterality: Object manipulation	2	2	0	0	-2
Unsolvable task (manipulate container)	6	6	0	0	-6

Total indicates the total number of significant (p < 0.05) associations between each predictor variable and the outcome measures. Positive associations reflect cases in which higher scores on the cognitive measure were associated with better performance as a detection dog. Negative associations reflect cases where higher scores on the cognitive measure were associated with worse performance as a detection dog. Neutral associations indicate cases in which the test statistic was significant, but there was no clear directional association with the performance measure (e.g., dogs in the above and below average categories performed similarly, whereas dogs in the average category deviated).

Experiment 1, we did not include additional test trials for any of the measures in this replication study. The order of tasks in the replication study was: warm-ups > arm pointing > marker cue > odor discrimination > working memory > memory—distraction > unsolvable task > causal reasoning (visual) > laterality: object manipulation. We assessed inter-rater reliability (Cohen's κ for discrete measures, Pearson correlation for continuous measures) for $\sim 20\%$ of all trials, and reliability was excellent across measures (mean Cohen's $\kappa = 0.97$; mean Pearson's R: 0.91).

Performance Measures

As in the exploratory study, we obtained and scored records to be used as a proxy of success as a detection dog. Our primary performance measure was scoring of weekly training logs, as described above (N = 67 dogs). Two coders rated

20% of observations and inter-rater reliability was excellent for all measures (handling: R = 0.99; temperament: R =1.0; motivation: R = 0.89; handler dependence: R = 0.99, odor recognition: R = 0.91; odor response: R = 0.97; false response: R = 0.99). For dogs in the replication study, the ratio scores (problems per category to weeks of data) were correlated with the number of weeks of data available. To control for this confound, we used linear models predicting the ratio score as a function of weeks of available data, and extracted residuals from these models as an adjusted measure of performance. Prior to analysis, residuals were multiplied by -1so that higher values corresponded to better performance in the program.

For dogs in the replication study we also gained access to additional electronic records which described (trainer perceptions of) weekly performance for each dog using



an ordinal scale ("excellent," "good," "fair," "poor"). These electronic records were obtained for 71 dogs, with a mean of 97.4 records per dog (SEM = 8.9). To quantify these ordinal scores, for each dog we (a) calculated the percent of records achieving each of the different ordinal ratings, (b) multiplied each percentage by the following weightings: excellent = 1, good = 0.66, fair = 0.33, poor = 0, and (c) summed these values to obtain an overall numerical score. Thus, overall numerical scores were bounded from 0 (all ratings = poor) to 100 (all ratings = excellent). Observed overall scores had a mean of 59, and ranged between 24 and 70.

The other measures of dog performance originally used in the exploratory phase were unavailable for dogs in the replication study, and thus could not be included in analysis.

Analysis

To replicate the approach used in the exploratory study, we conducted univariate analyses predicting the performance outcome measures described above as a function of scores on each of the cognitive tasks. All statistical tests were run as linear models with the predictor and outcome variables converted to z-scores to facilitate interpretation of regression coefficients.

For each analysis we recorded the β coefficients describing the relationship between the cognitive predictor variable and

the detection dog performance measure as an outcome. To summarize results from these analyses we (1) calculated the mean and standard error of the β coefficients for each predictor variable, and (2) performed a one-tailed, one-sample *t*-test on the distribution of these β coefficients for each predictor variable, testing the null hypothesis that the β coefficients would have a mean of 0. The direction of the alpha region for the one-tailed *t*tests was assigned based on whether we hypothesized a positive or negative association with the cognitive predictor variable, based on the results of the exploratory study. Therefore, our main predictions were that cognitive measures that were positively associated with detection dog performance in the exploratory study would also have positive β coefficients in the replication study, and vice versa for associations determined to be negative in the exploratory study.

RESULTS

The mean and standard error of the β coefficients associated with each cognitive predictor are shown in **Figure 3**. Four of the six measures which were positively associated with detection dog performance in the exploratory study, on average, also had positive β coefficients in the replication study. For two of these measures (memory—distraction, arm pointing) the distribution of β coefficients had a mean significantly >0 (**Table 6**), suggesting consistent positive associations with detection dog performance. However, two cognitive measures which were positively associated with performance in the exploratory study were negatively related to performance in the replication study (**Figure 3**; **Table 6**). In addition, both cognitive measures that were negatively associated with performance in the exploratory study had, on average, positive β coefficients in the replication study. Therefore, the replication study confirmed a subset of findings from the exploratory study, but did not replicate other findings.

As in the exploratory study, multiple measures of shortterm memory were positively associated with detection dog performance. Similarly, individual differences in sensitivity to human gestures (arm pointing) was associated with better detection dog outcomes, in both the exploratory and replication phases. Although odor discrimination, causal reasoning (visual), and use of an arbitrary communicative marker were all positively associated with performance in the exploratory study, none of these tasks maintained strong associations across the replication. Additionally, the two tasks that were negatively associated with detection dog performance in the exploratory study (laterality: object manipulation, unsolvable task [look at experiment]) were unrelated to detection dog outcomes in the replication.

The use of an exploratory and confirmatory approach illustrates the importance of replication in developing predictive measures. Spurious or weak results are less likely to be upheld across analyses with independent datasets, whereas the most



FIGURE 3 | Mean and standard error of the standardized regression coefficients (B) for cognitive measures in the replication study. Green points and error bars indicate measures which were positively associated with outcomes in the exploratory study. Red points and error bars indicate measures that were negatively associated with outcomes in the exploratory study.

TABLE 6 | Mean and standard error of regression coefficients from the replication study.

Predictor	Exploratory study			Replication	study	
	Direction of association	association Regression models		One-sample <i>t</i> -test (β coefficients)		
		β (Mean)	β SEM	t	df	р
Marker cue	Positive	-0.08	0.03	-2.46	7	0.98
Odor discrimination		0.00	0.04	0.10	7	0.46
Arm pointing		0.07	0.03	2.19	7	0.03
Causal reasoning (visual)		-0.05	0.04	-1.18	7	0.86
Working memory		0.07	0.06	1.29	7	0.12
Memory – distraction		0.14	0.06	2.43	7	0.02
Laterality: Object manipulation	Negative	0.13	0.05	2.69	7	0.98
Unsolvable task (manipulate container)		0.02	0.05	0.39	7	0.64

 β (mean) reflects the mean regression coefficient describing the relationship between a cognitive measure and the outcome variables (metrics of performance as a detection dog). T-test statistics correspond to one-sample t-tests comparing the distribution of β coefficients for each predictor to the null expectation (0).

promising measures should yield comparable findings across multiple iterations of behavioral testing and analysis. In the current experiment, it is possible that some initial findings did not replicate because these associations were spurious or relatively weak. However, many of the outcome measures used in our exploratory study were not available for dogs in the replication study, which may also account for limited reproducibility in some cases.

In sum, these findings indicate that simple measures of shortterm memory and sensitivity to human gestural communication are reliably associated with performance as a detection dog, and suggest that these measures may provide a simple and rapid approach for evaluating a dog's potential for this role. The current work identifies a subset of simple cognitive measures that can be easily incorporated into such a prospective study.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Across a series of studies with candidate assistance dogs and detection dogs, we assessed associations between individual differences in cognition, and success as a working dog. In both populations we initially used exploratory analyses with a large sample of dogs tested on a broad array of cognitive tasks. We then developed shorter test batteries comprised of only the items most strongly associated with outcomes within each population. Lastly, we collected data on these revised sets of measures with independent samples and used predictive models (assistance dogs) or a replication study (detection dogs) to assess the utility of these cognitive measures for predicting working dog outcomes. In both populations we identified cognitive measures associated with working dog success. In the assistance dog population, predictive models developed in the exploratory study were effective at prospectively predicting training outcomes in an independent sample, with model performance being best for dogs predicted to have the highest (vs. the lowest) probability of success. In the detection dog population, our replication study confirmed positive associations between individual differences in short-term memory, sensitivity to human gesture, and measures of success as a detection dog. Therefore, our findings suggest that measures of dog cognition provide a useful approach for predicting working dog aptitude, and support the hypothesis that individual differences in cognition may be an important determinant of success in these roles (2).

Importantly, the particular aspects of cognition associated with working dog success varied between the two study populations, consistent with the notion that different working roles may require different cognitive skillsets. In the assistance dog population, successful dogs were characterized by a greater tendency to engage in eye contact with a human when faced with an unsolvable task, or when a joint social activity was disrupted (social referencing), as well as higher scores on an inferential reasoning task. Given that assistance dogs work closely with a human partner, and must be highly responsive to this person, it is likely that a natural tendency to attend to the human's face, and seek information from this person, is fundamental to a dog's success in this role. In the detection dog population, we found the strongest associations with measures of short-term memory and sensitivity to human gestural communication. Given that these dogs work off-leash at a distance from a human handler, it is likely that the ability to use human gestural communication provides an important skillset for effective detection work. Similarly, because detection dogs must efficiently search complex physical environments, and maintain verbal commands in memory while executing searches, short-term memory is probably critical for several aspects of successful detection work.

Our findings support the hypothesis that different types of cognition have evolved in a variety of animals-including dogs (28, 29, 34, 35). In our previous study describing the psychometric structure of the DCTB (i.e., the same data used here), measures of sensitivity to communicative intentions, memory processes, and eye contact with humans, all loaded on different factors (28). Therefore, our current findings are consistent with the hypothesis that the cognitive skills linked to working dog success reflect processes in distinct cognitive domains, that can vary independently of one another. This provides evidence that individual variation across these different factors, or types of cognition, is also related to how dogs solve a variety of problems in the real world. In other words, these experimental measures have ecological validity (36). An individual's cognitive profile can increase his or her potential to either succeed or fail in performing trained behaviors effectively-with different profiles being predictive of success with different sets of problems (e.g., assisting people with disabilities vs. explosive detection). This also leads to the prediction that future studies with other working dog populations will identify other aspects of cognition that are important for other working roles. If correct, it is unlikely that a construct such as "general intelligence" will be sufficient for assessing (cognitive) aptitude in candidate working dogs. At a practical level, this suggests that there will not be a single (ideal) cognitive phenotype that can be selected or screened for across all working dog populations.

One important challenge in assessing cognitive predictors of working dog success will continue to be how success is defined and operationalized. In the assistance dog population, training success was independently defined by the dog provider, and operationalized as whether a dog graduated the program [a common metric of success for studies with assistance dogs; (2, 3, 7)]. Although clearly defined, and relevant to the practical challenges that motivate predictive modeling (e.g., identifying dogs most and least likely to complete training), the use of a dichotomous outcome may obscure meaningful differences between dogs within the successful and unsuccessful groups. In the detection dog population there was no single metric available to quantify success, and thus we relied on diverse approaches ranging from scoring training records to surveys with trainers and individuals overseeing dogs during deployment. These data sources likely reflect a large degree of subjectivity. Additionally, many of these data sources were not available for dogs in our study, yielding variance in statistical power across analyses, and precluding the development of a single composite metric of success. Therefore, in addition to continued research on the cognitive and behavioral traits that predict aptitude for working roles, there is also an important need for the development and validation of objective measures that can more robustly quantify success in these roles.

Despite these limitations, Our findings speak to the validity of spontaneous, non-verbal cognitive measures in capturing meaningful differences in real world problem solving behavior (34). They suggest that in dogs (1) individual differences in cognition contribute to variance in working dog success, and (2) that experimental measures of these individual differences can be used to improve the processes through which working dogs are evaluated and selected. Importantly, we expect that cognitive measures will be useful in addition to, rather than as an alternative to current methods of dog selection. A wide range of traits, including aspects of physical health, behavior, temperament, and cognition, make important contributions to working dog success. Thus, the development and validation of measures that probe this diverse range of phenotypic characteristics will be critical to enhancing working dog selection. Collectively, our findings contribute to a rapidly growing body of research on working dog selection, and suggest that embracing a broad view of the characteristics required of successful working dogs-including temperamental and cognitive traits, as well as the interactions between them (18, 37, 38)will provide a powerful and integrative approach for future research.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Duke University IACUC, and

REFERENCES

- Wells DL. Domestic dogs and human health: an overview. Br. J. Health Psychol. (2007) 12:145–56. doi: 10.1348/135910706X103284
- Bray EE, Sammel MD, Cheney DL, Serpell JA, Seyfarth RM. Effects of maternal investment, temperament, and cognition on guide dog success. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* (2017) 114:9128–33. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1704303114
- Duffy DL, Serpell JA. Predictive validity of a method for evaluating temperament in young guide and service dogs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.*(2012) 138:99–109. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2012.02.011
- Harvey ND, Craigon PJ, Blythe SA, England GC, Asher L. An evidencebased decision assistance model for predicting training outcome in juvenile guide dogs. *PLoS ONE*(2017) 12:e0174261. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 74261
- Cobb M, Branson N, McGreevy P, Lill A, Bennett P. The advent of canine performance science: offering a sustainable future for working dogs. *Behav. Processes* (2015) 110:96–104. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2014.10.012
- MacNamara M, MacLean E. Selecting animals for education environments. In: Gee NR, Fine AH, McCardle P, editors. *How Animals Help Students Learn: Research and Practice for Educators and Mental-Health Professionals.* New York, NY: Routledge (2017). p. 228.
- Batt LS, Batt MS, Baguley JA, McGreevy PD. The value of puppy raisers' assessments of potential guide Dogs' behavioral tendencies and ability to graduate. *Anthrozoos* (2009) 22:71–6. doi: 10.2752/175303708X3 90482
- Berns GS, Brooks AM, Spivak M, Levy K. Functional MRI in awake dogs predicts suitability for assistance work. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:43704. doi: 10.1038/srep43704

was approved by the Duke University IACUC (protocol #: A138-11-06).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EM and BH designed and conducted the research. EM analyzed the data. EM and BH wrote the paper.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank K. Rodriguez, K. Almon, S. Laderman, A. Reinhardt, K. Leimberger, K. Duffy, T. Jones, K. Suchman, W. Plautz, L. Strassberg, L. Thielke, E. Blumstein, R. Reddy, and K. Cunningham for help with data collection and coding. We are grateful to K Levy for her help with the assistance dog studies, and P. Mundell for help with research on both assistance and detection dogs. We thank Canine Companions for Independence and K2 Solutions, Inc. for accommodating research with assistance and detection dogs. This research was supported in part by ONR N00014-17-1-2380, ONR N00014-12-1-0095, NIH 5 R03 HD070649-02, and the AKC Canine Health Foundation. The contents of this publication are solely the responsibility of authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the AKC Canine Health Foundation.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2018.00236/full#supplementary-material

- Duffy DL. Bringing objectivity to working dog selection: the role of lateralization measures. *Veter J.* (2012) 192:262–3. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2011.12.012
- Goddard M, Beilharz R. Early prediction of adult behaviour in potential guide dogs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1986) 15:247–60. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(86)90095-X
- Jones AC, Gosling SD. Temperament and personality in dogs (Canis familiaris): a review and evaluation of past research. *Appl Anim Behav Sci* (2005) 95:1–53. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2005.04.008
- Leotta R, Voltini B, Mele M, Curadi MC, Orlandi M, Secchiari P. Latent variable models on performance tests in guide dogs. 1. Factor analysis. *Ital J Anim Sci.* (2010) 5:377–86. doi: 10.4081/ijas.2006.377
- Mizukoshi M, Kondo M, Nakamura T. Evaluation of the potential suitability of guide dog candidates by continuous observation during training. J Veter Behav. (2008) 3:193–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2008.05.002
- Svobodová I, Vápeník P, Pinc L, Bartoš L. Testing German shepherd puppies to assess their chances of certification. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2008) 113:139–49. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2007.09.010
- Weiss E. Selecting shelter dogs for service dog training. J Appl Anim Welfare Sci. (2002) 5:43–62. doi: 10.1207/S15327604JAWS0501_4
- Wilsson E, Sinn DL. Are there differences between behavioral measurement methods? A comparison of the predictive validity of two ratings methods in a working dog program. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2012) 141:158–72. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2012.08.012
- Wilsson E, Sundgren P-E. The use of a behaviour test for selection of dogs for service and breeding. II Heritability for tested parameters and effect of selection based on service dog characteristics. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1997) 54:235–41. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(96)01175-6

- Bray EE, Sammel MD, Seyfarth RM, Serpell JA, Cheney DL. Temperament and problem solving in a population of adolescent guide dogs. *Anim Cogn.* (2017) 20:923–39. doi: 10.1007/s10071-017-1112-8
- Fiset S, Landry F, Ouellette M. Egocentric search for disappearing objects in domestic dogs: evidence for a geometric hypothesis of direction. *Anim Cogn.* (2006) 9:1–12. doi: 10.1007/s10071-005-0255-1
- Pongracz P, Miklosi A, Kubinyi E, Gurobi K, Topal J, Csanyi V. Social learning in dogs: the effect of a human demonstrator on the performance of dogs (Canis familiaris) in a detour task. *Anim Behav.* (2001) 62:1109–17. doi: 10.1006/anbe.2001.1866
- Kaulfuß P, Mills D. Neophilia in domestic dogs (Canis familiaris) and its implication for studies of dog cognition. *Anim Cogn.* (2008) 11:553–6. doi: 10.1007/s10071-007-0128-x
- Pilley JW, Reid AK. Border collie comprehends object names as verbal referents. *Behav Processes* (2011) 86:184–95. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2010.11.007
- Range F, Aust U, Steurer M, Huber L. Visual categorization of natural stimuli by domestic dogs. *Anim Cogn.* (2008) 11:339–47. doi: 10.1007/s10071-007-0123-2
- Fiset S, Beaulieu C, Landry F. Duration of dogs'(Canis familiaris) working memory in search for disappearing objects. *Anim Cogn.* (2003) 6:1–10. doi: 10.1007/s10071-002-0157-4
- Kaminski J, Call J, Fischer J. Word learning in a domestic dog: evidence for "fast mapping". *Science* (2004) 304:1682–3. doi: 10.1126/science.1097859
- Hare B, Tomasello M. Human-like social skills in dogs? Trends Cogn Sci. (2005) 9:439–44. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2005.07.003
- Miklósi Á. Dog Behaviour, Evolution, and Cognition. Oxford: OUP Oxford (2008).
- MacLean EL, Herrmann E, Suchindran S, Hare B. Individual differences in cooperative communicative skills are more similar between dogs and humans than chimpanzees. *Anim Behav.* (2017) 126:41–51. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2017.01.005
- Stewart L, MacLean EL, Ivy D, Woods V, Cohen E, Rodriguez K, et al. Citizen science as a new tool in dog cognition research. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0135176. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 35176

- Box GE, Cox DR. An analysis of transformations. J R Stat Soc Series B (1964) 26:211–52.
- Kuhn M, Wing J, Weston S, Williams A, Keefer C, Engelhardt A, et al. caret: Classification and Regression Training. R Package Version 6.0–21. Vienna: CRAN, (2015).
- 32. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2017).
- Kuhn M, Johnson K. Applied Predictive Modeling, Vol. 26. New York, NY: Springer (2013). doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-6849-3
- MacLean EL, Matthews L, Hare B, Nunn C, Anderson R, Aureli F, et al. How does cognition evolve? *Phylogen Comp Psychol Anim Cogn.* (2012) 15:223–38. doi: 10.1007/s10071-011-0448-8
- Tomasello M, Call J. Primate Cognition. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (1997).
- Hare B. Can competitive paradigms increase the validity of experiments on primate social cognition? *Anim Cogn.* (2001) 4:269–80. doi: 10.1007/s100710100084
- Bray EE, MacLean EL, Hare BA. Increasing arousal enhances inhibitory control in calm but not excitable dogs. *Anim Cogn.* (2015) 18:1317–29. doi: 10.1007/s10071-015-0901-1
- Hare B, Plyusnina I, Ignacio N, Schepina O, Stepika A, Wrangham R, et al. Social cognitive evolution in captive foxes is a correlated by-product of experimental domestication. *Curr Biol.* (2005) 15:226–30. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2005.01.040

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 MacLean and Hare. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Animal Assisted Intervention on Improving Self-Esteem in Children With Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder

Sabrina E. B. Schuck^{1*}, Heather L. Johnson², Maryam M. Abdullah³, Annamarie Stehli¹, Aubrey H. Fine⁴ and Kimberley D. Lakes⁵

¹ Pediatrics, School of Medicine, University of California, Irvine, Irvine, CA, United States, ² School Psychology, College of Education, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States, ³ Greater Good Science Center, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, CA, United States, ⁴ Education, California State Polytechnic University, Pomona, CA, United States, ⁵ Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of California, Riverside, Riverside, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Consultant, New Haven, CT, United States

Reviewed by:

Sheffali Gulati, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, India Chris Fradkin, Pontifical Catholic University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Sabrina E. B. Schuck sabrina@uci.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Children and Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 15 May 2018 Accepted: 25 September 2018 Published: 02 November 2018

Citation:

Schuck SEB, Johnson HL, Abdullah MM, Stehli A, Fine AH and Lakes KD (2018) The Role of Animal Assisted Intervention on Improving Self-Esteem in Children With Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. Front. Pediatr. 6:300. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00300

Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), the most ubiquitous mental health problem in children, has been associated with poor self-esteem. Psychosocial interventions have aimed to improve self-esteem among this group, with the aim of reducing the development of comorbid depression and anxiety. The present study implemented a randomized control design to examine the possibility of Animal Assisted Interventions (AAI) as a viable approach to improving self-esteem among children with ADHD. Children's self-esteem across multiple domains as measured by the Self-Perception Profile for Children was evaluated (n = 80, ages 7–9, 71% male). To test the hypothesis that AAI improves self-esteem, stratified Wilcoxon Signed-Rank Tests (SAS NPAR1WAY procedure) were used to compare pre- to post-treatment ratings. Analyses indicated that scores of children's self-perceptions in the domains of behavioral conduct, social, and scholastic competence, were significantly increased from baseline to post-treatment in the AAI group (z = 2.320, p = .021, z = 2.631, p = .008, and z = 2.541, p = .011, respectively), whereas pre-post-treatment differences in self-perceptions were not found for the children in the control group without AAI. Findings suggest that AAI is a viable strategy for improving ratings of self-perceived self-esteem in children with ADHD.

Keywords: Human Animal Interaction, Animal Assisted Intervention, therapy dogs, ADHD, self-esteem, selfawareness, school-based interventions, social skills training

INTRODUCTION

Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) is the most prevalent mental health disorder of childhood and despite intervention continues to impair individuals across the lifespan when compared to their typically developing peers (1). Children with ADHD are characteristically impaired by deficits in skills of Executive Function (EF) including attention, working memory, and inhibition—all skills essential to self-awareness and self-regulation. Children with ADHD oftentimes present with associated poor social skills and/or problem behaviors and are at greater risk for developing other mental health disorders by young adulthood (2). Pharmacotherapy (e.g., atomoxetine, methylphenidate) is the mainstay of traditional medical intervention for ADHD, but treatment failures are common (3), there is evidence of slowed growth in individuals who take stimulants for long periods of time (4, 5) and parents of young children are increasingly seeking alternatives to medication treatments. Of note, many parents find alternative therapies, including Animal Assisted Intervention (AAI), to be more acceptable than medication (6).

Early on it was hypothesized that Human Animal Interaction (HAI) and AAI with children contributed to improvements on measures of psychological well-being, such as self-esteem (7, 8) or closely related constructs (9, 10), while others reported no AAI impact (11, 12). The inconsistent findings of these early studies seems likely to have been the product of weak research designs.

Reviews of HAI and AAI indicate an abundance of correlational, hypothesis-generating studies (13–16) and conclude that the field would be further strengthened by rigorous experimental, evidence-based intervention designs (17, 18). While groundbreaking in hypotheses generation, most AAI research has been criticized for the lack of control conditions and specificity of intervention aims (19). Many of these studies describe solely correlational findings. Perhaps, one of most problematic areas of AAI research, plagued by both of these weaknesses, is the examination of the relationship of AAI and self-esteem—a nebulous construct to start with.

The concept of self-esteem has been defined as "the level of global regard that one has for the self as a person" [(20), p. 88]. In typically developing populations, self-esteem has been linked to task persistence, achievement and overall outcomes. Low self-esteem has been linked to poor outcomes, depression and other mental health disorders (20). Considering the frequent adverse social feedback that children with ADHD are likely to experience throughout their development, it seems plausible that these experiences may contribute to low self-esteem.

It is clear that children with ADHD are at greater risk for poor outcomes and the development of comorbid mental health disorders (21). The role of self-esteem in predicting these outcomes is less understood (22). Previous research has examined the role of self-esteem in prognosis and the later development of comorbid mental health disorders in young adulthood (23). Historically, psychosocial interventions have targeted increased self-esteem in children with ADHD (24), with the aim of reducing the development of comorbid depression and anxiety.

Positive Assertive Cooperative Kids (Project P.A.C.K.), a randomized controlled trial, was designed to examine the safety and efficacy of AAI with dogs vs. traditional psychosocial treatment strategies for children with ADHD (25). The P.A.C.K. model reduced symptoms of ADHD and problem behaviors and improved social skills (26). A secondary aim of Project P.A.C.K. was to determine if AAI contributed to an increase in self-esteem as measured by children's self-perceptions of their competence across multiple domains. We hypothesized that the children participating in the therapy with dogs would have greater gains in their self-esteem than those children participating in therapy as usual.

METHODS

Participants

This study was approved by the local university Institutional Review Board. Written and informed consent was obtained from parents and written and informed assent was obtained from child participants. Additionally, upon review by the local Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC), this study was determined exempt from IACUC review as the participation of the therapy animals was not outside the scope of their normal activity and because they were not the subject of investigation. Eighty-eight children with ADHD, ages 7-9 years, (71% male), and their parents participated in Project P.A.C.K., a randomized controlled trial examining the safety and efficacy of traditional "best practice" psychosocial intervention with and without therapy dogs, 82 completed treatment across 12 weeks and participated in a follow up assessment 6 weeks later (26). Eighty children and families completed the measures included in this analysis at baseline, end of treatment and at follow-up.

Screening and Eligibility Criteria

Participants were selected using a multi-gate screening procedure to determine eligibility. Parents completed a family medical and psychosocial history questionnaire. Researchers administered the Kaufman-Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children: Present and Lifetime Version [K-SADS-PL; (27)], a semi-structured clinician-administered interview conducted with parents and children, based on criterion set forth in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders [4th ed., text rev.; DSM-IV- TR; (28)] for psychiatric disorders. Children also completed the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence, Second Edition [WASI-II; (29, 30)]. Eligibility criteria included a primary diagnosis of ADHD, Combined subtype, aged 7-9 years, an estimated full scale IQ score of 80 or above, and the ability to complete all screening measures. Exclusionary criteria included current use of medication for ADHD; a diagnosis of a pervasive developmental disorder/autism, depression, anxiety, or epilepsy; and a history of cruelty to animals.

Randomization Design

All participants were randomly assigned to one of two treatment groups: (a) a cognitive-behavioral group therapy incorporating a AAI with therapy dogs/handler dyads or (b) a cognitivebehavioral group therapy without therapy dogs (non-AAI). In efforts to establish treatment efficacy for both the AAI and the non-AAI treatment groups, a waitlist condition was implemented to control for the possible influence of time and child development on symptom severity in both groups. Specifically, half of all recruited participants, regardless of treatment group, were consented and assessed and then experienced a waiting period of 12 weeks prior to a subsequent assessment and the start of treatment. The remainder of participants recruited began immediate treatment (IT) subsequent to consent and assessment.

Measures

Children participated in a battery of screening measures, including a brief assessment of cognitive skills, at intake prior to intervention (described above). Subsequent to screening and randomization, they participated in direct assessment which included measures of performance, self-evaluations and structured interviews in the context of a laboratory school setting at three time points: (a) immediately prior to, (b) immediately following, and (c) 6 weeks after the 12-week intervention period. Simultaneously, parents rated their children's social skills competence, severity of ADHD symptoms, and problem behaviors.

Intelligence

The Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence, Second Edition [WASI-II; (29, 30)] is a brief measure utilizing four subtests with the highest factor loading on generalized intelligence (g). The administration takes about 3 min and yields a Verbal Comprehension Index (VCI; Vocabulary and Similarities), a Perceptual Reasoning Index (PRI; Block Design and Matrix Reasoning) and an estimated Full Scale IQ (FSIQ-4). Cronbach's alpha coefficients for all subscales of this measure are high, ranging from the high 0.80s to 0.99, indicating good to excellent reliability in child samples, and the measures has demonstrated acceptable to excellent validity with other established measures utilized for estimating g (31). Participants completed the WASI at baseline, no more than 2 weeks prior to participation in the laboratory school day assessments and the intervention phase.

Self-Esteem

The Self-Perception Profile for Children [SPPC; (32)] is a 36item scale measuring perceived global self-worth in children. Subscales in this measure include scholastic competence, social acceptance, athletic competence, physical appearance, and behavioral conduct, and a cumulative measure of global selfworth. Cronbach's alpha coefficients for each domain exceed 0.80, indicating acceptable to excellent reliability and validity testing, resulting in clear factor loadings with basic oblique rotation-five loadings, ranged between 0.41 and 0.90 as reported in the most recent update to the SPPC manual (32). This scale was administered to child participants individually by a trained research assistant who read the items aloud in keeping with recommendations in the most recent manual for children younger than Grade 5. Of note, in consideration of the attention challenges of the special population the scale was administered with the aid of a pictorial visual analog to assist the child in choosing their rating. The measure was completed on the Saturdays immediately preceding and following the intervention period, and then at a 6-week follow-up in the context of the laboratory school day setting.

Social Skills and Problem Behaviors

Social Skills Improvement System-Parent Form [SSIS-P; (33)] is a 79-item scale measuring social skills and problem behaviors in children as reported by their parents. In the Social Skills domain, the subscales are communication, cooperation, assertion, responsibility, empathy, engagement, and self-control. Subscales in the Problem Behaviors domain include internalizing, externalizing, bullying, hyperactivity/inattention, and autism spectrum. Gresham and Elliott (33) provide an extensive psychometric review of the SSIS in the administration manual and report reliability tests for Cronbach's alpha coefficients for the main domains all exceeding 0.90 indicating very good to extremely high reliability for children between the ages of 5–12, with measures of validity reported in the moderate to high range (pp. 65–136). Commensurate with their child's participation in each of the laboratory school days, one parent respondent (91% female) rated their child's social skills and problem behaviors, as measured by the SSIS.

ADHD and ODD Symptoms

The Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Rating Scale, Fourth Edition [ADHD-RS-IV; (34)] is an established measure of ADHD symptoms derived from the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 4th Edition [DSM-IV; (28)] with Cronbach's alpha coefficients all exceeding 0.85, indicating extremely high to excellent subscale reliability (34). In addition to the ADHD-RS items, in a similar fashion, parents rated their children on the nine symptoms of Oppositional Defiant Disorder as listed in the DSM-IV. The ADHD-RS and symptoms of ODD scale were completed by parents every 2 weeks during the course of the intervention.

Permanent Product Math Test

The Permanent Product Measure of Performance [PERM-P; (35)] is a validated, time-sensitive, skill-adjusted test. The assessment is comprised of simple math problems which are required to be completed at multiple time points throughout the simulated classroom sessions of the laboratory school days. This measure has been used extensively in clinical trials examining the effects of pharmaceuticals for children with ADHD, and has been found to be a robust, objective measure of the ability to initiate a task, self-monitor/stay on task, and complete written seatwork (35).

Intervention

For a period of 12 weeks, each child participant attended an intervention group session twice a week; 1 weekday evening for 2 hours and on Saturday for 2 ½ hours, resulting in a total of 4 ½ hours per week of treatment for the child. Parents received 2 hours of group-based behavioral parent training (BPT) once a week that occurred during their child's weekly evening sessions. The P.A.C.K. intervention curriculum implemented for both groups, incorporated strategies based on components from the University of California, Irvine Child Development Center School-based Social Skills model, the Kids Interacting with Dogs Safely program developed by Jane Deming and the American Humane Association (2009), and the Intermountain Therapy Animals' Reading Education Assistance Dogs program (ITA R.E.A.D[®] Handbook, 2003–2004).

The AAI group included the participation of three certified therapy dogs, facilitated by their handlers (partners), during each intervention session (see **Figure 1**). The non-AAI group received the same standard treatment curriculum, but utilized toy dogs (realistic puppets/stuffed plush toys) in lieu of live dogs (see **Figure 2**). Of note, written and informed consent for the release of photographic images was obtained from parents of participants in these photos but the faces of the minors are masked to protect their privacy.

P.A.C.K. Curriculum

The social skills curriculum that was implemented in each of the children's therapeutic group sessions was originally developed for the UC Irvine Child Development Center School Program, a laboratory school environment for children with ADHD. This model combines strategies based in learning and cognitive-behavioral theories and is aimed to promote adaptive skill acquisition and thereby reduce problem behaviors (36). This curriculum, along with the curriculum of the Summer Treatment Program developed by Pelham et al. (37) contributed to the psychosocial treatment strategies implemented and tested in the Multi-modal Treatment Study of ADHD (MTA Study), the



FIGURE 1 | Animal Assisted Intervention with certified therapy dogs.



FIGURE 2 | Traditional psychosocial skills training with a dog theme.

largest NIH funded longitudinal study of treatment modalities for children with ADHD (38-40). These traditional evidencebased components were complemented with novel strategies (The How to Be a Good Teacher lessons and the How Did I Do? self-assessment) which aimed to increase self-esteem by developing self-competence and self-efficacy [see (25, 26)]. These lessons were inspired by a theoretical premise that interaction with dogs provides a naturalist, non-verbal, 'feedback' mechanism unique to AAI. The lessons were administered with all children, with and without the assistance of certified therapy dogs and puppies in training for *Canine Companions* for Independence. In the AAI group, children were supported in 'training' basic commands (come, sit, stay) with certified therapy dogs for the first 9 weeks of the intervention and then with the puppies in the last 3 weeks of the intervention. In the group without dogs, children were instructed and coached to teach their peers how to complete a skill or inform the peers about a specific subject of interest. See the chapter by Gee et al. (41) for a more detailed description of the specific strategies implemented.

Behavioral Parent Training (BPT)

The parent training component of intervention consisted of 12, weekly, 2-hour long sessions of BPT conducted with six families per treatment group. Sessions were based on a traditional BPT curriculum and adapted from the MTA study (40). Specifically, parents were taught behavior modification techniques and standard directive parenting strategies (e.g., giving effective directions, transitional warnings, problem solving) and how to teach self-regulation strategies, facilitate anger management, and target social skills development for their children. Parent/child shared homework activities (e.g., reading a short dog-themed story together) were assigned to encourage discussions focusing on targeted social skills and/or humane education topics.

Analysis

To test the hypothesis that AAI increases self-esteem as measured by child self-perceptions of competence, and in consideration of the non-normal distribution of scores on the SPPC for the sample, stratified Wilcoxon Signed-Rank Tests (SAS NPAR1WAY procedure) were used. This test allows for a comparison of pre- to post- differences in a nonnormal distribution and results in a z score statistic that can then be tested for significance. Considering the nature of the ranking test, a final transformation of the scores was utilized in efforts to best represent the direction of change for those individuals that had higher (improved) scores of selfperception at end of treatment when compared to their scores at baseline.

Stratified correlation analyses were performed to examine the relationship between SPPC ratings and baseline measures including: ADHD-RS subscales (ADHD, Hyperactivity, Inattention), ODD symptoms, Parent rated SSIS, the WASI (Block Design, Matrix Reasoning, Vocabulary and Similarities, Full Scale IQ), and PERM-P level.

RESULTS

Prior to Intervention

At baseline, groups were equivalent on self-ratings of each domain of self-esteem as measured by the SPPC, with the exception of the children in the non-AAI group rating themselves more favorably in the domain of physical appearance (z = 4.562, p < .001) and somewhat but not significantly more favorably in athletic competence (z = 1.951, p = .052). Of note, the majority of children across groups rated their competence fairly favorably, resulting in a non-normal, negatively skewed or "Jshaped" distribution of scores both before and after treatment for both groups. But, for the most part, mean scores for this particular sample did not differ significantly from published means for their typically developing, same age peers, with the exception of this sample rating themselves higher in the domain of physical appearance at baseline (non-AAI z = 11.441, p <.001; AAI z = 9.112, p < .001). As previously reported in an analysis testing equivalency of groups, randomization resulted in no significant differences in demographic characteristics or behavior skills as measured by; parent ratings on the ADHD-RS, for each subtype (Inattention, H/I, and Combined type) as well as symptoms of ODD) (26). Similarly, at baseline no group differences were revealed for cognitive skills, as measured by the WASI-II (Vocabulary, Block Design, Similarities, and Matrix Reasoning) (Table 1) or academic skills as measured by the PERM-P ($\chi^2 = .05, p = .974$).

Post Intervention

As previously reported, all children who participated in the P.A.C.K. study demonstrated significant improvement in symptoms of ADHD and social skills but improvements were significantly greater in the group that participated in AAI (26). Furthermore, in that study, a group by time interaction was revealed on ratings of problem behaviors and social initiation, suggesting a modest benefit for the AAI group over the non-AAI group. For the present study, stratified Wilcoxon Signed-Rank Tests (SAS NPAR1WAY procedure) revealed that children's self-reported scores of their behavioral conduct, scholastic and social competence were significantly higher at post-treatment than at pre-treatment in the AAI group (z = 2.320, p = .021,

TABLE 1	Participant	Cognitive	Skills	by	Intervention	Group.

Measure	Non-AAI (<i>n</i> = 41)	AAI (n = 41)		
	M (SD)	M (SD)	t	р
WASI-II Vocabulary	56.27 (9.88)	53.54 (10.07)	1.24	.228
WASI-II Block Design	53.73 (10.23)	52.51 (11.16)	0.52	.607
WASI-II Similarities	60.22 (8.34)	56.56 (11.30)	1.67	.100
WASI-II Matrix Reasoning	55.81 (9.53)	55.44 (9.04)	0.18	.859
WASI-II VIQ	113.90 (14.34)	108.60 (16.62)	1.52	.132
WASI-II PIQ	108.00 (14.38)	106.90 (15.40)	0.33	.745
WASI-II FSIQ	112.40 (13.51)	108.90 (15.92)	1.08	.285

AAI = Animal Assisted Intervention; WASI-II = Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence, Second Edition; VI = Verbal Intelligence Quotient, PIQ = Performance Intelligence Quotient, FSIQ = Full Scale Intelligence Quotient. z = 2.631, p = .008, and z = 2.541, p = .011, respectively). Prepost-treatment differences were not found for the children in the group without AAI.

Correlational Analyses

Post-intervention analysis in the full sample revealed no significant correlations of cognitive measures and self-esteem subscales, with the exception of children's level of math achievement as measured by the PERM-P, correlating with self-ratings of scholastic competence as measured by the SPPC (r = .192, p = .046). This small magnitude correlation did not reach significance in either subgroup (AAI r = .218, p = .110; Non-AAI r = .157, p = .267).

Likewise, for the whole sample post-intervention, behavioral measures of ADHD symptoms were not correlated with selfesteem (i.e., scores on the SPPC). Parent-reported symptoms of ODD, however, were positively correlated with child reports in the domains of Scholastic Competence (r = .215, p = .044), Athletic Competence (r = .307, p = .004), and Physical Appearance (r = .214, p = .045). That is, greater impairment from ODD symptoms as rated by the parent was linked to children more favorably perceiving their competence in these domains.

When stratified by group, however, no significant relationships between parent ratings of ODD symptoms and self-esteem were revealed in the AAI group. The finding persisted in the non-AAI group: higher parent ratings of ODD symptoms were related to greater self-perceptions of Scholastic Competence (r = .366, p = .016), Athletic Competence (r = .601, p < 0.001), and Physical Appearance (r = .361, p = .017), and Social Competence (r = .340, p = .026). Furthermore, when stratified, parent ratings of H/I were positively correlated with Scholastic Competence (r = .276, p = .033).

DISCUSSION

The specific aim of the present study was to determine if AAI improved self-esteem in children with ADHD when compared to more traditional psychosocial interventions. Findings from the present study indicate children's perceptions about their social competence, behavioral conduct and scholastic competence, were significantly higher at post-intervention when compared to pre-intervention in the group in which live animals participated (AAI). Conversely, no pre-post-intervention differences in self-perceptions were found for the children who participated in the intervention without dogs (non-AAI).

Dogs and Character Development

Leaders in the field of HAI have called for more controlled research design with more specific aims in efforts to better understand the role of AAI in psychosocial outcomes, including self-esteem. In response, the present study employed a randomized and controlled trial of AAI vs. a "best practice" control condition with a specific aim of investigating children's self-esteem as measured by self-perceived social competence, behavioral conduct, and global self-worth. Central to the development of the treatment protocol was the consideration that elements of humane education about animals is thought to contribute to character development, social communication, and compassion—all thought to be key in the treatment aims for children with ADHD who present with deficits in skills of executive function necessary for self-regulation and selfawareness. The authors proposed that utilizing these educational strategies would be enhanced by the presence of a live animal and the integration of canine assisted intervention activities. Group differences in these findings provide support for the participation of dogs in intervention strategies aimed to improve key elements of self-esteem.

The Role of Feedback From a Live Animal and Self-Regulation

Children who participated in AAI gained better access to aspects of the intervention, specifically targets of social competence and behavioral conduct. Pre-intervention, all children rated themselves about average across domains when compared with published norms. But in the areas in which they rated themselves a bit lower (social competence and behavioral conduct; presumed weaknesses in this population and specific targets of the intervention) only children in the AAI group rated themselves more favorably post-intervention. Direct interaction with a live animal provides immediate feedback of socially appropriate and compassionate behavior toward the dogs. Results suggest the tailored humane education in the session content, coupled with interaction with live dogs, served as an immediate and non-verbal means of feedback to which the child responded positively when compared to their peers in the non-AAI group.

The Role of Parent and Child Engagement

As previously reported, parent ratings indicated that all children in the sample responded favorably on aims of symptom reduction and improved social skills, with the children in the AAI group making the strongest gains (26). The behavioral parent training (BPT) component for both intervention groups incorporated parent/child "homework" around human education, character development, and compassion. It is likely that the increased use of positive parenting strategies signals to the child that he/she is doing better. As such, the child in turn rate himself or herself better. But this supposition should have held true across both groups as all parents participated in the same BPT. Taken together, the findings suggest that the families in the AAI group responded differentially to the lessons of the BPT.

The research suggests that as a consequence of experiencing direct contact with therapy dogs, children were more motivated to attend and positively engage in the intervention. Several studies have found that incorporating therapy animals into activities can help motivate children to comply with the therapeutic or educational process, and to retain that motivation over time (42–46). In P.A.C.K. sessions, children were "frontloaded" and practiced aspects of the parent/child interaction assignment for that week in the session prior to the parent receiving the "homework." It seems plausible that children who "role-played" with live animals, more readily recalled or shared elements of the lesson more vividly with their parents about how they acted and behave in their presence.

One might also posit that parents of children who participated in the group with therapy dogs found it easier to engage in discussion about the intervention sessions by talking about the animals instead of the content alone. By doing so, they may have directly promoted stronger generalization of the strategies learned by the children in session. It is plausible then to suspect that those parents began to notice improvement in their child's social skills and behavioral conduct more readily and thereby were more likely to express praise and appreciation at increased frequency when compared to parents of children in the non-AAI group. When parents perceive and report behavioral improvement, it is likely that children in turn receive this feedback, directly or indirectly, reinforcing their perceptions of their improvements and increasing their perceptions of their social competence and behavioral conduct.

Limitations and Future Investigation Positive Illusory Bias

Self-perception is a construct largely influenced by psychosocial development with typical younger children presenting with a lack self-awareness marked by inflated self-perceptions when compared to older children (32). Theoretically, children with neurodevelopmental disorders marked by deficits in EF may be delayed in the development of this skill when compared to their typically developing peers. The severity of specific cognitive deficits in children with ADHD are associated with positive illusory bias (47) and particularly self-awareness (48). It may be that some children with ADHD are relatively delayed in their ability to attend to, respond to, or benefit from feedback from peers, teachers or caregivers commensurate to their peers. In fact, despite frequent feedback from peers, teachers and caregivers, these children oftentimes demonstrate poor self-awareness of their problems and rate themselves more favorably than their teachers and parents rate their actual performance in academic and social context (49). This phenomenon, positive illusory bias, among children with ADHD has been well described (23, 49-51). Furthermore, children with ADHD who also demonstrate positive illusory bias are found to demonstrate greater social impairment when compared to their typically developing peers and their peers with ADHD who do not demonstrate positive illusory bias (52)

Alternative hypotheses have been presented about the nature of positive illusory bias. Some propose an over-estimation of one's competences acts as a protective mechanism for children who feel bad or embarrassed about their problem behaviors and or social challenges or that denial of weaknesses is a defense mechanism (53–55). More important, perhaps, is the finding that the degree of over-estimation of confidence also seems to mediate poor response to feedback (56). This lack of response to feedback is especially relevant to developing interventions for this population.

In the present study, the non-normal distribution of the children's self-perception scores across each domain has implications for interpreting improved scores at postintervention for the AAI group. The majority of children in the present study, similar to their typically developing, same age peers, rated their competence fairly favorably. This finding is not surprising given the literature on the influence of development on self-perception and self-awareness. In fact, considering children with ADHD have been found to be relatively delayed in their ability to respond to social feedback and demonstrate susceptibility to positive illusory bias, one might hypothesize that these children would have rated themselves significantly more positively than their same age, typically developing peers. But in the present study, participating children seemed to perceive their competence about the same as their typically developing peers across each domain.

While not significantly different from norms reported for typically developing children of similar age, the scores indicate that the children in the present study may not accurately perceive their competence when compared to how their parents and peers perceive them. While group differences in increased social, and scholastic competence and behavioral conduct may be a function of greater parent reported improvement, these increases do not necessarily mean that children demonstrated behavior commensurate with their self-estimations.

This finding may suggest a continued lack of self-awareness despite improvement and increased self-regard. Alternatively, it may be simply a function of their age compounded by their diagnosis of a neurodevelopmental delay. Conversely, it may simply mean those in the AAI group felt better about themselves and they reported so. Further investigation of this phenomenon among children participating in AAI and the control condition is indicated and should include an analysis of difference scores between parent/teacher and peer ratings of competence and children's self-ratings of competence to more directly measure the possibility of positive illusory bias in this group. Additional considerations include an examination of the associations between improved selfperceptions of competence and behavioral conduct with baseline reports of externalizing behaviors, observed compliance and selfregulation in the course of psychosocial intervention with and without dogs.

Targeting Self-Esteem and Measuring It as an Outcome

Brummelman addressed contemporary criticism that interventions aimed at increasing self-esteem inadvertently cultivate narcissism among children and clarified the distinction between the two constructs as "the belief that one is superior to others vs. the belief that one is worthy" (p. 11) (57). Indeed, in the AAI group, promotion of cross-species value and worthiness were reinforced with intervention activities, adult modeling, and by the positive attention directed to and received from the therapy dogs. Nevertheless, whereas self-esteem has been found to be variable and dependent on outcomes of day-to-day experiences, self-compassion is a relatively consistent way of relating to oneself that is characterized by self-kindness, a sense of common humanity, and mindfulness when encountering a personal challenge (58). Furthermore, moderating factors including aggression and internalizing symptoms may moderate ratings of self-esteem (59). Future work extending the findings of this study should more closely examine internalizing symptoms and focus on self-compassion as an alternative to self-esteem. Neff and Vonk assert that self-compassion may be an "important source of positive self-regard that is …less ego reactive and inflated" (p. 44) (58) As such, children with ADHD who encounter day-to-day challenges across contexts may benefit from explicit cultivation of self-compassion as an adaptive coping strategy that fosters well-being and resilience.

Medication Naïve Sample

To our knowledge, this work is the first randomized controlled trial examining the effectiveness of AAI with a large sample of young children with ADHD. Initial findings provide promise for increasing the modalities of treatment available to this population, but replication of these early findings is called for. Additionally, while many families seek alternatives to pharmacological interventions, evidence for the effectiveness of stimulant medications for reducing symptoms of ADHD is robust. The prescription of stimulants remains the most common practice for treating ADHD in the United States (60) and remains among the main practice parameters of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry (61) and the American Academy of Pediatrics (62). Of note, this study was limited to young children who were medication naïve and whose parents were seeking a non-pharmacological intervention prior to trying stimulant medications. While it was not the aim of this study to determine the effectiveness of AAI compared to stimulant medications for improving outcomes for children with ADHD, that is a viable research question that may warrant future investigation.

CONCLUSION

When compared to traditional, "best practice" psychosocial intervention, psychosocial intervention with the assistance of therapy dogs (AAI) yielded greater improvements in perceived self-competence, behavioral conduct and academic competence among children with ADHD. The findings may lead future researchers to continue investigating what elements of AAI appear to impact self-esteem and how the impact can be sustained over time. AAI is becoming a more recognized complementary therapy and with more scientific support, it may become more naturally applied in numerous treatment programs serving not only children with ADHD but other children with neurodevelopmental disorders.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SS was the principal investigator and led the development, interpretation, writing and dissemination of this work. HJ participated in the preparation of the data and contributed to the writing of the manuscript. MA participated in the development and implementation of the intervention, the interpretation and the writing of this manuscript. AS provided the statistical consultation and analyses of the data. AF significantly contributed to the development of the AAI content and strategies and participated in the interpretation of the findings. KL contributed to the interpretation of the results and writing of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funding by a grant, R01H066593, from the *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHS) and Mars-WALTHAM[®](S.E.B.S.). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute of Child Health and Human Development or the National Institutes of Health.

REFERENCES

- Molina BSG, Hinshaw SP, Swanson JM, Arnold LE, Vitiello B, Jensen PS, et al. The MTA at 8 years: prospective follow-up of children treated for combinedtype ADHD in a multisite study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2009) 48:484–500. doi: 10.1097/CHI.0b013e31819c23d0
- Hechtman L, Swanson JM, Sibley MH, Stehli A, Owens EB, Mitchell JT, et al. "Functional adult outcomes 16 years after childhood diagnosis of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: MTA results": corrigendum. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2018) 57:225. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2018. 01.007
- Schneider BN, Enenbach M. Managing the risks of ADHD treatments. Curr Psychiatry Rep. (2014) 16:479. doi: 10.1007/s11920-014-0479-3
- Swanson J, Greenhill L, Wigal TIM, Kollins S, Stehli A, Davies M, et al. Stimulant-related reductions of growth rates in the PATS. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2006) 45:1304–13. doi: 10.1097/01.chi.0000235075.25038.5a
- Swanson JM, Elliott GR, Greenhill LL, Wigal T, Arnold LE, Vitiello B, et al. Effects of stimulant medication on growth rates across 3 years in the MTA follow-up. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2007) 46:1015–27. doi: 10.1097/chi.0b013e31806866d7e
- Rabbitt SM, Kazdin AE, Hong JE. Acceptability of animal-assisted therapy: attitudes toward AAT, psychotherapy, and medication for the treatment of child disruptive behavioral problems. *Anthrozoös* (2014) 27:335–50. doi: 10.2752/175303714X13903827487881
- Levinson BM. Pets and personality development. *Psychol Rep.* (1978) 42:1031– 8. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1978.42.3c.1031
- Soutar-Freeman B. Animal-Assisted Therapy Program for Children Identified With Behavioral Problems (Order No. AAI3069566). (2003). Available online at https://search.proquest.com/docview/620257588?accountid=14509
- Poresky RH. The young children's empathy measure: reliability, validity and effects of companion animal bonding. *Psychol Rep.* (1990) 66:931–6. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1990.66.3.931
- Poresky RH. Companion animals and other factors affecting young children's development. Anthrozoös (1996) 9:159–68. doi: 10.2752/089279396787001437
- Hauge H, Kvalem IL, Enders-Slegers M, Berget B, Braastad BO. Persistence during tasks with horses in relation to social support, general selfefficacy and self-esteem in adolescents. *Anthrozoös* (2015) 28:333–47. doi: 10.1080/08927936.2015.11435406
- Tissen I, Hergovich A, Spiel C. School-based social training with and without dogs: evaluation of their effectiveness. *Anthrozoös* (2007) 20:365–73. doi: 10.2752/089279307X245491
- 13. Wilson CC, Netting FE. Companion animals and the elderly: a state-of-the-art summary. J Am Vet Med Assoc. (1983) 183:1425–9.
- Beck A, Katcher A. A new look at pet-facilitated therapy. Am Vet Med Assoc. (1984) 184:414–21.
- Barba BE. The positive influence of animals: animal-assisted therapy in acute care. *Clin Nurse Spec.* (1995) 9:199–202.
- 16. Garrity TF, Stallones L. Effects of pet contact. Sage (1998) 3–22.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge and thank the children and families that participated in Project P.A.C.K. at UC Irvine as well as all of the fabulous dogs and their amazing handlers, without whom, this work would not have been possible. We would like to provide a special thanks to the volunteers from Pet Partners and Canine Companions for Independence for allowing us the opportunity to work with the most amazing therapy dogs, services dogs in training, and their partners! We would also like to acknowledge Michelle Fassyoux, Shivani Amin, and Nicole Kirin for their assistance in the lab.

- Friedmann, E. The animal-human bond: health and wellness. In A. H. Fine, editor. *Handbook on Animal-Assisted Therapy: Theoretical Foundations and Guidelines for Practice*. San Diego, CA: Academic Press (2000), p 41–58. Available online at: http://psycnet.apa.org/record/2000-07023-003
- Nimer J, Lundahl B. Animal-assisted therapy: a meta-analysis. *Anthrozoos* (2007) 20:225–38. doi: 10.2752/089279307X224773
- Kazdin, AE. Chapter xxiii: Methodological standards and strategies for establishing the evidence base of animal-assisted therapies. In A. H. Fine, editor. *Handbook on Animal-Assisted Therapy: Theoretical Foundations and Guidelines for Practice*. 3rd ed. San Diego, CA: Elsevier Academic Press (2010), p. 519–46. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-381453-1.10025-X
- Harter S. Causes and consequences of low self-esteem in children and adolescents. In R. F. Baumeister editor. *Self-Esteem. The Plenum Series in Social/Clinical Psychology*. Boston, MA: Springer (1993), p. 87–116. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4684-8956-9_5
- Murray DW, Arnold LE, Swanson J, Wells K, Burns K, Jensen P, et al. A clinical review of outcomes of the multimodal treatment study of children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (MTA). *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2008) 10:424. doi: 10.1007/s11920-008-0068-4
- Hoza B, Murray-Close D, Arnold LE, Hinshaw SP, Hechtman L, MTA, Cooperative Group. Time-dependent changes in positively biased selfperceptions of children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a developmental psychopathology perspective. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2010) 22:375–90. doi: 10.1017/S095457941000012X
- Hoza B, Gerdes AC, Hinshaw SP, Arnold LE, Pelham WE, Molina BS, et al. Self-perceptions of competence in children with adhd and comparison children. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2004) 72:382–91. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.72.3.382
- Hinshaw SP. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: The search for viable treatments. In: Kendall PC, editor. *Child and Adolescent Therapy: Cognitive-Behavioral Procedures.* 2nd ed. New York, NY: Guilford Press (2000). p. 88–128.
- Schuck SEB, Emmerson NA, Fine AH, Lakes KD. Canine-assisted therapy for children with ADHD: preliminary findings from the positive assertive cooperative kids study. J Attent Disor. (2015) 19:125–37. doi: 10.1177/1087054713502080
- Schuck SEB, Emmerson NA, Abdullah MM, Fine AH, Stehli A, Lakes KD. A randomized controlled trial of traditional psychosocial and canine-assisted intervention for children with ADHD. *Human-Anim Interact Bull.* (2018) 6:64–80. Available online at: https://www.apa-hai.org/human-animal-interaction/haib/2018/volume-6-no-1/
- 27. Kaufman J, Birmaher B, Brent D, Rao UMA, Flynn C, Moreci P, et al. Schedule for affective disorders and schizophrenia for schoolage children-present and lifetime version (K-SADS-PL): initial reliability and validity data. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (1997) 36:980–8. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199707000-00021
- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 4th ed. Text Revision. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2000).

- 29. Wechsler D. Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI). 2nd ed. San Antonio, TX: NCS Pearson (1999)
- 30. Wechsler D. Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI-II). 2nd ed San Antonio, TX: NCS Pearson (2011).
- McCrimmon AW, Smith AD. Review of the wechsler abbreviated scale of intelligence, second edition (WASI-II). J Psychoedu Assess. (2012) 31:337–41. doi: 10.1177/0734282912467756
- Harter S. Manual for the Self-Perception Profile for Children: (Revision of the Perceived Competence Scale for Children). University of Denver (1985/2012)
- Gresham F, Elliott S. Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS). Minneapolis, MN: Pearson Assessment (2008).
- DuPaul GJ, Power TJ, McGoey KE, Ikeda MJ, Anastopoulos AD. Reliability and validity of parent and teacher ratings of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptoms. J Psychoeduc Assess. (1998) 16:55–68.
- Wigal SB, Wigal TL. The laboratory school protocol: its origin, use, and new applications. J Attent Disord. (2006) 10:92–111. doi: 10.1177/1087054705286049
- Kotkin R. The irvine paraprofessional program; promising practice for serving students with ADHD. J Learn Disabil. (1998) 31:556–564. doi: 10.1177/002221949803100605
- Pelham WE, Greiner AR, Gnagy EM. Children's Summer Treatment Program Manual. W. Pelham (1998).
- Arnold LE, Abikoff HB, Cantwell DP, Conners CK, Elliott GR, Greenhill LL, et al. NIMH collaborative multimodal treatment study of children with ADHD (MTA): Design, methodology, and protocol evolution. J Attent Disord. (1997) 2:141–58. doi: 10.1177/108705479700 200301
- Swanson J, Arnold LE, Kraemer H, Hechtman L, Molina B, Hinshaw S, et al. Evidence, interpretation, and qualification from multiple reports of long-term outcomes in the multimodal treatment study of children with ADHD (MTA) Part II: supporting details. J Attent Disord. (2008) 12:15–43. doi: 10.1177/1087054708319525
- Wells KC, Pelham WE, Kotkin RA, Hoza B, Abikoff HB, Abramowitz A, et al. Psychosocial treatment strategies in the MTA study: rationale, methods, and critical issues in design and implementation. *J Abnormal Child Psychol.* (2000) 28:483–505. doi: 10.1023/A:1005174913412
- Gee NR, Schuck S, Fine AH. Animals in educational settings: research and practice. In: Fine AH, editor. *Handbook on Animal-Assisted Therapy: Theoretical foundations and Guidelines for Applying Animal Assisted Interventions.* 4th Edn. United Kingdom: Elselvier (2015). doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-801292-5.00014-6
- 42. Barker SB, Wolen AR. The benefits of human-companion animal interaction: a review. J Vet Med Edu. (2008) 35:487–95. doi 10.3138/jvme.35.4.487
- Gee NR, Gould JK, Swanson CC, Wagner AK. Preschoolers categorize animate objects better in the presence of a dog. *Anthrozoös* (2012) 25:187–98. doi: 10.2752/175303712X13316289505387
- Kale M. How some kids gain success, self-esteem with animals. *Interactions* (1992) 10:13–7.
- 45. Lange AM, Cox JA, Bernert DJ, Jenkins CD. Is counseling going to the dogs? an exploratory study related to the inclusion of an animal in group counseling with adolescents. J Creativ Mental Health (2007) 2:17–31. doi: 10.1300/J456v02n02_03
- Mallon GP, Ross SB, Klee S, Ross L. Designing and Implementing Animal-Assisted Therapy Programs in Health and Mental Health Organizations. AAT (2010).
- McQuade JD, Tomb M, Hoza B, Waschbusch DA, Hurt EA, Vaughn AJ. Cognitive deficits and positively biased self-perceptions in children with ADHD. J Abnormal Child Psychol. (2011) 39:307–19. doi: 10.1007/s10802-010-9453-7
- Steward KA, Tan A, Delgaty L, Gonzales MM, Bunner M. Self-Awareness of Executive Functioning Deficits in Adolescents With ADHD. J Attent Disord. (2017) 21:316–22. doi: 10.1177/1087054714530782

- Hoza B, Pelham WE, Dobbs J, Owens JS, Pillow DR. Do boys with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder have positive illusory self-concepts? J Abnormal Psychol. (2002) 111:268–78. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.111.2.268
- Gresham FM, MacMillan DL, Bocian KM, Ward SL, Forness SR. Comorbidity of hyperactivity-impulsivity-inattention and conduct problems: Risk factors in social, affective, and academic domains. *J Abnormal Child Psychol.* (1998) 26:393–406. doi: 10.1023/A:1021908024028
- Hoza B, Pelham WE, Milich R, Pillow D, McBride K. The self-perceptions and attributions of attention deficit hyperactivity disordered and nonreferred boys. J Abnormal Child Psychol. (1993) 21:271–86. doi: 10.1007/BF00917535
- Linnea K, Hoza B, Tomb M, Kaiser N. Does a positive bias relate to social behavior in children with ADHD? *Behav Ther.* (2012) 43:862–75. doi: 10.1016/j.beth.2012.05.004
- Diener MB, Milich R. Effects of positive feedback on the social interactions of boys with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a test of the self-protective hypothesis. J Clin Child Psychol. (1997) 26:256–65. doi: 10.1207/s15374424jccp2603_4
- Hoza B, Waschbusch DA, Pelham WE, Molina BSG, Milich R. Attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disordered and control boys' responses to social success and failure. *Child Dev.* (2000) 71:432–46. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00155
- Ohan JL, Johnston C. Are the performance overestimates given by boys with ADHD self-protective? J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol. (2002) 31:230–41. doi: 10.1207/S15374424JCCP3102_08
- Hoza B, Vaughn A, Waschbusch DA, Murray-Close D, McCabe G. Can children with ADHD be motivated to reduce bias in self-reports of competence? J Consult Clin Psychol. (2012) 80:245. doi: 10.1037/a0027299
- Brummelman E, Thomaes S, Sedikides C. Separating narcissism from selfesteem. Curr Dir Psychol Sci. (2016) 25:8–13. doi: 10.1177/0963721415619737
- Neff KD, Vonk R. Self-compassion versus global self-esteem: two different ways of relating to oneself. J Pers. (2009) 77:23–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2008.00537.x
- Treuting JJ, Hinshaw SP. Depression and self-esteem in boys with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Associations with comorbid aggression and explanatory attributional mechanisms. J Abnormal Child Psychol. (2001) 29:23–39. doi: 10.1023/A:1005247412221
- Danielson ML, Bitsko RH, Ghandour RM, Holbrook JR, Kogan MD, Blumberg SJ. Prevalence of parent-reported ADHD diagnosis and associated treatment among US. children and adolescents, 2016. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol. (2018). 47:2, 199–212. doi: 10.1080/15374416.2017. 1417860
- Pliszka S, AACAP Work Group on Quality Issues. Practice parameter for the assessment and treatment of children and adolescents with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2007) 46:894–921. doi: 10.1097/chi.0b013e318054e724
- 62. Subcommittee on Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder; Steering Committee on Quality Improvement and Management, Wolraich M, Brown L, Brown RT, DuPaul G. ADHD: clinical practice guideline for the diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics* (2011) 128:1007–22. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-2654

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Schuck, Johnson, Abdullah, Stehli, Fine and Lakes. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Reliability and Validity Assessment of the Observation of Human-Animal Interaction for Research (OHAIRE) Behavior Coding Tool

Noémie A. Guérin¹, Robin L. Gabriels², Monique M. Germone², Sabrina E. B. Schuck³, Anne Traynor⁴, Katherine M. Thomas⁵, Samantha J. McKenzie⁶, Virginia Slaughter⁷ and Marguerite E. O'Haire^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Consultant, New Haven, CT, United States

Reviewed by:

Nathaniel James Hall, Texas Tech University, United States Erika Friedmann, University of Maryland, Baltimore, United States

> *Correspondence: Marguerite E. O'Haire mohaire@purdue.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Humanities and Social Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 16 April 2018 Accepted: 08 October 2018 Published: 08 November 2018

Citation:

Guérin NA, Gabriels RL, Germone MM, Schuck SEB, Traynor A, Thomas KM, McKenzie SJ, Slaughter V and O'Haire ME (2018) Reliability and Validity Assessment of the Observation of Human-Animal Interaction for Research (OHAIRE) Behavior Coding Tool. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:268. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00268 ¹ Department of Comparative Pathobiology, Center for the Human-Animal Bond, College of Veterinary Medicine, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, United States, ² Department of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of Colorado, Denver, CO, United States, ³ Child Development Center, Pediatrics School of Medicine, University of California, Irvine, Irvine, CA, United States, ⁴ Department of Educational Studies, College of Education, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, United States, ⁵ Department of Psychological Sciences, College of Health and Human Sciences, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, United States, ⁶ Institute for Teaching and Learning Innovation, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia, ⁷ School of Psychology, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia

The Observation of Human-Animal Interaction for Research (OHAIRE) is a coding tool developed to capture the behavior of children when interacting with social partners and animals in naturalistic settings. The OHAIRE behavioral categories of focus are emotional displays, social communication behaviors toward adults and peers, behaviors directed toward animals or experimental control objects, and interfering behaviors. To date, the OHAIRE has been used by 14 coders to code 2,732 min of video across four studies with a total of 201 participants ages 5 to 18 years (M = 10.1, SD = 2.5). Studies involved animal-assisted intervention with three species (i.e., dogs, horses, and guinea pigs) and three populations (i.e., autism spectrum disorder, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder, and typically developing children) in a school, a therapeutic horseback riding program, a group therapy program, and the hospital setting. We explored the psychometric properties of the OHAIRE through analyses of its inter-rater reliability, intra-rater reliability, convergent and divergent validity, and internal structure, using data from these four human-animal interaction studies. The average inter-rater reliability was excellent (kappa = 0.81), with good reliability in most of the behavioral categories coded. Intra-rater reliability was consistently excellent (0.87 \leq kappa \leq 0.96). Internal structure analyses with Cronbach's alpha supported the exploratory use of subscales to measure social communication behaviors toward peers ($\alpha = 0.638$) and adults ($\alpha = 0.605$), and interactions experimental control objects ($\alpha = 0.589$), and the use of a subscale to measure interactions with animals ($\alpha = 0.773$). Correlation analyses with multiple questionnaires showed a convergence between positive emotional display and social behaviors as assessed by the OHAIRE and social skills as assessed by the Social Skills Rating System (SSRS) and the Social Communication Questionnaires (SCQ). Little

concordance was found between the OHAIRE and the Social Responsiveness Scale (SRS) or the Aberrant Behavior Checklist-Community (ABC). The OHAIRE shows promise for wider use in the field of Human-Animal Interaction, with a need for generalization across more settings and ages.

Keywords: human-animal interaction, animal-assisted intervention, social behaviors, behavior coding, interval coding, psychometrics

INTRODUCTION

Background

The notion that animals can affect people's lives and behaviors in many positive ways is investigated in a field of research known as Human-Animal Interaction (HAI). As a relatively recent and interdisciplinary field, HAI is often criticized for its lack of methodological rigor (1, 2). Common HAI research critiques target weak study design, small sample sizes, and the inappropriate use of assessment tools, which limits the field's ability to develop an evidence base for animal-assisted intervention (AAI). Assessment in HAI research has relied heavily on questionnaire data and there has been a call to use more physiological measures and behavioral observation.

Physiological measures and behavioral observation are considered more objective than questionnaires, because they quantify observable physical phenomena rather than mental experiences as reported by a study participant's or caregiver's perceptions. Yet, while the instruments used to collect physiological data rely on direct physical measures (e.g., heart beats per minute) and assays (e.g., salivary cortisol), thus reducing the influence of human error, the quantification of behavior still requires the direct involvement of a human observer. To assess behavior, a human observer typically watches study participants directly or via a video recording and assigns numerical values to the participants' behaviors based on precise behavior definitions. From the combination of such behavior definitions with sampling and scoring procedures, researchers can develop standardized coding schemes or systems.

Standardized assessment tools are critical to building an empirical base for the HAI field by yielding results that are replicable and comparable across studies. Ultimately, the use of standardized assessment facilitates conducting meta-analyses, which summarize the empirical evidence available in the current literature on a specific topic (3, 4). While the use of standardized behavior observation schemes is common practice in the field of psychology, we are not aware of a published, validated tool that incorporates behaviors relevant to the study of HAI, that is, behaviors directed toward animals.

To address the need for a standardized human behavior coding tool adapted to HAI research, the Observation of Human-Animal Interaction for Research (OHAIRE) was developed. The OHAIRE is a behavior coding tool developed to capture the behavior of humans when interacting with social partners and animals in naturalistic settings. Here, we define naturalistic settings as any setting where participants are not asked to perform specific tasks and are free to interact with each other and with any animal present. We do not recommend the use of the OHAIRE in settings where behaviors are heavily directed (i.e., with a detailed agenda), as we are seeking to capture natural variations in willful social interactions across conditions. Behaviors captured in the OHAIRE coding tools were selected based on common research questions, commonly evaluated outcomes, and the main theories of focus in HAI research.

Four of the main theories applied in HAI research are grounded in evolutionary biology and social psychology (5). The two main evolutionary theories informing HAI research are Biophilia and Neoteny. Biophilia postulates that humans are inherently drawn to the living beings around them (6), while Neoteny refers to the presence of juvenile characteristics (e.g., large eye to head ratio, play behaviors) in adult domesticated animals, encouraging social and nurturing behaviors from humans (7). Both theories hypothesize that human beings naturally display a certain level of behavioral attention (e.g., social and nurturing) toward animals. This direct display of attention sometimes encourages social behaviors directed toward animals and, leads to the creation of a human-animal bond.

The human-animal bond has been hypothesized to fit within the psychological theories of social support and attachment (5). In the social support theory framework (8), interactions with companion animals may reduce loneliness and be a source of social support for humans, as well as encourage social interactions with other humans, while attachment theory (9) applied to HAI suggests that human beings may develop attachment bonds to animals, providing emotional safety. Taken together, these theories have shaped the research questions and outcomes evaluated in socio-emotional HAI research.

To accommodate these common research questions and theories, the behavioral categories captured in the OHAIRE include social interactions, interactions with animals and control objects, emotional display, and interfering behaviors. Specific behaviors are captured to address prevalent theories, including attention to humans and animals (Biophilia), prosocial or caring behaviors (Neoteny), social interactions (social support theory), and human-animal bond (attachment theory). The OHAIRE is a timed interval coding tool designed to code behaviors from video data. In this paper, we describe the development process of the OHAIRE, and present the results of analyses of its psychometric properties collected over four studies (10–12), including analyses of the OHAIRE's reliability, and validity.

Reliability refers to the property of a research tool to yield consistent results when used by different observers or at different times to assess the same situation. Good reliability indicators

demonstrate that the tool provides enough details to parse out the subjectivity of the observer. The objectivity of an observer can be compromised by a number of sources of bias, such as the observer's familiarity with the individual whose behavior is being coded, either in the form of a personal relationship between the observer and the individual, or through the knowledge of some characteristics or demographics of an individual (e.g., socioeconomic status, disease, or disorder diagnosis). Another source of observer bias can come from the knowledge of a study's design or hypotheses. In order to minimize the risk of bias, observers should be blinded to as many variables as possible that may influence their judgement, and given clear instructions on how to use the research tool. In this paper, we assess interrater reliability to test whether the OHAIRE manual contains precise and clear definitions and whether the training of coders was effective. Intra-rater reliability is assessed to measure the drift of coders' observations over time and the potential need for re-training (13).

Validity refers to the capacity of an instrument to generate data that is representative of the actual behaviors it intends to measure. Validity can be assessed using many different types of evidence. In this paper, we assess convergent and divergent validity of the OHAIRE by evaluating its correlation with standardized questionnaires. We expect that subscales of the OHAIRE will correlate with measures that assess similar constructs. We also explored the internal reliability of the subscales of the OHAIRE, or how coded behaviors from the same subscale relate to each other.

Development of the OHAIRE Coding System

In an effort to quantify human behaviors theorized to be generated by interacting with animals, the OHAIRE coding system was developed.

Behavior Definitions

The choice of the behaviors to include in the OHAIRE was made based on a review of common behaviorally relevant variables reported in the HAI literature. The behaviors included can be observed in any naturalistic setting, whether the investigator is observing interactions between humans and animals in the home or during animal-assisted activities or therapy. In order to encompass common research questions in HAI research, the OHAIRE captures social interactions, interactions with animals, interactions with control objects, facial and verbal emotional display, and interfering behaviors. The list of behaviors is presented in **Table 1**.

Social interactions are a common outcome of interest in HAI research, from studies that evaluate the effect of being accompanied by a companion animal on social interactions with strangers [e.g., (14)], to the effect of animal-assisted intervention on the social skills of children with autism spectrum disorder [e.g., (15)]. The OHAIRE captures six different forms of social interactions, namely talking, looking, gesturing, touching, showing affection, and being prosocial (i.e., purposefully helpful) to others. The OHAIRE identifies the target of social interactions,

TABLE 1 | List of behaviors included in different versions of the OHAIRE.

OHAIRE-V1	OHAIRE-V2	OHAIRE-V3
EMOTIONAL DISPLAY		
Facial Emotional Displa	ау	
Smile	Smile	Smile
Laugh	Laugh	Laugh
Negative (Frown, Cry, Whine, Pain)	Negative (Frown, Cry)	Negative
	Neutral	None
Verbal Emotional Displ	ау	
Positive		Positive
Negative		Negative
None		None
INTERACTIVE BEHAVI	ORS	
Social Communication		
	Initiation vs. Response	
Talk (Peer, Adult, Unknown)	Talk (Peer, Adult)	Talk (Peer, Adult)
	Gesture (Peer, Adult)	Gesture (Peer, Adult)
Look (Peer, Adult)	Look (Peer, Adult)	Look (Peer, Adult)
Touch (Peer, Adult)	Touch (Peer, Adult)	Touch (Peer, Adult)
Affection (Peer, Adult)	Affection (Peer, Adult)	Affection (Peer, Adult)
Prosocial (Person)	Prosocial (Peer, Adult)	Prosocial (Peer, Adult)
Interactions with Object	cts/Animals	
Talk (Animal, Toy)	Talk (Animal, Object)	Talk (Animal, Object)
	Gesture (Animal, Object)	Gesture (Animal, Object)
Look (Animal, Toy)	Look (Animal, Object)	Look (Animal, Object)
Touch (Animal, Toy)	Touch (Animal, Object)	Touch (Animal, Object)
Affection (Animal, Toy)	Affection (Animal, Object)	Affection (Animal, Object)
Prosocial (Animal, Toy)	Prosocial (Animal, Object)	Prosocial (Animal, Object)
PROBLEM BEHAVIOR	S	
Aggression, Stealing	Aggression (Peer, Adult, Animal, Object, Self)	Aggression (Peer, Adult, Animal, Object, Self)
Disruption	Hyperactivity	Overactivity
Self-focused behavior, Leaving	Isolation, Anxiety, Sensory	Isolation
Other Problem		

V1, Version 1; V2, Version 2; V3, Version 3.

whether they are directed toward adults or individuals of the same age cohort (i.e., peers) of research participants.

To account for interactions with animals, the OHAIRE captures the same behaviors toward animals. Following a push for more rigorous and controlled research in the field of HAI, more study designs have started to include active or attention control conditions to parse out the effect of the animal in a study. In an active or attention control condition, the participants engage in activities that mimic the amount of time and attention dedicated to participants in the treatment group. As these control conditions often include control objects, such as toys or stuffed

animals, the OHAIRE captures the behaviors expressed toward these control objects.

Interacting with animals is also often reported to have a positive effect on mood and emotions [e.g., (16–18)]. To quantify this effect, the OHAIRE captures emotional display in two ways: facial emotional display and verbal emotional display. Facial emotional display refers to facial expressions of happiness, like smiling and laughing, and discontent or sadness, like frowning or crying. Verbal emotional display can be positive or negative, and refers to the valence of the speech of the participants; its coding relies on the actual words pronounced by the participant rather than on the tone of their voice.

Interfering behaviors coded with the OHAIRE encompass behaviors that may impair the individual's ability to participate in and benefit from an activity or interaction, including aggression, overactivity, and isolation. Aggression refers to any potentially harmful behaviors, and is coded along with its target (i.e., to whom or what it is directed). Overactivity is coded when a participant is loud, disruptive, or shows signs of restlessness. Isolation is coded when a participant is socially withdrawn, not engaged in their social environment.

All behaviors captured with the OHAIRE are described extensively in the OHAIRE coding manual. For each behavior, detailed coding tips and multiple examples are provided.

OHAIRE Versions

Between its first use in 2013 (11), and the current paper, the OHAIRE has undergone modifications to improve the usability and psychometric properties of the tool. In total, three different versions of the OHAIRE were used over four studies, coded in six coding periods. Between the OHAIRE-Version 1 (OHAIRE-V1) and the OHAIRE-Version 2 (OHAIRE-V2), definitions of negative emotional display were simplified, gestures were added as a social communication behavior, interfering behaviors were simplified, and anxiety was added to the list of interfering behaviors. Between the OHAIRE-V2 and the OHAIRE-Version 3 (OHAIRE-V3), the definition of negative facial emotional display was re-introduced, and interfering behaviors were re-arranged. The list of behaviors that were recorded for each version of the

OHAIRE is available in **Table 1**. The mean, standard deviation, and skew of all behaviors are presented in **Table 4**. Overall, between the OHAIRE-v1 and the OHAIRE-v3, behaviors were added, removed, or merged in the tool, but the definitions of the behaviors were stable over time, which allows us to use data from all four studies coded with the OHAIRE so far for reliability and validity analyses.

METHODS

Studies

The OHAIRE was used to assess the behavior of children in four independent HAI studies exploring the effects of animalassisted intervention. A summary of the main characteristics of each study included in the analyses is presented in **Table 2**. The total combined sample for this paper included 201 children aged 5 to 18 (M = 10.1, SD = 2.5) and 2,732 min of coded video data.

Study 1—Species: Guinea Pigs, Population: Children With ASD and Typically Developing Children

Study 1 assessed the effects of Animal-Assisted Activities (AAA) with guinea pigs in inclusion classrooms (11). Inclusion classrooms accommodate typically developing (TD) children as well as their peers with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). Participants were recruited from 15 inclusion classrooms within four schools in the area of Brisbane, Australia. Thirty-three groups of three children participated in this program, each pairing one child with ASD with two TD children randomly selected from the same classroom (N = 99). Participants were aged 5 to 12 years old (M = 9.1, SD = 2.3) All groups participated in free-play sessions with toys and AAA sessions with guinea pigs. There were three 10-min free-play sessions with toys: one before an 8-week waitlist control, one after the waitlist and before an 8-week AAA program, and one at the end of the AAA program. The AAA program consisted of bi-weekly 20-min free-interaction sessions with guinea pigs and animalrelated materials for 8 consecutive weeks. All sessions were videorecorded, and three toy sessions and three AAA sessions were selected for behavior coding. The first 10 min of each session was selected for coding. Results of this study indicated that children

TABLE 2 Summary of the studies included in the validity and reliability analyses.							
	Study 1	Study 2	Study 3	Study 4			
Site	The University of Queensland	University of Colorado, Denver	University of California, Irvine	Children's Hospital Colorado			
Setting	Inclusion school classrooms	Riding facility	Developmental school	Psychiatric Hospital Unit			
Species	Guinea pig	Horse	Dog	Dog			
Sample size	33 + 66	19	36	47			
Diagnosis	ASD & TD	ASD	ADHD	ASD			
Age (years)	5 - 13	6 - 15	7 - 9	6 - 18			
Treatment	AAA with Guinea pigs	Therapeutic Horseback Riding	CBT with dogs	AAA with dogs			
Control	Play with toys	Barn activities	CBT with stuffed dogs	Play with toys			
Coding	OHAIRE v1 & v2	OHAIRE v2	OHAIRE v3	OHAIRE v3			

ASD, Autism Spectrum Disorder; TD, Typically-developing; ADHD, Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder; AAA, Animal-Assisted Activities; CBT, Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy; OHAIRE, Observation of Human-Animal Interaction for Research.

with ASD displayed more social behaviors, more positive affect, and less negative affect in the presence of animals, compared to toys (11). For TD children, results indicated more social behaviors, especially toward adults, and more positive emotional display in the presence of animals, compared to toys (19).

Study 2-Species: Horses, Population: Children With ASD

Study 2 assessed the effects of a Therapeutic Horseback Riding (THR) program for children with ASD (10). Sixteen participants ages 6 to 16 years (M = 10.2, SD = 3.0) were randomly assigned to a 10-week THR program or a 10-week control program of barn activities. Both conditions offered 45-min, once weekly sessions in small groups (2-4 participants). During the THR group, participants (n = 8) learned horsemanship and riding skills while engaged with a horse. The barn activity group participants (n = 8) learned similar horsemanship skills, but without contact with horses, instead activities involved a life size stuffed horse. Participants in this study were filmed for a minimum of 1 min before and after each intervention group (THR and barn activity), and all sessions were included in behavior coding. Participants in THR group were recorded before the group while waiting to ride seated on a bench on the side of the riding arena. Barn activity group participants were recorded while waiting for the group to begin while seated at the group table. Both group participants were recorded in similar conditions after the groups (i.e., seated at a table with their respective groups engaging with art materials). Because of the timing of the recordings, participants were not taped when interacting with horses or stuffed horses, thus the results for this study do not include interactions with animals and control objects, but do include all other behaviors normally coded with the OHAIRE (emotional display, social interactions, and interfering behaviors).

Study 3—Species: Dogs, Population: Children With ADHD

Study 3 evaluated the effect of the inclusion of a dog in a cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) group program for children with Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD; 12). Thirty-six children ages 7–9 years old (M = 7.9, SD = 0.72) with a diagnosis of ADHD were randomized to groups of six participants to either receive CBT in the presence of dogs (n = 18) or with stuffed, plush dogs (n = 18). Participants attended twice-weekly sessions (a total of 4 ½ h per week) for 12 weeks, over 23 sessions. All sessions were video-recorded. Five sessions were selected for behavior coding (sessions 1, 7, 12, 18, and 23), with an attempt to maximize the number of participants present at each of the coded session, and to represent different sessions at regular intervals during the length of the intervention.

Study 4—Species: Dogs, Population: Children With ASD

Study 4 assessed the effect of a dog's presence on the behavior of youth with ASD and co-existing psychiatric diagnoses admitted to a developmental disability specialty psychiatric unit. A total of 76 children and adolescents with ASD aged 6 to 18 (M = 12.4, SD = 3.5) participated in this crossover design 10-min sessions

of unstructured activities with either a dog and adult handler or a marble track toy and adult handler. Forty-seven children participated in both types of sessions, 23 children participated in sessions with the dog only, and six children with the marble track toy only. Children participated in the activities in groups of two or three, and an adult supervisor. All sessions were video-recorded and used for behavior coding.

Ethical Considerations

Written informed parental consent and oral child participant assent were obtained for all participants in the studies used in the present article. The protocols for video transfers between institutions and coding of the videos at the first author's institution were reviewed and approved by the Purdue Institutional Review Board (Approval #1410015340). Study 1 human-related protocols were reviewed and accepted by the University of Queensland's Human Ethics Committee (Approval # 2010001284) and animal-related protocols were reviewed and accepted by the University of Queensland's Animal Ethics Committee (Approval # SPH/057/11). Study 2 and 4 humanrelated protocols were reviewed and accepted by the Colorado Multiple Institutional Review Board (Study 2, Approval # 07-1148; Study 4, Approval # 15-1227) and animal-related protocols were considered exempt of review by the University of Colorado IACUC as no research was directly performed on the animals. Study 3 human-related protocols were reviewed and approved by the University of California Irvine Institutional Review Board (Approval # 2010-7679) and animal-related protocols were considered exempt of review by the University of California Irvine Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee as no research was directly performed on the animals.

Behavior Coding Sampling Method

The OHAIRE coding system uses the online data entry system Qualtrics (20) to facilitate coding and reduce data entry error. The OHAIRE relies on the coding of 1-min video segments that are divided into six 10-s intervals. For each 10-s interval, behaviors are described as either present (1) or absent (0). The scores for each interval are summed to create a score out of six for a full minute for each behavior. This type of coding, called onezero sampling or interval sampling, is an effective way to code large amounts of video data with high inter-rater reliability (21). In one-zero sampling, the behaviors are not rated in intensity, but rather *coded* as present or absent, thus, this technique is referred to as behavior coding, and the observers as coders. The lack of intensity rating and the coding as present or absent rather than an exact duration measurement are often cited as drawbacks of one-zero sampling; whereas its simple use yielding high reliability, and efficiency are cited as its major strengths [e.g., (22, 23)]. To verify the accuracy of one-zero sampling in our sample, we compared its use with measuring the exact duration of behaviors. To reduce time burden, we selected one behavior for one coder to measure using both one-zero sampling, and exact duration measurement in a randomly selected set of 60 one-min videos. We selected the behavior "smiling," because it is common, but varies largely between children and videos. We selected videos from study 1 to compare one-zero sampling and duration measurement because this study had excellent video quality. Study 1 also included both ASD and TD children, which increased variability. A coder viewed 60 videos of children (30 ASD; 30 TD) from Study 1. Using a Spearman rank correlation to accommodate the ordinal one-zero sampling data, we found an excellent correlation (r = 0.92, p < 0.001) between the two sampling techniques (**Figure 1**). Additionally, the coder went through one-zero sampling faster than duration measurement, and reported feeling more confident with the judging criteria for one-zero sampling than for duration measurement. We concluded that with high reliability, high efficiency, and little loss in information, one-zero sampling is suited for use with the OHAIRE to address the current state of research in HAI, as proof-of-concept is still needed for numerous research questions.

Training

Each new coder undergoes a standardized training to learn to use the OHAIRE coding system. The training starts with a detailed study of the manual and the viewing of example videos for each behavior. Coders are then taught how to use the online coding system and the video sampling procedure. Next, coders are trained to code with videos from the specific study they will be working on. Since HAI is a broad field with different populations and types of interactions, coders should reach inter-rater reliability on a sample of the specified study's data before starting to code. The trainer and the coders first code a full minute of video together. Then, each coder views and then codes three videos by him or herself. After coding three videos, inter-rater reliability with the trainer is calculated. Differences in coding are discussed, and three more videos are coded. Cycles of coding three videos and subsequently discussing reliability continue until each coder has reached excellent overall inter-rater reliability (Cohen's Kappa > 0.8). This initial phase of training typically takes 3 to 5 h. Training will be made available to a larger public in the Spring of 2019. For more information, please visit http://www.ohairecoding.com.

Coders

For each study, one primary coder was designated to code the full set of videos. The data obtained from the primary coder was used for the scoring of the OHAIRE and the outcome data analyses. Additionally, one or more secondary coders coded at least 20% of the videos to calculate inter-rater reliability. Videos coded for reliability were selected randomly from the main coding sets with a random number generator. A total of 14 coders were trained in and used the tool. Coders are individually referred to as the letter "C" followed by a number between 1 and 14 for the rest of this article.

Questionnaires

Each study included standardized informant-report questionnaires. We decided to focus on questionnaires that had been used in at least two studies to explore the convergent



	Study 1	Study 2	Study 3	Study 4
ABC		Х		Х
SCQ	Х	Х		
SRS		Х		Х
SSRS	Х		Х	

ABC, Aberrant Behavior Checklist; SCQ, Social Communication Questionnaire; SRS, Social Responsiveness Scale; SSRS, Social Skills Rating System.

and divergent validity of the OHAIRE. Questionnaires included in each study are listed in **Table 3**.

Aberrant Behavior Checklist

The Aberrant Behavior Checklist-Community [ABC-C; (24)], is a 58-item questionnaire developed to assess interfering behaviors in children and adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities. The ABC comprises five subscales, including irritability and agitation, lethargy and social withdrawal, stereotypic behavior, hyperactivity and non-compliance, and inappropriate speech. In multiple studies, the ABC-C has shown high internal consistency, good inter-rater reliability, and a consistent five-factor structure [e.g., (25, 26)]. Higher ABC-C scores indicate more aberrant behaviors.

The ABC-C was used in Study 2 and Study 4 for two purposes: As a screening measure for entry in the studies, and as a weekly outcome measure using the irritability subscale (10). For consistency, we used only the first ABC-C score recorded for each child (baseline score) in the present analyses. In both studies, the ABC-C was completed by a caregiver for each child.

Social Communication Questionnaire

The Social Communication Questionnaire [SCQ; (27)], is a 40item questionnaire developed to assess autism-like behavior in individuals of all chronological ages and with a developmental age over 2 years. The SCQ demonstrates good internal consistency, test-retest reliability, and convergent reliability with other ASD diagnostic tools (27). Higher SCQ scores indicate more behaviors characteristic of ASD.

The SCQ-Lifetime was completed in both Study 1 and Study 2 by caregivers of the participants upon entry in the study, as an additional screening measure for ASD.

Social Responsiveness Scale

The Social Responsiveness Scale [SRS; (28)] is a 65-item rating scale developed to measure symptoms associated with autism spectrum disorder. The SRS comprises five subscales, namely social awareness (eight items), social cognition (12 items), social communication (22 items), and social motivation (11 items), which can be summarized in an overall Social subscale score, and Restricted and Repetitive Behaviors. The SRS demonstrates high internal consistency and test-retest reliability (29). Its updated version, the SRS-2, enlarges the age range of the intended SRS test-taking population (30). Higher SRS scores indicate more problems in the designated subscale.

Participants' caregivers completed the SRS in Study 2, and the SRS-2 in Study 4. For the age ranges of participants included in this paper the SRS-2 does not introduce new subscales or items, therefore scores of the SRS and SRS-2 will be presented together in the subsequent analyses. In both studies, questionnaires were completed upon entry in the study and after the intervention period. For consistency, we used the SRS and SRS-2 scores of participants at study entry for the validity analyses in this paper.

Social Skills Rating System

The Social Skills Rating System [SSRS; (31)] is a 57-item (teacher version) or 55-item (parent version) rating scale developed to measure Social Skills and Competing Problem Behaviors as rated by parents or teachers, and academic competence as rated by teachers in children. The SSRS demonstrates adequate internal consistency and test-retest reliability (31). Its updated version, the Social Skills Improvement System [SISS; (32)], is a 79-item measure structured similarly, with additional subscales and improved psychometric properties. Because scores on the social skills and problem behavior scales of the SSRS and the SSIS are highly correlated (33), these scores will be presented together in the subsequent analyses.

In Study 1, the SSRS was completed by parents and teachers of participants upon entry in the study, after an 8-week waitlist period, and after an 8-week program of animal-assisted activities. In Study 3, the SSIS was completed by parents of participants upon entry in the study, at the end of the intervention period, and at a 6-week follow-up. For consistency, SSRS and SSIS scores from the time of study entry are used for validity analyses in this paper. Higher scores indicate better skills in the social skills and academic competence subscales of the SSRS and SSIS, while higher scores indicate more problem behaviors in the competing problem behavior subscale.

Data Analyses Inter-rater Reliability

Ensuring that the observation coding tool was used consistently across coders was important to parse out coders' subjectivity, which may reflect the quality of the training and the precision of the manual. To assess inter-rater agreement, a primary coder coded all (100%) of the videos for each study, and one or two secondary coders coded 20% of the videos or more. We calculated Cohen's kappa (34), an agreement coefficient that corrects for chance agreement. Cohen's kappa values range from -1, indicating complete disagreement, to 1, indicating perfect agreement. In this paper, we base our interpretation of kappa values on recent guidelines, considering values above 0.20 minimal, above 0.40 weak, above 0.60 moderate, above 0.80 strong, and above 0.90 excellent (35).

Intra-Rater Reliability

Observer drift can be an issue observed in the days or week following initial inter-rater reliability training, which can result in observers coding behaviors with less accuracy (13, 36). To assess the risk of observer drift in the OHAIRE, we calculated intra-rater reliability for a random selection of videos from all four studies included in this paper. Coders were assigned a list of 30 videos to code in 1 week, then again 2 weeks later. We calculated Cohen's kappa between the two coding repetitions for each study. We used McHugh's interpretation of Cohen's kappa for intra-rater reliability (35).

Convergent and Divergent Validity

We examined potential correlations of the OHAIRE with questionnaire data to provide evidence of convergent and divergent validity. We compared the average OHAIRE score of each participant with the ABC-C, the SCQ, the SRS and SRS-2, and the SSRS and SSIS scores upon entry in studies. For all questionnaires, raw scale and subscale scores were used. OHAIRE behavior scores of facial emotional display, verbal emotional display, and interfering behaviors were included individually in the analyses. OHAIRE scores of social interactions with peers, social interactions with adults, interactions with animals (human-animal bond score), and interactions with objects were included as subscale scores. Pearson's correlations were used to adapt to the continuous rating scales of the questionnaires, and mean OHAIRE values per participant ranging in a nearcontinuous way from 0 to 6. We hypothesized the following correlations:

- 1. [1.] Aberrant Behavior Checklist Community
 - (a) [(1)] Irritability and Agitation subscale correlated negatively with positive facial and verbal emotional display, and positively with negative facial and verbal emotional display.
 - (b) [(2)] Lethargy and Social Withdrawal subscale correlated negatively with social interactions with peers and adults, and positively with social isolation.
 - (c) [(3)] Stereotypy and Hyperactivity subscales correlated positively with overactivity.
 - (d) [(4)] Inappropriate speech subscale correlated positively with aggression.
- 1. [2.] Social Communication Questionnaire
 - (a) [(1)] SCQ scores correlated negatively with positive facial expressions (smile, laugh), and social interactions with peers and adults.
 - (b) [(2)] SCQ scores correlated positively with negative facial expressions and overactivity.
- 1. [3.] Social Responsiveness scale
 - (a) [(1)] Social subscale correlated negatively with OHAIRE scores of social interactions with peers and adults, and positively with isolation.
- (b) [(2)] Restricted interests and repetitive behaviors subscale correlated positively with overactivity.
- 1. [4.] Social Skills Rating System
 - (a) [(1)] Social skills scale correlated positively with OHAIRE scores of social interactions with peers and adults, and negatively with isolation.
 - (b) [(2)] Competing problem behaviors scale correlated negatively with OHAIRE scores of social interactions with

peers and adults, and positively with OHAIRE scores of aggression, overactivity, and isolation.

Structure

The behaviors coded in the OHAIRE were originally arranged in behavioral categories designed to facilitate ease of coding (i.e., emotional display, interactive behaviors, and interfering behaviors), rather than designed to be used as aggregate subscales. While the behavioral categories "emotional display" and "interfering behaviors" consist of unique behaviors that have distinct functions, behaviors coded in the category "interactive behaviors" refer to the common function of interacting with either a peer, an adult, an animal, or an object. We used Cronbach's alpha (37) to assess the internal consistency of the following subscales for the OHAIRE: social interactions with adults, social interactions with peers, interactions with animals, and interactions with objects. We used average OHAIRE scores for each participant.

RESULTS

The descriptive statistics for behavioral codes of the OHAIRE across all studies, averaged by child and then by study, are presented in **Table 4**.

Inter-rater Reliability

The number of videos coded by primary and secondary coders for each study, as well as overall Cohen's kappa between pairs of coders for the OHAIRE coding system and for five categories of behaviors are presented in Table 5. Overall, interrater reliability was excellent (0.79 < k < 0.88), with differences across behavior categories. Facial and verbal emotional display are coded with moderate to excellent agreement (0.62 < k < 0.99), and interfering behaviors yield strong to excellent agreement across all studies (0.88 < k < 0.98). Social communication yields weak to moderate agreement in most studies (0.37 < k < 0.79), with a drop in kappa for the TD sample of Study 1. Interactions with animals and objects yields moderate to excellent reliability in most studies (0.67 < k <0.91), except for Study 2 (k = 0.16). The most recent version of the coding system (OHAIRE-V3), used in Studies 3 and 4, yielded moderate to excellent inter-rater reliability in all categories.

Intra-rater Reliability

Intra-rater reliability for coding occasions separated by 2 weeks was calculated for a subset of 26 to 30 videos by study. Overall intra-rater reliability was excellent, with Cohen's kappa varying between 0.87 and 0.96 (**Table 6**). Intra-rater reliability was moderate to excellent across five behavior categories, with slightly lower reliability for social communication (0.72 < k < 0.88), and excellent agreement for interfering behaviors (0.97 < k < 0.98). Intra-rater reliability seems to vary between coders, with notably one coder who performed slightly worse than others, with a strong kappa of 0.87, compared to excellent kappas (above 0.90) for all other three coders (C13, Study 4).

TABLE 4 | Descriptive statistics of OHAIRE behavioral codes, averaged by individual.

OHAIRE behavioral code	N	Observed range	Mean	(SD)	Skew			
FACIAL EMOTIONAL DISPLAY								
Smile	213	0–6	1.89	(1.21)	0.73			
Laugh	213	0-4.72	0.37	(0.55)	3.70			
Negative	213	0–4	0.12	(0.36)	7.11			
None	180	0–6	4.48	(1.3)	-0.95			
VERBAL EMOTIONAL	L DISPLA	Y						
Positive	129	0–2.33	0.34	(0.45)	1.75			
Negative	129	0–0.61	0.05	(0.12)	2.67			
None	129	0–6	4.32	(2.44)	-1.05			
SOCIAL INTERACTIO	NS							
With peers	213	0.17–6	2.63	(1.28)	0.17			
Talk	213	0-4.11	0.98	(0.88)	0.98			
Gesture	180	0–1.22	0.25	(0.28)	1.25			
Look	213	0-4.89	1.82	(1.21)	0.43			
Touch	213	0–5	0.82	(0.8)	1.46			
Affection	213	0-0.14	0.00	(0.01)	8.43			
Prosocial	180	0–1.22	0.09	(0.19)	3.24			
With adults	213	0–5.67	2.37	(1.21)	0.34			
Talk	213	0–4.5	1.32	(0.99)	0.97			
Gesture	180	0–2.57	0.40	(0.41)	1.94			
Look	213	0–5.5	1.60	(1.05)	1.04			
Touch	213	0-2.06	0.31	(0.37)	1.98			
Affection	213	0–0.87	0.01	(0.07)	8.70			
Prosocial	180	0–1.14	0.08	(0.2)	3.08			
INTERACTIONS WITH		LS OR OBJEC	TS					
With animals	213	0–6	1.98	(1.38)	0.29			
Talk	213	0–3.33	0.12	(0.36)	5.51			
Gesture	180	0–1.33	0.04	(0.14)	5.96			
Look	213	0–6	1.90	(1.22)	0.58			
Touch	213	0–5.67	1.55	(1.1)	0.59			
Affection	213	0–5.67	1.05	(1.03)	1.20			
Prosocial	213	0–3	0.81	(0.99)	0.77			
With objects	213	0–6	3.34	(1.96)	-0.39			
Talk	180	0–1.17	0.02	(0.1)	9.09			
Gesture	180	0–0.67	0.01	(0.06)	8.05			
Look	213	0–6	3.06	(2.13)	-0.30			
Touch	213	0–6	2.47	(1.71)	-0.04			
Affection	213	0–1.17	0.04	(0.16)	4.48			
Prosocial	180	0-0.06	0.00	(0)	13.42			
PROBLEM BEHAVIO	RS							
Aggression	213	0–1.17	0.03	(0.11)	7.05			
To peer	213	0–0.5	0.01	(0.04)	8.74			
To adult	213	0–0.06	0.00	(0.01)	10.30			
To animal	213	0–0.22	0.00	(0.02)	14.59			
To object	213	0–1.17	0.02	(0.09)	9.77			
To self	180	0–0.17	0.00	(0.02)	9.41			
Overactivity	213	0–4.83	0.49	(0.92)	2.18			
Isolation	213	0–4.44	0.50	(0.78)	2.09			

Convergent and Divergent Validity Aberrant Behavior Checklist—Community

Pearson's correlations between the OHAIRE behavior scores and the ABC-C scores are summarized in Table 7. Contrarily to our hypotheses, the Irritability and Agitation subscale did not correlate significantly with positive facial and verbal emotional display. It correlated positively with negative facial display for Study 2 but not for Study 4. Contrarily to our hypotheses, the Lethargy and Social Withdrawal subscale was correlated negatively with social interactions with adults only in Study 4, and was not correlated positively with social isolation. Additionally, the ABC-C Lethargy Social Withdrawal subscales were negatively correlated with interactions with animals and over activity for Study 2. Contrarily to our hypotheses, the Stereotypy and Hyperactivity subscales were not correlated positively with the OHAIRE over activity scale, but ABC-C Hyperactivity was correlated positively with negative emotional display (r = 0.72, p < 0.001) and interactions with adults (r = 0.67, p = 0.003), and negatively with social isolation (r = -0.52, p = 0.033). Contrarily to our hypotheses, the Inappropriate Speech subscale did not correlate positively with aggression.

Social Communication Questionnaire

Pearson's correlations between the OHAIRE behavior scores and the SCQ scores are summarized in Table 8. Confirming our hypothesis, SCQ scores did significantly correlate negatively with positive facial expressions (smile, r = -0.56, p < 0.001; laugh, r = -0.21, p = 0.049), and with social interactions with peers (r = -0.50, p < 0.001), although not with adults for Study 1. SCQ scores correlated positively with negative facial expressions as hypothesized (r = 0.34, p = 0.001), but contrarily to our hypothesis, not with overactivity for Study 1. Trends were overall the same for Study 2, without reaching statistical significance. Additionally, the SCQ correlated positively with interactions with animals (r = 0.43, p < 0.001) and objects (r = 0.42, p < 0.001), and aggression (r = 0.40, p < 0.001), and negatively with isolation (r = -0.52, p < 0.001) in Study 1. It correlated negatively with interactions with objects (r = -0.61, p < 0.001) in Study 2.

Social Responsiveness Scale

Pearson's correlations between the OHAIRE behavior scores and the SRS scores are summarized in **Table 9**. Contrarily to our hypotheses, no statistically significant correlations were observed between the SRS and OHAIRE behavior scores. Overall tendencies show a possible positive association between the Restricted Interests and Repetitive Behaviors Subscale and negative facial emotional display, and a negative association with positive facial emotional display. The Social subscale did not correlate negatively with OHAIRE scores of social interactions with peers and adults, and positively with isolation, and the Restricted Interests and Repetitive Behaviors subscale did not correlate positively with over activity.

TABLE 5 | Inter-rater reliability results.

	SI	tudy 1		Stu	Study 3	Study 4	
	ASD subsample	TD subsample		N = 3 subsample			N = 16 subsample
OHAIRE Version	v1	v2	v2	v2	v2	v3	v3
Coder ID	C1 & C2	C3 & C4	C3 & C5	C6 & C7	C8 & C9	C10 & C11	C12 & C13
SAMPLE							
Number of videos coded by the primary coder	594	1174	1174	64	232	328	340
Number of videos coded by the secondary coder	238	87	162	15	54	139	78
Percent of videos coded for reliability	40%	7.4%	13.8%	23,4%	23.3%	42.4%	22.9%
RELIABILITY							
Overall	0.79	0.82	0.81	0.88	0.81	0.83	0.83
Facial Emotional Display	0.74	0.71	0.69	0.66	0.80	0.67	0.71
Verbal Emotional Display	0.62	-	-	-	-	0.99	0.86
Social Communication	0.73	0.37	0.41	0.79	0.65	0.56	0.68
Interactions with animals and objects	0.91	0.82	0.67	0.73	0.16	0.73	0.85
Problem Behaviors	0.90	0.98	0.98	0.96	0.90	0.88	0.95

ASD, Autism Spectrum Disorder; TD, Typically-developing; all ps < 0.001. Bold face font indicates acceptable inter-rater reliability (k > 0.40).

TABLE 6	Cohen's Kappa	values for intra-rate	er reliability results.
---------	---------------	-----------------------	-------------------------

	Study 1	Study 2	Study 3	Study 4
Coder ID	C14	C10	C10	C13
Number of videos	26	28	30	30
Overall	0.90	0.95	0.96	0.87
Facial Emotional Display	0.83	0.86	0.91	0.77
Verbal Emotional Display	0.99	0.97	0.99	0.83
Social Communication	0.74	0.86	0.88	0.72
Interactions with animals and objects	0.81	0.86	0.82	0.74
Problem Behaviors	0.98	0.97	0.97	0.98

Social Skills Rating System

Pearson's correlations between the OHAIRE behavior scores and the SSRS and SSIS scores are summarized in Table 10. In Study 1, the Social Skills scale of the SSRS as rated by parents and teachers was positively correlated with OHAIRE scores of social interactions with peers as hypothesized (parent, r = 0.42, p < 0.001; teacher, r = 0.28, p = 0.006), but, contrarily to our hypothesis, it was not correlated with social interactions with adults, and it was positively correlated with isolation (parent, r = 0.39, p < 0.001; teacher, r = -0.44, p < 0.001). Additionally, the Social Skills scale of the SSRS was positively correlated with smiling (parent, r = 0.51, p < 0.001; teacher, r = 0.42, p < 0.001), negatively correlated with negative facial emotional display (parent, r = -0.23, p = 0.031; teacher, r = -0.30, p = 0.003) and negative verbal emotional display (parent, r = -0.19, p = 0.303; teacher, r = -0.35, p = 0.043), and negatively correlated with interactions with animals (parent, r = -0.33, p = 0.001; teacher, r = -0.30, p = 0.003) and objects (parent, r = -0.28, p = 0.006; teacher, r = -0.40, p < 0.001). In Study 3, the Social Skills scale of the SSIS was not correlated with emotional display or social interactions, but was positively correlated with OHAIRE behavior scores of aggression (r = 0.44, p < 0.001).

In Study 1, the Competing Problem Behaviors scale of the SSRS was correlated negatively with OHAIRE scores of social interactions with peers as hypothesized (parent, r = -0.23, p = 0.031; teacher, r = -0.20, p = 0.045), but unexpectedly not with adults. It was also, contrarily to our hypotheses, not correlated with overactivity, and positively correlated with aggression (parent, r = 0.24, p = 0.024; teacher, r = -0.44, p < 0.001), and isolation (parent, r = -0.48, p < 0.001; teacher, r = -0.40, p < 0.001). Additionally, the Competing Problem Behaviors scale of the SSRS was positively correlated with interactions with animals (parent, r = 0.24, p = 0.020; teacher, r = 0.23, p = 0.026), and objects (parent, r = 0.36, p < 0.001; teacher, r = -0.37, p < 0.001). In Study 3, the Competing Problem Behaviors subscale was not correlated with OHAIRE behavior scores of facial emotional display or social interactions, but was negatively correlated with interactions with objects (r = -38, p = 0.021).

Finally, the Academic Competence subscale of the SSRS was positively correlated with OHAIRE behavior scores of smiling (r = 0.31, p = 0.002), and isolation (r = 0.38, p < 0.001), and negatively correlated with OHAIRE behavior scores of interactions with animals (r = -0.32, p = 0.001) and objects (r = -0.34, p = 0.001), and aggression (r = -0.29, p = 0.004).

Structure

Cronbach's alphas were moderate for subscales of social interactions with peers ($\alpha = 0.638$), social interactions with adults ($\alpha = 0.605$), interactions with animals ($\alpha = 0.773$), and low for interactions with objects ($\alpha = 0.589$).

TABLE 7 Pearson's correlations between the OHAIRE coding system and the Aberrant Behavior Checklist-Community Subscales.										
ABC-C subscales	Irritability, Agitation		Lethargy, Social withdrawal		Stereotypy		Hyperactivity		Inappropriate speech	
Study	S2	2 S4	S2	S4	S2	S4	S2	S 4	S2	S4
Ν	17	49	17	49	17	49	17	49	17	49
FACIAL EMOTIONAL	. DISPLAY									
Smile	0.00	-0.06	-0.08	-0.18	0.04	-0.03	-0.05	-0.08	0.28	0.08
Laugh	0.21	-0.07	0.24	-0.08	-0.13	0.10	0.44 [†]	-0.01	0.16	-0.06
Negative	0.57*	0.03	0.45 [†]	-0.08	-0.01	-0.14	0.72***	0.15	0.29	0.25
None	-0.21	0.04	-0.15	0.22	-0.04	0.11	-0.24	0.01	-0.44^{\dagger}	-0.17
VERBAL EMOTIONA	L DISPLAY									
Positive	-	-0.01	-	-0.08	-	-0.07	-	0.06	-	0.01
Negative	-	-0.15	-	0.17	-	-0.01	-	0.06	-	-0.04
None	-	0.04	-	0.04	-	0.07	-	-0.04	-	0.01
SOCIAL INTERACTIO	ONS									
With Peers	0.32	0.01	0.02	-0.03	-0.08	-0.18	0.25	-0.01	0.13	-0.23
With Adults	0.45 [†]	-0.24 [†]	-0.19	-0.31*	0.17	0.05	0.67**	0.01	0.44 [†]	-0.05
INTERACTIONS WIT	H ANIMALS (OR OBJECTS								
With Animals	-0.03	-0.15	-0.51*	-0.13	0.00	-0.07	0.17	0.00	-0.12	-0.02
With Objects	0.38	-0.02	-0.18	0.19	0.20	0.05	0.48†	0.01	0.41	-0.21
PROBLEM BEHAVIO	RS									
Aggression	0.06	-0.06	-0.04	-0.10	0.10	-0.12	-0.11	-0.02	0.12	0.06
Overactivity	0.09	-0.07	-0.50*	-0.15	0.38	-0.06	-0.02	-0.02	0.13	0.00

[†]p < 0.10; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

-0.35

DISCUSSION

Isolation

The OHAIRE coding tool was developed to fill a need for a standardized behavior observation method in the field of HAI. In this article, we presented analyses of its reliability and validity, and summarized changes to the tool implemented to improve its psychometric properties, in the OHAIRE-V2, and OHAIRE-V3.

-0.04

0.23

-0.11

0.03

-0.08

-0.52

Overall, the OHAIRE demonstrated good inter-rater reliability, with variability between behavioral categories and increasing reliability through the versions of the OHAIRE. Intra-rater reliability was excellent but varied slightly between coders. Correlational analyses showed limited concordance between the behaviors coded with the OHAIRE during animalassisted intervention, and questionnaires measuring various aspect of social communication, interfering behaviors, and ASD symptoms. These correlations varied widely across studies and questionnaires. Analyses of subscale internal consistency showed predominantly low to moderate Cronbach's alpha values.

The inter-rater reliability of the OHAIRE was overall excellent but varied with the version of the tool used, and peaked in the latest version of the tool, the OHAIRE-v3. Low inter-rater reliability was interpreted as a lack of precision of the coding manual, and following inter-rater reliability analyses, changes were made to increase its clarity. For example, the notions of initiation and response of interactions that was included in the OHAIRE-v2 led to confusion, and apart from expert raters (RG & MG), it yielded low inter-rater reliability for social communication and interactions with objects or animals. Only the form of interaction (talk, gesture, etc.) was retained for analyses in the current paper, and for the next version of the tool. The latest version of the tool, the OHAIRE-v3, shows improved reliability from previous versions in all behavioral categories.

-0.03

-0.32

0.12

In addition to imprecisions in the earlier versions of the coding manual, one reason for lower inter-rater reliability may be the personal performance of coders. The calculation of intrarater reliability indicated how well coders retain their training and whether some behavior definitions are more or less likely to drift over time. While all coders retained excellent reliability over time, one coder scored slightly lower than others in all categories (except for interfering behaviors), despite having received the same training. This difference highlights the need for precise recruitment and in-depth training.

Analyses of the convergence of the OHAIRE with standardized questionnaires showed varying correlations depending on the questionnaire and the sample tested. Overall, our hypotheses as to the direction of correlations between the OHAIRE and varying questionnaires were not validated. One important factor of variation in correlations was the study that was tested. For example, the SCQ and the SSRS show strong correlations with the OHAIRE as used in Study 1, but much less so for Study 2 (SCQ) and Study 3 (SSRS). This difference is likely due to the difference in samples between studies. While Study 1 had a mixed sample of TD children and children with ASD from inclusion classrooms, both Study 2 and Study 3 had

TABLE 8 Pearson's correlations between the OHAIRE coding system and the
Social Communication Questionnaire.

	SCQ					
Study	S1	S2				
Ν	90	16				
FACIAL EMOTIONA	L DISPLAY					
Smile	-0.56***	-0.49 [†]				
Laugh	-0.21*	0.12				
Negative	0.34**	0.23				
None	0.04	0.40				
VERBAL EMOTION	AL DISPLAY					
Positive	-0.29	-				
Negative	0.24	-				
None	0.10	-				
SOCIAL INTERACTI	ONS					
With Peers	-0.50***	-0.27				
With Adults	0.12	-0.24				
INTERACTIONS WIT	TH ANIMALS OR OBJECTS					
With Animals	0.43***	-0.22				
With Objects	0.42***	-0.61*				
PROBLEM BEHAVIO	DRS					
Aggression	0.40***	-0.16				
Overactivity	0.18~	-0.13				
Isolation	-0.52***	0.37				

 $^{t}p < 0.10; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.$

samples of participants enrolled in a treatment program for one particular neurodevelopmental disorder (ASD and ADHD, respectively). Specifically, there are strong correlations between the "interactions with animals" subscale of the OHAIRE and the SCQ and SSRS in Study 1, which is consistent with differences in SCQ and SSRS scores between children with ASD and TD children in this sample, and more interactions with animals displayed by children with ASD compared to TD children in this study (11, 19). The lack of correlations between questionnaires and behaviors coded with the OHAIRE may reflect a lower variance in these populations. For example, a minimum SCQ score was required for children with ASD to be able to participate in Study 2. If all children have SCQ scores in a restricted range, it may be expected that we see weaker or no correlations with the OHAIRE.

Another important consideration is that the OHAIRE directly evaluates the behavior of children during interventions. The questionnaires used in correlation analyses were mostly completed by caregivers, asking retrospective questions about the recent behavior of their child. However, behavior can vary widely from one setting to the other (38), and we do expect it to vary when the child is participating in animal-assisted intervention sessions. In the future, the correlation of behaviors as coded with the OHAIRE and change scores in questionnaires for before to after an intervention might help to explain how a child particularly benefited from a given intervention. The comparison of behavioral data with continuous physiological data, such as

TABLE 9 | Pearson's correlations between the OHAIRE coding system and the

 Social Responsiveness Scale.

	Socia	Social Subscale		d Interests and ve Behaviors ıbscale
Study	S2	S4	S2	S 4
Ν	18	40	17	40
FACIAL EMOTIC	NAL DISPLAY	(
Smile	0.06	0.20	-0.25	-0.03
Laugh	0.10	-0.06	0.17	-0.31 [†]
Negative	0.08	-0.16	0.43†	0.18
None	-0.17	-0.05	-0.03	-0.17
VERBAL EMOTI	ONAL DISPLA	Y		
Positive	-	-0.08	-	-0.10
Negative	-	0.04	-	0.21
None	-	0.06	-	0.05
SOCIAL INTERA	CTIONS			
With Peers	-0.01	-0.26	0.04	-0.23
With Adults	-0.07	0.19	0.30	-0.05
INTERACTIONS	WITH ANIMA	LS OR OBJEC	CTS	
With Animals	-0.46^{\dagger}	-0.17	0.10	-0.22
With Objects	0.03	0.14	0.27	0.16
PROBLEM BEH	AVIORS			
Aggression	0.01	-0.02	0.30	-0.18
Overactivity	0.01	-0.16	0.28	-0.22
Isolation	-0.08	0.12	-0.07	0.16

 $^{\dagger}p < 0.10; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.$

electrodermal activity or heart rate variability, may also provide evidence of convergent validity of the OHAIRE with another direct measure.

In addition to observing child behavior, recording the behavior of an animal in animal-assisted intervention may provide a more complete picture of human-animal interaction, including animal welfare. The dyadic analyses of the behavior of a human study participant and an animal may help identify specific activities with the animal or behaviors of the animal that trigger certain responses in a child. The development of animal behavior modules for species often included in animal-assisted intervention (e.g., dogs, horses) is a next step in the development of the OHAIRE.

Analyses of internal consistency with Cronbach's alpha yielded preliminary support for the use of four interaction subscales: social interactions with peers, social interactions with adults, interactions with animals (i.e., human-animal bond score), and interacting with a toy or control object. Specifically, the subscale measuring interactions with animals shows high internal consistency and can be used to quantify the engagement of a study participant with animals. This behavioral humananimal bond score may also be used in the future as a potential moderator of animal-assisted intervention success. For example, future studies may use the behavioral humananimal bond score as a way to explore whereas an animalassisted intervention's success depends on the actual level of TABLE 10 | Pearson's correlations between the OHAIRE coding system and the Social Skills Rating System and the Social Skills Improvement System.

		Social Skills Scale			ng Problem Beh	Academic Competence	
Study	S	S1		S	S1		S1
Version	SSI	RS	SSIS	SSI	SSRS		SSRS
Rater	Parent	Teacher	Parent	Parent	Teacher	Parent	Teacher
Ν	91	97	36	91	97	36	97
FACIAL EMOTION	AL DISPLAY						
Smile	0.51***	0.42***	0.20	-0.41***	-0.41***	0.04	0.31**
Laugh	0.20 [†]	0.15	-0.03	-0.10	-0.11	-0.08	0.16
Negative	-0.23*	-0.30**	0.18	0.14	0.27**	-0.09	-0.13
None	-0.06	-0.01	-0.26	-0.04	0.18	-0.01	0.19
VERBAL EMOTION	IAL DISPLAY						
Positive	0.06	-0.01	0.15	0.09	0.03	-0.11	-0.05
Negative	-0.19	-0.35*	-0.22	-0.17	0.42*	0.15	-0.08
None	0.03	-0.34 [†]	-0.07	0.10	0.28	0.06	-0.16
SOCIAL INTERACT	TIONS						
With Peers	0.42***	0.28**	0.07	-0.23*	-0.20*	-0.21	0.19 [†]
With Adults	-0.14	-0.11	0.06	0.12	0.15	-0.15	-0.11
INTERACTIONS W	ITH ANIMALS OR O	BJECTS					
With Animals	-0.33**	-0.30**	-0.27	0.24*	0.23*	0.06	-0.32**
With Objects	-0.28**	-0.40***	0.32 [†]	0.36***	0.37***	-0.38*	-0.34***
PROBLEM BEHAV	IORS						
Aggression	-0.32**	0.24	0.24*	-0.20	-0.44***	0.44***	-0.29**
Overactivity	-0.16	-0.19 [†]	0.34*	0.08	0.07	-0.16	-0.16
Isolation	0.39***	0.44***	-0.16	-0.48***	-0.40***	0.01	0.38***

SSRS, Social Skills Rating System; SSIS, Social Skills Improvement System. $^{\dagger}p < 0.10$; $^{*}p < 0.05$; $^{**}p < 0.01$; $^{***}p < 0.001$.

engagement of its participants with animals, thereby exploring the active role of animals in animal-assisted intervention. The low Cronbach's alpha value for interactions with objects may stem from the very low frequency of some behaviors (e.g., prosocial behaviors toward objects, which would only have been recorded if a child tried to "help" a toy, by cleaning or repairing it, or otherwise taking care of it). Repeating these analyses in future studies using control objects more likely to receive such attention from children (e.g., dolls or stuffed animals) will allow for further exploration of the internal reliability of this subscale. We currently recommend the use of subscales in the OHAIRE for interactions with animals, and the exploratory use of subscales for social interactions with peers, social interactions with adults, and interactions with objects. We recommend that researchers using these subscales present Cronbach's alphas in future publications for ongoing monitoring. We do not recommend using subscales for presenting behavior results in the behavioral categories of emotional display and problem behaviors). Additionally, while the current sample size did not lend itself to the use of factor analysis, future structure analyses for the OHAIRE may include factor analysis to confirm the suitability of the use of these subscales.

Finally, the OHAIRE has been used so far as a measure of behavior in studies of animal-assisted intervention including control groups where participants were not interacting with animals. Previously published results (11, 19) have shown its discriminative capacities, both between situations [e.g., children with ASD were found to smile more often in the presence of animals compared to toys, (11)], and between diagnostic groups [e.g., regardless of the situation, typically developing children smile more often than children with ASD; (39)]. Its use is apt to detect differences in the coded behaviors between situations with or without an animal. While it is not a diagnostic tool, the OHAIRE also shows sensitivity to behavioral differences between typically developing children and children with autism.

CONCLUSION

The OHAIRE is a behavior coding tool that captures social interactions, emotional display, interfering behaviors, and interactions with animals and control objects. In the evaluated studies, the OHAIRE-v3 reached overall excellent levels of interand intra-rater reliability, limited correlations with caregiverreport questionnaires of social and interfering behaviors, and presents a reliable human-animal interaction subscale. Its current use is targeted to research teams aiming to examine and quantify children's behavior during animal-assisted intervention and continually monitor the psychometric properties of the coding tool. Its extension to new age ranges and diagnostic populations will evaluate its potential to have an even stronger impact in the field of HAI, as the first standardized behavior observation
tool developed specially for human-animal interaction research.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NG led the coding of study 1 for typically developing children and of studies 3 and 4, is a co-author of the behavior coding tool, and led reliability and validity analyses. RG was the principal investigator for studies 2 and 4, and is a coauthor of the behavior coding tool. MG was an investigator on studies 2 and 4, and is a co-author of the behavior coding tool. RG and MG led behavior coding for study 2. SS was the principal investigator for study 3. AT and KT provided extensive statistical guidance for the reliability and validity analyses. SM and VS provided guidance in the initial development of the coding system and for study 1. MO developed the initial version of the OHAIRE behavior coding tool for study 1 and is its lead author, was the principal investigator for study 1, led the behavior coding for children with ASD in study 1, and provided extensive guidance for the behavior coding of all studies and for the reliability and validity analyses.

FUNDING

This study was supported by several grants awarded to the authors of this study (initials of the awardee in parentheses) from the following agencies:

REFERENCES

- Herzog H. The research challenge: threats to the validity of animal-assisted therapy studies and suggestions for improvement. In: Fine AH, editor. Handbook on Animal-Assisted Therapy: Foundations and Guidelines for Animal-Assisted Interventions. 4th ed. Pomona, CA: Academic Press (2015). p. 402-7.
- Kazdin AE. Methodological standards and strategies for establishing the evidence base of animal-assisted therapies. In: Fine AH, editor. *Handbook* on Animal-Assisted Therapy: Foundations and Guidelines for Animal-Assisted Interventions. 4th ed. Pomona, CA: Academic Press (2015). p. 377–90.
- Hannes K, Claes L. Learn to read and write systematic reviews: the Belgian Campbell Group. *Res Soc Work Pract.* (2007) 17:748–53. doi: 10.1177/1049731507303106
- Wilson CC, Netting FE. The status of instrument development in the human-animal interaction field. *Anthrozoös* (2012) 25:s11–55. doi: 10.2752/175303712X13353430376977
- 5. Beck AM. The biology of the human-animal bond. *Animal Front.* (2014) 4:32–6. doi: 10.2527/af.2014-0019
- 6. Wilson EO. Biophilia. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press (1984).
- Lorenz K. Die angeborenen Formen moglicher Erfahrung. Zschr Tierpsychol. (1943) 5:235–409. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.1943. tb00655.x
- Lynch JJ. A Cry Unheard: New Insights Into the Medical Consequences of Loneliness. Baltimore, MD: Bancroft Press (2000).
- Ainsworth MS. Infant-mother attachment. Am Psychol. (1979) 34:932. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.34.10.932
- Gabriels RL, Zhaoxing P, DeChant B, Agnew JA, Brim N, Mesibov G. Randomized controlled trial of therapeutic horseback riding in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. J Am Acad Child Adol Psychiatr. (2015) 55:541–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2015.04.007

- WALTHAM[®] Centre for Pet Nutrition (RG)
- Morris Animal Foundation/Human-Animal Bond Research Initiative Grant #D15HA-030. (RG)
- WALTHAM[®] Centre for Pet Nutrition (MO)
- WALTHAM[®] Foundation (MO)
- Society for Companion Animal Studies (MO)
- Clifford B. Kinley Trust (MO)
- Grant R03HD070683 from the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health & Human Development (MO)
- Grant R01H066593 from the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHS) (SS)
- The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health & Human Development or the National Institutes of Health.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all study participants and staff at the University of Queensland, the University of Colorado Denver, the Children's Hospital Colorado, and the University of California Irvine who have made the collection of the data included in this article possible. We would also like to thank the coders who carefully observed and coded behaviors in all the videos used in this article.

- O'Haire ME, McKenzie SJ, Beck AM, Slaughter V. Social behaviors increase in children with autism in the presence of animals compared to toys. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e57010. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057010
- Schuck SEB, Emmerson NA, Fine AH, Lakes KD. Canine-assisted therapy for children with ADHD: preliminary findings from the positive assertive cooperative kids study. J Atten Disord. (2015) 19:125–37. doi: 10.1177/1087054713502080
- Chorney JM, McMurtry CM, Chambers CT, Bakeman R. Developing and modifying behavioral coding schemes in pediatric psychology: a practical guide. J Pediatr Psychol. (2015) 40:154–64. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/ jsu099
- McNicholas J, Collis GM. Dogs as catalysts for social interaction: Robustness of the effect. Br J Psychol. (2000) 91:61–70. doi: 10.1348/000712600161673
- O'Haire ME. Research on animal-assisted intervention and autism spectrum disorder, 2012–2015. *Appl Dev Sci.* (2016) 21:200–16. doi: 10.1080/10888691.2016.1243988
- Friedmann E. The role of pets in enhancing human well-being: physiological effects. In: Robinson I, editor. *The Waltham Book of Human-Animal Interaction: Benefits and Responsibilities of Pet Ownership*. Oxford: Pergamon Press (1995). p. 33–53.
- 17. O'Haire ME. Pets as a prescription for health: the benefits of companion animals for mental well-being. *Mental Notes* (2012) 6:5–7.
- Wells DL. The effects of animals on human health and well-being. J Soc Issues (2009) 65:523–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-4560.2009.01612.x
- Guérin NA. Psychometrics Properties and Use of a Behavioral Observation Coding Tool for Human-Animal Interaction Research (M.S.). Purdue University, United States -Indiana (2017).
- 20. Qualtrics L. Qualtrics [software]: Provo, UT: Google Scholar. (2014).
- Bakeman R. Behavioral observation and coding. In: Handbook of Research Methods in Social and Personality Psychology Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2000). p. 138–59.

- Altmann J. Observational study of behavior: sampling methods. *Behaviour* (1974) 49:227–267. doi: 10.1163/156853974X00534
- Lane JD, Ledford JR. Using interval-based systems to measure behavior in early childhood special education and early intervention. *Topics Early Child Spec Educ.* (2014) 34:83–93. doi: 10.1177/0271121414524063
- 24. Marshburn EC, Aman MG. Factor validity and norms for the aberrant behavior checklist in a community sample of children with mental retardation. *J Autism Dev Disord.* (1992) 22:357–73. doi: 10.1007/BF01 048240
- Brinkley J, Nations L, Abramson RK, Hall A, Wright HH, Gabriels R, et al. Factor analysis of the aberrant behavior checklist in individuals with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord. (2007) 37:1949–59. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0327-3
- Brown EC, Aman MG, Havercamp SM. Factor analysis and norms for parent ratings on the aberrant behavior checklist-community for young people in special education. *Res Dev Disabil.* (2002) 23:45–60. doi: 10.1016/S0891-4222(01)00091-9
- 27. Rutter ML, Bailey A, Lord C. *Social Communication Questionnaire*. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services (2003).
- Constantino JN, Gruber CP. *The Social Responsiveness Scale*. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services (2002).
- Constantino JN, Davis SA, Todd RD, Schindler MK, Gross MM, Brophy SL, et al. Validation of a brief quantitative measure of autistic traits: comparison of the social responsiveness scale with the autism diagnostic interview-revised. J Autism Dev Disord. (2003) 33:427–33. doi: 10.1023/A:1025014929212
- Constantino JN, Gruber CP. *The Social Responsiveness Scale Manual*. 2nd ed. (SRS-2). Los Angeles, CA: W. P. Services Ed. (2012).
- Gresham FM, Elliott SN. Social Skills Rating System. Circle Pines, MN: American Guidance Service (1990).
- 32. Gresham F, Elliott SN. Social Skills Improvement System (SSIS) Rating Scales. Bloomington, MN: Pearson Assessments (2008).

- 33. Gresham FM, Elliott SN, Vance MJ, Cook CR. Comparability of the social skills rating system to the social skills improvement system: content and psychometric comparisons across elementary and secondary age levels. *School Psychol Q.* (2011) 26:27–44. doi: 10.1037/a0022662
- Cohen J. A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. *Educ Psychol Meas*. (1960) 20:37–46. doi: 10.1177/001316446002000104
- McHugh ML. Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. *Biochem Med.* (2012) 22:276–82. doi: 10.11613/BM.2012.031
- Hintze JM. Psychometrics of direct observation. School Psychol Rev. (2005) 34:507–19.
- Cronbach LJ. Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. *Psychometrika* (1951) 16:297–334. doi: 10.1007/BF02310555
- Achenbach TM, McConaughy SH, Howell CT. Child/adolescent behavioral and emotional problems: implications of cross-informant correlations for situational specificity. *Psychol Bull.* (1987) 101:213. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.101.2.213
- Mazgaonkar G, Guérin NA, O'Haire ME. Animal-assisted activities: effects of animals on positive emotional display in children in inclusion classrooms. J Purdue Undergrad Res. (2017) 7:27–33. doi: 10.5703/1288284316394

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Guérin, Gabriels, Germone, Schuck, Traynor, Thomas, McKenzie, Slaughter and O'Haire. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Compatibility of Cats With Children in the Family

Lynette A. Hart^{1*}, Benjamin L. Hart², Abigail P. Thigpen¹, Neil H. Willits³, Leslie A. Lyons⁴ and Stefanie Hundenski¹

¹ Department of Population Health and Reproduction, School of Veterinary Medicine, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ² Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Cell Biology, School of Veterinary Medicine, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ³ Department of Statistics, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States, ⁴ Department of Veterinary Medicine and Surgery, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Missouri, Columbia, MO, United States

Although studies involving pet dogs and cats, and human adults and children, have been reported, the specific interactions between cats and children have not. This study sought information from parents about the cat's role in families that have at least one child 3-12 years of age and at least one cat. Demographic data on cat source, breed, gender/neuter status, was sought as well as information on adults and children in the families and on affectionate, aggressive, fearful, and playful responses of the cats to children. A convenience sample was recruited via listservs for pet owners and parents. Using a pilot tested web survey, descriptive statistics were based on 865 respondents. Multi-variate statistical analyses were conducted on data from 665 respondents with complete responses for all items, including respondents' locations and whether cats were adopted as kittens. Multi-variate analyses included consideration of demographic data, geographic region of respondents, behavioral characteristics of the cats, and responses of the children to the cats. From descriptive statistics, cats' affection was more typical with adults than young children. Neuter status or gender was unrelated to cats' aggression or affection. Being the family's only cat was associated with heightened aggression and reduced affection. Younger cats were more likely to be affectionate. Multivariate analysis revealed three primary factors accounting for children's compatibility with the specified cat: positive interactions of the cat, aggression/fearfulness of cat, and the cat's playfulness and children's reaction to the cats. Positive child-cat relationships were more typical with two or more adults and multiple cats in the home. Old cats were the least satisfactory. A breeder or shelter was a better source than as a feral, from a newspaper ad, or another source. European respondents rated their cats' interactions with children more favorably than in U.S./Canada. This difference may reflect the European adoptions more frequently being of kittens, often purebred, assuring more early handling within the family. A noteworthy finding was that all family participants, humans, and pets alike, affect the cat-child relationship, and these results reveal that many variables can play a role in achieving a desirable relationship for a cat and child.

Keywords: cat aggressive behavior, cat affectionate behavior, cat fearfulness, cats and children, cultural differences, human-animal interaction, anthrozoology

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Consultant, New Haven, CT, United States

Reviewed by:

Malathi Raghavan, Purdue University, United States Nathaniel James Hall, Texas Tech University, United States

> *Correspondence: Lynette A. Hart lahart@ucdavis.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Humanities and Social Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 02 July 2018 Accepted: 19 October 2018 Published: 19 November 2018

Citation:

Hart LA, Hart BL, Thigpen AP, Willits NH, Lyons LA and Hundenski S (2018) Compatibility of Cats With Children in the Family. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:278. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00278

INTRODUCTION

Many studies have documented the contributions of pets to children's emotional and physical development (1). The value of cats as pets has been extensively studied over decades, focusing on their interactions with adults (2) and documenting contributions to human health (3). With regard to children's pets, studies often have examined the development of empathy among children who nurture pets. Yet, as revealed in reviews, most of these studies do not treat dogs and cats separately, but rather lump dogs and cats together as companion animals or pets (4, 5), despite evidence that dogs and cats clearly differ (6). Often, dogs are emphasized as a major focus, perhaps because they frequently emerge as the preferred pet, as shown in an early study (7), and in examples from U.S. (8) and Holland (9). Thus, despite many studies exploring children's interests and engagement with pets, little specific attention has been directed to understanding details of cats' behavioral responses to children and children's relationships with cats.

In assessing children's interest in pets, Brucke (7) evaluated the essays of 7–16 year old children about pets and noted that more children preferred dogs than cats and interest in them increased as the children got older. In another study, children 3– 5 years of age, in choosing between paired photographs, showed a preference for more infantile over adult cats; similar differences were not found when they were asked to choose between infantile and adult dog photographs (10).

Many studies by Levinson (11) expanded on the importance of pets for children in filling several roles, including as companions and confidants. Focusing on adolescents' loneliness and companion animals, Black (12) presented a conceptual model of the contributions of companion animal attachment that included constituents of caregiving, offering a secure base and safe haven, and proximity seeking and separation anxiety in the absence of the animal.

Studies reported that virtually all children were found to want a pet (13), and children lacking pets often desired one and sought out contact with their neighbors' pets (14). In interviews of Pennsylvania latchkey children (8) with a median of 8 years of age, dogs were the primary pet and the most frequently owned. However, for the children without pets, cats were wished for most, with dogs second.

In evaluating children's drawings of themselves and their other family members, a study found that children who owned pets placed the drawing of themselves significantly closer to their drawings of their pets than to other members of their family (15). The closeness at which they placed themselves to cats vs. dogs did not differ, suggesting that the children experienced the supportive characteristics of cats and dogs similarly and that closeness was based on animals' general characteristics. The same authors (16) also found that 3–7 year-old children's experiences at a petting zoo where they could easily see and touch the animals was associated with forming favorable attitudes toward animals more than when they visited large wildlife exhibits. When they studied toddlers responding to live and toy animals, even very young infants strongly preferred live pets to mechanical animals, and spent significantly more time observing and interacting with the live animals (17). Children 12–18 months old used the animal's species name, and by 24–30 months, the children called the animal by its given name. The 12–30 month-old children preferred dogs to cats, presumably because the dogs were interactive and more likely to approach the children, whereas the cats often walked away, thus limiting reciprocal interaction. As noted by these authors in their studies of parent-child relationships, this reciprocal interaction is a characteristic of attachment (18, 19), and the same may be true in child-pet relationships. Turn-taking of this sort forms a basis for communication, one in which conversational interchange becomes possible (20). Recent studies of human-cat relationships have emphasized that both the cat and the human affect and contribute to the relationship and bond involved (21, 22).

Triebenbacher (23) described the importance of transitional objects to which children become attached as they begin separating from their parents; these soothe and calm the children. While blankets and cuddly toys commonly serve as transitional objects, pets also fill this role. Preschool children articulated their specific emotions characteristic of special relationships, especially that these relationships were reciprocal; they understood that the best way to show love is through affection. Children in grades 2 through 5 most commonly said if their pets could talk they would say, "I love you." (23). As special friends and important family members, pets also provide affection, social interactions, and emotional support.

When considering the most important relationships in their lives, 42% of 9–12 year olds in one study chose a pet, more often or the same as grand parents, aunts, uncles, friends or teachers (24). Similarly, in an earlier study, 7 and 10 year-old children taking a neighborhood walk listed a pet among their special friends (25).

Interest in dogs and cats can change with age (26). Parents reported that kindergarteners were more involved with and more interested in dogs than cats, while the reverse was true of second-graders. Among fifth-graders, there was no difference reported in involvement or interest between dogs and cats. In kindergarten, second- and fifth-grades, questionnaire responses were collected from one parent of each child. Older children and those whose mothers were employed were more attached to their pets. Moreover, ideas about pets and their care appear to generalize beyond the specific type of pet owned. Children who owned dogs but not cats were reported to be just as knowledgeable about cats and their care as were cat-owners. And similarly, cat-owners showed as many ideas about dogs and their care as did dog owners. In a study by Daly and Morton (27), higher empathy was found for children owning both dogs and cats as compared with children owning neither a dog nor a cat, or only one type of pet. Children that were highly attached to their pets were more empathic than those who were less attached.

Various approaches have categorized types of behaviors of cats. In a study of domestic cat personality, adjectives included *amiability*, which was strongly positively correlated with owner satisfaction, attachment, and bond quality. *Amiability* included descriptors such as cooperative, warm, peaceful, charming, and faithful (28). *Demandingness* included: persistent, demanding,

needy, persevering, and loud. *Dominance* included: proud, domineering, serious, independent, and territorial. *Nervousness* included: nervous, timid, apprehensive, and cautious. Neutered (spayed) females scored higher on demandingness than intact males. *Amiability* increased with cat age, decreased with owner age, and increased with the number of cats in the home. In a somewhat similar study, personality attributes of cats [(29), p. 157] were used to measure sociability of cats toward humans. In assessing cats for their behavioral tendencies prior to adoption to evaluate systems of seeking, fear, and rage, variables included *sociability, boldness, gregariousness, frustration reactivity, and fearfulness*.

Yet another approach assessing personality qualities of cats generated factors using a principal components analysis based on observer ratings and behavior codings (21). Four factors involved in social interactions included *active, anxious, sociable,* and *rough.* Subtle behavioral indicators of fear vs. engagement were identified in a recent study of cat behavior, showing that a left gaze and head turn reflects fear, whereas a right gaze and head turn reveals engagement (30).

Early experience with being handled during a sensitive period is known to increase friendly and affectionate behavior in cats (2, 31). Kittens that have been handled often more rapidly approach a familiar person, a stranger or a novel object as compared with unhandled kittens (32). When a UK shelter offered enhanced socialization to kittens between 2 and 9 weeks of age, owners interviewed when the cats were \sim 1 year of age reported they felt more emotionally supported by their cats; fewer of these cats were fearful with humans, as compared with cats that had received standard handling (33).

In Australia, a study of 488 people with cats found that almost all cats were neutered; only 3% of owners reported having an intact male cat, and 2% reported owning an intact female cat (34).

In New Zealand, a study of children 8–12 years old found that cats were the most frequently owned pet; they were owned by 71% of families (35). A majority of children in the cat-owning families were said to be "owner" of the cat. This was particularly true in families with only one or two children The child wanted the cat and it was often acquired to teach responsibility. In a UK study, those in semi-urban and rural householders more often reported cat ownership, as did returns from female respondents (36). In a longitudinal study of UK parents with children up to 10 years of age, cats were the most commonly owned pet, and cats were most common in families with female children (37). In another UK study, with children of all ages, cats were found in the highest number of households. In a Norway study of children and adolescents aged 9 to 15, a majority of rural participants had a cat (38).

A study of UK adolescents who had only one pet reported that 57% of respondents had a dog and 23% a cat (39). For those with multiple pets, a dog and cat was the most frequent combination. Adolescents that lived in single-parent families or stepfamilies more often reported having pet cats, when they were compared with adolescents living with two parents. Also, cat ownership was more often reported by adolescents with siblings than by those who had no siblings. Adolescents reporting a median or higher level of family affluence less often reported having a cat than those reporting a low level of family affluence.

In a study of cats in Italy, the owner's gender influenced the cat's time spent with the owner: cats spent more time with women than men (40). The composition of the family influenced the cat's behavior toward the owner and the time spent with the owner. The more sociable cats lived in small families having no children. The cats that lived with other cats had a higher quality of life, based on care, behavior, and a physical examination, than those cats living alone. Cats generally are not thought to be highly social, but it seems that living with other cats may improve a cat's quality of life. In this study, cat owners who adopted their kittens between 7 and 10 weeks of age were more attached to their cats later on than the owners who had adopted older cats. This young age of adoption appears to be an important time to let the cat socialize with humans and with animals of other species in the household.

The number of human adults in the family seems to play a role in attachment to the cat, as suggested in a study in Switzerland, where families with fewer adults reported higher attachment to the cat than in families with more adults (41). The size of the household was negatively correlated with two attachment scales.

In Japan, families with dogs often considered their pets to be family members, but families with cats less often held this view (42). Compared with dog owners, cat owners scored their pets lower on emotion and intellect. Those cat owners who considered their cats to be family members were more likely to attribute compassion to their cats when compared with owners who regarded their pets as not being family members.

For this study, we hypothesized that a well-mannered cat that can be held by a child could be a valuable companion. While cats typically rest much of the day, at times, cats could be significant companions for children, being a source of calming comfort. Despite abundant evidence that pets matter to children, most reports on children and pets somewhat lump together dogs and cats rather than specifically examining the interactions of cats and children, or the behaviors or preferences that children may have for cats.

The study sought to characterize the interactions of cats with children compared with their interactions with adults in families responding to a general web survey.

Cat breeds differ in their behavioral tendencies, such as their affection and aggressive behaviors toward family members (43); one would expect the breed of cat to be one aspect affecting which cats would provide affection and comfort to a child. For example, a comprehensive telephone-based set of interviews with 80 feline veterinary practitioners covering 15 of the most common cat breeds, found that the Ragdoll is the most affectionate, socially outgoing and least aggressive breed (43). The same survey found that male cats were rated as more affectionate than female cats.

In this study we gathered data from the general public, by means of a web-based survey, to determine factors that would predict, or correlate with, the characteristic of cats being affectionate and non-aggressive with children. Overall, the study focused on cats' behaviors with children to characterize and determine behavioral correlates and attributes of positive relationships with cats. Of particular interest also was the extent to which children in the family valued the relationship with the specified cat.

METHODS

Web-Based Survey of Families With a Child, 3–12 Years of Age, and With a Cat

A web-based survey was designed in SurveyMonkey to gain information about cats' characteristics that qualify them as desirable companions for young children. The 25 item survey was directed toward families, most presumably with typically developing children, and launched to appropriate listservs, publicizing and disseminating the link to feline and parent groups and other cat-interested groups. It was required that participants have a child within 3-12 years of age and a cat that was at least 1 year of age. Families with multiple cats were instructed to answer questions pertaining to the cat most interactive with the child/children in the family, to characterize behaviors in the more interactive cat/child relationships, rather than an average cat/child relationship that would have included the more outdoor and fearful cats. The survey was designed to require about 15 min to complete. Numerous published reports of behavioral studies have used similar web-based surveys [e.g., (44)]; such surveys have been found comparable in validity to more traditional survey methods (45). This survey was open for responding October 2010 through January 2012.

Among the 1,000 respondents allowed to complete this survey prior to ending data collection, 865 met the inclusion criteria: having at least one child 3-12 years old; having in the household at least one cat that was at least 1 year of age; and completing all of the 25 questions of the survey. The socio-demographic information gathered included: numbers of adults in the family; ages of children; and information on the numbers of cats and dogs in the household, as well as the age, breed and source of the cat specified as interacting the most with the children in the family. Parents provided specific behavioral ratings for the cat and children's responses to the cat on a five-point scale. For example, the cat's affectionate interactions were categorized as: very affectionate; quite affectionate; moderately affectionate; relatively non-affectionate; and non-affectionate. The cat's aggressive interactions were categorized as: very aggressive; quite aggressive; moderately aggressive; relatively non-aggressive; and non-aggressive. Parents also provided ratings of the children's level of interest in the cat.

Institutional Review Approval Board

The University of California, Davis, Institutional Review Board approved Protocols #201018447-1 and #284059-2.

Statistical Analyses

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics were used to analyze data from 865 participants, including medians and results of chi-square or Fisher exact tests for significance. Further multivariate analyses from 665 participants included geographic location of respondents based on IP addresses, and whether adopted as kittens when specified in responses. Inclusion criteria

for the multivariate analyses required specific answers: some participants' responses were excluded due to responding with the item, "other."

Multivariate Statistics

For the survey data, thirteen responses were identified as reflecting the quality of interactions between the family children and the focal cat. These included: affection, aggression, friendly behavior, playfulness, and fearfulness toward various age groups of children and adults, as well as the child's reaction to the cat. A principal component analysis (PCA) was run on these variables, and the first three principal components, which explained 62% of the variability in the responses, were used in additional analyses. In this analysis, only subjects that answered all 13 questions were used, reducing the sample size to 665 responses. The factor loadings for the first factor, named cat's positive interactions, were all positive except for two variables reflecting fearfulness, which were negative. The second factor contrasted two negative behaviors (aggression and fearfulness) against more positive behaviors, and the third paired the child's reaction to the cat and positive behaviors like playfulness against the cat's aggression, particularly toward children. The eigenvectors for the principal components, and their values for each of the survey responses, are available in Excel files. Each of the first three factors were used as dependent variables in several one-way ANOVA models, looking for systematic differences with respect to a series of demographic variables, indicating the global region from which the survey response came, the composition of the family in which the cat lived, the source of the cat, the cat's current age, whether adopted as a kitten, and gender and neuter status of the cat. For this analysis, global regions were consolidated as: U.S/Canada, Europe, other. Cat breeds were consolidated as: mixed (including domestic shorthair and domestic longhair) and purebred. Factors that were statistically significant for one or more of the first three PCAs were presented in a biplot of the factor loadings and group differences. Those factors were also used as dependent variables in a conditional inference tree analyses (a form of CART) that used a broader array of explanatory variables. All analyses were run using SAS, version 9.4, except for the inference trees, which were run using R statistical software and the ctree command.

Data Availability

In compliance with journal policy, datasets used for statistical analyses, including the PCA factor loadings, are publicly available at figshare.com: http://dx.doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.7007993.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

Family and Pet Demographics

The survey with 865 families meeting inclusion criteria revealed that most of the children resided in households with at least two adults available; 12 percent of families included only one adult.

Regarding the age-ranges of children, 28 percent of households had teenagers 13–19 years of age, 36 percent had children 9–12 years, 31 percent had children 6–8 years, and

40 percent had children 3–5 years. Multi-pet households were a majority of respondents, with 63 percent having multiple cats over 1 year of age. Forty-seven percent had at least one dog, of which 48 percent had multiple dogs.

The survey focused on the cat that interacted with the children the most. Almost one-third of these cats, 31 percent, were 3 years of age or less; 59 percent of cats were 6 years old or less. Male neutered cats comprised 49 percent and female spayed cats 46 percent of the specified cats, with 2 percent being intact males and 4 percent being intact females. With regard to breed, 57 percent were domestic shorthair, 11 percent domestic longhair, and 6 percent Maine Coon.

Cat's Affectionate, Fearful, or Aggressive Behavior as Related to the Cat's Age and Gender and Children's Ages

While 32 percent of the designated cats were very affectionate toward adults and 27 percent toward 6–12 year olds, just 14 percent were very affectionate toward 3–5 year olds (statistical tests: 3 groups, or 2 pairs, all *ps* < 0.0001). With regard to the age of the cat, the 78 cats that were very affectionate toward 3–5 year olds were younger, with 58 of 78 (74%) being 6 years of age or less, as compared with 255 of 469 (54%), fewer, of the remaining less affectionate cats being 6 years of age or less (*p* < 0.001). The cats that were very affectionate consisted of 51 percent neutered males and 42 percent spayed females, with no intact males and 6 percent intact females.

Among cats rated as very affectionate to adults and/or children (n = 360), 239 (66.4%) were 6 years of age or less and 121 (33.6%) were 6 years or older. Among the remaining 505 cats that were not rated as very affectionate, 270 (53.5%) were 6 years of age or less and 234 (46.3%) were older than 6 years. Very affectionate cats were significantly younger than the other cats (p < 0.001).

Among 360 cats rated as very affectionate with children and/or adults, 278 (77.2%) were described as very affectionate to adults, 171 (47.5%) as very affectionate to children 6–12 years of age, and only 78 (21.7%) to children 3–5 years of age (adults vs. children, children vs. children: all ps < 0.0001). Very affectionate cats were more likely to express affection toward adults than toward children; they were least likely to express affection toward the youngest group of children.

Ratings of cats being very fearful were infrequent: among the 78 cats very affectionate with 3–5 year old children, only 2 (3%) were fearful of visiting children. Among the cats rated as anything less than very affectionate with 3–5 year olds, 54 of 469 (11.5%) were described as "very fearful, runs away and stays hidden" with visiting children (p < 0.0001). Further, among the 87 cats described as "definitely does not like being held or carried around" by children ages 3–6, 25 (28.7%) were also described as very fearful.

While 56 of 78 (71.8%) very affectionate cats came from multi-cat households, only 284 of 469 (60.6%) less affectionate cats came from multi-cat households. Interestingly, cats that were very affectionate toward 3–5 year olds were not always affectionate toward adults, as illustrated by our finding that among 78 cats very affectionate toward 3–5 year olds, only 50 cats (64%) were also very affectionate toward adults.

The median age range of cats rated as at least moderately aggressive to adults, children, or other cats (n = 63) was 7–10 years. Of these aggressive cats, 27 (42.9%) were 6 years of age or less, and 35 cats (55.6%) were older. One respondent was too unsure of the cat's age to indicate a range. Among the remaining 802 cats not rated as aggressive, 482 (60.1%) were 6 years of age or less, and 320 (39.9%) were older. Comparative analyses reveal that these aggressive cats were significantly more likely to be older (p < 0.01).

Among these 63 aggressive cats that were at least moderately aggressive, 29 (46%) were spayed females, 2 (3.2%) were intact females, 31 (49.2%) were neutered males, and 1 (1.6%) was an intact male. Among the remaining 802 cats not rated as aggressive, 366 (45.6%) were spayed females, 33 (4.1%) were intact females, 389 (48.5%) were neutered males, and 14 (1.7%) were intact males.

Among 24 cats scored as at least quite aggressive to children in the home, 15 (62.5%) were the only cat in the home and 14 (58.3%) were in homes without dogs; among the other 775 cats, 280 (36.1%) were the only cat and 407 (52.5%) were in homes without dogs. These aggressive cats were significantly more likely to be the only cat in the home (p = 0.01). These data suggest that these 24 quite aggressive cats tended to be isolated from other cats, but not dogs.

Cat's Affection to Adults and Children

At least moderate affection was shown by 706 of 865 (81.6%) cats in this study to adults, as shown in **Table 1**. A somewhat lesser percentage of cats, but still a majority, was similarly affectionate to children: 429 of 626 (68.5%) for 6–8 year olds and 297 of 547 (54.3%) for 3–5 year olds.

Considering these cats in families of the general public, neuter status, or gender was unrelated to the cats' aggression or affection. Being the family's only cat was associated with heightened aggression and reduced affection. Younger cats were more likely to be affectionate.

Cat's Behavior Affecting the Child-Cat Relationship

In an open-ended item in the survey, parents had an opportunity to remark on the child's interaction with the designated cat that interacted the most with the child or children in the family. In these responses a vast majority of the children "liked to hold or sit with the designated cat about half the time," or "usually loved to hold or pet the cat," or were "crazy about holding, petting, snuggling and sleeping with the cat." Among 792 parents, 638 (81%) rated their children as being at least moderately responsive to the cat half the time, indicating that most children sought and valued the relationship with the cat.

TABLE 1 | Percentages of cats rated as moderately affectionate to children and adults: web survey of general public.

	Cats at least moderately affectionate							
Web survey	Adults	Children 6-8 yrs	Children 3-5 yrs					
Public	706/865 (81.6%)	429/626 (68.5%)	297/547 (54.3%)					

Among children living with the 63 cats rated as at least moderately aggressive cats, parents involved with 16 (25.4%) of these cats rated their children as crazy about the cat, and 6 (9.5%) parents described their children as feeling indifferent to the cat. One parent whose child was crazy for the cat wrote that, "the cat is not having it." In comments, parents sometimes described a conflicted situation where the child: "would love to hold and cuddle the cat," but "the cat views any interaction from the child as a potential threat," "will leave if possible," or "the cat hates it."

As a contrast with the aggressive cats, of the 360 cats rated as very affectionate with children and/or adults, parents involved with 173 (48%) of these cats rated their children as crazy about the cat, and only 10 (3%) parents scored their children as indifferent. There was a highly significant level of compatibility of children who had affectionate rather than aggressive cats (p < 0.001). In the 6–12 year age group, parents involved with 190 cats in 488 (39%) households judged their children as crazy about the cat; this was a trend toward a higher percentage of children being crazy about the cat than reported by the parents involved with the 113 cats for younger children, 3–5 years of age, from 347 (33%) households. Some cultural differences were evident, for 343 out of 776 (44.2%) cats in U.S./Canada were adopted from a shelter, compared to 11 out of 63 (17.5%) in Europe (p < 0.0001). Conversely, 196 out of 776 (25.3%) cats in the U.S./Canada were purebred, compared to 41 out of 63 (65.1%) in Europe (p < 0.0001). Additionally, only 172 out of 776 (22.2%) cats in the U.S./Canada were adopted as kittens, compared to 42 out of 63 (66.7%) in Europe (p < 0.0001).

To summarize, cats in the U.S./Canada were more likely than in Europe to come from shelters, and less likely to be purebred and adopted as kittens.

Multivariate Statistics

The Principal Components Analysis (PCA) revealed three primary factors; PCA Eigenvalues of the correlation matrix were: Prin 1, 4.72; Prin 2, 1.99; Prin 3, 1.29. Behaviors of primarily positive interactions of cats with children play a major role in the first behavioral factor, *cat's positive interactions* (e.g., from high to low), friendly to visiting kids, affection of the cat to kids 6–8 years old, to kids 3–5 years old, friendly to adults, affectionate to adults, affectionate to children; and with negative loadings for fearful with kids 3–5 years old and fearful



FIGURE 1 | Biplot of Factor 1 cat's positive interactions and factor 2 cat's fearfulness/aggression (Factor 1 increases to the right; Factor 2 increases going up. Lower right quadrant is the optimal relationship; e.g., intact cats were better for positive interactions than neutered females; cats from a breeder provided more positive interactions than those from an ad; ferals scored low on fearfulness/aggression; cats in Europe scored better on these two factors than those scored in the U.S./Europe). Points plotted in blue represent the variables that were used in the PCA. Points plotted in green, purple or black place subgroups of responses on the graph, corresponding to neuter/gender status, cat source, and miscellaneous categorical predictors, respectively. Points that plot in the same general direction relative to the origin are positively associated, while ones that plot on opposite directions are negatively associated. The strength of an association is related to the distance from the origin, so the points closest to the origin exhibit negligible associations.

with adults. These Prin 1 vectors then were associated in oneway ANOVA models with non-behavioral variables, such as the geographic region of the respondent, number and ages of children, the age and source of the cat, the age at adoption, the cat's breed and gender/neuter status. The second factor, cat's fearfulness/aggression, is dominated by; fearfulness with adults, aggression with kids 6-8 years old, aggression with adults, and fearfulness with kids 3-5 years old; this was associated in the ANOVA model with specific non-behavioral variables such as the ages of children, the sex status of the cat, and whether the cat was adopted as a kitten. The third factor, cat's playfulness and child's positive reaction, pertains to: the cat being playful with children 3-5 years old, being playful with adults, the children's positive reactions to the cat, and the cat's playfulness, with the cat's aggression with young children and adults having a substantial negative loading; this factor also was associated in the ANOVA model with the number and ages of children, and the cat's age.

To illustrate these results more specifically, three biplot figures are presented; each is a biplot of two of the PCAs revealing group differences. The biplots highlight and focus on variables found to have significant differences and exclude those with only marginal differences. In plots the cat's age range is indicated by: age1, 1 up to 3 years old; age2, 3 up to 6 years old; age3, 6 up to 10 years old; age4, over 10 years. **Figure 1** plots PCA Factors 1, *cat's positive interactions*, and 2, *cat's fearfulness/aggression*; the lower right quadrant is most favorable and the upper left is least favorable for a positive catchild relationship. A cat living in Europe, or being intact or a neutered male, was associated with the cat's positive interactions and low fear/aggression. A cat being young, an intact female, or from a breeder was associated with the cat's positive interactions. Being adopted as a kitten was somewhat associated with lower fear/aggression. Conversely, a cat being a neutered female or acquired from a newspaper ad was associated with a cat's negative interactions and high fear/aggression. A cat being older, feral, or an intact male, is off to the left of the bi-plot and associated with a cat's negative interactions to children, but low fear/aggression.

Figure 2 plots PCA Factors 2, *cat's fearfulness/aggression*, and 3, *cat's playfulness and child's positive reaction*; the upper left quadrant is most favorable and the lower right is least favorable for a positive cat-child relationship. A cat living in Europe or being an intact male scored low on fearfulness/aggression and somewhat positive for playfulness and the child's positive reaction. Cat's playfulness and positive reactions from children, but also with heightened fear/aggression, were associated with a cat's young age and being acquired through an ad. A cat being old was associated with somewhat low fear/aggression, as well as low playfulness and negative reactions from children. Kittens, neutered males, and feral cats showed increasingly low levels of fearfulness/aggression.

Figure 3 plots PCA Factors 1, cat's positive interactions, and 3, cat's playfulness and child's positive reaction; the upper right



FIGURE 2 | Biplot of Factor 2 cat's tearfulness/aggression and Factor 3 cat's playfulness and child's positive reaction (Factor 2 increases going to the right; Factor 3 increases going up). Upper left quadrant is optimal; e.g., male intact cats were better for a child's positive reactions than female intact or female neutered cats). Points plotted in blue represent the variables that were used in the PCA. Points plotted in green, purple or black place subgroups of responses on the graph, corresponding to neuter/gender status, cat source, and miscellaneous categorical predictors, respectively. Points that plot in the same general direction relative to the origin are positively associated, while ones that plot on opposite directions are negatively associated. The strength of an association is related to the distance from the origin, so the points closest to the origin exhibit negligible associations.



positive interactions; a cat from a newspaper ad scored worse. Adopting a young cat was associated with better scores on both factors than one adopted when older Points plotted in blue represent the variables that were used in the PCA. Points plotted in green, purple or black place subgroups of responses on the graph, corresponding to neuter/gender status, cat source, and miscellaneous categorical predictors, respectively. Points that plot in the same general direction relative to the origin are positively associated, while ones that plot on opposite directions are negatively associated. The strength of an association is related to the distance from the origin, so the points closest to the origin exhibit negligible associations.

quadrant is most favorable and the lower left is least favorable for a positive cat-child relationship. A cat being young was associated with positive interactions from the cat and reactions of the child, whereas the cat being old was associated with negative cat and child reactions. The cat living in Europe, being an intact female, or acquired from a breeder was associated with the cat's positive interactions. The cat being acquired from a paper ad was strongly associated with negative cat interactions but positive child reactions. The cat being an intact male, a neutered female, or feral was associated with the cat's negative interactions.

Additionally, three figures depicting conditional inference trees are presented, representing each of the three principal components, Prin 1, 2, and 3. This analysis searches recursively for predictors and threshold values (or dichotomous splits for categorical predictors) that result in a significant response difference, depending on whether the observation in question is above or below the threshold value. **Figure 4** depicts Prin 1, *cat's positive interactions*, separating cats with high values of Prin1 from those with lower values; a high score is favorable. Solitary cats as a group had lower scores and younger cats had higher scores. The highest score at Node 23 reflected female cats in Europe living in families with at least 3 cats. Another high scorer, node 18 cats lived with one other cat, had no children 6–8, was a male cat, living with a child 9–12. As examples of cats with low scores, Node 13 represents solitary cats that are at least 6 years of age, and Node 9 includes cats living with no more than one other cat, that are no more than 6 years of age acquired as feral or from a newspaper ad, and lack any children 6–12 years old.

Figure 5 depicts Prin 2, *fearfulness/aggression*, separating cats with high values of Prin 2 from those with lower values; a high score is unfavorable. The highest score at Node 7 included female cats living with 2 or fewer adults and a child 9–12 years old, adopted as a kitten, and living with one dog or less. The lowest score at Node 10 was for female cats living with 3 or more adults.

Figure 6 depicts Prin 3, *cat's playfulness and child's positive reaction*; a high score is favorable. The highest value at Node 6 represented a cat no more than middle-aged, living with at least 4 adults. The lowest score at Node 14 includes very old cats acquired from unusual sources with no children aged 9–12 at home, only younger children.

LIMITATIONS OF THE RESEARCH

The survey pertained to cat ownership, so participants necessarily were aware that the study was about cats. This knowledge presumably may have recruited participation of people who enjoy their cats and have good relationships with them. People whose cats have been aggressive may have relinquished those cats. The



study was not a randomized survey representing all families with cats. In fact, in multi-cat households, respondents were asked to answer the survey with regard to the cat most interactive with the children.

DISCUSSION

This study focused on cats' affectionate and aggressive interactions with children. The web survey of the general public revealed that relationships of children with cats tend to be less consistently affectionate and are possibly more problematic than relationships cats have with adults. Many of the limitations in the relationships are from the cats' unwillingness to be affectionate.

Cats were generally more likely to be affectionate toward adults in the family than to children ages 3–5 years old. In considering the variables that could predict likelihood for a cat being very affectionate to children, the age of the cat, and fearfulness vs. friendliness toward visiting adults and/or children emerged as prominent factors that may result in conflicted relationships. Aggressiveness is obviously incompatible with being affectionate toward 3–5 year olds. Similar to our previous published study of cats with children who have autism (46), very few cats were reported as aggressive. The parents were asked to choose the cat that interacted with children the most, and answer questions regarding that cat. A strong majority of families had multiple cats, meaning that most children had the option to select a cat for interactions.

Many children would like their cats to be affectionate with them, but the cats may have less interest in a relationship than the children and may be unwilling to be held by a child. Early social habituation of kittens to children could predispose cats to be affectionate with young children. This would take advantage of the sensitive period in the early weeks of cats' lives when friendly, affectionate behavior can be elicited from cats (31–33).

Concerning the interesting result that cats in Europe were described more positively than those in other parts of the world, this may reflect different perceptions or expectations among respondents of what a cat's behavior is or should be, or it could involve unidentified differences based on living situations. With no direct observations of behaviors, it is not possible to know whether these differences reflect contrasts in the cats' behaviors.

Obtaining cats by a newspaper ad stood out as a risk factor, in the bi-plots. When obtaining a cat from a shelter or a breeder, the cat is receiving good care and efforts are made to locate a good home for the cat. Perhaps with a newspaper ad, there may be greater urgency to place the cat with less emphasis on the cat's care and welfare throughout the process.

Having at least two adults and multiple cats in the home was associated with more positive child-cat relationships, but as noted, the reason for this relationship is unclear. Old cats were



the least satisfactory in child-cat relationships. Obtaining a kitten from a breeder or shelter seemed better than obtaining a cat that was feral, or from a newspaper ad, or other source. As previously highlighted (21, 22), the cat-human relationship is affected by both participants, and these results reveal that many variables can play a role in achieving a desirable relationship for a cat and child.

Cats living in Europe were rated as more interactive and less fearful than those living in the U.S./Canada. The higher rates of adoption of purebred cats and of kittens in Europe, rather than adopting older cats and acquiring cats from shelters as in the U.S./Canada, may help explain this difference.

In this survey of responding parents from the general public, presumably with mostly typically developing children and family cats, the cats varied in their levels of affection expressed to adults and children, with affection to adults being more common than to children, especially young children 3–5 years of age. Based on the responses from parents, children sought affectionate relationships with their cats and frequently enjoyed spending time with them. However, the desired level of a child's compatibility with the cat was often not fulfilled, in that some cats that are friendly and affectionate and provide a rewarding relationship to adults may offer much less to children in the family. This finding underscores the perspective that the cat's behavior is often the limiting factor in the interaction between a pet cat and a child, more than the child's level of interest. Also, these results suggest that with very young children 3–5 years

of age, compatible relationships are more likely with younger cats. Risk factors for conflicted relationships include: the cat's age; fearful and aggressive behavior of the cat; and the cat's social context with other companion animals. Although isolated cats scored higher on aggression than those living with other animals, it is unclear whether the aggression led to a particular cat living with no other animals vs. the cat becoming aggressive due to isolation. Suggestions supported by the data in this study for enhancing compatible, affectionate relationships between children and cats are: (1) to assume that cats in the age range of 1 up to 6 years are more likely to be affectionate to very young children than older cats; and (2) not to assume that a cat that is fearless and affectionate toward adults will also be affectionate to young children. While there are behavioral differences among breeds of cats that would undoubtedly be important in predicting that a pet cat would be likely to be affectionate and non-aggressive with children (43), there were too few purebred cats in this study to address this issue.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the University of California, Davis, Institutional Review Board as Protocols #201018447-1 and #284059-2. Participants responded anonymously to an online web survey and were informed on the survey of its



voluntary nature, and that participation indicated their informed consent.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LH, BH, and AT conceived and designed all phases of study, collected and analyzed data, and edited manuscript drafts. LH drafted and compiled manuscript. LL conceived and designed study. SH refined dataset entries for multi-variate statistical analyses by categorizing variables, especially for respondents' geographic status, cat acquisition as kittens, and numerical categories for statistical analyses. NW conceived and conducted

REFERENCES

- 1. Melson GF. Studying children's attachment to their pets: a conceptual and methodological review. *Anthrozoös* (1990) 4:91–9. doi: 10.2752/089279391787057297
- Turner D. A review of over three decades of research on cat-human and human-cat interactions and relationships. *Behav Process.* (2017) 141:297–304. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2017. 01.008
- Qureshi AI., Memon MZ, Vazquez G, Suri MFK. Cat ownership and the risk of fatal cardiovascular diseases. Results from the second National Health and Nutrition Examination Study Mortality Follow-up Study. J Vasc Interv Neurol. (2009) 2:132–5.

extended statistical analyses, and drafted text for methods pertaining to figures that resulted, with specific edits. LH, BH, AT, NW, LL, and SH reviewed and edited interim and final draft manuscripts.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Generous grant support was provided by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Development-Mars Public Private Partnership: NICHD 1R03HD066594-01. The UC Davis Center for Companion Animal Health provided partial support:#2016-56-FM.

- Endenburg N, van Lith HA. The influence of animals on the development of children. Vet J. (2011) 190:208–14. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2010.11.020
- Purewal R, Christley R, Kordas K, Joinson C, Meints K, Gee N, et al. Companion animals and child/adolescent development: a systematic review of the evidence. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2017) 14:234. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14030234
- 6. Zasloff L. Measuring attachment to companion animals: a dog is not a cat is not a bird. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1996) 47:43–8.
- Brucke WF. Cyno-psychoses. Children's thoughts, reactions, and feelings toward pet dogs. J Genetic Psych. (1903) 10:459–513. doi: 10.1080/08919402.1903.10532729
- 8. Guerney LF. A survey of self-supports and social supports of self-care children. *Element School Guid Counsel.* (1991) 25:243–54.

- Endenburg N, van Lith HA, Kirpensteijn J. Longitudinal study of Dutch children's attachment to companion animals. *Soc Animals* (2014) 22:390–414. doi: 10.1163/15685306-12341344
- Borgi M, Cirulli F. Children's preferences for infantile features in dogs and cats. *Hum Anim Interac Bull.* (2013) 1:1–15. doi: 10.1037/e634302013-002
- 11. Levinson BM. Pets and Human Development. Oxford: Charles C Thomas (1972).
- 12. Black K. *Exploring Adolescent Loneliness and Companion Animal Attachment*. Ph.D. Dissertation. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico (2009).
- Kidd AH, Kidd RM. Children's attitudes toward their pets. *Psychol Rep.* (1985) 57:15–31. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1985.57.1.15
- Kidd AH, Kidd RM. Social and environmental influences on children's attitudes towards pets. *Psychol Rep.* (1990) 67:807–18. doi: 10.2466/pr0.67.7.807-818
- Kidd AH, Kidd RM. Children's drawings and attachment to pets. *Psychol Rep.* (1995) 77:235–41. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1995.77.1.235
- Kidd AH, Kidd RM. Developmental factors in positive attitudes toward zoo animals. *Psychol Rep.* (1995) 76:71–81. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1995.76.1.71
- Kidd AH, Kidd RM. Reactions of infants and toddlers to live and toy animals. Psychol Rep. (1987) 61:455–64. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1987.61.2.455
- 18. Bowlby J. Attachment and Loss. Vol. 1. New York, NY: Basic Books (1969).
- Ainsworth M, Blehar M, Waters E, Wall S. Patterns of Attachment: Observations in the Strange Situation and at Home. Hillsdale, MI: Erlbaum (1978).
- Pika A, Wilkinson R, Kendrick K, Vernes SC. Taking turns: bridging the gap between human and animal communication. *Proc R Soc B Biol Sci.* (2018) 285:20180598. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2018.0598
- Wedl M, Bauer B, Grace D, Grabmayer C, Spielauer E, Day J, Kotrschal K. 2011. Factors influencing the temporal patterns of dyadic behaviours and interactions between domestic cats and their owners. *Behav Processes* (2011) 86:58–67. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2010.09.001
- Kotrschal K, Day J, McCune S, Wedl M. Human and cat personalities: building the bond from both sides. In: Turner DC, Bateson PG, editors. *The Domestic Cat.* 3rd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2014). p. 113–28.
- Triebenbacher SL. Pets as transitional objects: their role in children's emotional development. *Psychol Rep.* (1998) 82:191–200. doi: 10.2466/pr0.82.1.191-200
- Kosonen M. Siblings as providers of support and care during middle childhood: children's perceptions. *Child Soc.* (1996) 10:267–79. doi: 10.1111/j.1099-0860.1996.tb00595.x
- Bryant BK. The neighborhood walk: sources of support in middle childhood. Monographs Soc Res Child Dev. (1985) 50:122. doi: 10.2307/3333847
- Melson GF, Peet S, Sparks C. Children's attachment to their pets: links to socio-emotional development. *Child Environ Q.* (1991) 8:55–65.
- Daly B, Morton LL. An investigation of human-animal interactions and empathy as related to pet preference, ownership, attachment, and attitudes in children. *Anthrozoös* (2006) 19:113–27. doi: 10.2752/089279306785593801
- Bennett PC, Rutter NJ, Woodhead JK, Howell TJ. Assessment of domestic cat personality, as perceived by 416 owners, suggests six dimensions. *Behav Processes* (2017) 141:273–83. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2017.02.020
- 29. Finka LR. The prediction of human-sociability in the domestic cat *Felis silverstris catus*. Ph.D. thesis. Lincoln: University of Lincoln (2015).
- Bennett V, Gourkow N, Mills DS. Facial correlates of emotional behaviour in the domestic cat (*Felis catus*). *Behav Process*. (2017) 141:342–50. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2017.03.011
- Karsh, EB. 1983. The effects of early and late handling on the attachment of cats to people. In: Anderson RK, Hart BL, Hart LA, editors. *The Pet Connection.* St. Paul, MN: Globe Press (1983). p. 207–15.

- Bradshaw, J.W.S. The cat-human relationship. In: Bradshaw JWS, editor. *The Behaviour of the Domestic Cat.* Wallingford: CAB International (1992). p. 163–76.
- Casey RA, Bradshaw JWS. The effects of additional socialization for kittens in a rescue centre on their behavior and suitability as a pet. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2008) 114:196–205. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2008.01.003
- Howell TJ, Mornement K, Bennett PC. Pet cat management practices among a representative sample of owners in Victoria, Australia. J Vet Behav. (2016) 11:42–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2015.10.006
- Fifield SJ, Forsyth DK. A pet for the children: factors related to family pet ownership. *Anthrozoös* (1999) 12:24–32. doi: 10.2752/089279399787000426
- Murray JK, Browne WJ, Roberts MA, Whitmarsh A, Gruffydd-Jones TJ. Number and ownership profiles of cats and dogs in the UK. *Vet Record* (2010) 166:163–8. doi: 10.1136/vr.b4712
- Westgarth C, Heron J, Ness AR, Bundred P, Gaskell RM, Coyne KP, et al. Family pet ownership during childhood: findings from a UK birth cohort and implications for public health research. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2010) 7:3704–29. doi: 10.3390/ijerph7103704
- Bjerke T, Kaltenborn BP, Ødegårdstuen TS. Animal-related activities and appreciation of animals among children and adolescents. *Anthrozoös* (2001)14:86–94. doi: 10.2752/089279301786999535
- Marsa-Sambola F, Williams J, Muldoon J, Lawrence A, Connor M, Roberts C, et al. Sociodemographics of pet ownership among adolescents in Great Britain: findings from the HBSC study in England, Scotland, and Wales. *Anthrozoös* (2016) 29:559–80. doi: 10.1080/08927936.2016.1228756
- Adamelli S, Marinelli L, Normando S, Bono G. Owner and cat features influence the quality of life of the cat. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2005) 94:89–98. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2005.02.003
- Stammbach KB, Turner DC. Understanding the human—cat relationship: human social support or attachment. *Anthrozoös* (1999) 12:162–8. doi: 10.2752/089279399787000237
- Arahori M, Kuroshima H, Hori Y, Takagi S, Chijiiwa H, Fujita K. Owners' view of their pets' emotions, intellect, and mutual relationship: cats and dogs compared. *Behav Process.* (2017) 141:316–21. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2017.02.007
- Hart BL, Hart LA. Your Ideal Cat: Insights into Breed and Gender Differences in Cat Behavior. West Lafayette, IN: Purdue University Press (2013). 147 p.
- Sueda K, Hart BL, Cliff KD. Characterisation of plant eating in dogs. Appl Anim Behav Sci. (2008) 111:120–32. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2007.05.018
- Gosling SD, Vazire S, Srivastava S, John OP. Should we trust web-based studies? A comparative analysis of six preconceptions about internet questionnaires. *Am Psychol.* (2004) 59:93–104. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.59.2.93
- Hart LA, Thigpen AP, Willits NH, Lyons LA, Hertz-Picciotto I, Hart BL. Affectionate interactions of cats with children having autism spectrum disorder. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:39. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00039

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Hart, Hart, Thigpen, Willits, Lyons and Hundenski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Teaching Children and Parents to Understand Dog Signaling

Kerstin Meints^{1*}, Victoria Brelsford¹ and Tiny De Keuster²

¹ School of Psychology, University of Lincoln, Lincoln, United Kingdom, ² Department Nutrition, Genetics and Ethology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Safe human-dog relationships require understanding of dogs' signaling. As children are at particularly high risk of dog bites, we investigated longitudinally how children from 3 to 5 years and parents perceive and interpret dogs' distress signaling gestures. All participants were then taught how to link their perception of the dog with the correct interpretation of dogs' behavioral signals and tested again. Results show a significant increase in learning for children and adults, with them showing greater understanding of dogs' signaling after intervention. Better learning effects were found with increasing age and depended on the type of distress signaling of the dogs. Effects endured over time and it can be concluded that children and adults can be taught to interpret dogs' distress signaling more correctly. Awareness and recognition of dogs' stress signaling can be seen as an important first step in understanding the dog's perspective and are vital to enable safe interactions.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Consultant, New Haven, CT, United States

Reviewed by:

Aubrey Howard Fine, California Polytechnic State University, United States Esther Schalke, Lupologic GmbH, Germany

> *Correspondence: Kerstin Meints kmeints@lincoln.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Humanities and Social Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 08 June 2018 Accepted: 28 September 2018 Published: 20 November 2018

Citation:

Meints K, Brelsford V and De Keuster T (2018) Teaching Children and Parents to Understand Dog Signaling. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:257. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00257 Keywords: children, adults, dog body language, dog bite prevention, safety intervention

INTRODUCTION

Benefits of dog ownership include positive effects on human health and well-being and on child development and learning [see (1) for overview; for recent systematic reviews, see (2, 3)]. Dogs function as social facilitators (4), assist in therapy, are used as co-visitors in retirement and care homes, in nurseries and in hospitals (1). Pets are seen as friends, companions and social partners (5–8) and, increasingly, as family members (5, 6). Dogs are among children's favorite pets and children show most attraction to dogs, be it puppies or grown-up dogs, compared to other pets (9, 10).

In the UK around 30% of households own a dog, with regional fluctuations in numbers (21–38%) (11–13), while in the US and in Australia up to about 40% of households own a dog (5, 14). The dog is also the pet of choice in many pet-owning households in Europe and Canada, with even higher figures in Mexico, Argentina and Brazil (15).

However, despite the benefits of dog ownership, there are also risks involved. Hospital data revealed that each year, about 1.5% of the general population suffers a dog bite that requires medical attention (16, 17) and the prevalence of dog bites in children is twice that of other age groups (18–20).

In the UK, a clear increase in the number of people attending a minor injury unit or accident and emergency department for treatment of dog bites and strikes has been observed. Over the tenyear period March 2005 to February 2015 the number of admissions due to dog bites increased 76% from 4,110 per year to 7,227. This is a 6.5% increase from the 6,783 finished admission episodes recorded in the previous 12 months (21). With the highest rate of dog bite injuries occurring in children (22–24), Schalamon et al. (25), demonstrated that most injuries occur in those under 15 years of age, with rates peaking between the ages of 5–9 years. Recent figures from the National Health Service on dog bites and strikes (21, 24, 26) demonstrate that more serious dog bite injuries requiring admission to hospital are on the increase, with 17% being related to children under the age of 10 years. Furthermore, dog bite rates in most-deprived compared to leastdeprived areas are three times as high (21, 24).

However, the above estimate is low as these figures for adults and children do not include unreported cases were treatment was not required or where injuries were not presented to the medical profession (27, 28). Strikingly, when interviewed directly, about 47% of school children reported they had been bitten (28, 29). In a recent survey in the UK, Westgarth et al. (30) found that a quarter of their local sample of 694 adult respondents had suffered a dog bite.

High dog bite figures are not unique to the UK: the problem of dog bite injuries is a world-wide problem (31) with research from Australia (20), the Netherlands (23), Alaska (32), Belgium (33), Switzerland (18), Canada (34), and Spain (35) highlighting the extent of the issue. A recent study carried out by Quirk (27) estimated that 1,615,426 persons were treated in US emergency departments for non-fatal dog bite-related injuries between 2005 and 2009.

Costs caused by dog bite incidents are estimated at around \$53.9 million for hospital stays only in the US (36), with home owners insurance claim payments reaching \$530 million in 2014 (37). Likewise, costs in Australia were estimated around \$7 million (38) and in the UK at around £10 million (39). Medical and veterinary professionals have repeatedly demanded effective prevention [e.g., (40)] and a collaborative (41) and evidence-based strategy (42, 43).

The majority of bite accidents (about 75%) occur in the home environment and involve children bitten by a familiar dog [e.g., (25), (44–47)]; see also (48) for similar data on adults]. Child-initiated interactions, such as approaching the dog while eating or surprising it while sleeping, seem to trigger up to 86% of accidents at home (44). Recent questionnaire studies also showed that injuries occurred during feeding treats or play (49).

Younger children are more often injured in the face, neck and upper torso (25, 46, 50). It has also been reported that 43% of patients on a maxillofacial ward for treatment after a dog bite were children under the age of 10 (40). Such injuries can lead to life-threatening medical conditions or psychological sequelae like Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (51, 52). Whilst physical injuries are apparent, the psychological impact is less obvious, and left untreated can have long term consequences, not only for the victim but also their family (52). Seventy percent of all fatal dog bites involve children (53, 54).

Given these high figures, and given that most of the time, the child's interaction with a dog triggers the biting incident there is a clear need to increase parent awareness about home contexts and child actions that may trigger a dog bite (55, 56). There is also a need to improve the child's ability to assess how a dog responds to their action and for them to learn when it is not safe to interact with a dog. For appropriate supervision of children and dogs, it is also important for parents to be aware of the dog's signaling as reaction to their or their children's interactions with the dog.

Surprisingly, children as well as adults often do not notice dogs' stress signaling or misinterpret dogs' attempts to signal (57– 59). When shown images of dogs' facial displays, children often do not understand dogs' facial expressions and can confuse a very angry dog as being friendly and approachable (60). Without tuition, children do not discriminate dogs' body signals and tend to look mainly at the face instead (61). In adults, dog signaling interpretations vary with experience, however, dog ownership does not predict correct understanding of dogs' behavior [e.g., (62, 63)].

Overall, research has demonstrated that there is little knowledge regarding dog behavior and safety practices for childdog interactions [see also (64, 65)]. When trying to enable safe human-animal interaction, it is vital to be able to recognize and interpret the animal's distress signaling correctly in order to avoid injury to the person and distress to the animal. Arhant et al. (49) also emphasize the need for a dog bite prevention approach directed at caregivers.

While dog bite prevention programmes exist, and some address how to behave in public with unfamiliar dogs [e.g., (18, 66, 67), see (68) for a systematic review], while others teach children and their families to be aware of potential risk situations with a family dog, and how to avoid or de-escalate risk situations [e.g., Blue Dog bite prevention program assessment; see (56, 69)] there is no assessed program so far that teaches children or adults more basic skills—how to recognize and interpret specific dog body language. More precisely, currently no intervention has been tested to teach children and adults about dogs' behavioral response and their stress signals as a response to the child or adult in the context of a dog-directed action.

Humans often perceive petting a dog or hugging a dog as friendly gestures. Especially young children like to hug dogs as a sign of their friendship, not realizing that their (benign) actions might intimidate a dog and induce fear or distress. If a dog freezes and does not move, this may lead parents and teachers to think the dog feels happy with this well-intended attention. Thus, when targeting dog bite prevention in families with children and their pet dog, it is crucial to realize that safe cohabitation is based on mutual understanding of species-specific signaling, social gestures and interactions (70). Research indicates that most of the dog bite accidents with family dogs result from such seemingly benign (from the human perspective) interactions, hence the importance to stimulate awareness in children and parents about how their dog behaves, and which signals the dog presents when being hugged, petted or approached in different situations (55). Recent research has shown that most of children's interactions with dogs fall into this category, and mostly increase in frequency with age (49).

Dogs who feel stressed are likely to present stress- and threatavoiding signaling (e.g., nose-licking, turning away). When these signs are ignored or misinterpreted, the pet may use other strategies, including aggression [(71–73); see also Mariti et al. (74) for a first systematic empirical investigation of such behaviors in dogs]. Recent studies have shown further evidence that dogs show signals like licking of lips and looking away as appeasement signals in dog-human communication [(75); see also (76)].

Shepherd's "ladder" of distress signals (72, 73) includes *conflict-defusing signals* on its lower steps (appeasement behavior, calming signals, displacement behavior, e.g., nose-licking, eye-blinking)—these are signals to defuse conflict and restore

harmony in a social interaction. In the next grouping on the ladder, *conflict-avoiding signals* are included (e.g., walking away, standing crouched, tail tucked under, creeping). In case a perceived social threat continues, and/or conflict-defusing avoiding strategies have failed, dogs may present strategies higher on the ladder such as *conflict escalation signals* (e.g., staring, growling, biting). For an overview, see **Figure 1**.

It is important to stress that Shepherd's ladder is not to be understood in a strictly hierarchical way as dogs do not necessarily move through these signals in a linear fashion. Depending on how the interaction evolves (i.e., if the approaching human understood the message correctly, and by stopping all interaction with the dog, the dog may be able to relax and return to a state of comfort) and depending on what the dog has learnt (e.g., unpleasant outcome of interactions in the past despite conflict-avoiding signaling), their strategy may change over time, and dogs may move on to a snap or bite action to stop a perceived threat.

It is also vital to be aware that dogs' strategies depend on factors relating to the context (social & environmental triggers),





factors relating to the dog e.g., personal history (past experiences) and on their physical and behavioral health. It is important to stress that factors that are known to reduce a dog's wellbeing will reduce a dog's threshold for stress and arousal and increase the odds of using escalation strategies in a stressful encounter. Well-known examples are sensory deficits, physical illness, chronical pain or dogs suffering from anxiety (45, 47, 77). In addition, other signals may be shown [e.g., (57, 71, 74)].

There is a striking lack of knowledge of dog signaling in the population, and there is also a general lack of knowledge regarding dog behavior and safety practices for child-dog interactions, with owners of dogs often unaware of the factors likely to increase the risk of dog bites to children (64), for example, subtle signals are often not known by dog owners to be stress signals (58). This is a serious knowledge gap, as the safety of young children mainly relies on the perceptual understanding, and knowledge and anticipatory guidance of the adults around them (47, 64). The following steps are often named to constitute a more complete process of prevention and action:

- Step 1 Knowledge of stress signaling
- Step 2 Recognition and correct interpretation of stress signaling
- Step 3 *Adapt the action*: awareness of the situation and insight to act accordingly
- Step 4 Repeat Recognition of future contexts and avoidance of risk (78).

Thus, while dogs are rather good at interpreting human signaling [e.g., (79–92)], humans do not seem to be equally equipped to interpret dog's visual signaling.

Given not only the popularity of dogs as pets, also the increasing popularity of animal-assisted interventions in educational settings as well as the application of pets in the classroom [(93); for a systematic review, see (2); see also (1, 94– 99)], and given the frequency of injury with familiar dogs at home, there is an urgent need to teach adults and children dog body language.

In order for children to interact safely with dogs, they must first have knowledge of dog behavior and awareness of situations which may put them at risk of being bitten. This means that they must know the signals, recognize them, understand that they are the consequence of actions toward the dog, and, if it is their own action, adapt their action. Ultimately, it is crucial that parents also have this knowledge in order to teach and supervise their children when interacting with dogs and to provide anticipatory guidance.

If we can successfully teach children and parents to recognize and interpret dogs' stress signaling correctly, and be aware of the actions that trigger the signaling, and ideally, act upon their knowledge, then all sides will profit: adults and children will understand dogs' distress signaling better, risk situations may be defused and the (family) dog will enjoy more respectful and appropriate treatment.

In the current study, we have addressed the lack of knowledge and lack of systematic intervention with children and adults alike. By teaching participants how to recognize and interpret dog stress signals and by assessing if our intervention works, we are

Teaching Dog Body Language

undertaking the first steps toward preventing misunderstandings and risk escalation due to lack of knowledge.

We assessed participants' knowledge of dogs' signaling behaviors before and after a dog body language intervention with a range of video clips of real dogs. We tested both children and parents. In addition, we integrated this into a longitudinal design to monitor the effectiveness of the current intervention by assessing children's developmental progression over 4 time points up to 1 year. Finally, to gain more in-depth knowledge of other potential factors, we used questionnaires to learn about background demographic data, socio-economic status and dog ownership statistics.

METHODS

Participants

Children were recruited through schools and nurseries in the county of Lincolnshire, UK. All participants were healthy and had normal or corrected-to-normal vision. No exclusions occurred before testing.

Initial calculations with Poweranalysis [G*Power3; (100)] showed a necessary sample size of 18 children per age group (3, 4, and 5 years). As attrition rates of about 30–70% do occur in longitudinal studies and often reduce the initial cohort to a vastly smaller size in the final cohort (101), we over-recruited children to be able to cope even with a harsher drop-out rate. Hence, our initial overall group size at Test 1 contained 124 children for this longitudinal study. However, our attrition rate was very low and we managed to keep 82% (N = 101) of children in the sample after 6 months and we retained 85% (N = 105) of children in the final sample after 1 year as can be seen in the following **Table 1**.

Children took part in Test 1, 2, 3, and 4. Reasons for attrition in children are as follows: In Test 2, 3 children who took part in Test 1 did not complete Test 2 on the same day, hence were excluded from analysis. Test 3: Attrition of 20 children due to being ill, having moved school and being on holiday. Test 4: A slight gain of children occurred, as some who had missed Test 3 due to absence were back for Test 4.

Overall, in the final sample entered into the data set, there are 88 children who took part in all testing sessions (39 girls and 49 boys overall; 26 3-year-olds (12 = female, 14 = male; M = 3.4, SD = .32, range 2.8–3.9), 23 4-year-olds (11 female, 12 male; M = 4.6, SD = .24, range 4.0–4.9) and 39 5-year-olds (16 female, 23 male; M = 5.7, SD = .45, range 5.0–6.8). Of this sample, 37% had a dog.

Parents took part in Test 1 and 2 (same day) only. Additional longitudinal parent testing was not possible due to limited funding. However, piloting had shown that adults showed clear improvements as they found the teaching phase to be a real "eye-opener." Error rates dropped once they had realized what the behavior of the dog implied. The current study results confirm this and we have no reason to assume that adults with typical and intact memory capacity would forget this knowledge over time. Of the parents 27.5% were dog owners, these dog ownership figures for children and adults compare well with the national average of about 30% dog owners. Also, 47.5% of parents had been bitten by a dog, this is very

TABLE 1 | Participant numbers over time.

	Test 1 (baseline)	Test 2 (same day)	Test 3 (6 months later)	Test 4 (1 year later)
Age groups at start	124 children (N, mean, range and SD)	121 children	101 children	105 children
3 years	N = 44 (17 females, 27 males, mean age =3.4, age range; 2.8–3.9, SD = .3)	N = 42, (17 females, 25 males, mean age = 3.4, age range; 2.8–3.9, SD = .3)	N = 31 (12 females, 19 males, mean age = 3.9, age range; 3.4–3.9, SD = .4)	N = 34, (15 females, 19 males, mean age = 4.5, age range; 4.0–5.1, SD = .3)
4 years	N = 31 (15 females, 16 males, mean age =4.6, age range; 4.0–4.9, SD = .2)	N = 30 (14 females, 16 males, mean age = 4.6, age range; 4.0–4.9, SD = .2)	N = 29 (14 females, 15 males, mean age = 5.0, age range; 4.4–5.4, SD = .2)	N = 24 (11 females, 13 males, mean age = 5.6, age range; 5.2–5.9, SD = .2)
5 years	N = 49 (23 females, 26 males, mean age = 5.7, age range; 5.0–6.8, SD = .4)	Same as at Test 1	N = 61 (18 females, 23 males, mean age = 6.2, age range; 5.5–7.3, SD = .5)	N = 47 (22 females, 25 males, mean age = 6.0, age range; 5.8–7.8, SD = .5)
Adults	40 parents (8 males, 32 females, mean age = 38.9 years; SD = 4.9)	n/a	n/a	n/a

similar to the 47% reported elsewhere [e.g., (29)]. Thus, we can assume our sample is fairly representative concerning these factors.

Ethical Approval

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of University of Lincoln, School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee (SOPREC). The protocol was approved by the SOPREC. Written informed consent was gathered in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Stimuli

Video Clips

The stimuli consisted of sets of 16 short video-clips portraying dogs with the full range of behavioral distress signals described in "Shepherd's ladder" (72, 73). These are as follows: yawning, blinking, nose licking, turning the head away, turning the body away, pawing, walking away, creeping, crouching with tail tucked under, lying down with legs up, stiffening up and staring, growling, snapping and biting. Due to other literature, we also added snarling and walking away with hiding. We also presented four video clips of relaxed dogs. Given research indicating that acoustic input may help children's recognition and correct interpretation (102, 103), those clips that naturally had a sound (snarling and growling) were accompanied by this sound.

Due to ethical considerations we did not show serious bites drawing blood, and parents had the opportunity to view the images beforehand and decide if they allowed their children to take part. Also, children received a thorough debriefing session after testing finished, so we could make sure children clearly understood the dog signaling. None of the children displayed any signs of distress during testing or after testing, none of the parents reported any detrimental effects back to the research team.

Having piloted the video clips, we decided that the procedure worked best if we used 2×16 videos (2 per distress behavior)— we added 4 relaxed (happy) behaviors so that children would not get the impression that dogs are usually distressed, however, these items were not part of the intervention phase and children were not trained to recognized relaxed dogs¹.We called these "happy" as the language needed to be child-appropriate and previous work has shown that children understood this label well, similar for the terms "ok," "unhappy," and "angry" (60).

Videos were clipped and resized using Bink and Smacker (RAD Video Tools): each video was 6,000 ms duration, 360×240 pixels, and with a data rate of 25 frames per second.

Video clips were presented centrally on the monitor screen and displayed on a 15% greyscale background. Altogether, we used up to 4 different sets of videos in Test 1 (baseline), Test 2, 3, and 4 (see below). All video stimuli were assessed for their expression and approved by 3 internationally renowned dog behavior specialists.

Audio Stimuli

Audio recordings matching each of the visual stimuli were produced in a sound-proof professional audio-recording studio at the University. All recordings were carried out within one session so as to reduce variation in the voice of the speaker. The speaker was female and a native speaker of British English. Audio messages consisted of four features across all trials: an initial "Look" command, followed by a description of the dogs' behavioral signal to steer participants' attention, then a message of how the dog is feeling and lastly a message of safety instruction for the child. We have consulted closely with a consultant and dog behavior expert on the appropriate content of the verbal messages. Messages take the following character: (a) Attention getter (Look!), (b) highlighting the dog's signaling behavior, (c) followed by an explanation how to interpret the dog's behavior, (d) then a clear safety instruction for adapting their actions. An example of such a message is as follows: "Look! The dog is blinking its eyes. The dog is worried. You should leave the dog alone." Audio files were cut and manipulated using Audacity version 2.0.1. Files were 1141 kbps, 2 channel and were used in .wav format.

Rating Scale

We used a child-appropriate 1-5 rating scale in which symbolic faces expressed either very happy (1), happy (2), just ok (3),

unhappy/angry (4), and very unhappy/angry (5) emotions. Children had no problems using the scale.

Procedure

Children were tested in schools and nurseries in a quiet room. Videos were presented on a laptop and the experiment was programmed using the Lincoln Infant Lab Package 1.0 (104). Participants were seated approximately 70 cm from the screen.

Child participants took part in the study longitudinally; this included viewing an initial baseline phase of video stimuli (Test 1), immediately followed by a training phase of videos and then tested with novel videos (Test 2) afterwards to investigate if their knowledge had improved. Participants were then tested again 6- and 12 months later (Test 3 and 4) without any additional training to see if they had retained their knowledge. Hence, we have an integrated control group with each child being their own control (before and after learning and at the follow-up testing). In addition, we have further integrated controls in that 4-yearolds at testing start can be compared with 3-year-olds after 1 year (when they have turned 4 years of age). In the same way, the 5-year-olds at start of their testing can be compared with the 4-year-olds at testing point 1 year (when they have turned 5). Adults only took part twice on the same day (Test 1, Training and Test 2) and results can therefore be compared before and after testing.

Testing Phases

Baseline phase

Each participant viewed 20 trials. Each trial was made up of a 6,000 ms video displaying dog behavioral signals as described above. These were followed by a fixed choice user/child friendly rating 1–5 scale ranging from "very happy" to "very unhappy/angry." Participant ratings were recorded both electronically and verbally, and the rating scale stayed on the screen until the participant had made their choice. Duration of this phase was between 2 and 5 min.

Training phase

Participants viewed 32 trials (2 \times 16 distress behaviors, one set with dogs seen in Test 1, one set with novel dogs). Each trial was made up of a 1,000 ms blank screen accompanied by the initial "Look" audio. This was followed by a 6,000 ms video displaying dog behavioral signals accompanied by the remainder of the audio sentence highlighting the dogs' behavioral stress. Duration of this phase is about 4–5 min.

Test 2 (same day) and Test 3 and 4 (6- and 12-month intervals)

Participants were again presented with 20 trials (16 distress behaviors and an additional 4 "happy" dogs). This was immediately followed by the fixed choice user/child friendly rating 1–5 scale as described above. This took between 2 and 5 min. Both, children and parents thoroughly enjoyed taking part.

Note: In addition, half of the children always saw novel stimuli at each testing time, and the other half saw the novel set from Test 2 repeated at Tests 3 and 4. This was to explore if children learn

¹Incidentally, our behavior experts agreed least on "happy" dogs. In order to teach about relaxed dog behavior, we would need to set up a separate study investigating this. For the current research, we analyzed the behaviors that were trained in the intervention to see if we can educate participants on recognizing distress behaviors in dogs.

differently with items that are novel each time as opposed to items that are novel at Test 2 and then reoccur, however, there was no statistical difference, hence, results below include both groups of stimuli.

RESULTS

Study 1 With Children

Rating Scores Children

We initially calculated a repeated measures ANOVA with Gender (male/female), Dog Ownership (yes/no), Age Group (3, 4, 5 years) and Distress Signal Group (defuse, avoid, escalate) on the rating scores at different Testing times (before training, after training, after 6 months, after 1 year)². This analysis revealed no significant effects of Gender and Dog Ownership, hence we calculated a repeated measures ANOVA only with Age Group (3, 4, 5 years) and Distress Signal Group (conflict defusing, conflict avoiding, conflict escalating) on the rating scores at the different testing times (before training, after training, after 6 months, after 1 year).

We found a highly significant main effect of Age $[F_{(2, 85)} = 7.84, p < .001, \text{ partial } \eta^2 = .16]$ with older children showing more correct results than younger children. A significant main effect of Distress Signal Group $[F_{(2, 170)} = 298.85, p < .001, \text{ partial } \eta^2 = .78]$ also emerged, with children judging conflict escalating signals as different from conflict-avoiding and defusing signals, but not distinguishing between conflict-avoiding and defusing signals in dogs–*post hoc* tests with Bonferroni corrections (p < .0166) show that the following differences are highly significant: conflict-escalating vs. conflict-defusing (p < .0001); while children do not distinguish conflict-defusing vs. conflict-avoiding vs. conflict-avoiding signals in dogs (p < .05).

We also found a highly significant main effect for Testing times [$F_{(3, 255)} = 6.93$, p = .0002, partial $\eta^2 = .08$] with children improving significantly from Test 1 (baseline measure before intervention) to Test 2 after intervention (p < .002). Children also show improved knowledge from Test 1 to Test 3 at 6 months (p < .0026) and from Test 1 to Test 4 after 1 year (p < .0006).

There was also a significant interaction between Age group and Testing Times [$F_{(6, 255)} = 5.11$, p = .0001, partial $\eta^2 = .11$] which demonstrated that the older the participants, the better they perform. Highly significant interactions of Age by Distress Signal [$F_{(4, 170)} = 5.07$, p = .0007, partial $\eta^2 = .11$], see **Figure 2** below, and of Distress Signal by Testing Time [$F_{(6, 510)} = 6.02$, p < .0001 partial $\eta^2 = .07$] also emerged as well as a significant three-way interaction between Testing time, Distress Signal and Age [$F_{(12, 510)} = 1.94$, p = .028, partial $\eta^2 = .04$] showing clear differences between conflict-escalating signals vs. conflictdefusing and avoiding signals, with children showing better performance with increasing age and improvement over time, especially in the conflict-escalating signal group.

²See Norman (105) and Carifio and Perla (106) for the appropriateness of using Likert-scale data with ANOVAs.



These results show medium to high effect sizes. Results are illustrated in overview in Figures 2, 3.

After the intervention, children improve in their judgments, but even the oldest children do not come close to the correct ratings (e.g., 5 for conflict-escalating signal, 1 for happy).

Study 2 With Adults

Rating Scores Adults

An ANOVA of Gender (male/female) by Dog Ownership (yes/no) by Distress Signal group (conflict-defusing, conflict-avoiding, conflict-escalating) was calculated for Testing Times before and after intervention on rating scores. Gender and Dog Ownership yielded no significant results, therefore the analysis was calculated with Distress Signal group (conflict-defusing, conflict-avoiding, conflict-escalating) and Testing Times before and after intervention. We found a highly significant main effect for Testing Time [$F_{(1, 39)} = 243.93$, p = .0001, partial $\eta^2 = .86$] showing improved understanding after intervention and a highly significant main effect for Distress Signal group [$F_{(2, 78)} = 291.54$, p = .0001, partial $\eta^2 = .88$] highlighting differences between Distress Signal groups. **Figure 4** below illustrates this.

After the intervention, adults come close to the ratings that would be suitable for the dog's signaling attempt (5 for conflict-escalating signals, 4-4.5 for conflict-avoiding signals, 4 for conflict-defusing signals).

We also tested if there were effects for parental education, but no significant results existed.

Studies 1 and 2: Rating Scores Compared Children and Adults

We also found highly significant main effects on differences between the parents' and children's judgments of dog's behavior, with most mistakes occurring in the conflict-defusing and conflict-avoiding signal groups [$F_{(3, 387)} = 251.69$; p < .0001].





Expected vs. Obtained Scores

One-sample *t*-tests revealed that all age groups significantly underestimate and misinterpret the dogs' real distress signaling (p < .001). Again, younger children make most misinterpretations. Least recognition of different distress signaling is found in 3-year-old children.

Studies 1 and 2: Correct Answers and Errors

In a further analysis, we calculated correct responses and errors from the original scores. **Table 2** below shows percentages of correct answers and errors per Distress Signal category³. Please note the high proportion of errors classed as "happy" by the participants.

Correlations Between Children's and Parents' Responses

There were no significant correlations between children's and their parents' judgments of the dogs' signaling behaviors before or after training.

Correct Answers and Errors - Children

We also calculated a repeated measures Anova of Gender (male/female) by Dog Ownership (yes/no) by Age Group (3, 4, 5) by Distress Signal Group (conflict-defusing, conflictavoiding, conflict-escalating) before and after Intervention (Test 1, 2, 3, and 4) on correct answers. As there were no effects of dog ownership or gender, we ran the analysis with Age

³For the purpose of scoring % correct, we have scored "unhappy/angry"(4) as correct for conflict-defusing distress, and have accepted both, "unhappy/angry" (4) and "very unhappy/very angry"(5), as correct for conflict-avoiding distress and conflict-escalating distress. In a stricter analysis below, we have only accepted "very unhappy/very angry" (5) as correct for highly distressed dogs. Here, we have accepted both 4 and 5 for highly distressed dogs (instead of just accepting 5s) due to adults known reluctance to give extreme measures for emotional stimuli [e.g., (107)].

	Pre-tra	aining	Post-ti	raining	After 6	6 months After 1 ye		l year
	Correct	Error	Correct	Error	Correct	Error	Correct	Error
CONFL	ICT ESC	ALATIN		LS				
3 years	47%	53% "happy" 65%	50%	50% "happy" 58%	64%	36% "happy" 56%	66%	34% "happy" 58%
4 years	55%	45% "happy" 50%	72%	28% "happy" 69%	70%	30% "happy" 62%	76%	24% "happy" 41%
5 years	64%	36% "happy" 52%	83%	17% "happy" 43%	77%	23% "happy" 38%	81%	19% "happy" 36%
Parents	83%	17% "happy" 16%	100%	-				
CONFL	ICT AVO	IDING S	IGNALS					
3 years	23%	77% "happy" 68%	26%	74% "happy" 75%	33%	67% "happy" 49%	30%	70% "happy" 62%
4 years	31%	69% "happy" 51%	27%	73% "happy" 58%	33%	67% "happy" 49%	36%	64% "happy" 37%
5 years	27%	73% "happy" 56%	42%	58% "happy" 34%	25%	75% "happy" 51%	20%	80% "happy" 57%
Parents	52%	48% "happy" 66%	93%	7% "happy" 36%				
CONFL	ICT DEF	USING S	GNALS					
3 years	16%	84% "happy" 54%	14%	86% "happy" 64%	16%	84% "happy" 50%	14%	86% "happy" 58%
4 years	13%	87% "happy" 55%	13%	87% "happy" 50%	15%	85% "happy" 45%	17%	83% "happy" 45%
5 years	20%	80% "happy" 56%	20%	80% "happy" 35%	18%	82% "happy" 44%	13%	87% "happy" 41%
Parents	28%	72% "happy" 14%	73%	27% "happy" 16%				

Based on 114 children overall and 40 adults.

Group (3, 4, 5) by Distress Group (conflict-defusing, conflictavoiding, conflict-escalating) at the different testing times (before training, after training, after 6 months, after 1 year). The following main effects were found: A significant main effect for Age [$F_{(2, 148.822)} = 6.98$, p = .002, partial $\eta^2 = .14$] and Distress Signal Group [$F_{(1.772, 84)} = 395.36$, p = .0001, partial $\eta^2 = .83$] as well as Testing Time [$F_{(2.823, 237.156)} = 4.72$, p = .004, partial $\eta^2 = .053$]. Significant interactions were shown for Testing Time by Age [$F_{(6, 84)} = 4.94$, p = .001, partial $\eta^2 = .11$], Distress Signal by Age [$F_{(4, 84)} = 4.298$, p = .002, partial $\eta^2 = .93$] and Testing Time by Distress Signal [$F_{(5.643, 473.980)} = 4.70$, p = .001, partial $\eta^2 = .53$]. Overall, children distinguish conflict-escalating signals better than conflict-avoiding and conflict-defusing signals. They show more correct answers with increasing age and improve after intervention, specifically in the conflict-escalating signal group. In this group, improvements are stable over time (up to 1 year). The 5-year-olds also improve in the conflict-avoiding signal group from before to after intervention, however, this effect is not enduring over time. Interestingly, despite the same rating categories 4 and 5 accepted for conflict-avoiding and conflict-escalating signals, children distinguished conflict-avoiding and conflict-escalating signals clearly (p < .0001). Overall, these results show significant differences over time and for the different distress groups, with older children giving more correct answers than younger children. See **Figure 5** below for an overview of the results.

Concerning the question if children just learn over time or if results are due to our intervention, we have compared results of children at 4 and 5 years (4-year-olds at initial test act as control group to 3-year-olds at testing after 1 year when they are 4; 5-year-olds at initial test act as control group to 4-year-olds at testing after 1 year when they are 5). When comparing these 3-year-olds' reactions after 1 year, they show significantly more correct answers (66%) compared to 4-yearolds before intervention (55% correct, p < .044). Similarly, 4year-olds after 1 year when they turned 5 demonstrate 76% correct answers vs. 64% correct answers in 5-year-olds before intervention start (p < .025). These significant differences between the control and intervention groups indicate that the intervention is successful and causes a significant increase in learning.

Correct Answers and Errors – Adults

We calculated a repeated measures Anova of Gender (male/female) by Dog Ownership (yes/no) by Distress group (conflict-defusing, conflict-avoiding, conflict-escalating) for Testing Times before and after intervention on percentage of correct answers. Gender and Dog Ownership yielded no significant results, therefore the analysis was calculated with Distress Signal group (conflict-defusing, conflict-avoiding, conflict-escalating) and Testing Times (before and after intervention) on percent correct responses. We found a highly significant main effect for Testing Times $[F_{(1, 39)} = 311.49,$ p = .0001, partial $\eta^2 = .89$] with better results overall after intervention and a highly significant main effect for Distress Signal Group showing differences between distress signal groups are perceived $[F_{(2, 78)} = 173.73, p = .0001, partial$ η^2 = .82]. A highly significant interaction between Testing Time and Distress Signal also emerged $[F_{(2,78)} = 26.01, p =$.0001, partial $\eta^2 = .40$] demonstrating higher rates of correct answers with higher distress as well as rates of correct answers rising from conflict-defusing via avoiding to escalating and all scores being higher after intervention. Results in overview in Figure 6 below.

Interestingly, if we calculate results on a stricter criterium, i.e., only count as correct for conflict-escalating those answers that said "very unhappy/very angry," all main effects and interactions stay intact, however, performance of adults drops in the conflict-avoiding category to 40% - and in children to 35, 51-, and 60% respectively for 3-, 4-, and 5-year-olds after intervention.





Additional Observations–Children's Initial Perceptions

In addition to the quantitative data described above, we also would like to provide some additional observations. While we were working with the children, they often commented on the videos. The quotes below give an impression of children's thinking and reflect the most frequent comments, see **Table 3** below.

These comments were frequently made and show that children often anthropomorphise dogs and try to find an explanation that would be appropriate to explain human behavior, but unfortunately does not fit the dog's signaling intentions.

We would furthermore like to report, so far also only anecdotal comments of parents stating that they frequently provoked distress-signaling behaviors, for example, like lip/noselicking in their dog, as the family found it funny. However, having learned about dogs' distress signaling in the intervention, the

TABLE 3 | Dog signaling behaviors and children's perceptions and interpretations.

Dog signaling	Child's perception and interpretation
Dog growling/snarling	"Is really happy and makes a funny noise!" "I could go and cuddle and kiss it - it is so happy!"
Dog staring/stiffening up	"It's looking at me – it likes me!"
Dog lying down, legs up	"It wants me to tickle its belly!"
Dog crouching, tail tucked	"It's sad – let me go and cuddle it to cheer it up!"
Dog hiding under couch	"Surely, dog wants to play hide and seek!"
Dog is yawning	"Must be tired!"
Dog shows nose/lip-licking	"Something tasty on its nose"

adults were upset that they and their children might have caused their dog distress and commented that they will change their (and their children's) behavior, thus contributing to a safer home environment for all and to dogs' welfare. Further research will need to be carried out to investigate this systematically.

DISCUSSION

Results show that children and adults profit from the intervention and improve their knowledge of dogs' stress signaling significantly. When performing analyses over time we found that, overall, learning effects are still highly significant in children after 6 months and 1 year despite no training taking place in the meantime–thus, the intervention works successfully, even over the duration of 1 year.

A closer look at the error results shows us the areas in which the intervention has worked most successfully, and also the areas in which we need to invest more training with children and parents alike. We have very good success teaching all age groups of children, even young children of 3 years, and parents the meaning of conflict-escalating distress signals. They learn to understand, recognize and correctly interpret the signals and the learning success is still evident after 1 year. This is an important success as dogs showing their teeth or snarling or biting, pose a significant risk to children if these approach the dogs displaying such signaling. We have good to moderate success in training especially older (5-year-old) children and parents on conflictavoiding distress signals. However, the data also show that all participants, including adults, find the more subtle signals of dogs' distress hardest to judge. Here, after intervention, only adults show excellent improvements. More research is needed to analyse these signals and how they are perceived in detailed examinations of this in future studies.

One could also question whether children's increase in knowledge is due to general learning and increase in maturity-however, the results of the 4- and 5-year-olds clearly contradict this as children who have taken part in the interventions (3- and 4-year-olds tested after 1 year when they turned 4 and 5 respectively) show significantly better results than the 4-and 5-year-olds at the start of the study (before intervention). Thus, our intervention has clearly improved their knowledge over time compared to the control group. To investigate the role of the intervention in light of children's learning and general maturity over time, it could be useful to devise larger studies with independent control groups, hence requiring significantly larger funding sources.

Overall, it becomes evident from this data that it is possible to educate adults and children to understand dogs' distress signaling. Adults profited from the intervention throughout all distress categories and show clear and significant learning effects. Thus, it is advisable to teach dog signaling to parents, dog owners, dog trainers, veterinary students and the wider public. The short intervention is easy to use and leads to significant improvements in knowledge, recognition and interpretation straight away and with enduring effect.

It has also become clear which areas need further attention and research–while our intervention works very well with adults and also with older children, it has to be adapted to improve especially the younger children's understanding, especially of the more subtle distress signals in dogs. Further research will need to explore how children process the signals and how to teach these signals best.

Our background measures of dog ownership, SES/parental education showed that there were no effects of any of these factors-in other words, neither children's nor parents' performance was better if, for example, they owned a dog, had a higher SES/education. Instead, performance was independent of these factors.

There was also no difference between children seeing novel stimuli in all test phases or the same stimuli again. This is useful to know for the future creation of interventions as we can now be confident that we do not need to increase the amount of novel stimuli to be shown in order to train and assess children on dog body signaling.

Finally, children's utterances illustrated how they perceived and misinterpreted—dogs' body language. Further quantitative as well as qualitative research in this area is warranted and could help develop additional dog bite prevention tools.

By assessing if our intervention works, we have undertaken the first step toward preventing misunderstandings and risk escalation due to addressing the current lack of knowledge and replacing it with knowledge that is stable over time. In the case of conflict-escalating signals, all participants showed significant improvements in knowledge over time.

Further steps next to teaching children and parents *Knowledge* of stress signaling (step 1) and *Recognition and correct interpretation* of stress signaling in context (step 2) are to *Adapt the action.* Having created awareness of the situation, insight to act accordingly should follow (step 3). Finally, *Repeat recognition* of future triggers and contexts and avoidance of risk (step 4) need to follow to effectively implement the taught knowledge. Further research will have to assess how to achieve these aims best.

In particular, future studies should address how best to implement the above so that beyond recognizing and understanding the signals, specific human actions and contexts wherein the dog presents these signs are recognized. It will also be useful to investigate if parents—or other educators—can guide and educate children to be aware of specific risk contexts. Concerning parental supervision, it would be interesting to find out to what extent they supervise child and dog and stop children from engaging in risky contexts with their dog in the first place. Furthermore, it would be beneficial to follow up in how far the welfare of family and dog are compromised after escalations have happened as well as investigate the role of professional help from a veterinary behavioral specialist.

Finally, and importantly, we assume that dogs will benefit from children and adults having been taught how to read their distress signals. This increased understanding will mean that dogs are better understood, and if humans apply their knowledge appropriately this will lead to greater wellbeing of the dog living within a family household.

CONCLUSION

This project is the first to offer an intervention to enhance children's and adults' abilities to interpret dog signaling correctly.

We investigated how children perceive and categorize dogs' body language and interpret their signals and we then trained them and were able to improve their knowledge, recognition and interpretation skills.

We showed very good results in improving the potentially very dangerous misunderstandings of dogs' conflict-escalating distress and threat signals. For example, a snarling dog showing teeth which children often misinterpreted as a happy dog, can now be corrected-children showed significant improvements that were stable over time. We have shown successfully that we can significantly improve all participants' abilities to recognize and understand these signals and enable all participant groups to avoid escalating risk situations-our intervention works especially well for these high risk situations. This is especially useful as if such escalation occurs—it should be stopped to avoid risk of dog bite incidents and continued stress to the dog. Crucially, as our intervention furthers understanding of conflict-defusing and conflict-avoiding signals, hopefully, this may help to avoid risk escalation.

We have revealed the extent of children's and adults misinterpretation errors for the first time, and we have shown areas in which children and adults make most errors. We have also shown that we can teach adults and children successfully to learn, recognize and interpret the signals correctly.

With this new knowledge we enhance the currently scarce scientific database on children's and adults' interpretation abilities of dog signaling. We can now also address not only the most dangerous misinterpretations, but also commit ourselves to creating awareness of the less well understood and most frequently misunderstood signaling behaviors of dogs in order to avoid escalation of risk. The materials used can be further developed into an awareness raising intervention that is more widely usable for children and adults. For future effective prevention the above mentioned steps of implementation need to follow and, in turn, also be assessed as to their effectiveness.

In sum, we have now got a solid knowledge base about how children and adults look at and perceive dogs and (mis)interpret their behavior.

Our study was able to close these particular knowledge gaps, establish the necessary knowledge for the first time and therefore significantly advance the scientific knowledge in this area. Our study was also able to show that we can teach dog signaling successfully, and it outlines the current limitations.

Veterinarians will profit from these results insofar as they can help to raise awareness of the existing knowledge gaps in both adults and children.

Our study can also serve as an example of good practice in that we have evaluated the learning effects of the intervention cross-sectionally and longitudinally, as well as using additional measures.

In the future, integrated research projects including child psychology, veterinary, medical, educational and other social sciences can be developed as a result of these efforts and produce research with impact on One Health-related injury prevention challenges.

REFERENCES

- 1. Fine AH. (Ed). *Handbook of Animal Assisted Therapy*. London: Academic Press (2015).
- Brelsford V, Meints K, Gee, N, Pfeffer K. Animal-assisted interventions in the classroom - a systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 22 (2017) 14:E669. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14070669
- Purewal R, Christley R, Kordas K, Joinson C, Meints K, GeeN et al. Companion Animals and Child/Adolescent Development: A systematic review of the evidence. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2017) 14:234. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14030234
- 4. Raina P, Walter-Toews D, Bonnett B, Woodward C, Abernathy T. Influence of companion animals on the physical and psychological health of older people: an analysis of a one-year longitudinal study. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (1999) 47:323–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1999.tb0 2996.x
- 5. Australian Veterinary Association (AVA). Animal Health Alliance publication, Pet ownership in Australia. (2016). Available online at: http://www.ava.com.au/news/media-centre/hot-topics-4
- American Veterinary Medical Foundation (AVMA). US Pet Ownership and Demographic. (2016). Available online at: https://www.avma.org/KB/ Resources/Statistics/Pages/Market-research-statistics-US-pet-ownership. aspx

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KM conceived and designed the research project. TD fed back on the project proposals, contributed to their improvement and contributed the majority of dog videos. As behavior specialist, she also carefully assessed and commented on the video pool and helped select appropriate videos. KM and VB contributed to all aspects of the research itself from planning to testing to data analysis and writing up results. TD also contributed to initial design and planning and to writing the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was co-funded by the *Eunice Kennedy* Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD) and the WALTHAM[®] Center for Pet Nutrition, a division of Mars, Incorporated. The project described was supported by Grant Number 1R03HD071161-01 from the *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute of Child Health & Human Development and Mars-WALTHAM[®].

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank our funders and all nurseries and schools, parents and children who took part in this research-it would not have been possible without your help.

We would also like to thank dog behavior specialists Prof. Daniel Mills and Dr. Hannah Wright, both University of Lincoln, UK, for taking the time and great care to assess and comment on our video selection and to help us with the selection process for final testing. We would furthermore like to acknowledge and thank Geert De Bolster (dog rehabilitation trainer, Belgium) for providing additional videos.

- Millot JL, Filiatre JC, Eckerlin A, Gagnon AC, Montagner H. Olfactory cues in the relations between children and their pet dogs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1986) 19:189–95 doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(87)90216-4
- Filiatre JC, Millot JL, Montagner H. New data on communication behaviour between the young child and his pet dog. *Behav Processes* (1986) 12:33–44. doi: 10.1016/0376-6357(86)90068-9
- Borgi M, Cogliati-Dezza I, Brelsford V, Meints K, Cirulli F. Baby schema in human and animal faces induces cuteness perception and gaze allocation in children. *Front Psychol.* (2014) 5:411. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014. 00411
- Borgi M, Cirruli F. Attitudes toward animals in Kindergarten children: Species preferences. *Anthrozoös* (2015) 28:45–59. doi: 10.2752/089279315X14129350721939
- Murray J, Browne WA, Roberts M, Whitmarsh A, Gruffydd-Jones T. Number and ownership profiles of cats and dogs in the UK. *The Veterinary record* (2010) 166:163–8. doi: 10.1136/vr.b4712.
- Murray JK, Gruffydd-Jones TJ, Roberts MA, Browne WJ. Assessing changes in the UK pet cat and dog populations: numbers and household ownership. *Veterinary Record* (2015) 177:259. doi: 10.1136/vr.1 03223
- Pet Food manufacturers Association (PMFA). Pet Data Report. (2017). Available online at https://www.pfma.org.uk/_assets/docs/Data%20report/ PFMA-Pet-Population-Report%202017_WEB.pdf

- HSUS (Humane Society of the United States) (2011). Annual Report 2011. Available online at: http://www.humanesociety.org/about/overview/ financials/2011_annual_report/annual_report_2011.html
- GfK (2017). Available online at: https://www.gfk.com/fileadmin/user_ upload/website_content/Global_Study/Images/Infographics_Fullsize/Pet_ Ownership_Countries_Web-RGB-GfK-Infographic.jpg
- Gisle L, Buziarsist J, Van der Heyden J, Demarest S, Miermans PJ, Sartor F, et al. *Health Enquiry by Interview*, IPH/EPI Report N° (2002). 2002–22.
- Gilchrist J, Sacks JJ, White DD, Kresnow M-J. Dog bites: Still a problem? *Injur* Prevention. (2008) 14:296–30. doi: 10.1136/ip.2007.016220
- Horisberger U, Stärk KDC, Rüfenacht J, Pillonel C, Steiger A. The epidemiology of dog bite injuries in Switzerland – characteristics of victims, biting dogs and circumstances. *Anthrozoös* (2004) 17:320–39. doi: 10.2752/089279304785643212
- Kahn A, Robert E, Piette D, De Keuster T, Lamoureux J, Leveque A. Prevalence of dog bites in children. *Telephone Surv Eur J Pediatr.* (2004) 163:424. doi: 10.1007/s00431-004-1456-3
- Ozanne-Smith J, Ashby K, Stathakis VZ. Dog bite and injury prevention:analysis, critical review and research agenda. *Injur Prevent*. (2007) 7:321–6. doi: 10.1136/ip.7.4.321
- 21. HSCIC (Health and Social Care Information Centre). Accident and Emergency Attendances in England - 2014-15. (2015). Available online at: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/ hospital-episode-statistics-for-admitted-patient-care-outpatient- andaccident- and-emergency-data/provisional-monthly-hospital-episodestatistics-for-admitted-patient-care-outpatients- and- accident- andemergency- data-april-2014-to-february-2015 Accessed May 30, 2018.
- Wilson F, Dwyer F, Bennet P. Prevention of dog bites: evaluation of a brief educational intervention program for preschool children. J Community Psychol. (2003) 31:75–86. doi: 10.1002/jcop.10038
- Cornelissen JMR, Hopster H. Dog bites in the Netherlands: a study of victims, injuries, circumstances and aggressors to support evaluation of dog breed specific legislation. *The Veterinary J.* (2010) 186:292–8. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2009.10.001
- HSCIC (Health and Social Care Information Centre). Admissions caused by dogs and other mammals. UK: Health and Social Care Information Centre. (2014). Available online at: http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB14030/ prov-mont-hes-admi-outp-ae-April%202013%20to%20January%202014toi-rep.pdf
- Schalamon J, Ainoedhofer H, Singer G, Petnehazy T, Mayr J, Kiss K, et al. Analysis of dog bites in children who are younger than 17 years. *Pediatrics* (2006) 117:e374–9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-1451
- 26. HSCIC (Health and Social Care Information Centre). Hospital admissions caused by dogs on the rise say provisional figures, which highlight seasonal and regional patterns. (2012). Available onlina at: http://www.ic.nhs.uk/ news-and-events/news/hospital-admissions-caused-by-dogs-on-the-rise-say-provisional-figures-which-highlight-seasonal-and-regional-patterns (Accessed June 20, 2012).
- 27. Quirk JT. Non-fatal dog bite injuries in the USA, 2005 2009. *Public Health* (2012) 126:300–2. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2012.01.010
- Beck AM, Jones BA. Unreported dog bites in children. Public Health Rep. (1985) 100:315–21.
- Spiegel IB. A pilot study to evaluate an elementary schoolbased dog bite prevention program. *Anthrozoös* (2000) 13:164–73. doi: 10.2752/089279300786999789
- Westgarth C, Brooke M, Christley RM. How many people have been bitten by dogs? A cross-sectional survey of prevalence, incidence and factors associated with dog bites in a UK community. *J Epidemiol Commun Health* (2018) 72:331–6. doi: 10.1136/jech-2017-209330
- Messam LL, Kass PH, Chomel BB, Hart LA. The human-canine environment: a risk factor for non-play bites? *Veterinary J.* (2008) 177:205– 15. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2007.08.020
- Castrodale LJ. Hospitalizations resulting from dog bite injuries in Alaska, 1991 – 2002. Int J Circumpolar Health (2007) 66:320–7. doi: 10.3402/ijch.v66i4.18273
- De Keuster T, Lamoureux J, Kahn A. Epidemiology of dog bites: a Belgian experience of canine behaviour and public health concerns. *Veterinary J.* (2006) 172:482–7. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2005.04.024

- Lang ME, Klassen T. Dog bites in Canadian children: a five year review of severity and emergency department management. *Canad J Emerg Med.* (2005) 7:309–14. doi: 10.1017/S1481803500014494
- Rosado B, Garcia-Belenguer S, Leon M, Palacio J. Spanish dangerous animals act: Effect on the epidemiology of dog bites. J Veterinary Behav. (2007) 197:166–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2007.07.010
- Holmquist L, Elixhauser A. Emergency department visits and inpatient stays involving dog bites, 2008. In: Holmquist L, Elixhauser A, editors. *Healthcare cost and utilization project*. Washington, DC: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (2010). 1–14.
- Insurance Information Institute and State Farm. Dog Bite Liability. (2014). Available online at: http://www.iii.org/issue-update/dog-bite-liability
- Bennett P, Righetti J. The Delta Dog SafeTM Strategy. In: Proceedings of the 2001 Annual Urban Animal Management Conference. Melbourne (2001).
- Responsible dog ownership. (2013). Available online at: www.publications. parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmhansrd/cm130226/halltext/130226h0001. htm
- Mannion C, Graham A, Shepherd K, Greenberg D. Dog bites and maxillofacial surgery: what can we do? *Br J Oral Maxillofacial Surg.* (2015) 56:479–84. doi: 10.1016/j.bjoms.2015.02.022
- De Keuster T, Overall KL. Preventing dog bite injuries: the need for a collaborative approach. *Veterinary Record* (2011) 169:341–2. doi: 10.1136/vr.d5809
- 42. Orritt R. Dog ownership has unknown risks but known health benefits: we need evidence based policy. *BMJ* (2014) 349:g4081. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g4081
- Beaver B, Baker MD, Gloster RC, Grant WA, Harris JM, Hart B, et al. A community approach to dog bite prevention. J Am Veterinary Med Assoc. (2001) 218:1732–49. doi: 10.2460/javma.2001.218.1732
- Kahn A, Bauche P, Lamoureux J, Dog Bites Research Team. Child victims of dog bites treated in emergency departments: a prospective child study. *Eur J Pediatr.* (2003) 162:254–8. doi: 10.1007/s00431-002-1130-6
- Reisner IR, Nance ML, Zeller JS, Houseknecht EM, Kassam-Adams N, Weibe DJ. Behavioral characteristics associated with dog bites to children presenting to an urban trauma center. *Injury Prevent*. (2011) 17:348–53. doi: 10.1136/ip.2010.029868
- Brogan TV, Bratton SL, Dowd MD, Hegenbarth MA. Severe dog bites in children. *Pediatrics* (1995) 96:947–50.
- Love M, Overall K. How anticipating relationships between dogs and children can help prevent disasters. J Am Veterinary Med Assoc. (2001) 19:446–51. doi: 10.2460/javma.2001.219.446
- Oxley JA, Christley R, Westgarth C. Contexts and consequences of dog bite incidents. J Veterinary Behav. (2018) 23:33–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2017.10.005
- Arhant C, Beetz AN, Troxler J. Caregiver reports of interactions between children up to 6 years and their family dog - Implications for dog bite prevention. Front Veterinary Sci. (2017) 4:130. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017.00130
- Mitchell RB, Nanez G, Wagner JD, Kelly J. Dog bites of the scalp, face and neck in children. *Laryngoscope* (2003) 113:492–5. doi: 10.1097/00005537-200303000-00018
- Peters V, Sottiaux M, Appelboom J, Kahn A. Posttraumatic stress disorder after dog bites in children. J Pediatr. (2004) 144:121–2. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2003.10.024
- Boat BW, Dixon CA, Pearl E, Thieken L, Bucher SE. Pediatric dog bite victims: a need for a continuum of care. *Clin Pediatr.* (2012) 51:473–7. doi: 10.1177/0009922811435504
- Mathews JR, and Lattal K A. A behavioural analysis of dog bites to children. J Dev Behav Pediatr. (1994) 15:44–52. doi: 10.1097/00004703-199402000-00008
- Sacks JJ, Sattin RW, Bonzo SE. Dog bite-related fatalities from 1979 through 1988. J Am Med Assoc. (1989) 262:1489–92. doi: 10.1001/jama.1989.03430110079032
- Reisner I, Shofer F, Nance M. Behavioral assessment of child-directed canine aggression. *Injury Prevention* (2007) 13:348–51. doi: 10.1136/ip.2007.015396
- Meints K, De Keuster T. Brief report: don't kiss a sleeping dog: the first assessment of "the blue dog" bite prevention program. J Pediatr Psychol. (2009) 34:10. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsp053
- Kerswell KJ, Bennett PJ, Butler KL, Hemsworth PH. Self-reported comprehension ratings of dog behaviour by puppy owners. *Anthrozoös* (2009) 22:183–93. doi: 10.2752/175303709X434202

- Mariti C, Gazzano A, Moore JL, Baragli P, Chelli L, Sigheri C. Perception of dogs' stress by their owners. J Veterinary Behav. (2012) 7:213–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2011.09.004
- Bloom T, Friedmann H. Classifying dogs' (*Canis familiaris*) facial expressions from photographs. *Behavioral Processes* (2013) 96:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2013.02.010
- Meints K, Racca A, and Hickey N. How to prevent dog bite injuries? Children misinterpret dogs' facial expressions. *Inj Prevent*. (2010) 16:A68. doi: 10.1136/ip.2010.029215.246
- Lakestani NN, Donaldson M, Verga M, Waran N. Keeping children safe: how reliable are children at interpreting dog behavior? In: *Proceedings of the 40 th International Congress of the International Society for Applied Ethology*, 233. ISAE Committee: Cranfield University Press (2006).
- Tami G, Gallagher A. Description of the behavior of domestic dog (*Canis familiaris*) by experienced and inexperienced people. *Appl Animal Behav Sci.* (2009) 120:159–69. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2009.06.009
- Wan M, Bolger N, Champagne FA. Human perception of fear in dogs varies according to experience with dogs. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e51775. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051775
- 64. Reisner IR, Shofer FS. Effects of gender and parental status on knowledge and attitudes of dog owners regarding dog aggression toward children. *J Am Vet Med Assoc.* (2008) 233:1412–9. doi: 10.2460/javma.233.9.1412
- Dixon CA, Mahabee-Gittens EM, Hart KW, Lindsell CJ. Dog bite prevention: An assessment of child knowledge. *J Pediatr.* (2012) 160:337–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2011.07.016
- Chapman S, Cornwall J, Righetti J, Sung L. Preventing dog bites in children: Randomized controlled trial of an educational intervention. *Br Med J.* (2000) 320:1512–3. doi: 10.1136/bmj.320.7248.1512
- Lakestani N, Donaldson ML. Dog bite prevention: effect of a short educational intervention for preschool children. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0134319. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0134319
- Shen J, RouseJ, Godbole M, Wells HL, Boppana S, Schwebel DC. Systematic review: interventions to educate children about dog safety and prevent pediatric dog-bite injuries: a meta-analytic review. J Pediatr Psychol. (2017) 42:779–91. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsv164
- Dixon CA, Pomerantz WJ, Hart KW, Lindsell CJ, Mahabee-Gittens EM. An evaluation of a dog bite prevention intervention in the pediatric emergency department. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. (2013) 75:S308–12. doi: 10.1097/TA.0b013e31829be2bc
- McGreevy PD, Starling M, Branson NJ, Cobb ML, Calnon D. An overview of the dog-human dyad and ethograms within it. *J Vet Beh Clin App Res.* (2012) 7:103–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2011.06.001
- 71. Rugaas T. On Talking Terms With Dogs: Calming Signals, 2nd ed. Wenatchee, WA: Dogwise publishing (2006).
- 72. Shepherd K. Development of behavior, social behavior and communication in dogs. In: Horwitz D, Mills D, and Heath S, editors. BSAVA Manual of Canine and Feline Behaviour Medicine. Gloucester, UK: British Small Animal Veterinary Association (2002). pp. 8–20.
- Shepherd, K. Behavioural medicine as an integral part of veterinary practice. In: Horwitz D and Mills D, editors. BSAVA *Manual of Canine and Feline Behaviour*, 2nd edn. (2009). pp 10–23.
- Mariti C, Falaschi C., Zilocchi M, Fatjó J, Sighieri C, Ogi A, et al. Analysis of the intraspecific visual communication in the domestic dog (Canis familiaris): a pilot study on the case of calming signals. *J Veterinary Behav.* (2017) 18:49–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2016. 12.009
- Firnkes A, Bartels A, Bidoli E, and Erhard M. Appeasment signals used by dogs during dog-human communication. J Vet Sci. (2017) 19:35–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2016.12.012
- Kuhne F. Behavioural responses of dogs to dog-human social conflict situations. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2016) 182:38–43. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2016.05.005
- 77. Overall KM. Manual for clinical behavioural medicine for dogs and cats. St. Louis, MO; USA: Elsiever Mosby (2013).
- Gielen C, Sleet D. Application of behavior-change theories and methods to injury prevention. *Epidemiol Rev.* (2003) 25:65–76. doi: 10.1093/epirev/mxg004

- Call J, Bräuer J, Kaminski J, Tomasello M. Domestic dogs (Canis familiaris) are sensitive to the attentional state of humans. *J Comp Psychol*. 117:257–63. doi: 10.1037/0735-7036.117.3.257
- Gacsi M, Miklosi A, Varga O, Topál J, Csanyi V. (2004). Are readers of our face readers of our minds? Dogs (Canis familiaris) show situation dependent recognition of human's attention. *Anim Cogn.* (2003) 7:144–53. doi: 10.1007/s10071-003-0205-8
- Gácsi M, Maros K, Sernkvist S, Miklósi Á. Does the owner provide a secure base? Behavioral and heart rate response to a threatening stranger and to separation in dogs. J Vet Behav. (2009) 4:90–1. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2008.09.042
- Hare B, Tomasello M. Human-like social skills in dogs? Trends Cogn Sci. 9:439–44. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2005.07.003
- Horn L, Huber L, Range F. The Importance of the Secure Base Effect for Domestic Dogs – Evidence from a Manipulative Problem-Solving Task. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e65296. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0065296
- Racca A, Guo K, Meints K, Mills DS. Reading faces: differential lateral gaze bias in processing canine and human facial expressions in dogs and 4-yearold children. *PLOS ONE* (2012) 7:e36076. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036076
- Racca A, Amadei E, Ligout S, Guo K, Meints K, Mills D. Discrimination of human and dog faces and inversion responses in domestic dogs (Canis Familiaris). *Anim Cogn.* (2010) 13:525–33. doi: 10.1007/s10071-009-0303-3
- Guo K, Meints K, Hall C, Hall S, Mills D. Left gaze bias in humans, rhesus monkeys and domestic dogs. *Animal Cogn.* (2009) 12 409–18. doi: 10.1007/s10071-008-0199-3
- Kaminski J, Templemann S, Call J, Tomasello M. Domestic dogs comprehend human communication with ironic signs. *Dev Sci.* (2012) 12:831–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2009.00815.x
- Kaminski J, Schulz L, Tomasello M. How dogs know communication is intended for them. *Dev. Sci.* (2012) 222–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2011.01120.x
- Huber L, Racca A, Scaf B, Viranyi Z, Range F. Discrimination of familiar faces in dogs (Canis familiaris) *Learn Motiv.* (2013) 44:258–69. doi: 10.1016/j.lmot.2013.04.005
- Somppi S, Törnqvist H, Hänninen L, Krause CM, and Vainio O. How dogs scan familiar and inverted faces: an eye movement study. *Animal Cogn.* (2014) 17:793–803. doi: 10.1007/s10071-013-0713
- Yong MH, Ruffman T. Is that fear? Domestic dogs use of social referencing signals from an unfamiliar person. *Behav Process.* (2015) 10:74– 81. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2014.09.018
- Piotti P, Kaminski J. Do dogs provide information helpfully? *PLoS ONE* (2016) 11:e0159797. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159797
- Fine A, Gee N. How Animals Help Students Learn: Research and Practice for Educators and Mental-Health Professionals. New York, NY: Routledge (2017).
- Gee NR, Fine A, Schuck S. Animals in educational settings: research and practice. In: Fine A.H, editor. *Handbook of Animal-Assisted Therapy*. London: Academic Press (2015). pp. 195-210.
- Hall SS, Gee NR, Mills DS. Children reading to dogs: a systematic review of the literature. *PLoS ONE* (2016) 11:e0149759 doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149759
- O'Haire ME. Animal-assisted intervention for Autism Spectrum Disorder: a systematic literature review. J Autism Dev Disord. (2013) 43:1606–22. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1707-5
- Kamioka H, Okada S, Tsutani K, Park H, Okuizumi H, Handa S, et al. Effectiveness of animal-assisted therapy: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Complement Ther Med.* (2014) 22:371–90. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2013.12.016
- Maujean A, Pepping CA, Kendall E. A systematic review of randomized controlled trials of animal-assisted therapy on psychosocial outcomes. *Anthrozoös* (2015) 28:23–36. doi: 10.2752/089279315X14129350721812
- Davies TN, Scalzo R, Butler E, Stauffer M, Farah YN, Perez S, et al. Animal-assisted interventions for children with autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review. *Educ Train Autism Dev Disabilit.* (2015) 50:316–29.
- 100. Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang, AG. G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavior, and biomedical sciences. *Behav Res Methods* (2007) 39:175–91. doi: 10.3758/BF031 93146

- 101. Gustavson K, von Soest T, Karevold E, Røysam E. Attrition and generalizability in longitudinal studies: findings from a 15year population-based study and a Monte Carlo simulation study. BMC Public Health (2012) 12:918. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-918
- Flom R, Whipple H, Hyde D. Infants' intermodal perception of canine (Canis familiaris) facial expressions and vocalizations. *Dev Psychol.* (2009) 45:1143–51. doi: 10.1037/a0015367
- 103. Pongrácz P, Molnár C, Dóka A, Miklósi A. Do children understand man's best friend? Classification of dog barks by pre-adolescents and adults. *Appl Animal Behav Sci.* (2011) 135:95–102. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2011. 09.005
- 104. Meints K, Woodford A. Lincoln Infant Lab Package 1.0: A new programme package for IPL, Preferential Listening, Habitauation and Eye-tracking. {WWW doucument: Computer Software and Manual} (2008). available online at: http://www.lincoln.ac.uk/psychology/babylab.htm
- 105. Norman G. Likert scales, levels of measurement and the "laws" of statistics. Adv in Health Sci Education (2010) 15:625–32. doi: 10.1007/s10459-010-9222-y

- 106. Carifio J, Perla RJ. Ten common misunderstandings, misconceptions, persistent myths and urban legends about Likert scales and Likert response formats and their antidotes. J Soc Sci. (2008) 3:106–16. doi: 10.3844/jssp.2007.106.116
- 107. Tsekouras D. The effect of rating scale design on extreme response tendency in consumer product ratings. Int J Electronic Commerce (2017) 21:270–96, doi: 10.1080/10864415.2016.1234290

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Meints, Brelsford and De Keuster. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Associations Between Pet Ownership and Attitudes Toward Pets With Youth Socioemotional Outcomes

Kristen C. Jacobson* and Laura Chang

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Neuroscience, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

Evidence regarding the effects of pet ownership and related variables on youth socioemotional development is mixed. Inconsistencies across studies may be due to a variety of factors, including the use of different outcomes measured across studies, small potential effect sizes, and use of selected samples. In addition, studies have not systematically controlled for demographic characteristics that may bias results, nor have studies systematically examined whether effects are consistent across different subgroups. The present study examined the impact of pet ownership and attitudes toward pets on four measures of youth socioemotional outcomes: delinquency, depressed mood, empathy, and prosocial behavior. Linear mixed-effect regression analyses were conducted on 342 youth (48.0% male) aged 9–19 (M = 14.05, SD = 1.77) from a racially, ethnically, and socioeconomically diverse sample. The majority (59.1%) of youth currently lived with a dog or cat and all participants completed the Pet Attitude Scale-Modified. Pet owners reported lower delinguency and higher empathy than nonowners; however, group differences became non-significant once demographic factors were controlled for. Attitudes toward pets was significantly associated with all four outcomes. More positive attitudes was modestly associated with lower delinquency $(\beta = -0.22, p < 0.001)$ and higher empathy ($\beta = 0.31, p < 0.001$), with smaller effects for depressed mood ($\beta = -0.12$, p = 0.04) and prosocial behavior ($\beta = 0.12$, p = 0.02). For delinquency, empathy, and prosocial behavior, effects were only slightly attenuated and remained statistically significant after controlling for gender, age, race/ethnicity, family socioeconomic status, and pet ownership, although the effect for depressed mood became non-significant after inclusion of these demographic factors. While there was some variability in effect sizes across different subgroups, none of the interactions between attitudes toward pets and gender, race/ethnicity, age, family SES, or pet ownership was statistically significant, indicating that the effects may transcend individual differences in demographic characteristics. Overall, the study adds to a growing body of work supporting a positive relationship between emotional bonds with pets and youth socioemotional outcomes and offers potential explanations for inconsistencies across previous studies.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Consultant, New Haven, CT, United States

Reviewed by:

Megan Kiely Mueller, Tufts University, United States Francesca Cirulli, Istituto Superiore di Sanità (ISS), Italy

> *Correspondence: Kristen C. Jacobson kjacobso@bsd.uchicago.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Developmental Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 16 June 2018 Accepted: 05 November 2018 Published: 26 November 2018

Citation:

Jacobson KC and Chang L (2018) Associations Between Pet Ownership and Attitudes Toward Pets With Youth Socioemotional Outcomes. Front. Psychol. 9:2304. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02304

Keywords: pets, children, depressed mood, delinquency, empathy, prosocial behavior

INTRODUCTION

There is a high prevalence of pet ownership in the United States, with dogs and cats being the most common types of pets (American Pet Products Association [APPA], 2018). Overall, roughly 68% of United States household have pets (American Pet Products Association [APPA], 2018), and pet ownership is even more common among families with children (Melson, 2003; Westgarth et al., 2007, 2010), According to the US Census (2017), approximately 57% of households with children have two or more children. Thus, it is likely that more American children live with pets than with siblings. There is also evidence that humans form strong emotional bonds with pets. In a recent large United States national survey of adults, more than 80% of cat and dog owners indicated that "companionship, love, company, affection" was a positive benefit of owning a pet (American Pet Products Association [APPA], 2018). Studies of both children and adults reveal that a significant number of individuals consider pets to be family members (Melson, 2001; Cohen, 2002; American Pet Products Association [APPA], 2018) and to rank relationships with pets as being important (Kosonen, 1996). A study of 7- to 8-year-old children reported that pets ranked higher as sources of social support than non-immediate family members such as aunts, uncles and grandparents, (McNicholas and Collis, 2000), while a study of 12-year olds found that children reported greater satisfaction with their relationships with pets than with their relationships with siblings (Cassels et al., 2017). Despite the prevalence and importance of pets in children's lives, there is surprisingly little research on the effects of pets on child development, especially in comparison to research examining human-human family relationships.

While there have been numerous reviews on the impact of therapy animals on child developmental outcomes (e.g., Nimer and Lundahl, 2007; Lentini and Knox, 2009; O'Haire, 2013; Chur-Hansen et al., 2014), only one published review has considered the effects of pets. This comprehensive evidence review reported only 22 studies of child pet ownership and related pet variables (e.g., time spent with pets, attachment toward pets) published between 1960 and 2016 (Purewal et al., 2017). According to this review, evidence for positive benefits of pets is inconsistent across studies. Of the 39 results summarized from these 22 studies, 64% (N = 25) claimed positive effects, although more than 25% of these results (N = 7) did not include associated p-values or confidence intervals. Exactly onethird (N = 13) reported no differences between owners and non-owners, and one result showed a negative impact of pet ownership.

One possible explanation for inconsistencies in prior research is that studies have used different measures of child developmental outcomes. Pet ownership and related variables are most often studied in relationship to child self-esteem and measures of social competence. While the majority of studies examining self-esteem have reported positive results, studies of other measures of social competence have been less consistent (Purewal et al., 2017). In a large study of 826 Croatian children aged 10–15, greater attachment to pet dogs was associated with higher empathy and more prosocial behavior (Vidović, 1999). Two studies of Canadian elementary children also found that dog ownership was associated with greater empathy, but empathy levels were actually lower among cat-owners (Daly and Morton, 2003, 2006). Pet ownership has been associated with lower self-reported loneliness in two unique samples: a study of 293 racially and ethnically diverse, rural, high school students living in Arizona (Black, 2012) and a study of 332 homeless youth living in Los Angeles (Rhoades et al., 2015), although there were no effects of pet ownership or attachment to pets on perceived loneliness in the large Croatian study (Vidović, 1999).

Research on pet ownership and child emotional and behavioral problems is less common, and results are considerably more mixed. Vidović (1999) found no relationship between pet ownership and anxiety in a large sample of Croatian youth. Gadomski et al. (2015) found that rural children aged 4-10 currently living with pets had lower screening anxiety scores than non-pet-owning children, but did not find a relationship between pet ownership with broader measures of parent-reported youth emotional, behavioral, and attentional problems. Rhoades et al. (2015) reported that pet-owning homeless youth reported less depression than non-pet-owning youth, but a large study of Australian adolescents did not find an association between pet ownership and a composite measure of child emotional, social, and school problems (Mathers et al., 2010). One of the only longitudinal studies of pet ownership found that levels of tearfulness in 8- to 12-year olds were decreased at 12 months following adoption of a pet dog, in comparison to non-dog owning children, although the sample size for this study was small (Paul and Serpell, 1996). There are virtually no published studies of pet ownership and child behavior problems, although there are multiple reports suggesting that child hyperactive, aggressive, and disruptive behaviors in school decrease after introduction of pets into classrooms (e.g., Hergovich et al., 2002; Kotrschal and Ortbauer, 2003; Tissen et al., 2007; O'Haire et al., 2013). In the longitudinal study, Paul and Serpell (1996) reported a decrease in "naughty" behavior among children at 1 month following the adoption of the family dog, but this effect did not persist at the 6- or 12-month assessments. Given the relatively limited number of studies on pet ownership in childhood, it is unclear whether inconsistencies across studies are due to the use of different outcome measures or due to differences in sample characteristics. Research designs that include multiple measures of child socioemotional outcomes within the same sample are an efficient way to test whether positive benefits of pet ownership are limited to certain outcomes.

Prior studies also differ markedly in whether or not they control for demographic covariates. Given that pet ownership is not randomly distributed across families, it is critically important that studies consider other factors that might account for results. For example, ownership of and interest in pets tend to peak in middle childhood (i.e., 8–12 years) and to decline during adolescence (Melson, 1988; Paul and Serpell, 1992, 1996). Because rates of depression and delinquency increase during adolescence, correlations between pet ownership and outcomes could be driven by these coinciding developmental patterns, especially when samples encompass a wide age range. Gender confounds are also under-explored. Less than half of the studies reported in the Purewal et al. (2017) review controlled for gender, despite there being marked gender differences in behavioral, social, and emotional problems in childhood and adolescence.

Race/ethnicity and socioeconomic factors are other important factors to consider. Within North America, Caucasian families are more likely to have companion animals than African American, Hispanic, and Asian families (Siegel, 1995; Risley-Curtiss et al., 2006; Pet Food Industry, 2012; Saunders et al., 2017). While there is evidence that dogs are equally valued among Hispanic and Caucasian adolescents (Black, 2012) and adults (Johnson and Meadows, 2002; Schoenfeld-Tacher et al., 2010), Caucasian adults tend to own more pets and be more highly attached to their pets than African Americans (Brown, 2003). Racial/ethnic differences have not been routinely examined in studies of children, however, as most studies have contained more than 95% Caucasian youth. While population-based studies in Europe typically report inverse associations between family pet ownership and levels of income and education (Mullersdorf et al., 2010; Murray et al., 2010; Westgarth et al., 2010), a study of over 42,000 adults living in California reported that several positive socioeconomic factors, such as full-time employment, higher income, and home ownership, predicted both dog and cat ownership (Saunders et al., 2017). Because cultural and economic factors are important predictors of both pet ownership and child outcomes, failure to control for these effects could lead to biased results.

Finally, we have limited information as to whether the effects of pets on child development vary for children in different subgroups. One reason for this gap is that prior research on the impact of pets in children has relied heavily on small sample sizes that lack diversity. Of the 22 studies reported in Purewal et al. (2017) review, 40.9% (N = 9) were based on sample sizes less than 100 individuals, with 5 of these using less than 25 participants. In particular, the vast majority of prior work has been based on Caucasian samples. Thus, whether the potential protective effects of pets generalize to minority youth is largely unknown. There is also evidence that emotional bonds with pets may vary by gender (Kidd and Kidd, 1989; Johnson et al., 1992; Woodward and Bauer, 2007), age (Melson, 1988; Paul and Serpell, 1992, 1996), and family composition (Melson et al., 1991; Siegel, 1995; Bodsworth and Coleman, 2001; Westgarth et al., 2013). Thus, it is important to test whether the benefits of pet ownership vary across demographic characteristics.

The present study was designed to address these limitations. Specifically, detailed measures of pet ownership and attitudes toward pets were added to a larger study of risk and protective factors for youth socioemotional and behavioral outcomes in a racially, ethnically, and socioeconomically diverse sample of urban and suburban youth aged 8–19. We obtained multiple measures of child socioemotional outcomes and caregivers of youth provided detailed information on demographic characteristics. This enabled us to address the following research questions: (1) Is there a stronger relationship with youth socioemotional outcomes for attitudes toward pets compared to

pet ownership? (2) Do the effects of pet ownership and attitudes toward pets generalize across different socioemotional outcomes? (3) Are effects attenuated when demographic confounds are considered? (4) Are the effects different for youth in various ecological niches?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

Participants in this study took part in an in-lab family study at the University of Chicago. The sample was recruited from a larger community-based study of 3,582 urban and suburban youth in the greater Chicago area who had participated in a prior inschool survey of socioemotional behavior among middle school students (Chen and Jacobson, 2013). The in-lab study consisted of 378 youth aged 8-19 from 241 families, including 137 sibling pairs. More than 85% of families contacted for recruitment agreed to participate in the in-lab assessment, which occurred between March 2010 and August 2012. Exclusion criteria included the presence of severe physical, psychological, or neurological problems in children which would have interfered with study participation (<2% of families contacted) and/or a primary caregiver who could not read or write English (~6% of families contacted). The study protocol was approved by the University of Chicago Institutional Review Board. In accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, a parent/legal guardian (79.4% biological mothers) provided written informed consent for themselves and their children and youth provided written informed assent. Participants were compensated for their time. Youth and a single caregiver were studied simultaneously in an on-campus research laboratory during a single 3-4-h visit. Assessments included faceto-face interviews with caregivers and self-report instruments administered to both youth and caregivers.

Measures

Predictors

Pet ownership

Pet ownership was assessed through a detailed, semi-structured interview with the youth's caregiver that was designed for the current study. In brief, caregivers were asked to report on the presence of any pets currently living in the home, as well as any other pets they had had during the past 10 years. Questions were asked about dogs, cats, and small pets, including mammals, reptiles, birds, and fish. Preliminary analyses (available from first author) indicated that youth who lived only with small pets were more similar demographically to youth who did not live with any pets than they were to youth living with a dog or a cat. Likewise, youth living with a cat were similar to youth living with a dog. Thus, analyses used current dog and/or cat ownership as the primary predictor. Pet ownership information was available for 371 out of 378 youth.

Attitudes toward pets

Youth completed the Pet Attitude Scale-Modified (PAS-M; Templer et al., 1981). This measure includes 18 questions and assesses participants' general attitudes about pets. Responses ranged from 1 = strongly disagree to 7 = strongly agree. Questions were phrased both positively (e.g., "You should treat your house pets with as much respect as you would a human member of your family") and negatively (e.g., "The world would be a better place if people would stop spending so much time caring for their pets and stated caring more for other human beings instead"). Negatively phrased questions were reverse-coded, and all items were averaged to create a single composite score (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.90$), with higher scores indicating more positive attitudes toward pets. Youth were given the PAS-M scale regardless of whether or not they were current or past pet owners. Due to a procedural error, the PAS-M was not administered to N = 28 out of 378 youth (7.4%). Youth with more than 20% missing data on individual items were given a missing value for the composite score.

Demographic factors

Youth age was calculated using caregiver reports of youth date of birth subtracted from the date of the study day. Gender and race/ethnicity were obtained via both youth and caregiver report. For race/ethnicity, youth and their caregivers were asked whether they were Hispanic or Non-Hispanic, and they used a checklist to indicate their racial background. Responses included White, Black or African American, Asian, Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander, American Indian or Alaskan Native, and more than one race. Family socioeconomic status (SES) was assessed with the two-factor Hollingshead weighted SES index based on parental education and occupation, with a possible range of 8– 66. The SES measure correlated positively with caregiver report of family income (r = 0.62, N = 373, p < 0.001) and was used because it was less negatively skewed (skewness = -0.56) than income levels (skewness = -2.76).

Youth Outcomes

Prosocial behavior

Youth prosocial behavior was assessed using the Child Social Behavior Scale (CSBS; Crick, 1996) based on caregiver report on child. The CSBS uses four items to assess child prosocial behavior toward peers (e.g., "This child tries to cheer up peers when they are sad about something"). Responses ranged from 1 = never true to 5 = always true. Items were averaged to create a mean composite score (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.91$) with higher scores indicating more prosocial behavior. Youth with more than 25% missing data on individual items were given a missing value for the composite score.

Empathy

Youth empathy was assessed through self-report using the 15-item Social Attitudes Scale (SAS; Eisenberg et al., 1996). Responses ranged from 1 = really like me to 3 = not at all like me. Questions were phrased both positively (e.g., "I feel sorry for other kids who don't have toys and clothes") and negatively (e.g., "I think it is funny that some people cry during a sad movie or while reading a sad book"). Positively phrased questions were reverse-coded so that higher scores indicated greater empathy, and all items were averaged to create a composite score (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.91$). Youth with more than 20% missing data

on individual items were given a missing value for the composite score.

Depressed mood

Youth self-report depressed mood were assessed using the 20item Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D; Radloff, 1977). Questions asked how often each statement was true during the past week and included items such as "you felt depressed," "you were bothered by things that usually didn't bother you," and "you enjoyed life" (reverse-coded). Responses were 1 = never or rarely to 4 = most of the time or all of the time. Items were averaged to create a mean score (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.87$) with higher scores indicating greater depressed mood. Youth with more than 20% missing data on individual items were given a missing value for the composite score.

Delinquency

Youth delinquency was measured with 16 items assessing frequency of a broad range of illegal (e.g., stealing something worth more than \$50), norm-violating (e.g., skipping school without permission), and aggressive (e.g., getting into a serious physical fight) behaviors within the past 12 months. Responses were given on a 3-point scale, ranging from 0 = never to 3 = five or more times; each behavior was recoded into 0 = never and 1 = one or more times. A composite score of the number of delinquent behaviors endorsed was computed by summing the recoded responses to the 16 items (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.81$). The initial composite delinquency score was positively skewed (skewness = +1.68); thus the composite score (+1) was log-transformed to normality (skewness = -0.13). Youth with more than 20% missing data on individual items were given a missing value for the summary score.

Statistical Analyses

The data analysis for this paper was generated using SAS software, version 9.3 for Windows. Copyright © 2002-2010, SAS Institute Inc. SAS and all other SAS Institute Inc. product or service names are registered trademarks or trademarks of SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, United States. Descriptive statistics and preliminary analysis of demographic differences were calculated using standard chi-square tests, *t*-tests, and Pearson correlations. Primary analyses used hierarchical multiple regression to test the effects of pet ownership and attitudes toward pets on youth outcomes. Because the sample consists of a subsample of sibling pairs, regression analyses were conducted using linear mixed models in SAS PROC MIXED. Mixed level models take into account the clustering of siblings within families by including family ID as a random effect, while all predictors are modeled as fixed effects. All regression models described in the results adjusted for the non-independence of the sample. Separate analyses were conducted for pet ownership versus attitudes toward pets, and separate analyses were conducted for each of the four youth outcomes. Both unstandardized (b) and standardized (β) regression coefficients are reported, as the latter further serves as a measure of effect size, roughly equivalent to Cohen's d.

RESULTS

Descriptive Information Missing Data

Of the N = 378 youth who participated in the study, 31 youth had missing data on the PAS-M and 5 youth had missing data on pet ownership, resulting in a sample N = 342 for statistical analysis. Between 2 and 6 youth were missing data on each outcome, resulting in small differences in sample size across analyses.

Demographic Characteristics of Youth

The sample was approximately evenly divided across gender (48.0% male) with a Mean age = 14.05 (SD = 1.77; range 9–19). Over half of the sample identified as Hispanic or non-Caucasian, including N = 64 Hispanic (18.7%), 121 Black (35.4%), 6 Asian (1.8%), one each American Indian/Alaskan Native and Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander, and 23 youth who reported more than one race (6.7%). Racial/ethnic categories were combined for comparison of minority (63.2%) versus non-Hispanic White (36.8%) youth. The majority (89.8%) of youth lived with their biological mother, and 27.2% lived in single parent homes. There was a wide range of socioeconomic backgrounds (Mean SES = 45.17, SD = 13.79, range 9–66).

Pet Ownership

Of the 342 youth, 226 (66.1%) currently lived with one or more pets. Dog ownership was most prevalent (N = 159, 46.5% of the total sample), followed by cat ownership (N = 73, 21.3%) and small pet ownership (N = 60, 17.0%). These estimates are largely consistent with figures based on population-based samples (American Pet Products Association [APPA], 2018). For analytic purposes, the sample was divided into current dog and/or cat "owners" (N = 202, 59.1%) versus "non-owners," i.e., youth living with no pets or only small pets (N = 140; 40.9%).

Of the 202 owners, 114 lived with dog(s) only, 34 lived with cat(s) only, 20 lived with both dog(s) and cat(s), 15 lived with dog(s) and other small pets, 9 lived with cat(s) and other small pets, and 10 lived with dog(s), cat(s), and other small pets. Of the 140 non-owners, a minority (N = 24, 20.7%) currently lived with small pets while the remainder were not currently living with any type of pet. Moreover, almost half of the non-owner group (N = 60, 42.9%) had not lived with any type of pet for the past 10 years. Of the N = 24 youth living with small pets, the majority (N = 19, 79.2%) reported living with fish. Indeed, exactly half (N = 12) were living with fish and no other small pets.

Preliminary Analyses

Chi-square tests and *t*-tests indicated that the N = 36 youth excluded due to missing data did not differ significantly from the N = 342 included youth on gender, minority racial/ethnic background, age, family SES, pet ownership, or on any of the four youth outcomes (all p > 0.10, results available from first author).

Girls (61.2%) were slightly more likely than boys (56.7%) to live with a dog or cat, but the gender difference was not statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 0.72$, df = 1, p = 0.39). Owners and non-owners did not differ in age (M = 13.96, SD = 1.75 for owners; M = 14.18, SD = 1.80 for non-owners, $t_{340} = 1.14$,

p = 0.25). There were significant differences between owners and non-owners in youth racial/ethnic background ($\chi^2 = 39.53$, df = 1, p < 0.001) and family SES ($t_{340} = 5.09$, p < 0.001). Minority youth were less likely to own pets than White youth (46.3% versus 81.0%, respectively) and non-owners had lower family SES (M = 40.77, SD = 14.05) than owners (M = 48.22, SD = 12.78).

There were no gender difference in self-reported attitudes toward pets (M = 5.48, SD = 0.91, for females; M = 5.45, SD = 0.93, for males, $t_{340} = 0.35$, p = 0.73). Minority youth reported significantly less positive attitudes toward pets than Caucasian youth (M = 5.31, SD = 0.95, for minority youth; M = 5.73, SD = 0.80, for Caucasians, $t_{340} = 4.12$, p < 0.001). Age and family SES had modest, albeit significant associations with attitudes, with positive attitudes toward pets decreasing with age (r = -0.12, p = 0.02) and increasing with higher family SES (r = 0.12, p = 0.12). Finally, owners reported significantly more positive attitudes toward pets than non-owners (M = 5.69, SD = 0.83 for owners; M = 5.14, SD = 0.94 for non-owners, $t_{340} = 5.66$, p < 0.001).

Correlations Among Study Outcomes and Predictions

Table 1 presents simple Pearson correlations between main study predictors and outcomes. Note that *p*-values for these correlations are not adjusted for clustered observations of siblings within families. Pet ownership and attitudes toward pets were moderately correlated (r = 0.29, p < 0.001). There were some significant correlations among the four study outcomes, although most were modest in size, ranging in magnitude from -0.10 to +0.38. Pet ownership was significantly correlated with higher empathy (r = 0.14, p = 0.008) and lower delinquency (r = -0.14, p = 0.01). Attitudes toward pets was positively correlated with empathy (r = 0.31, p < 0.001) and inversely correlated with delinquency (r = -0.22, p < 0.001) and depression (r = -0.13, p = 0.02). The correlation between attitudes toward pets and prosocial behavior was smaller (r = 0.10)and was significant only at trend level (p = 0.08). Overall, correlations between youth outcomes with attitudes toward pets were stronger in magnitude than the respective correlations with pet ownership.

Pet Ownership and Youth Outcomes

A hierarchical series of mixed level regression models was used to test whether pet ownership was associated with youth socioemotional outcomes. In the first set of models, pet ownership was entered as the sole fixed-level predictor in a simple regression, with family ID entered as a random effect to adjust standard errors and significance tests for the correlated observations. Separate models were run for each outcome. Next, models were re-run including youth gender, age, race/ethnicity, and family SES as covariates.

In the first set of regression models, pet ownership was significantly associated with lower delinquency (b = -0.20, SE = 0.08, $\beta = -0.29$, $t_{121} = -2.40$, p = 0.012) and higher empathy (b = 0.12, SE = 0.05, $\beta = 0.28$, $t_{122} = 2.46$, p = 0.015). Once demographic covariates were included in the second set of

TABLE 1 | Pearson correlations among study predictors and outcomes.

	Pet ownership	Pet attitudes	Prosocial behavior	Empathy	Depressed mood	Delinquency
Sample N	342	342	339	340	336	338
Pet ownership	1.0					
Pet attitudes	0.29***	1.0				
Prosocial behavior	-0.01	0.10#	1.0			
Empathy	0.14**	0.31***	0.15**	1.0		
Depressed mood	-0.08	-0.13*	-0.10#	-0.10#	1.0	
Delinquency	-0.14*	-0.22***	-0.12*	-0.16**	0.38***	1.0
Mean	0.59	5.47	4.30	2.47	1.62	1.04
(SD)	(0.49)	(0.92)	(0.72)	(0.43)	(0.40)	(0.70)

Pet ownership is a binary variable with 1 = current ownership. Delinquency is shown with log-transformed scores. ***p < 0.001, **p < 0.05, *p < 0.01.

models, effects of pet ownership were not significant for any of the four outcomes.

To determine whether results were influenced by the definition of pet ownership, we ran additional *post hoc* models comparing current dog owners (N = 159) with the N = 60 youth who had not owned pets in the past 10 years. With demographic factors included in the models, effects using this more extreme definition of pet ownership/non-ownership were not significant for any of the four outcomes.

Attitudes Toward Pets and Youth Outcomes

Table 2 shows the results from the mixed level regression models used to test whether attitudes toward pets was associated with youth socioemotional outcomes. As above, analyses were run in two steps, without and with demographic covariates. In addition to gender, age, race/ethnicity, and family SES, pet ownership was also included in the second step. Both unstandardized and standardized regression coefficients are shown to enable comparison of estimates within and across models. In models without covariates, attitudes toward pets was significantly associated with all four outcomes. The strongest effects were seen for empathy ($\beta = 0.31$, p < 0.001) and delinquency ($\beta = -0.22$, p < 0.001), with more modest effects on prosocial behavior ($\beta = 0.12$, p = 0.021) and depressed mood $(\beta = -0.12, p = 0.035)$. More positive attitudes toward animals was associated with greater empathy and prosocial behavior and with less delinquency and depressed mood. After including demographic covariates, the association between attitudes toward pets and empathy ($\beta = 0.27$), delinquency ($\beta = -0.18$) and prosocial behavior ($\beta = 0.11$) remained significant at p < 0.05, while the effect sizes for depressed mood ($\beta = -0.08$) became non-significant (p = 0.14). Pet ownership was not significantly associated with any of the four outcomes (all p > 0.20).

Effects of Attitudes Toward Pets Across Different Ecological Niches

We examined whether the relationship between attitudes toward pets and child outcomes differed by gender, racial/ethnic background, or for owners versus non-owners, and whether age or family SES moderated the associations. Moderating effects were tested by including an interaction term between attitudes toward pets with each of the five demographic characteristics. All models were run as mixed level models and controlled for correlations among family members. Each model contained all of the demographic factors (including pet ownership) as main effects, attitudes toward pets as a main effect, and a single interaction term. Models tested each interaction separately, and separate models were run for each outcome. For continuous measures of age and family SES, both attitudes toward pets and the continuous demographic factors were centered prior to creating interaction terms.

Out of the 20 different models (5 interactions × 4 outcomes, results not shown), none of the interaction terms was statistically significant (all $p \ge 0.17$). To ensure that lack of power to detect statistical interactions did not obscure any meaningful patterns across subgroups, we also ran separate models for each outcome in each subgroup so that we could compare the magnitude of the association between attitudes toward pets and youth outcomes across subgroups. Each regression model included attitudes toward pets and all four of the remaining demographic factors. For example, in addition to attitudes toward pets, the regressions run separately for boys and girls included minority racial/ethnic background, pet ownership, age, and family SES as covariates. For family SES, we used a median split to define subgroups of low versus high SES. For age, separate regressions were run for 9- to 12-year-olds, 13- to 14-year-olds, and 15- to 19-year olds.

The effect sizes and 95% confidence intervals for the association between attitudes toward pets with child outcomes within each subgroup are presented in **Figure 1**. While there was some variation in effect sizes across subgroups, differences were modest and there was considerable overlap in confidence intervals.

DISCUSSION

The current study provided a comprehensive examination of associations between pet ownership and attitudes toward pets with youth socioemotional outcomes. Strengths of the study include: the use of a moderately large, community-based sample of urban and suburban youth with substantial racial, ethnic, and socioeconomic diversity; comparison of results for pet ownership TABLE 2 | Results from regression models of attitudes toward pets predicting youth outcomes.

	Without covariates					With covariates						
	b	SE	Beta	t-value	df	p-value	b	SE	Beta	t-value	df	p-value
Prosocial behavior												
Intercept	3.77	0.23	n/a	16.26	216	< 0.001	3.77	0.42	n/a	16.26	216	< 0.001
Attitudes	0.10	0.04	0.12	2.35	121	0.02	0.09	0.04	0.11	2.09	119	0.04
Male							-0.26	0.07	-0.36	-3.54	119	<0.001
Age							-0.01	0.02	-0.03	-0.53	119	0.60
Minority							-0.12	0.10	-0.16	-1.16	119	0.25
SES							-0.001	0.003	-0.01	-0.21	119	0.83
Pet ownership							-0.11	0.10	-0.15	1.17	119	0.25
Empathy												
Intercept	1.66	0.14	n/a	12.23	213	< 0.001	1.52	0.25	n/a	6.16	214	< 0.001
Attitudes	0.15	0.02	0.31	6.02	121	<0.001	0.13	0.02	0.27	5.31	119	<0.001
Male							-0.20	0.04	-0.46	-4.65	119	<0.001
Age							-0.00	0.01	-0.01	-0.25	119	0.80
Minority							-0.12	0.05	-0.26	-2.16	119	0.03
SES							0.003	0.002	0.09	1.53	119	0.13
Pet ownership							-0.02	0.05	-0.04	0.38	119	0.70
Depressed mood												
Intercept	2.52	0.03	n/a	14.21	215	< 0.001	1.76	0.25	n/a	7.11	212	< 0.001
Attitudes	-0.05	0.02	-0.12	-2.13	119	0.04	-0.04	0.02	-0.08	-1.49	117	0.14
Male							-0.10	0.04	-0.25	-2.33	117	0.02
Age							0.01	0.01	0.06	1.05	117	0.29
Minority							0.09	0.05	0.21	1.62	117	0.11
SES							-0.003	0.001	-0.11	-1.76	117	0.08
Pet ownership							-0.00	0.05	-0.01	0.05	117	0.96
Delinquency												
Intercept	1.95	0.23	n/a	8.67	216	< 0.001	0.87	0.40	n/a	2.17	213	0.03
Attitudes	-0.17	0.04	-0.22	-4.15	120	<0.001	-0.13	0.04	-0.17	-3.21	118	0.002
Male							0.05	0.07	0.07	0.70	118	0.48
Age							0.09	0.02	0.24	4.85	118	<0.001
Minority							-0.03	0.09	-0.04	0.29	118	0.77
SES							-0.10	0.003	-0.20	-3.18	118	0.002
Pet ownership							-0.04	0.08	-0.06	0.51	118	0.61

Bolded italic values reflect effects significant at p < 0.05.

versus youth attitudes toward pets; rigorous measurement of current and history of pet ownership obtained through detailed interviews with caregivers; consideration of multiple socioemotional and behavioral outcomes; the use of sophisticated statistical controlling for potential demographic confounds; and a systematic comparison of effects across different subgroups of youth. Results support three main conclusions: (1) attitudes toward pets is a stronger predictor of youth outcomes than pet ownership; (2) effects are strongest for youth reports of empathy and delinquency compared with prosocial behavior and depressed mood; and (3) significant effects were found among youth across a wide range of demographic characteristics.

Main Effects

Results from this study add to a small, albeit growing body of work examining the impact of pets on child socioemotional development, and further shed some initial light on potential reasons for inconsistencies across prior studies. First, while there was an initial main effect of pet ownership on child empathy and delinquency, these effects became non-significant once controls for gender, age, minority race/ethnicity, and family socioeconomic status were considered. This underscores the importance of considering demographic confounds in research on pets, given that pet ownership is not randomly distributed across the population. At the same time, controlling for the effects of demographic confounds only slightly attenuated the associations between attitudes toward pets and youth outcomes, and the associations remained statistically significant for three of the four outcomes considered. This result is consistent with both prior theoretical and empirical work suggesting that the positive benefits of pet ownership are largely mediated through the emotional bonds that humans form with animals (Garrity et al., 1989; Friedmann et al., 1993; Sable, 1995; Collis and McNicholas, 1998; Carlisle-Frank and Frank, 2006; Barker et al., 2010; Melson, 2010; Julius et al., 2012; Freund et al., 2016; Purewal et al., 2017). However, it should be noted that the effect sizes for





attitudes toward pets were small, ranging in absolute magnitude from $\beta = 0.11$ to $\beta = 0.27$, after controlling for demographic confounds.

We found the strongest association between attitudes toward pets and child-reported empathy, consistent with a recent empirical review of existing studies on pet ownership and child outcomes (Purewal et al., 2017). In addition, this association was relatively robust across different subgroups of youth in the study. Interestingly, we also found a relatively strong association between attitudes toward pets and youth delinquency. To our knowledge, this may be the first reported significant association between pet-related measures and adolescent externalizing behaviors in a non-clinical sample, although we note that studies examining the impact of introducing pets in classrooms have reported decreases in disruptive behaviors (e.g., Hergovich et al., 2002; Kotrschal and Ortbauer, 2003; Tissen et al., 2007; O'Haire et al., 2013).

We found the smallest effects of attitudes toward pets on prosocial behavior and depressed mood, and the association with depressed mood was not statistically significant once demographic factors were considered. For depressed mood, this result may indicate that relationships with pets only affect certain kinds of emotional problems. For example, a recent study reported that pet ownership was associated with screening anxiety in a sample of rural children, but not with a broader measure of youth socioemotional difficulties (Gadomski et al., 2015). Likewise, Vidović (1999) reported that attachment to pets was associated with child empathy and prosocial behavior in a large sample of Croatian adolescents, but was not significantly associated with anxiety or loneliness. Given the small number of studies that have focused specifically on measures of pediatric anxiety and depression, more work is needed before drawing any firm conclusions about inconsistency of results across different child emotional outcomes. Moreover, we note that the measure of depressed mood used in this study assessed mood experienced during the past week, while the measures of empathy, prosocial behavior, and delinquency encompassed a broader time frame. Rates of depression were also relatively low in our community-based sample. These factors could have reduced potentials associations. Studies that examine pet-related variables in relationship to emotional problems among clinical samples may shed further light on these issues.

For prosocial behavior, the smaller association in comparison to empathy and delinquency was unexpected, given that
previous theoretical and empirical work has posited a direct link between attachment to pets, social support, and prosocial behaviors (Collis and McNicholas, 1998; Vidović, 1999; Melson, 2010; Julius et al., 2012; Freund et al., 2016; Purewal et al., 2017). We note that the measure of prosocial behavior we used was based on parent report, and was specific to parent observations of youth prosocial behaviors toward peers, which is a fairly narrow definition of prosocial behavior. Given that this was predominantly a middle- and high-school aged sample, it is possible that child report of a wider range of prosocial behaviors would have been a more appropriate outcome.

Moderating Effects

This study is one of a handful to systematically explore whether associations between pets and child outcomes were consistent across different demographic subgroups. None of the 20 different interaction terms reached statistical significance (all p > 0.15), and there was considerable overlap in the 95% confidence intervals for effect sizes across the different subgroups. This suggests that the positive benefits of pets may transcend individual differences in demographic characteristics. While a larger sample may have revealed statistically significant differences between subgroups, our study demonstrated that differences in effect sizes across subgroups were relatively small, and therefore unlikely to be of meaningful importance.

Causal Inferences

Although the data from this study are cross-sectional, results may speak to issues of causality. Specifically, there was a significant association between youth self-reports of attitudes toward pets and empathy among youth who did not currently live with a cat or a dog. Indeed, associations between attitudes toward pets and empathy were largely significant across all subgroups examined, even after controlling for demographic factors. Additional post hoc analyses (available from first author) indicated that the Pearson correlation between attitudes toward pets and empathy among the 60 youth who had not lived with any type of pet in the past 10 years was r = 0.27 (p = 0.03). Even after age, gender, minority racial/ethnic background, and family SES were included in the model and standard errors adjusted for correlated observations, the effect for attitudes toward pets in this subgroup was significant at a trend level [F(1,19) = 3.29], p = 0.09]. These results suggest that youth with higher levels of empathy might be more likely to desire pets and to form stronger emotional bonds with pets than youth with lower empathy. This may also be true of other measures of child social and emotional competency, such as self-esteem. On the other hand, we cannot rule out the hypothesis that youth who do not live with pets but who really like pets seek out other opportunities to interact with animals outside the family, which could have a causal effect on empathy.

Future Research

The fact that the majority of research on the impact of pets on socioemotional and behavioral outcomes in both child and adult samples is based on cross-sectional studies is a significant limitation of the field. While studies that include demographic covariates associated with pet ownership can help control for selection factors, many of the associations between children's attitudes toward and emotional bonds with pets with children's social, emotional, and behavioral outcomes are likely to be bidirectional. For example, children who have higher empathy and show more prosocial behavior may be more naturally inclined to form close bonds with pets. Conversely, aggressive children may find it more difficult to form successful relationships with pets, especially if the pet is fearful of the child. Longitudinal studies may help to disentangle the causal nature of these associations, especially if children can be assessed before and after the acquisition of a new pet.

Studies that use within-family designs are also under-utilized in the field of human-animal interactions. Samples that include more than one child per family could shed light on both similarities and differences among children within the same family, and could identify the specific child characteristics that impact the development of emotional bonds with pets. Behavioral genetic designs can further determine the extent to which associations between emotional bonds with pets and outcomes are driven by shared genetic factors. At present, there is only one published study that used a genetically informative design to investigate genetic influence on a pet-related measure. This study found that self-reports of frequency of playing with pets among a middle-aged, male twin sample had a heritability of $h^2 = 0.29$ -0.37, indicating that genetic factors, which are likely mediated through individual differences in personality and related traits, play a role in establishing bonds with pets (Jacobson et al., 2012). Surprisingly, the effects of shared environmental influences, which would include childhood exposure to pets, accounted for less than 10% of the variance in pet play during adulthood. This finding may call into question the causal implications of prior research showing that childhood pet ownership predicts both pet ownership patterns (Serpell, 1981; Westgarth et al., 2010) and strength of emotional bonds with pets in adulthood (Kidd and Kidd, 1989; Ellingsen et al., 2010).

LIMITATIONS AND CONCLUSION

Results from the current study should be considered in the context of several limitations. First, attitudes toward pets and outcome measures are based predominantly on youth self-report. Thus, we cannot rule out the hypothesis that factors such as social desirability could account for some of the associations. However, social desirability would not account for the differential patterns of effects seen across outcomes. Second, the study focused on general attitudes toward pets, rather than specific emotional bonds with pets. This is because we wanted to directly compare the distal effects of pet ownership with the more proximal, emotional impact of pets, and we needed measures that could be administered to both pet-owning and non-pet-owning youth. The study did obtain measures of emotional bonds with pet dogs from dog-owning youth, and there was substantial overlap between attitudes and emotional bonds among the 154 dogowning youth who had non-missing data on both measures (r = 0.64, p < 0.001). Nevertheless, we might have found

stronger associations with youth outcomes if we had focused on emotional bonds with specific family pets. Third, results may have been confounded by definitions of pet ownership. In particular, sample sizes of youth who lived only with cats and/or small pets were too small to be considered individually. The fact that our findings largely replicated when we used a stricter comparison of current dog owners to youth who had not owned any pets in the past 10 years suggest that our results are not biased by our definition; however, larger samples sizes with greater diversity on pet ownership patterns are needed to explore this question more thoroughly. Fourth, while our sample contained relatively large numbers of Hispanic and Black youth, sample sizes were too small to determine whether the associations between ownership and attitudes with youth outcomes differed between these two racial/ethnic groups, so youth were combined into a binary variable of minority versus non-minority youth. We have examined racial and ethnic differences in pet ownership and attitudes toward pets in more detail in a separate manuscript, and results suggest that Hispanic and Black youth in this sample show similar patterns, and that both groups show significant differences in comparison to non-Hispanic Caucasian youth (Jacobson and Daly, unpublished). However, we do not know if results would generalize to American youth from other racial and ethnic groups, such as Asian-American or Native American youth. Finally, our results may not generalize to other populations. Specifically, pet ownership patterns and demographic correlates of pet ownership vary somewhat between the United States and other countries, so inconsistencies between our results with prior, large-scale studies conducted in other countries could be due to cultural factors. Hispanic youth living in America may also differ from Hispanic youth living in other countries. Cross-cultural studies are needed to disentangle the effects of culture from racial/ethnic background. In addition, our sample is drawn from a predominantly urban and suburban population. Thus, results may not generalize to rural youth. Finally, results are based on a community-based sample. While we did not exclude youth with emotional and behavioral problems from this study, it is possible that the positive benefits of pet ownership, attitude toward pets, and emotional bonds with pets would be greater among patient populations, or among other populations of vulnerable youth.

Despite these limitations, this is one of the only studies to obtain measures of both pet ownership and attitudes toward pets as well as a wide range of socioemotional outcomes in a diverse sample of youth. Our results indicate that pet ownership, *per se*, is unrelated to child outcomes once demographic factors associated with ownership are accounted for. At the same time, controlling

REFERENCES

- American Pet Products Association [APPA]. (2018). The 2017-2018 APPA National Pet Owners Survey Debut. Available at: http://americanpetproducts. org/Uploads/MemServices/GPE2017_NPOS_Seminar.pdf [accessed June 14, 2018].
- Barker, S. B., Knisely, J. S., McCain, N. L., Schubert, C. M., and Pandurangi, A. K. (2010). Exploratory study of stress-buffering response patterns from

for demographic factors had limited impact on the magnitude of associations between attitudes toward pets and child outcomes, and these associations were largely consistent across different subgroups of children. Thus, our study contributes to a growing body of research suggesting that pets may have a positive, albeit modest impact on children.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservations, to any qualified researcher.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KJ is the principal investigator of the overall project, conceived the study aims and hypotheses, collected and analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript. LC assisted with literature review.

FUNDING

This work was supported by two research grants to KJ. This work was funded by the National Institutes of Health through the NIH Director's New Innovator Award Program, Grant number DP2-OD003021. In addition, the project described was supported by Grant Number R03-HD066598 from the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development and Mars-Waltham. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, the National Institutes of Health, or Mars-Waltham.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge current and former staff at the University of Chicago Clinical Neuroscience and Psychopharmacology Research Unit (CNPRU), especially Ms. Crystal Johnson, Dr. Kristen Jezior, and Ms. Bing Chen, for their assistance with data collection for this project. We further thank the youth and the families in the "Neighborhoods to Neurons and Beyond" cohort for participating in this research.

interaction with a therapy dog. *Anthrozoös* 23, 79–91. doi: 10.2752/ 175303710X12627079939341

- Black, K. (2012). The relationship between companion animals and loneliness among rural adolescents. J. Pediatr. Nurs. 27, 103–112. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn. 2010.11.009
- Bodsworth, W., and Coleman, G. J. (2001). Child-companion animal attachment bonds in single and two-parent families. *Anthrozoös* 14, 216–223. doi: 10.2752/ 089279301786999391

- Brown, S. E. (2003). Ethnic variations in pet attachment among students at an american school of veterinary medicine. Soc. Anim. 11, 101–102. doi: 10.1163/ 156853003321618873
- Carlisle-Frank, P., and Frank, J. M. (2006). Owners, guardians, and ownerguardians: differing relationships with pets. *Anthrozoös* 19, 225–242.
- Cassels, M. T., White, N., Gee, N., and Hughes, C. (2017). One of the family? Measuring young adolescents' relationships with pets and siblings. J. Appl. Develop. Psychol. 49, 12–20. doi: 10.1016/j.appdev.2017.01.003
- Chen, P., and Jacobson, K. C. (2013). Impulsivity moderates promotive environmental influences on adolescent delinquency: a comparison across family, school, and neighborhood contexts. J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 41, 1133–1143. doi: 10.1007/s10802-013-9754-8
- Chur-Hansen, A., McArthur, M., Winefield, H., Hanieh, E., and Hazel, S. (2014). Animal-assisted interventions in children's hospitals: a critical review of the literature. *Anthrozoös* 27, 5–18. doi: 10.2752/175303714X13837396326251
- Cohen, S. P. (2002). Can pets function as family members? West. J. Nurs. Res. 24, 621–638.
- Collis, G. M., and McNicholas, J. (1998). "A theoretical basis for health benefits of pet ownership," in *Companion Animals in Human Health*, eds C. C. Wilson and D. C. Turner (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc.), 105–122. doi: 10.4135/9781452232959.n6
- Crick, N. R. (1996). The role of overt aggression, relational aggression, and prosocial behavior in the prediction of children's future social adjustment. *Child Dev.* 67, 2317–2327. doi: 10.2307/1131625
- Daly, B., and Morton, L. L. (2003). Children with pets do not show higher empathy: a challenge to current views. Anthrozoös 16, 298–314. doi: 10.2752/ 089279303786992026
- Daly, B., and Morton, L. L. (2006). An investigation of human-animal interactions and empathy as related to pet preference, ownership, attachment, and attitudes in children. *Anthrozoös* 19, 113–127. doi: 10.2752/089279306785593801
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Murphy, B., Karbon, M., Smith, M., and Maszk, P. (1996). The relations of children's dispositional empathy-related responding to their emotionality, regulation, and social functioning. *Dev. Psychol.* 32:195. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.32.2.195
- Ellingsen, K., Zanella, A. J., Bjerkas, E., and Indrebo, A. (2010). The relationship between empathy, perception of pain and attitudes toward pets among norwegian dog owners. *Anthrozoös* 23, 231–243. doi: 10.2752/ 175303710X12750451258931
- Freund, L. S., McCune, S. E., Esposito, L. E., Gee, N. R., and McCardle, P. E. (2016). *The Social Neuroscience of Human-Animal Interaction*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. doi: 10.1037/14856-000
- Friedmann, E., Locker, B. Z., and Lockwood, R. (1993). Perception of animals and cardiovascular-responses during verbalization with an animal present. *Anthrozoös* 6, 115–134. doi: 10.2752/089279393787002303
- Gadomski, A. M., Scribani, M. B., Krupa, N., Jenkins, P., Nagykaldi, Z., and Olson, A. L. (2015). Pet dogs and children's health: opportunities for chronic disease prevention? *Prev. Chronic Dis.* 12:150204. doi: 10.5888/pcd12.150204
- Garrity, T. F., Stallones, L., Marx, M. B., and Johnson, T. P. (1989). Pet ownership and attachment as supportive factors in the health of the elderly. *Anthrozoös* 3, 35–44. doi: 10.2752/089279390787057829
- Hergovich, A., Monshi, B., Semmler, G., and Zieglmayer, V. (2002). The effects of the presence of a dog in the classroom. *Anthrozoös* 15, 37–50. doi: 10.2752/ 089279302786992775
- Jacobson, K. C., Hoffman, C. L., Vasilopoulos, T., Kremen, W. S., Panizzon, M. S., Grant, M., et al. (2012). Genetic and environmental influences on individual differences in frequency of play with pets among middle-aged men: a behavioral genetics analysis. *Anthrozoös* 25, 441–456. doi: 10.2752/ 175303712X13479798785814
- Johnson, R. A., and Meadows, R. L. (2002). Older latinos, pets, and health. West. J. Nurs. Res. 24, 609–620. doi: 10.1177/019394502320555377
- Johnson, T. P., Garrity, T. F., and Stallones, L. (1992). Psychometric evaluation of the lexington attachment to pets scale. Anthrozoös 5, 160–175. doi: 10.2752/ 089279392787011395
- Julius, H., Beetz, A., Kotrschal, K., Turner, D., and Uvnäs-Moberg, K. (2012). Attachment to Pets: An Integrative view Of Human-Animal Relationships with Implications for Therapeutic Practice. Boston, MA: Hogrefe Publishing Crop.
- Kidd, A. H., and Kidd, R. M. (1989). Factors in adults attitudes toward pets. *Psychol. Rep.* 65, 903–910. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1989.65.3.903

- Kosonen, M. (1996). Siblings as providers of support and care during middle childhood: children's perceptions. *Child. Soc.* 10:267. doi: 10.1111/j.1099-0860. 1996.tb00595.x
- Kotrschal, K., and Ortbauer, B. (2003). Behavioral effects of the presence of a dog in a classroom. *Anthrozoös* 16, 147–159. doi: 10.2752/0892793037869 92170
- Lentini, J. A., and Knox, M. (2009). A qualitative and quantitative review of equine facilitated psychotherapy (EFP) with children and adolescents. Open Complement. Med. J. 1, 51–57. doi: 10.2174/1876391X00901010051
- Mathers, M., Canterford, L., Olds, T., Waters, E., and Wake, M. (2010). Pet ownership and adolescent health: cross-sectional population study. J. Paediatr. Child Health 46, 729–735. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1754.2010.01830.x
- McNicholas, J., and Collis, G. M. (2000). Dogs as catalysts for social interactions: robustness of the effect. Br. J. Psychol. 91, 61–70. doi: 10.1348/000712600161673
- Melson, G. F. (1988). Availability of and involvement with pets by children: determinants and correlates. *Anthrozoös* 2, 45–52.
- Melson, G. F. (2001). Why the Wild Things Are: Animals in the Lives of Children. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Melson, G. F. (2003). Child development and the human-companion animal bond. *Am. Behav. Sci.* 47, 31–39. doi: 10.1177/0002764203255210
- Melson, G. F. (2010). "Principles for human-animal interaction research," in How Animals Affect Us: Examining the Influences of Human-Animal Interaction on Child Development and Human Health, eds P. E. McCardle, S. E. McCune, J. A. Griffin, and V. E. Maholmes (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association).
- Melson, G. F., Peet, S., and Sparks, C. (1991). Children's attachment to their pets: links to socio-emotional development. *Child. Environ. Q.* 8, 55–65.
- Mullersdorf, M., Granstrom, F., Sahlqvist, L., and Tillgren, P. (2010). Aspects of health, physical/leisure activities, work and socio-demographics associated with pet ownership in sweden. *Scand. J. Public Health* 38, 53–63. doi: 10.1177/ 1403494809344358
- Murray, J. K., Browne, W. J., Roberts, M. A., Whitmarsh, A., and Gruffydd-Jones, T. J. (2010). Number and ownership profiles of cats and dogs in the UK. *Vet. Rec.* 166, 163–168. doi: 10.1136/vr.b4712
- Nimer, J., and Lundahl, B. (2007). Animal-assisted therapy: a meta-analysis. *Anthrozoös* 20, 225–238. doi: 10.2752/089279307X224773
- O'Haire, M. E. (2013). Animal-assisted intervention for autism spectrum disorder: a systematic literature review. *J. Autism. Dev. Disord.* 43, 1606–1622. doi: 10. 1007/s10803-012-1707-5
- O'Haire, M. E., McKenzie, S. J., McCune, S., and Slaughter, V. (2013). Effects of animal-assisted activities with guinea pigs in the primary school classroom. *Anthrozoös* 26, 445–458. doi: 10.2752/175303713X13697429463835
- Paul, E. S., and Serpell, J. (1992). Why children keep pets: the influence of child and family characteristics. *Anthrozoös* 5, 231–244. doi: 10.2752/ 089279392787011340
- Paul, E. S., and Serpell, J. A. (1996). Obtaining a new pet dog: effects on middle childhood children and their families. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 47, 17–29. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(95)01007-6
- Pet Food Industry (2012). Dog or cat ownership rates in households by race/ethnicity in the United States in 2011. *PFI Monitor* 11.
- Purewal, R., Christley, R., Kordas, K., Joinson, C., Meints, K., Gee, N., et al. (2017). Companion animals and child/adolescent development: a systematic review of the evidence. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 14:234. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph14030234
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D scale a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl. Psychol. Meas.* 1, 385–401. doi: 10.1177/ 014662167700100306
- Rhoades, H., Winetrobe, H., and Rice, E. (2015). Pet ownership among homeless youth: associations with mental health, service utilization and housing status. *Child Psychiatry Hum. Dev.* 46, 237–244. doi: 10.1007/s10578-014-0463-5
- Risley-Curtiss, C., Holley, L. C., and Wolf, S. (2006). The animal-human bond and ethnic diversity. *Soc. Work* 51, 257–268.
- Sable, P. (1995). Pets, attachment, and well-being across the life-cycle. Soc. Work 40, 334–341.
- Saunders, J., Parast, L., Babey, S. H., and Miles, J. V. (2017). Exploring the differences between pet and non-pet owners: implications for human-animal interaction research and policy. *PLoS one* 12:e0179494. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0179494

- Schoenfeld-Tacher, R., Kogan, L. R., and Wright, M. L. (2010). Comparison of strength of the human-animal bond between hispanic and non-hispanic owners of pet dogs and cats. *Javma J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc.* 236, 529–534. doi: 10.2460/ javma.236.5.529
- Serpell, J. A. (1981). Childhood pets and their influence on adults' attitudes. *Psychol. Rep.* 49, 651–654. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1981.49.2.651
- Siegel, J. M. (1995). Pet ownership and the importance of pets among adolescents. *Anthrozoös* 8, 217–223.
- Templer, D. I., Salter, C. A., Dickey, S., Baldwin, R., and Veleber, D. M. (1981). The construction of a pet attitude scale. *Psychol. Rec.* 31, 343–348. doi: 10.1007/ BF03394747
- Tissen, I., Hergovich, A., and Spiel, C. (2007). School-based social training with and without dogs: evaluation of their effectiveness. *Anthrozoös* 20, 365–373.
- US Census (2017). Parents With Coresident Children Under 18, by Living Arrangement, Sex, and Selected Characteristics: 2017. Available at: https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2017/demo/families/-2017.html [accessed November 1, 2018].
- Vidović, V. V., Štetić, V. V., and Bratko, D. (1999). Pet ownership, type of pet and socio-emotional development of school children. *Anthrozoös* 12, 211–217. doi: 10.2752/089279399787000129
- Westgarth, C., Boddy, L. M., Stratton, G., German, A. J., Gaskell, R. M., Coyne, K. P., et al. (2013). Pet ownership, dog types and attachment to pets in 9–10 year

old children in liverpool, UK. BMC Vet. Res. 9:102. doi: 10.1186/1746-6148-9-102

- Westgarth, C., Heron, J., Ness, A. R., Bundred, P., Gaskell, R. M., Coyne, K. P., et al. (2010). Family pet ownership during childhood: findings from a UK birth cohort and implications for public health research. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 7, 3704–3729. doi: 10.3390/ijerph7103704
- Westgarth, C., Pinchbeck, G. L., Bradshaw, J. W., Dawson, S., Gaskell, R. M., and Christley, R. M. (2007). Factors associated with dog ownership and contact with dogs in a UK community. *BMC Vet. Res.* 3:5. doi: 10.1186/1746-6148-3-5
- Woodward, L. E., and Bauer, A. L. (2007). People and their pets: a relational perspective on interpersonal complementarity and attachment in companion animal owners. Soc. Anim. 15, 169–189. doi: 10.1163/156853007X187117

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Jacobson and Chang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





To a Future Where Everyone Can Walk a Dog Even if They Don't Own One

Eunice Y. Chen*

Department of Psychology, Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Keywords: animals, dogs, walking, overweight, students, humans, animal-assisted therapy

Despite desperately wanting a dog, like many children, because of restricted financial circumstances, I did not have the good fortune of owning a dog as a child. However, research may overcome this barrier so that lack of dog ownership need not be a barrier to spending time with and walking dogs.

The US Department of Health and Human Services recommends walking 5 days a week for at least 45 minutes at a time, with 30 minutes at a moderate to brisk pace of 3–4 miles per hour and 15 minutes at a very brisk walking of 5–6 miles per hour (1). This level of physical activity is associated with a decreased risk of mortality, cardiorespiratory disease, and increased likelihood for weight-loss, and improvements in musculoskeletal health (2). Only about half of Americans engage in this recommended amount of physical activity (3). But if every American had a healthy dog and walked it regularly, they would be more likely to achieve these recommended levels of activity (4).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Consultant, New Haven, CT, United States

Reviewed by:

Carri Westgarth, University of Liverpool, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Eunice Y. Chen eunice.chen@temple.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Children and Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 15 April 2018 Accepted: 09 November 2018 Published: 30 November 2018

Citation:

Chen EY (2018) To a Future Where Everyone Can Walk a Dog Even if They Don't Own One. Front. Public Health 6:349. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018.00349 Multiple studies show that dog ownership improves human health. Becoming a dog owner increases physical activity (4–7) and walking (8–10), reduces your weight (11), and decreases your odds of diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, and depression (12–15). Dog ownership reduces predictors of negative cardiovascular outcomes like blood pressure (15–19), triglycerides (20, 21), and stress (22–25). Indeed, owning a dog increases the likelihood of you surviving a heart attack (26–28) such that even the American Heart Association advocates dog ownership as a way to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease (29). Australian, German, and Chinese studies show that pet ownership decreases doctor visits, and reduces the likelihood of cardiac problems and sleeping difficulties (30–33). Interventions with dogs improve the outcome of children, adolescents, and adults with a range of medical and psychological problems including post-traumatic stress disorder, developmental disabilities, schizophrenia, autism-spectrum disorders, and cancer (34–38). In a short period of time, human-animal studies have progressed from small experimental studies to studies assessing the public health impact of dogs on human lives, including increasing human physical activity, please see these reviews (6, 34–43).

Despite the double challenge of conducting clinical trials with humans and animals (44) randomized controlled trials are needed in this field. For instance in considering the needs of both dogs and humans, human-animal trials require approval from both human and animal institutional review boards. However, the randomized controlled trial is the gold standard for the assessment of intervention efficacy because it most effectively and efficiently evaluates an intervention's effect, eliminating systematic, and random bias (45).

A search using the terms "randomized controlled trial" AND "dogs" and "walking" resulted in 40 hits in PubMed up to 4/15/2018. When studies with groups with psychological or medical problems were excluded, this yielded five randomized controlled trials (46–51), that examine the effects of dog-walking on human walking, see **Table 1**. An effect size could not be calculated for one of the five randomized controlled trials, and of the remaining 4 randomized controlled trials, two had moderate to large effects (Hedges g) for the dog-walking intervention arm, and two of the four had small effects.

TABLE 1	Randomized	controlled trials	examining the	e effect of c	dog-walking	i interventions on	human v	walkina.
	1 IGN IGNOTTINE OG	00110 01100 011000	or contraining the	0 011001 01 0	20g 110an an 19		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	can an igi

Study	Intervention	Physical activity	Assesed at # months	n/N	g
Richards et al. (46)	3 month intervention: (1) Dog owners + intervention (weekly emails addressing self-efficacy, social support, goal setting, and benefits/barriers to walking). Other arms were (2) Non-dog owners + intervention, (3) Non-dog owners with control intervention (emailed Physical activity guidelines) intervention and (4) Dog owners with control intervention.	Min/wk	6	20/65	1.00
Schneider et al. (47)	6 month intervention: (1) Dog owners + social online network meetup and newsletters. Other arm was (2) Dog owners + control intervention (emailed physical activity guidelines)	Steps/day	6	45/102	0.21
Rhodes et al. (48)	3 month intervention: (1) Dog owners+ Persuasive information about dog health and walking, and walking calendar. Other arm was (2) Dog owners walking-as-usual	Min/wk	3	30/58	0.72
Morrison et al. (49)	2.5 month intervention: (1) Dog owners and their families + behavioral intervention. Other arm was (2) Dog owners and families with no intervention.	Parent Actigraph counts/min/wk	2.5	15/27	0.15
Byers et al. (50, 51)	1 week intervention: (1) Dog owners and their overweight dogs + vets physical activity prescription. Other arm was (2) Dog owners and their overweight dogs + standard care	Human steps unreported.	3	32/72	NA

Calculation for Hedges $g = (m_1 - m_2)/s^*$, where m_1 =baseline mean, m_2 =mean at 2nd timepoint, $s^* = \sqrt{[(n_1 - 1)s_1^2 + (n_2 - 1)s_2^2 / (n_1 + n_2 - 2)]}$ where n_1 =baseline sample size, n_2 is sample size at 2nd timepoint calculated on the intervention arm of interest. In **Table 1**, n=number of participants in intervention arm of interest, N=number of participants in the whole study. NA = not available.

These randomized controlled trials focus on dog owners walking their dogs. However, randomized controlled trials that focus on dog owners walking their own dogs may limit whether dog-walking interventions can be "scaled-up" or implemented on a more widespread basis (52).

Certain correlates may distinguish dog owners from nondog owners. For instance, a large US study showed that dog ownership is associated with being white, with home ownership, and with living in a house (53). A review of the literature also suggests that living close to places wheredogs can be walked (41) also increases the likelihood of owning a dog. The implication of this is that racial diversity, renting rather than owning a home, living in an apartment, and possibly socioeconomic disadvantage may decrease the likelihood of dog ownership. So although 44% of households in the US (2015–2016) are estimated to own a dog, the majority of households do not (54).

But does lack of dog ownership have to be a barrier to dogwalking interventions? One of the foreseeable challenges for dog-walking interventions targeting human physical activity is working out how to scale this intervention to individuals who do not own a dog. There are numerous online media reports of shelter dog-walking programs, even phone applications for walking shelter dogs. However, trials published in peerreviewed journals are scant (55, 56). One small open trial with public housing residents showed that overweight individuals who borrowed and walked dogs from a dog-shelter had small (hedges g = 0.17), but significant weight loss (57). This suggests that pairing individuals who do not own a dog with dogs in rescues or shelters may be a feasible weight loss solution.

Designing behavioral interventions that can "scale-up" is increasingly becoming an important criteria for the success of an intervention (58, 59). One of the ways that this critical barrier can be addressed is by considering mutually beneficial partnerships between dog shelters/rescues and other institutions, some of which may seem improbable at first.

An important start is to take into account both the socioecological structure and function of institutions. Drawing on Bronferonner's work (60), Westgarth et al. (41) describes the structure of a socio-ecological model of dog-walking that highlights the individual sphere of influence and its dog-related factors, as well as more distal social-environmental, and physicalenvironmental factors that are associated with dog-walking (6). This can add to a consideration of the functions of different institutions and how these can promote healthy behaviors in both individuals and institutions.

Human-dog relationships have been described as a form of social capital which is defined as an "investment in social relations with expected returns" (61–63). On a system-level mutually reinforcing, sustainable partnerships can be formed between institutions to improve the health of both humans and animals (62, 63). Social capital requires the utilization of resources embedded in a social structure, accessibility to this, and the mobilization of these resources for purposive action, e.g., improved health for both humans and animals (62, 63). Increasing physical activity a serious public health challenge; as is ensuring that homeless dogs are cared for. Considering a model of human-dog interventions that considers function as well as the structure of institutions and individuals is empowering and self-sustaining, and has the potential to build scalable, sustainable interventions.

Everyone who does not own a dog could probably benefit from walking a dog daily. However, there may be certain institutions that could provide the other half of a mutually beneficial partnership. For instance, with appropriate supervision, various institutions could offer dog-walking opportunities: health care institutions like rehabilitation centers, half-way houses, group homes or elder care facilities; educational institutions, such as colleges or schools; even insurance companies.

Is it possible to do something like this? Recently undergraduates at Temple University undertook this endeavor. Temple University is a large urban college in Center City Philadelphia consisting of a socioeconomically and racially diverse group of more than 30,000 undergraduates. After a review of the literature (64) over the summer of 2017, one of my lab undergraduates sent an informational Facebook message on July 18th, 2017 to the incoming freshmen class and in one day 22 incoming freshmen posted their interest (and photos of their dogs) in joining a volunteer dog-walking association, with another 56 freshmen signing up. In 10 days, 172 incoming freshmen posted their interest in joining the volunteer dogwalking association. On December 6th, 2017, the "Diamond Dogs" undergraduate dog-walking association was formally ratified by the university, with support from the Dean's office and since then there have been 3 townhall meetings of \sim 70 students a time. "Diamond Dogs" is partnered with two inner-city dog rescues approximately a mile from Temple University's campus. My last communication with the rescues was that students are participating in their orientations and training and are walking their dogs. From the perspective of dog rescues, this is a "win-win." Inner city rescues in Philadelphia find it difficult to recuit regular dog-walkers but a schedule of regular volunteer walkers has eased their need to play and to walk their healthy dogs daily.

Humans form strong attachments to pets, particularly dogs (65–68) and pets increase social capital through creating more social connections and networks (61, 69, 70). But will people who don't own a dog develop an attachment for a dog at a shelter or rescue who may leave in a couple of weeks because they have been adopted? Are the positive cardiovascular effects in response to stressful situations also found in non-dog owners who interact with shelter or rescue dogs (71)? Can shelter/rescue dog-walking interventions increase the likelihood of walkers to eventually adopt a dog? Can cortisol or immunological measures be used to check that shelter/rescue dogs are experiencing less stress with regular walkers (72)? While these are important research questions there are also important ethical and practical issues to consider in research of this nature.

Rescue and shelter dogs often have greater psychological and medical needs than dogs not in a shelter or rescue. Volunteers at shelters are likely to be pet-owners (73) and shelters and rescues are likely to prefer experienced dog owners rather than non-dog owners to walk their dogs. Guidelines from the Association of Shelter Veterinarians (74), and from the American Veterinary Medical Association (75) and the Humane Society (76) highlight the importance of training and supervising shelter and rescue volunteers, including basic training in animal handling and bite prevention. However, research addressing the training of nondog owner volunteers is in its infancy (77, 78). Some questions that will need to be answered include: how much training do non-dog owner volunteer walkers need to achieve the skill level of experienced dog owners? How are these skills best assessed? And what are the effects of volunteers with varied experience on shelter dogs?

Assessing the efficacy of shelter dog-walking intervention for non- owners, deserves the best designs and methods. This means that non-peer reviewed reports by the media are not sufficient as evidence for the efficacy of interventions like this and the use of phone applications to encourage the walking of shelter dogs warrant thoughtful and rigorous testing prior to widespread use or claims about their effect. Clinical trials with shelter dogs and humans need to meet both Human Institutional Review Board and Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee requirements. The design and oversight of these trials require the partnership of human clinical trial experts, human-animal intervention research experts, veternarians, and shelters/rescues. There are not only ethical issues that must be considered but also legal issues in clinical trials of this nature. For instance animal rescues in the United States are governed by state, county and city ordinances that may differ between rescues. Careful attention to these ordinances are needed in rescue dog-walking intervention trials.

It is important to conduct clinical trials to test if it is possible to engage educational and social institutions in mutually reinforcing partnerships to improve the health of people and animals. The Shelter dog-walking intervention proposed can potentially make dog-walking a scalable intervention and has broad applicability to a wide variety of institutions and partnerships.

Despite the challenges, I'm looking forward to a future where everyone can walk a dog even if they don't own one.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EC conceived of this idea and opinion and wrote this paper.

REFERENCES

- United States Department of Health and Human Services. 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Scientific Report (2018). Available online at: https://health.gov/paguidelines/second-edition/report/ (Accessed November 20, 2018).
- 2. American College of Sports Medicine's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription 10th ed. China: Wolters Kluwer (2018).
- Clarke TC, Norris T, Schiller JS. Early Release of Selected Estimates Based on Data from the 2016 National Health Interview Survey. National Center for Health Statistics (2017). Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/ releases/released201705.htm#TechNotes
- Soares J, Epping JN, Owens CJ, Brown DR, Lankford TJ, Simoes EJ, et al. Odds of getting adequate physical activity by dog walking. *J Phys Activity Health* (2015) 12:S102–S9.
- Yabroff KR, Troiano RP, Berrigan D. Walking the dog: is pet ownership associated with physical activity in California? *J Phys Activity Health* (2008) 5:216–28. doi: 10.1123/jpah.5.2.216
- Christian HE, Westgarth C, Bauman A, Richards EA, Rhodes RE, Evenson KR, et al. Dog ownership and physical activity: a review of the evidence. *J Phys Activity Health* (2013) 10:750–9. doi: 10.1123/jpah.1 0.5.750
- 7. Serpell J. Beneficial effects of pet ownership on some aspects of human health and behaviour. J R Soc Med. (1991) 84:717. doi: 10.1177/014107689108401208

- Cutt HE, Knuiman MW, Giles-Corti B. Does getting a dog increase recreational walking? Int J Behav Nutr Phys Activity (2008) 5:17. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-5-17
- Oka K, Shibata A. Dog ownership and health-related physical activity among Japanese adults. J Phys Activity Health (2009) 6:412–8. doi: 10.1123/jpah.6.4.412
- Christian H, Wood L, Nathan A, Kawachi I, Houghton S, Martin K, et al. The association between dog walking, physical activity and owner's perceptions of safety: cross-sectional evidence from the US and Australia. *BMC Public Health* (2016) 16:1010. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3659-8
- Coleman KJ, Rosenberg DE, Conway TL, Sallis JF, Saelens BE, Frank LD, et al. Physical activity, weight status, and neighborhood characteristics of dog walkers. *Prevent Med.* (2008) 47:309–12. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2008. 05.007
- Lentino C, Visek AJ, McDonnell K, DiPietro L. Dog walking is associated with a favorable risk profile independent of moderate to high volume of physical activity. *J Phys Activity Health* (2012) 9:414–20. doi: 10.1123/jpah. 9.3.414
- Aiba N, Hotta K, Yokoyama M, Wang G, Tabata M, Kamiya K, et al. Usefulness of pet ownership as a modulator of cardiac autonomic imbalance in patients with diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and/or hyperlipidemia. *Am J Cardiol.* (2012) 109:1164–70. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2011.11.055
- Weber KS, Roden M, Mussig K. Do dogs sense hypoglycaemia? *Diabet Med.* (2016) 33:934–8. doi: 10.1111/dme.12975
- Anderson WP, Reid CM, Jennings GL. Pet ownership and risk factors for cardiovascular disease. *Med J Austr.* (1992) 157:298–301.
- Chowdhury EK, Nelson MR, Jennings GL, Wing LM, Reid CM, Committee AM. Pet ownership and survival in the elderly hypertensive population. J Hypertension (2017) 35:769–75. doi: 10.1097/HJH.00000000001214
- 17. Grossberg JM, Alf EF. Interaction with pet dogs: effects on human cardiovascular response. J Delta Soc. (1985) 2:20–7.
- Jenkins JL. Physiological effects of petting a companion animal. *Psychol Rep.* (1986) 58:21–2. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1986.58.1.21
- Allen K, Blascovich J, Mendes WB. Cardiovascular reactivity and the presence of pets, friends, and spouses: the truth about cats and dogs. *Psychosom Med.* (2002) 64:727–39. doi: 10.1097/01.PSY.0000024236.11538.41
- 20. Dembicki D, Anderson J. Pet ownership may be a factor in improved health of the elderly. *J Nutr Elderly* (1996) 15:15–31. doi: 10.1300/J052v15n03_02
- Schreiner PJ. Emerging cardiovascular risk research: impact of pets on cardiovascular risk prevention. *Curr Cardiovasc Risk Rep.* (2016) 10:8. doi: 10.1007/s12170-016-0489-2
- 22. Barker SB, Knisely JS, McCain NL, Best AM. Measuring stress and immune response in healthcare professionals following interaction with a therapy dog: A pilot study. *Psychol Rep.* (2005) 96:713–29. doi: 10.2466/pr0.96.3.713-729
- Beetz A, Kotrschal K, Turner DC, Hediger K, Uvnäs-Moberg K, Julius H. The effect of a real dog, toy dog and friendly person on insecurely attached children during a stressful task: an exploratory study. *Anthrozoös* (2011) 24:349–68. doi: 10.2752/175303711X13159027359746
- 24. Odendaal J. Animal-assisted therapy—magic or medicine? J Psychosomat Res. (2000) 49:275–80. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(00)00183-5
- Krause-Parello CA, Tychowski J, Gonzalez A, Boyd Z. Human-canine interaction: exploring stress indicator response patterns of salivary cortisol and immunoglobulin A. *Res Theory Nurs Pract.* (2012) 26:25–40. doi: 10.1891/1541-6577.26.1.25
- Friedmann E, Katcher AH, Lynch JJ, Thomas SA. Animal companions and one-year survival of patients after discharge from a coronary care unit. *Public Health Rep.* (1980) 95:307.
- Friedmann E, Thomas SA. Pet ownership, social support, and one-year survival after acute myocardial infarction in the Cardiac Arrhythmia Suppression Trial (CAST). Am J Cardiol. (1995) 76:1213–7. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9149(99)80343-9
- Friedmann E, Thomas SA, Son H. Pets, depression and long-term survival in community living patients following myocardial infarction. *Anthrozoös* (2011) 24:273–85. doi: 10.2752/175303711X13045914865268
- 29. Levine GN, Allen K, Braun LT, Christian HE, Friedmann E, Taubert KA, et al. Pet ownership and cardiovascular risk: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* (2013) 127:2353–63. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e31829201e1

- Headey B. Health benefits and health cost savings due to pets: preliminary estimates from an Australian national survey. Soc Indic Res. (1999) 47:233–43. doi: 10.1023/A:1006892908532
- 31. Headey B, Grabka M, Kelley J, Reddy P, Tseng Y-P. Pet ownership is good for your health and saves public expenditure too: Australian and German longitudinal evidence. *Austr Soc Monitor* (2002) 5:93–9. Available online at: https://search.informit.com.au/documentSummary;dn= 674270738133649;res=IELBUS
- Headey B, Grabka MM. Pets and human health in Germany and Australia: National longitudinal results. Soc Indic Res. (2007) 80:297–311. doi: 10.1007/s11205-005-5072-z
- 33. Headey B, Na F, Zheng R. Pet dogs benefit owners' health: a 'natural experiment' in China. Soc Indic Res. (2008) 87:481–93. doi: 10.1007/sl 1205-007-9142-2
- Nimer J, Lundahl B. Animal-assisted therapy: a meta-analysis. Anthrozoös (2007) 20:225–38. doi: 10.2752/089279307X224773
- Brelsford VL, Meints K, Gee NR, Pfeffer K. Animal-Assisted Interventions in the Classroom—a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health (2017) 14:669. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14070669
- Maujean A, Pepping CA, Kendall E. A systematic review of randomized controlled trials of animal-assisted therapy on psychosocial outcomes. *Anthrozoös* (2015) 28:23–36. doi: 10.2752/089279315X14129350721812
- Hoagwood KE, Acri M, Morrissey M, Peth-Pierce R. Animal-assisted therapies for youth with or at risk for mental health problems: a systematic review. *Appl Dev Sci.* (2017) 21:1–13. doi: 10.1080/10888691.2015.1134267
- Gee NR, Griffin JA, McCardle P. Human–animal interaction research in school settings: current knowledge and future directions. *AERA Open* (2017) 3:2332858417724346. doi: 10.1177/2332858417724346
- Christian H, Bauman A, Epping JN, Levine GN, McCormack G, Rhodes RE, et al. Encouraging dog walking for health promotion and disease prevention. *Am J Lifestyle Med.* (2016) 12:233–43. doi: 10.1177/1559827616643686
- Purewal R, Christley R, Kordas K, Joinson C, Meints K, Gee N, et al. Companion animals and child/adolescent development: a systematic review of the evidence. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2017) 14:234. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14030234
- Westgarth C, Christley RM, Christian HE. How might we increase physical activity through dog walking?: a comprehensive review of dog walking correlates. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2014) 11:83. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-11-83
- 42. Arhant-Sudhir K, Arhant-Sudhir R, Sudhir K. Pet ownership and cardiovascular risk reduction: supporting evidence, conflicting data and underlying mechanisms. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol.* (2011) 38:734–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1681.2011.05583.x
- McCune S, Kruger KA, Griffin JA, Esposito L, Freund LS, Hurley KJ, et al. Evolution of research into the mutual benefits of human-animal interaction. *Anim Front*. (2014) 4:49–58. doi: 10.2527/af.2014-0022
- Serpell J, McCune S, Gee N, Griffin JA. Current challenges to research on animal-assisted interventions. *Appl Dev Sci.* (2017) 21:223–33. doi: 10.1080/10888691.2016.1262775
- 45. American Psychological Association. Criteria for evaluating treatment guidelines. Am Psychol. (2002) 57:1052–9. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.57.12.1052
- Richards EA, Ogata N, Cheng C-W. Randomized controlled theorybased, e-mail-mediated walking intervention: differences between dog owners and non-dog owners. *Clin Nurs Res.* (2017) 26:47–67. doi: 10.1177/1054773816657799
- Schneider KL, Murphy D, Ferrara C, Oleski J, Panza E, Savage C, et al. An online social network to increase walking in dog owners: a randomized trial. *Med Sci Sports Exercise* (2015) 47:631. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000441
- Rhodes RE, Murray H, Temple VA, Tuokko H, Higgins JW. Pilot study of a dog walking randomized intervention: effects of a focus on canine exercise. *Prevent Med.* (2012) 54:309–12. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2012. 02.014
- Morrison R, Reilly JJ, Penpraze V, Westgarth C, Ward DS, Mutrie N, et al. Children, parents and pets exercising together (CPET): exploratory randomised controlled trial. *BMC Public Health* (2013) 13:1096. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-1096
- 50. Byers CG, Wilson CC, Stephens MB, Goodie JL, Netting FE, Olsen CH. Owners and pets exercising together: Canine response to

veterinarian-prescribed physical activity. *Anthrozoös* (2014) 27:325–33. doi: 10.2752/175303714X14036956449224

- Stephens MB, Wilson CC, Goodie JL, Netting FE, Olsen CH, Byers CG. Health perceptions and levels of attachment: owners and pets exercising together. *J Am Board Family Med.* (2012) 25:923–6. doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2012.06. 110325
- Milat AJ, King L, Bauman AE, Redman S. The concept of scalability: increasing the scale and potential adoption of health promotion interventions into policy and practice. *Health Promot Int.* (2012) 28:285–98. doi: 10.1093/heapro/dar097
- Saunders J, Parast L, Babey SH, Miles JV. Exploring the differences between pet and non-pet owners: implications for human-animal interaction research and policy. *PloS ONE* (2017) 12:e0179494. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0179494
- 54. APPA. American Pets Association National Pet Owners Survey (2016).
- 55. Gunter L, Protopopova A, Hooker SP, Der Ananian C, Wynne CDL. Impacts of encouraging dog walking on returns of newly adopted dogs to a shelter. J Appl Anim Welfare Sci. (2017) 20:357–71. doi: 10.1080/10888705.2017.1341318
- Bright TM, Hadden L. Safewalk: improving enrichment and adoption rates for shelter dogs by changing human behavior. J Appl Anim Welfare Sci. (2017) 20:95–105. doi: 10.1080/10888705.2016.1247353
- Johnson RA, Meadows RL. Dog-walking: motivation for adherence to a walking program. *Clin Nurs Res.* (2010) 19:387–402. doi: 10.1177/1054773810373122
- Reis RS, Salvo D, Ogilvie D, Lambert EV, Goenka S, Brownson RC, et al. Scaling up physical activity interventions worldwide: stepping up to larger and smarter approaches to get people moving. *Lancet* (2016) 388:1337–48. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30728-0
- Lutz W. Global sustainable development priorities 500 y after luther: Sola schola et sanitate. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:6904–13. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1702609114
- Bronfenbrenner U. The Ecology of Human Development. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press (1979).
- 61. Lin N. Building a network theory of social capital. *Connections* (1999) 22:28-51.
- Wood L, Giles-Corti B, Bulsara M. The pet connection: pets as a conduit for social capital? *Soc Sci Med.* (2005) 61:1159–73. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.01.017
- Lin N, Cook KS, Burt RS. Social Capital: Theory and Research. New York, NY: Routledge (2017).
- 64. Chen E, Murray S, Arlt J, Middleton D, Conklin C, Windom CAA, et al. Systematic review of RCTs for Dog-walking and Pilot Study with Fitbark & Fitbit M-Health Devices. *The Obesity Society: Obesity Week 2017*. Washington, DC (2017). Available online at: https://higherlogicdownload. s3.amazonaws.com/OBESITY/004d4f70-37d5-434e-b24d-08a32dfdfcd9/ UploadedImages/2017ow_abstracts/11-2-Thursday-LB-Poster-Abstracts.pdf (Accessed November 20, 2018).
- Archer J. Why do people love their pets? *Evol Hum Behav.* (1997) 18:237–59. doi: 10.1016/S0162-3095(99)80001-4
- Stallones L, Marx MB, Garrity TF, Johnson TP. Pet ownership and attachment in relation to the health of US adults, 21 to 64 years of age. *Anthrozoös* (1990) 4:100–12. doi: 10.2752/089279391787057206

- Marx MB, Stallones LB, Garrity TF, Johnson TP. Demographics of pet ownership among U.S. adults 21 to 64 years of age. *Anthrozoös* (1988) 2:33–7. doi: 10.2752/089279389787058262
- Zasloff RL. Measuring attachment to companion animals: a dog is not a cat is not a bird. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1996) 47:43–8. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(95)01009-2
- Wood LJ, Giles-Corti B, Bulsara MK, Bosch DA. More than a furry companion: the ripple effect of companion animals on neighborhood interactions and sense of community. *Soc Anim.* (2007) 15:43–56. doi: 10.1163/156853007X169333
- Wood L, Martin K, Christian H, Nathan A, Lauritsen C, Houghton S, et al. The pet factor-companion animals as a conduit for getting to know people, friendship formation and social support. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0122085. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0122085
- Kingwell BA, Lomdahl A, Anderson WP. Presence of a pet dog and human cardiovascular responses to mild mental stress. *Clin Autonom Res.* (2001) 11:313–7. doi: 10.1007/BF02332977
- Dreschel N, Granger D. Advancing the social neuroscience of human-animal interaction: the role of salivary bioscience. In: Freund L, McCardle P, Esposito L, Griffin J, editors. *The Social Neuroscience of Human-Animal Interaction* Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2016). p. 210–30. doi: 10.1037/14856-001
- Neumann SL. Animal welfare volunteers: who are they and why do they do what they do? *Anthrozoös* (2010) 23:351–64. doi: 10.2752/175303710X12750451259372
- Newbury S, Blinn MK, Bushby PA, Cox CB, Dinnage JD, Griffin B, et al. *Guidelines for Standards of Care in Animal Shelters*. Association of Shelter Veterinarians (2010), 1–64. Available online at: https://www.sheltervet.org/ assets/docs/shelter-standards-oct2011-wforward.pdf (Accessed November 20, 2018).
- 75. American Veterinary Medical Association. *Guidelines for Animal Assisted Activity, Animal-Assisted Therapy and Resident Animal Programs* (2009). Schaumburg, IL: American Veterinary Medical Association.
- McFarland B. Volunteer Management for Animal Care Organizations. 2nd ed. The Humane Society of the United States. Washington, DC: Human Society Press (2005).
- Howard VJ, DiGennaro Reed FD. Training shelter volunteers to teach dog compliance. J Appl Behav Anal. (2014) 47:344–59. doi: 10.1002/jaba.120
- Howard VJ, Digennaro Reed FD. An evaluation of training procedures for animal shelter volunteers. J Organ Behav Manage. (2015) 35:296–320. doi: 10.1080/01608061.2015.1093052

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Adolescents' Affective and Physiological Regulation Shape Negative Behavior During Challenging Equine Assisted Learning Activities

Patricia Pendry*, Alexa M. Carr and Jaymie L. Vandagriff

Department of Human Development, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Haskins Laboratories and Peggy McCardle Consulting, LLC, United States

Reviewed by:

Federica Pirrone, Università degli Studi di Milano, Italy Nina Ekholm Fry, University of Denver, United States

> *Correspondence: Patricia Pendry ppendry@wsu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Humanities and Social Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 16 April 2018 Accepted: 09 November 2018 Published: 04 December 2018

Citation:

Pendry P, Carr AM and Vandagriff JL (2018) Adolescents' Affective and Physiological Regulation Shape Negative Behavior During Challenging Equine Assisted Learning Activities. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:300. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00300

This study examined associations between adolescents' (N = 59; $M_{age} = 11.63$) diurnal and momentary activity of the Hypothalamic Pituitary Adrenal (HPA) axis as marked by salivary cortisol, and affective and behavioral responses to their first, mounted equine assisted learning (EAL) activity. The introduction to riding occurred during the fifth week of an 11-week EAL program for at-risk and typically developing adolescents. Before the 11-week program began, participants collected 6 salivary cortisol samples at prescribed times (wakeup, 4 p.m., bedtime) over 2 days, from which indices of diurnal cortisol activity were derived. Six weeks later, on the day of their first mounted activity in week five, participants provided three salivary cortisol samples, reflecting their basal cortisol level at the end of their regular school day, and their cortisol levels linked to the beginning and end of their first ride. Participants reported on positive and negative emotion immediately before mounting the horse, and immediately after dismounting, using an 11-item survey. Using a 43-item checklist, three independent observers rated participants' behavior throughout the 90-min session. Regression analyses showed that adolescents with higher cortisol levels immediately before mounting reported higher levels of negative emotion (B = 0.350, p = 0.041) and lower levels of positive emotion (B = -0.697, p = 0.013), while basal levels and potential dysregulation of cortisol diurnal patterns were controlled. Greater cortisol reactivity in response to 10 min of riding was linked to higher negative (B = 2.95, p = 0.001), and lower positive emotion (B = -3.73, p = 0.007) after dismounting. Higher levels of pre-ride negative emotion (B = 5.50, p = 0.046), and lower levels of post-ride positive emotion (B = -5.17, p = 0.027), and an increase in cortisol reactivity in response to riding (B = 0.242, p = 0.049), predicted higher levels of negative behavior during the 90-min session that day. These findings show that participants' HPA axis activity informs their program experience and behavior. Results suggest that EAL facilitators need to employ strategies to down regulate adolescents' physiological and affective arousal during mounted sessions to prevent and redirect negative behavior.

Keywords: equine facilitated learning (EFL), equine assisted learning (EAL), momentary emotion, HPA axis, cortisol, observed behavior, adolescents

INTRODUCTION

Equine assisted learning (EAL), which combines experiential learning, interaction with equines, and life skills education to increase participants' affective, physiological, and behavioral regulation, has seen a significant increase in use and popularity; in 2016, the Professional Association of Therapeutic Horsemanship International (PATH Intl.) provided Equine Assisted Learning programs at 357 of its 881 member service centers, up from 185 in 2009 (1). Programs that incorporate EAL are appealing because they are well-suited as community or school-based prevention programs, require less training and expertise in comparison to psychotherapy (equine-assisted psychotherapy), and enjoy positive public perception. Also, although limited in number, there is a small but promising number of studies featuring causal designs suggesting participation in EAL has positive effects on adolescents' selfperceived social support (2), adolescent social competence and behavior (3, 4) and adolescents' basal activity of the Hypothalamic Pituitary Adrenal (HPA) axis, as measured by salivary cortisol levels (5).

At first glance, one might assume that increased use of EAL is informed by the prevailing model guiding preventive intervention research, the Preventive Intervention Research Cycle. According to this model, interventions are developed with a comprehensive theoretical and empirical understanding of the target issue, tested for efficacy under tightly controlled research conditions, then examined in real-world settings for effectiveness in broader populations, and finally disseminated for wide-spread implementation. It is a significant concern that this sequencing has not occurred for EAL, which is widely promoted and implemented, despite the fact that the number of causal studies are limited. In fact, little is known about whether, how, under which conditions, and for whom, EAL programs facilitate safe, efficient and effective improvement of affective, physiological, and behavioral regulation.

Based on a survey on EAL and Equine Assisted Therapy (EAT) methodologies Nelson et al. (6) suggested that in order to move EAT and EAL into mainstream professional practice, the theoretical and empirical underpinnings of activities must be defined more clearly. In particular, given that there are no standardized, evidence-based curricula, widely-accepted implementation protocols, or even broad principles guiding EAL implementation, we do not know which EAL activities are essential to achieve desired effects on targeted outcomes in a given population. Furthermore, the most effective ways to enhance learning services through interacting with horses and the equine environment are not yet known to us. In fact, we do not know much about the ways in which one of the most common and popular EAL activities-ridingis best implemented to facilitate an effective experience for populations who vary in age, risk-status, regulatory ability, and prior horse exposure. Specifically, given that EAL programs often target at-risk populations, it would be helpful to understand the role of participants' affective and physiological regulatory abilities commonly associated with risk status, in shaping their moment-to-moment experiences and responses to EAL activities, especially activities that challenge those abilities. Understanding the dynamic interplay between participants' regulatory characteristics and responses in the context of a mounted activity can help equine facilitators anticipate, recognize, respond and redirect signs of participants' arousal, cognitions, emotion, and behavior to enhance participants' subjective perceptions about EAL experiences, which may enhance treatment effects.

Among numerous indicators of physiological regulation, an examination of diurnal, basal, and momentary response patterns of the Hypothalamic Pituitary Adrenal (HPA) axis holds particular relevance for the field of EAL. Marked by cortisol, which can be measured conveniently and unobtrusively in naturalistic settings using salivary sampling, the HPA axis is one of the body's most relevant stress-sensitive systems on the basis of its connection to social, emotional, and psychological events (7). In the EAL context, events that may activate HPA axis activity include exposure to environmental stressors (e.g., riding a 1,200-pound animal, performing a new task with an audience) and social support systems (e.g., encouragement from staff and peers, horse responding to cues).

Typically, healthy individuals show a pronounced diurnal pattern of cortisol, in which levels are highest in the morning soon after waking, drop rapidly in the first few hours after waking, then continue to drop more slowly, reaching a low point around midnight (8, 9). In fact, time of day has been shown to account for \sim 70% of the variation in cortisol levels (10). There is a substantial body of research on associations between diurnal cortisol activity and individuals' trait-like affective and behavioral characteristics. For example, in adolescents flatter cortisol slopes from wakeup to bedtime have been observed for males with high levels of neuroticism (11) and in youth who have high trait loneliness (12). Moreover, in a prospective longitudinal study, adolescents with a higher baseline Cortisol Awakening Response (CAR) are significantly more likely to experience an episode of major depression over the following year (13); yet, those who experience current or past major depressive episodes exhibit flatter cortisol curves. Depression itself is thought to further alter the functioning of the HPA axis (14), further capturing the dynamic interaction between affective experiences and HPA functioning over time.

Beyond diurnal patterns of cortisol production attributable to the time of day, the remaining variation in cortisol levels is conceptualized as cortisol reactivity, which is determined by responding to momentary influences and events, including social or psychological stressors and supports. Examining momentary reactivity in the context of EAL is reasonable, as there is evidence to suggest that momentary changes in adolescent cortisol levels are associated with momentary, within-person changes in emotion states and social environments. For example, Adam (13, 14) found that momentary cortisol levels were higher than expected for that time of day at moments when individuals were experiencing negative emotion (e.g., anger, worry, stress), and lower when they were experiencing positive social emotions. This has direct relevance for EAL context, as it is likely that EAL activities may evoke negative and positive emotions in participants depending on the activity, the participant's characteristics, as well as the context in which the as activity occurs.

Furthermore, there is evidence to suggest that the presence of social support from a trusted adult may buffer elevations in momentary cortisol during times of fear or emotional distress (15). Although adolescence marks a time when caregivers' capacity to buffer their children's HPA response to stressors appears to decline (16), due to increases in cognitive complexity adolescents are increasingly able to represent others, such as non-family adults and peers, as sources of support (17), providing opportunity for those involved in EAL, including facilitators, volunteers, and fellow participants, to play a role in the development of coping abilities in this context.

Whether adolescents' momentary mood states alter their levels of cortisol, or whether their hormonal states influence their momentary mood states remains undetermined. For example, there is a large body of experimental evidence showing that exposure to stressful situations increases cortisol levels (18, 19), as well evidence demonstrating that experimentally manipulated changes in cortisol are associated with changes in affective and cognitive state (20). It is thus likely that adolescent mood states and cortisol levels transact dynamically and continuously during EAL activities, particularly when experiencing a novel, potentially stressful event, such as engaging in a first mounted activity.

While individual differences in the size and duration of cortisol reactivity are thought to be relevant for affective and behavioral regulation, it is incorrect to assume that downregulation of cortisol activity and reactivity should always be an inherent goal of EAL, as this is dependent on the population under study and the targeted outcome. Researchers studying associations between HPA axis activity and emotional pathology in adolescence have theorized that adolescents with elevated basal cortisol levels and/or a tendency toward greater HPA reactivity to social and emotional challenges may be at greater risk for the development of internalizing problems, including depression and anxiety disorders (21, 22). As such, attempts to downregulate basal cortisol and lower cortisol reactivity may be warranted for some adolescents reporting symptoms of depression and anxiety to prevent the development of clinical levels of either disorder. On the other hand, there is evidence to suggest that physiological regulation may be different for individuals with developmental disorders or psychopathology. For example, individuals with ADHD tend to have low basal levels, as well as low momentary arousal in response to activities, and may as such benefit from program activities that aim to increase physiological arousal (23), a feature that would be counterproductive when working with adolescents with autism, who tend to have over arousal of cortisol levels (24). In sum, given the limited knowledge about the efficacy of EAL to affect momentary down- or upregulation of HPA axis activity, it is somewhat premature to advise practitioners about in- or exclusion of up- or downregulation activities purely based on the etiology of the population served. In fact, examining associations between participants' moment-to-moment emotion, diurnal, basal, and moment-to-moment reactivity of HPA-axis activity in the context of a common, yet challenging EAL activity, and the contributions of these responses to participants' behavioral regulation during the activity is an important first step toward increasing our knowledge. Although there is theoretical rationale to expect individual differences in physiological and affective responding to the stressors and support inherent in EAL settings, there is currently no prior study that has examined these processes on the momentary, experiential level.

The first aim of this study was to examine moment-tomoment emotion states of 10-14-year-old adolescents before (i.e., anticipatory emotion) and after (i.e., post-ride emotion) their first ever mounted EAL activity. We selected the first mounted activity for closer examination as it was expected to evoke different reactions with regards to participants' perceptions of stress and support, which we hypothesized would result into varying levels of HPA activation, differences in moment-tomoment emotion and observed behavior. This first mounted activity took place during the fifth week of an 11-week EAL program which reduces the likelihood that affective and physiological arousal observed in our study occurred merely in response to the novelty of being exposed to equines. The second aim was to model these emotion states by examining contributions of adolescent characteristics (e.g., gender, age, referral status) and indices of physiological regulation (e.g., basal cortisol levels, dysregulation of diurnal patterns, and momentary cortisol reactivity in response to riding). The third aim focused on the extent to which participants' emotion and arousal in anticipation and response to riding informed the quality of observed adolescent behavior during their first mounted activity.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

All study procedures involving human participants were conducted in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. All procedures performed involving animals were in accordance with the ethical standards of the University's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

The EAL Program and Focus Session

The EAL session under study was conducted during the fifth week of an 11-week EAL program aimed at enhancing adolescents' social competence and reducing stress. The overall program consisted of eleven weekly, 90-min sessions of individual, team, and group-focused equine assisted activities, which were conducted at a PATH Intl. Premier Accredited Center in a university setting. The curriculum utilized in the study was designed by several individuals including a PATH Intl. certified instructor, a licensed counseling psychologist, and a developmental psychologist. Each of these individuals had participated in a range of equine assisted learning and therapy workshops and trainings. While activities varied from week to week and were based on principles of equitation science (25) and natural horsemanship, the curriculum was not situated in one particular field or perspective. Various underlying principles from the aforementioned models were combined with those based on the developmental stress system literature,

TABLE 1 | Outline of lesson objectives by week.

Week	Lesson objective	Sample activity
1	Basic safety: Meet horses and staff	Observing horse behavior and herd dynamics
2	Respect: Self, others and horses	Moving horses using 4 phases of direct or indirect pressure ^a
3	Communication: Verbal and non-verbal	Leading horses, interpreting horse body language
4	Leadership: Assertive and aggressive cues	Driving ^b activity using body language and phases
5	Trust: Coping with perceptions of stress	Riding and leading
6	Boundaries	Driving activity using indirect pressure
7	Overcoming challenges and building confidence	Desensitizing ^c horses
8	Enhancing self-regulation and relaxation	Horse massage ^d , riding
9	Prepare for parents/visitors day	Incorporating horsemanship skills for team challenge
10	Parents/visitors day	Participants "teach" parents horsemanship skills
11	Program wrap up	Obstacle course, riding, and reflection

^a Pressure refers to signaling toward the horse (implied/indirect), pushing with fingers/hand or leg until the desired behavior or the equine is fulfilled (i.e., moving away from the pressure).

^bDriving refers to signaling the horse to move forward by pointing toward the desired space, and applying pressure behind the equine's shoulder to "drive" them forward and ahead of the equestrian.

^cDesensitizing refers to exercises to condition the equine to ignore a stimulus or object, thus avoiding "spooking" of certain gestures or objects.

^d Horse Massage refers to an exercise taught to participants in which they stroke the horse with slow, rhythmic strokes down the equines' body to "relax" him/her before riding.

learning theories, and counseling perspectives and subsequently incorporated into the activities over the 11-week period. The resulting curriculum featured a combination of mounted and un-mounted activities and horse-human interactions, including observation of equine behavior, engagement in equine management (e.g., grooming), in-hand horsemanship, some riding, and personal and group reflection. The program was implemented by a team of PATH Intl. certified instructors and certified equine specialists, undergraduate students in child-development, education, and animal science, professional counseling psychologists, and graduate-level counseling students. Each weekly session featured eight participants, which were paired up with a peer and engaged in a team that included one equine, an equine specialist, and a facilitator, which remained the same throughout the 11 sessions. Sessions were conducted on weekday afternoons as an after school program and included transportation of participants from school, immediately following their regular school day, to the program site and back using program vans. A full description of the weekly program objectives and activities is provided in Table 1. A full description of the activities conducted during the focus session, as well as the timing of data collection is described below and summarized in Table 2.

Recruitment

This study employs data collected from participants recruited in the first year of a 2-year randomized controlled trial on the effects of the 11-week program, in which this study is embedded. Although the EAL program studied was suitable to be administered universally or selectively, the aim of researchers and program facilitators was to recruit selectively, with the aim of recruiting approximately equal numbers of boys and girls per grade, as well as giving priority to adolescents with lower social competence. Program participants were recruited and assessed through distribution of flyers and advertisements in two school districts serving ten schools in two small university communities in the states of Washington and Idaho. Recruitment of participants was also accomplished through advertisements in local newspapers and through soliciting referrals by school counselors and local mental health providers. Adolescents referred by professional counselors were either receiving school counseling services for academic and/or behavioral adjustment issues or had parents who had sought consultation by counseling staff about concerns over their adolescent's exposure to school and/or home-based stress. Criteria for program participation were that (1) parents and adolescents were proficient English speakers, (2) the adolescent did not have physical or developmental disabilities, and (3) attended the 5th through 8th grade.

Screening and Selection

For purposes of screening and selection, parents first completed a standardized measure of adolescent social competence and reported on exposure to school and/or family-based stress for which they were paid five dollars. Social competence was measured with the DESSA (26), a 72-item measure, originally designed for use in schools, asking parents to indicate how often various adolescent behaviors occurred based on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 0 (never), 1 (rarely), 2 (occasionally), 3 (frequently), to 4 (very frequently) over the last month. The DESSA has excellent internal reliability ($\alpha_1 = 0.98$) and shows significant, moderate-to-high correlations with two widely-used measures with good psychometric properties, the BERS-2nd Edition (27) and the BASC-2nd Edition (28). The DESSA is a strength-based assessment featuring a social competence composite score by summing scores across 8 subscales including Optimistic Thinking ($\alpha = 0.87$), Self-Management ($\alpha = 0.86$), Goal-Directed Behavior ($\alpha = 0.89$), Self-Awareness ($\alpha = 0.82$), Social-Awareness ($\alpha = 0.86$), Personal Responsibility ($\alpha = 0.87$), Decision Making ($\alpha = 0.91$), and Relationship Skills ($\alpha = 0.93$). Screened participants were rank-ordered based on these scores to give priority to adolescents with lower social competence.

Next, selected study participants were randomly assigned to a treatment group starting program participation a week later, or to a waitlisted control group, who started participation 16 weeks later. In year 1 of the trial, 64 participants ($N_{\text{boys}} = 30$; $N_{\text{girls}} = 34$; $M_{\text{age}} = 10.93$ years) were selected for study participation and randomly assigned to an experimental group (N = 33) or waitlisted control condition (N = 31). Of those, 59 participants attended the session of focus in this study ($N_{\text{boys}} = 27$; $N_{\text{girls}} = 32$; $N_{\text{referred}} = 10$; $M_{\text{age}} = 11.63$ years), predominantly White

TABLE 2 | Approximate timing of activities and associated variables during mounted activity session.

Approximate time since pickup	Activity	Data collected/Variable derived
0:00	Pick-up from school	Cortisol sample 1 collected (Reflects cortisol level 25 min prior the end of regular school day—basal cortisol)
0:25	Arrival at Barn/Participants assist with retrieving horse/arena set up	
0:30	Participants groom their horse for 10 min and assist with saddling	
0:45	A lesson in correct rein use is given	
~0:50	Participants start mounting one by one under supervision ^a . Once mounted, lead walkers lead horse at walk providing basic instruction on sitting, leg pressure and position until all participants are mounted.	Pre-ride ESM 1 completed immediately before mounting (Pre-ride positive and pre-ride negative emotion)
~1.00	Once all participants are mounted they begin riding as a group ^b performing sitting and stretching exercises. After receiving reins, participants work on halting, walking-on, and directing the horse through various obstacles ^c .	
~1:15	Participants start dismounting one by one under supervision in the order they mounted after 20 min of riding.	Post-ride ESM 2 completed (Reflects positive and negative emotion after 20 min of riding) Cortisol sample 2 collected (Reflects cortisol level immediately before mounting— <i>anticipatory</i> <i>cortisol</i>)
~1:25	Participants help put horses and equipment away	Cortisol sample 3 collected (Reflects cortisol level after 10 min of riding—ride cortisol)
~1:50	Participants end the session with a group discussion about their experience.	

^a Since each participant received one on one assistance of the lead instructor, outlined start, and end times are approximate. While variation in clocked times of riding, cortisol sampling, and survey completion occurred, timing between activities/events, and cortisol sampling (i.e., 25 min), time between cortisol sample 2 and 3 (i.e., 10 min) and total ride time (i.e., 20 min) was identical for each participants. ^b Participants had a lead walker at all times throughout their riding experience. ^cObstacles included weaving through cones, zigzagging through poles, halting between poles, etc.

(81.6%) and of non-Latino or Hispanic ethnicity (88.8%), with the remaining adolescents reporting across racial categories that included more than one race (8%), Asian (3.2%), and American Indian or Alaska Native (1.6%), or unknown race (5.6%). Although this study is embedded in a larger, 2-year causal trial, the analyses featured in this manuscript are not designed to make causal inferences.

Diurnal Activity of HPA Axis: In-home Salivary Sampling

Parents and adolescents were instructed and consented/assented in person by the PI. Two weeks before the beginning of the EAL program, they received written and verbal instructions and a hands-on demonstration on how to collect and store salivary samples. In the week before the EAL program started, parents assisted adolescents with the in-home sampling of six salivary cortisol samples using the passive drool method by spitting through a straw into a sterile 1.8 ml cryovial. Saliva was collected three times a day, on each of two consecutive weekdays at prescribed events (immediately upon waking, immediately before bedtime) and at prescribed times (4:00 p.m.) in their own home and as they went about their normal daily lives. Participants and parents recorded the exact time each sample was taken, and completed an activity and event report on each sampling day on their use of steroid-based medication, timing of intake of food and beverages, sleep and wake-times, as well as any unusual circumstances that may have influenced reliable sampling or interpretation (e.g., sickness, exposure to unusual or stressful event) during days of salivary sampling. Substantial efforts (i.e., written, verbal and in-person instruction, handson demonstration, and telephone and email reminders) were made to impress upon participants the importance of compliance with the study's sampling procedures, particularly with regards to the timing of saliva sampling and reporting of sampling times, especially those collected upon waking. Compliance was high as 92% of adolescents provided all six diurnal samples as requested. A set of completed samples were retrieved from participants at the beginning of the EAL program session when samples were stored on ice in a cooler for transfer to our laboratory-based freezer for storage at -80 degrees Celsius that day, after visual inspection for blood contamination and sample cataloging.

Momentary Cortisol Sampling

In addition to calculating diurnal indices of HPA axis activity a week before the start of the program, participants were asked to provide three momentary samples of salivary cortisol during the fifth session, which constitutes the focus of this study. Adolescents provided their first saliva sample under supervision from research assistants, immediately upon being picked-up from school before being transported to the barn. Since it takes \sim 25 min after an event or stressor for cortisol levels to reach their

peak in saliva (29), participants' cortisol levels collected at the time of pickup reflected their HPA axis activity \sim 25 min *prior* to the end of their regular school day, therefore referred to as *basal cortisol*.

Although the focus session was implemented according to the activity and sampling outline presented in Table 2, each participant's specific mounting, riding, dismounting, sampling, and survey activity was individually managed, systematicallytimed with a stopwatch, and documented to ensure that the observed associations between riding-related events, levels of cortisol present in saliva, and participants' momentary emotions reflecting riding-related events are empirically justified. Since participants mounted and dismounted one by one, while under direct supervision of the certified lead PATH instructor, each individuals' precise mounting time was used as the anchoring time for determining the salivary sampling time -25 and 35 min later—of the individual's subsequent two cortisol samples. We conceptualized the cortisol parameter collected 25 min after mounting as anticipatory cortisol to best capture the dynamic, continuous, and transactional nature of HPA axis activity likely to operate in the context of the mounting process, which constitutes a novel, potentially arousing stressor usually lasting several minutes. The third saliva sample was collected exactly 35 min after mounting (e.g., ride cortisol), which was used to calculate the participants' cortisol reactivity by calculating the difference between the third and second sample.

While we recognize that the precise time elapsed between events and peak level of cortisol obtained in saliva is an approximation, it is less important to focus on the absolute values of these variables than it is to consider their value in capturing change in participants' cortisol levels in the context of $\sim 10 \text{ min}$ of riding, which is informed by participants' perception of the availability of coping resources and support (21). Any factor which influences the individual's perception of themselves and their environment, including their past experience (e.g., risk-status), their emotional and physical traits and states (e.g., moment-to-moment emotion, basal cortisol, diurnal dysregulation), and the nature of their support system (e.g., ability of equine-assisted facilitators to facilitate down regulation of arousal, presence of supportive peers, a responsive, gentle horse) may influence this perception and the associated reactivity. Each participant rode for a total of 20 min and dismounted in the order they mounted. All saliva samples were collected under the supervision of trained research assistants who immediately marked each sample with the exact time and date of collection. Completed samples were stored on ice in a cooler for transfer to our laboratorybased freezer for storage at -80 degrees Celsius that day, after visual inspection for blood contamination and sample cataloging.

Momentary Emotion Sampling

Measurement of participants' moment-to-moment emotion was based on procedures and measures of the experience sampling method (ESM) (30), which is a method that provides detailed information about participants' subjective interpretations of their experiences in naturalistic settings. Designed to capture individuals' subjective evaluations of events at a particular moment is particularly valuable for studying emotions such as stress, since it is possible to determine a person's stress level at a given moment, as well as to identify specific instances when stress increases or decreases in response to specific events (31). Research examining the quality of ESM data has concluded that these data are reliable and valid when compared with data obtained from other instruments (32, 33). Findings also indicate that respondents are generally truthful in reporting their immediate subjective experiences (34), thus confirming the validity of ESM. Using a protocol from a prior study linking emotional functioning to cortisol levels (35, 36), ESM reports were taken twice during the session under study, once immediately before mounting the horse, and once immediately after dismounting, 20 min later. The 1-min 11-item survey asked participants to endorse on a four-point scale, ranging from 0 (not at all), 1 (a little), 2 (somewhat), to 3 (very much), the extent to which they "felt embarrassed, nervous, overwhelmed, frustrated, stressed, confident, relaxed, excited, happy, proud, and relieved." To reduce the potential of participants providing socially desirable answers, each participant was provided privacy while they completed their survey. To reduce the possibility of type 1 error, principal component analyses (with a varimax rotation) were performed revealing two main emotion factors, including negative emotion (i.e., embarrassed, nervous, overwhelmed, frustrated, stressed, and confident and relaxed, which were both reverse coded) and positive emotion (i.e., excited, happy, proud, and relieved). Coefficient alphas for negative and positive emotion were 0.73 and 0.68, respectively. These scores were used to derive at variables capturing positive and negative emotion before riding (i.e., pre-ride positive emotion, pre-ride negative emotion) and after riding (i.e., post-ride positive emotion, post-ride negative emotion).

Participant Behavior

For study purposes related to the 2-year RCT in which this study was embedded, participants' positive and negative behaviors were rated weekly after each session using the Animal Assisted Therapy—Psychosocial Session Form (AAT-PSF) (37). Since these ratings had been completed each week, we used rating of behavior obtained at the beginning of the program (Week 1) as a control variable in models predicting behavior observed during the focus week under study. Each adolescent's behavior was independently rated by two program facilitators who worked with the adolescent during the focus session, and a third rater, a research assistant not engaged in the facilitation of human-horse interaction. Raters indicated the extent to which adolescents engaged in 25 positive behaviors (e.g., following direction, accepting feedback, sharing, making eye contact, appropriately assertive) and 18 negative behaviors (e.g., argumentative, fidgeting, withdrawn, hyperactive, resistant) on a six—point Likert scale containing 0 (none), 1 (very low), 2 (low), 3 (medium), 4 (high), and 5 (very high). Summed scores for each participant's positive and negative behaviors were averaged across observers, whose ratings were positively associated as evidenced

HPA-Axis, Emotion, Behavior During EAL

by a significant intra-class correlation, r = 0.829, p < 0.001 resulting in a score of *positive and negative behavior* for each participant.

Data Reduction of Cortisol Values and Parameters Calculation

All samples were analyzed by a professional laboratory specializing in salivary cortisol assaying by enzyme immunoassay. The test used for these assays had a range of sensitivity from 0.007 to 1.8 µg/dl, and average intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation <3 and 7%, respectively. Before calculating diurnal parameters, we replaced missing cortisol values with the value of the participant's own cortisol value taken at the same time on the other sampling day, rather than replacing the value with the sample mean. To limit the influence of extremely high or low individual cortisol values, diurnal cortisol values for each time point were winsorized to three standard deviations above and below the mean. The slope value of the adolescent's diurnal cortisol curve was calculated by regressing all six of the participant's cortisol values on his or her sampling time over the 2-day sampling period and the unstandardized coefficients derived from these regression analyses were used as a dependent variable for each participant, effectively controlling for the time of day samples were taken, and for the total time the adolescent was awake. Slope values were utilized in the classification of whether adolescents displayed cortisol dysregulation, as indicated by a positive slope, for which an indicator was assigned. As is common when conducting these types of analyses, a natural logarithmic transformation for each cortisol parameter at each time point (e.g., basal cortisol, anticipatory cortisol, and cortisol reactivity) was used to reduce positive skewness typical of this biomarker, followed by standardizing for regression analyses.

RESULTS

Comparing Momentary Emotion Before and After Riding

Descriptive characteristics of participants' emotion factors and items are reported in **Table 3**. Using paired-samples *t*-tests, we compared reports of momentary emotion for each item and factor reported immediately before riding during mounting (i.e., *anticipatory emotion*) to emotion reported immediately following riding for 20 min (i.e., *post-ride emotion*). Given the within-subject nature of these analyses, we calculated a Cohen's *d* effect size for each item and factor while controlling for the correlation between measurements of each item (38).

The overall factor for negative emotion revealed that adolescents' levels of negative emotion were significantly higher immediately before riding compared to their levels of negative emotion after having ridden for 20 min $t_{(58)} = 1.98$, p = 0.052, $d_z = 0.26$. This was mostly driven by adolescents feeling less nervous $t_{(57)} = -3.58$, p = 0.001, $d_z = -0.47$ and more confident $t_{(57)} = 2.09$, p = 0.041, $d_z = 0.27$ after having completed their ride. Results also showed that participants reported significantly higher positive emotion after riding, $t_{(57)} = 2.19$, p = 0.033.

TABLE 3 | Descriptives of momentary emotion before and after 20 min of riding (N = 59).

	Pre-Ride <i>M</i> (SD)	Post-Ride M (SD)	ANOVA p-value	Cohen's <i>d</i> z
Negative	0.578 (0.52)	0.446 (0.56)	0.052	-0.26
Emotion Factor ^a		()		
Embarrassed	0.193 (0.48)	0.298 (0.71)	0.277	0.15
Confident	2.21 (0.97)	2.48 (0.88)	0.041*	0.27
Relaxed	2.25 (0.96)	2.41 (0.93)	0.296	0.13
Nervous	0.948 (1.02)	0.448 (0.88)	0.001**	-0.47
Overwhelmed	0.610 (0.98)	0.559 (0.99)	0.695	-0.05
Frustrated	0.170 (0.56)	0.203 (0.61)	0.687	0.05
Stressed	0.586 (0.89)	0.500 (0.92)	0.301	-0.13
Positive Emotion	2.04 (0.79)	2.36 (0.82)	0.033*	0.28
Factor				
Excited	2.51 (0.79)	2.36 (0.82)	0.231	-0.16
Нарру	2.54 (0.73)	2.56 (0.84)	0.849	0.02
Proud	1.79 (1.10)	2.35 (0.88)	< 0.001***	0.55
Relieved	1.19 (1.18)	1.64 (1.26)	0.001**	0.44

*p < 0.05. **p < 0.01. ***p < 0.001.

^aConfident and relaxed are represented as actual scores, yet were reverse coded to enable factor calculations.

This was mostly driven by adolescent's reports of feeling proud $t_{(56)} = 4.16, p < 0.001$. We also examined individual differences in positive and negative emotion factors by gender and referral status before and after riding. Results suggest that there were no significant differences by gender for positive emotion before, $F_{(1,57)} = 0.001, p = 0.972,$ or after riding $F_{(1,57)} = 0.770,$ p = 0.384. Similarly, there were no significant differences by gender for negative emotion before, $F_{(1,57)} = 0.421$, p = 0.519, or after riding, $F_{(1,57)} = 0.002$, p = 0.967. With regards to referral status, we noted that the most pronounced difference was experienced in the levels of negative emotion after riding, $F_{(1,57)} = 11.78$, p = 0.001 showing that adolescents who came to the program referred by school counselors reported significantly higher levels of negative emotion after riding, M = 0.691, SD = 0.87, than those who were non-referred, M = 0.341, SD = 0.42. As such, in models examining the role of participants' risk-related characteristics on momentary emotion before and after riding, we included referral status.

Diurnal Cortisol Collected at pre-test, Before Start of 11 Week Program

Descriptive analyses on observed cortisol levels and sampling times are described in **Table 4**. Results show that diurnal cortisol levels for participants collected at pre-test (1 week before the start of the program, 6 weeks before the session under study took place) were considered in the normal range across both sampling days for wakeup cortisol levels $M_{\text{Day1}} = 0.330$, SD = 0.20, $M_{\text{Day2}} = 0.332$, SD = 0.22, afternoon cortisol levels $M_{\text{Day1}} = 0.096$, SD = 0.16, $M_{\text{Day2}} = 0.133$, SD = 0.21, $M_{\text{Day2}} = 0.061$, SD = 0.15. On average, adolescents were awake for a total of 13.57 h per day. The slope value of the adolescent's diurnal cortisol curve, calculated by

TABLE 4 | Descriptives of untransformed adolescent cortisol levels (μ /dl).

Diurnal pretest cortisol	<i>M</i> (SD)
Cortisol slope	-0.019 (0.01)
Wakeup cortisol Day1	0.330 (0.20)
Wakeup cortisol Day2	0.332 (0.22)
Afternoon cortisol Day1	0.096 (0.16)
Afternoon cortisol Day2	0.133 (0.31)
Bedtime cortisol Day1	0.107 (0.21)
Bedtime cortisol Day2	0.061 (0.15)
Average wakeup time	7.28 (0.78)
Average afternoon time	16.25 (0.78)
Average bedtime time	20.85 (0.75)
Momentary Riding Week	<i>M</i> (SD)
Sample 1: Baseline cortisol	0.083 (0.061)
Sample 2: Anticipatory cortisol	0.063 (0.052)
Sample 3: Ride cortisol	0.067 (0.099)

regressing each individual's cortisol level on his or her sampling time over the 2-day sampling period, was also in the normal range, M = -0.019, SD = 0.01. Indicators of slope dysregulation were assigned to participants with positive slopes. We did not find any significant differences in the slope of adolescents' diurnal cortisol by gender, $F_{(1,52)} = 1.34$, p = 0.25, or referral status, $F_{(1,51)} = 1.21$, p = 0.28.

Momentary Cortisol Levels Collected During the Riding Session

Basal cortisol levels reflecting HPA axis activity 25 prior to ending their regular school day (M = 0.083, SD = 0.061), during mounting ($M_{anticipatorycortisol} = 0.063$, SD = 0.052), and after 10 min of riding ($M_{ridecortisol} = 0.067$, SD = 0.099) are also reported in **Table 4**. The reported mean levels and standard deviations reflect untransformed cortisol values, which were transformed to normalize the distribution using a natural logarithmic transformation before further analyses were conducted. There were no statistically significant differences in cortisol levels by gender [$F_{(1,57)} = 1.93$, p = 0.17; $F_{(1,51)} = 3.55$, p = 0.07], referral status [$F_{(1,57)} = 1.77$, p = 0.19; $F_{(1,51)} = 0.238$, p = 0.58], or horse experience prior to starting the program [$F_{(1,57)} = 3.02$, p = 0.09; $F_{(1,51)} = 0.313$, p = 0.63], respectively.

Physiological Contributions to Positive and Negative Momentary Emotion Before Riding

Using hierarchical linear regression, we first examined associations between participants' basal cortisol levels, anticipatory cortisol, cortisol dysregulation, referral status, and positive and negative emotion reported immediately before riding during mounting (**Table 5**). In predicting negative momentary emotion before riding (pre-ride negative emotion), results show that higher levels of anticipatory cortisol were significantly associated with higher levels of negative emotion

before riding, $\beta = 0.382$, p = 0.041. As cortisol variables were logarithmically transformed, these variables will be discussed in terms of percentage change, rather than log-unit change for clarity in interpretation. These results suggest that a 1 SD increase in momentary anticipatory cortisol predicts a statistically significant 46.5% increase in feelings of negative emotion during mounting after basal cortisol levels, cortisol dysregulation, and referral status were accounted for.

Modeling of positive momentary emotion before riding demonstrated that higher levels of anticipatory cortisol significantly predicted lower feelings of positive emotion before riding, $\beta = -0.508$, p = 0.013. These results suggest that a 1 SD increase in anticipatory cortisol predicts a statistically significant 39.8% decrease in feelings of positive emotion. Interestingly, basal cortisol at pickup was positively associated with significantly higher levels of positive emotion before riding, $\beta = 0.431$, p = 0.034 (d = 53.9%) suggesting that higher basal cortisol levels that afternoon may have served to help the body respond to the stressor in preparation for the event in ways that inform participants' ability to mobilize biological resources (e.g., metabolic functioning, blood glucose levels, blood pressure) even though the size of the acute response as they were mounting their horse may have informed feelings of overwhelm, which may have reduced positive emotions of enjoyment and confidence. Interestingly, neither cortisol dysregulation nor referral status statistically predicted pre-ride levels of positive emotion.

Effects of Cortisol Reactivity on Positive and Negative Momentary Emotion After Riding

Next, we examined the extent to which participants' cortisol reactivity in response to 10 min of riding predicted participants' positive and negative perceptions about their first ride, which were surveyed 10 min later after dismounting. Consistent with literature on contributions of both diurnal, basal, and momentary cortisol levels to affective states, basal cortisol levels and cortisol dysregulation were included in the model, as was referral status. Greater cortisol reactivity in response to riding significantly predicted higher levels of negative emotion after dismounting the horse, $\beta = 0.395$, p = 0.001 showing that a 1 SD increase in cortisol reactivity predicted a 48.4% increase in feelings of negative emotion after the first riding activity had ended. Additionally, referral to the program significantly predicted higher levels of negative emotion after riding, $\beta = 0.338$, p = 0.004. Modeling post-ride positive emotion revealed that greater cortisol reactivity in response to the first 10 min of riding predicted a statistically significant decrease in feelings of positive emotion after riding, $\beta = -0.375$, p = 0.007, suggesting a 31.3% decrease in positive emotions in response to a 1 SD increase in reactivity. Neither basal cortisol, cortisol dysregulation nor referral status statistically predicted feelings of positive emotion after riding. These findings suggest that greater amounts of acute, momentary activation of HPA axis activity in response to a challenging yet perceived joyful activity-riding-heightens negative emotions and dampens positive perceptions about the experience. In addition, while children who were referred

TABLE 5 | Regression analyses predicting momentary emotion during riding session^a.

	Unstandardized B	SE	β	<i>p</i> -value	Interpretation ^b
Pre-Ride Negative Emotion (R ²	² = 0.265)				
(Constant)	0.822	0.775		0.294	
Anticipatory Cortisol	0.350	0.167	0.382	0.041*	46.52% increase in negative emotion
Basal cortisol pickup	-0.127	0.176	-0.133	0.472	
Cortisol dysregulation	0.432	0.294	0.183	0.148	
Referred	0.153	0.172	0.111	0.377	
Pre-Ride Positive Emotion (R^2	= 0.145)				
(Constant)	2.03	1.25		0.112	
Anticipatory Cortisol	-0.697	0.270	-0.508	0.013**	39.83% decrease in positive emotion
Basal cortisol pickup	0.618	0.285	0.431	0.034**	53.88% increase in positive emotion
Cortisol dysregulation	0.047	0.475	0.013	0.922	
Referred	-0.187	0.278	-0.090	0.505	
Post-Ride Negative Emotion (R	$t^2 = 0.398$)				
(Constant)	0.664	0.784		0.401	
Cortisol Reactivity Riding	2.95	0.856	0.395	0.001**	48.44% increase in negative emotion
Basal cortisol pickup	-0.057	0.122	-0.054	0.643	
Cortisol dysregulation	-0.084	0.284	-0.033	0.767	
Referred	0.507	0.169	0.338	0.004*	
Post-ride positive emotion (R^2	= 0.193)				
(Constant)	3.35	1.21		0.008	
Cortisol reactivity Riding	-3.73	1.31	-0.375	0.007*	31.27% decrease in positive emotion
Basal cortisol pickup	0.103	0.187	0.075	0.583	
Cortisol dysregulation	0.029	0.437	0.008	0.948	
Referred	-0.097	0.261	-0.048	0.713	

p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01. ***p < 0.001.

^a Final presented models control for participant age, gender, and whether the participant was a horse novice.

^b Due to the logarithmically transformed independent variable (i.e., natural log of cortisol values), the inverse function of that transformation (i.e., exponential function) was applied prior to calculating the effect size (i.e., percent change) to return each coefficient to its value.

and perceived as "at-risk" did not have greater dysregulation of patterns of diurnal cortisol, they were clearly less able to regulate negative affective arousal in the context of these experiences.

Predicting Negative Behavior During Riding Session

In addition to better understanding the contributions of physiological arousal to affective responses to a common EAL activity, we were interested in examining the extent to which participants' subjective experiences informed their negative behavior during the session. We controlled for gender in the model as descriptive analyses determined that boys were reported to have significantly lower levels of positive behavior $M_{\rm boys} = 75.85$, SD = 16.13, compared to girls $M_{\rm girls} = 86.44$, SD = 16.25. Additionally, boys displayed significantly higher levels of negative behavior, $M_{\rm boys} = 14.91$, SD = 11.88, than girls, $M_{\rm girls} = 6.92$, SD = 5.62).

In our first model (not shown, but discussed in text) we modeled the relationship between positive and negative emotion before and after riding on negative behavior while controlling for gender and age, and found that increased negative emotion measured before mounting significantly predicted higher levels of negative behavior during the riding session, $\beta = 0.361$, $t_{(57)} = 2.35$, p = 0.023. Additionally, increased feelings of positive emotion after 20 min of riding significantly predicted lower levels of observed negative behavior, $\beta = -0.546$, $t_{(57)} = -2.88$, p = 0.006. Feelings of positive emotion in anticipation to riding, and feelings of negative emotion in response to riding did not significantly predict observed negative behaviors for this session and were thus excluded in the final model, model 2, discussed below, and presented in **Table 6**.

The final model (**Table 6**) integrates additional participant characteristics used in previous analyses while also incorporating relevant indices of HPA axis activity. Increased feelings of negative emotion in anticipation of riding—measured immediately before mounting—significantly predicts negative behavior during the riding session, $\beta = 0.293$, $t_{(57)} = 2.05$, p = 0.046; and increased feelings of positive emotion after riding significantly predicted lower levels of observed negative behavior, $\beta = -0.546$, $t_{(57)} = -2.88$, p = 0.006. We also see evidence of HPA-axis reactivity contributing to observed reports of negative behavior. A 1 SD increase in cortisol reactivity in response to 10 min of riding predicted a 27% increase in observed negative behavior during this equine assisted learning program session. Also, higher levels of observed negative behavior during

TABLE 6 Regression and	lysis predicting negati	ve behavior during	first riding
session ($N = 59$).			

$(R^2 = 0.387)$	Unstandardized B	SE	β	p-value	Interpretation ^a
(Constant)	10.24	5.03		0.047	
Pre-ride negative emotion	5.50	2.69	0.293	0.046*	
Pre-ride positive emotion	2.23	1.83	0.178	0.229	
Post-ride negative emotion	-5.68	2.92	-0.328	0.058	
Post-ride positive emotion	-5.17	2.28	-0.398	0.027*	
Cortisol reactivity _{Riding}	31.30	15.54	0.242	0.049*	27.37% increase in negative behavior
Cortisol dysregulation	2.57	5.01	0.058	0.611	
Baseline negative behavior	0.509	0.149	0.392	0.001***	

p < 0.05. p < 0.01. p < 0.001.

^aDue to the logarithmically transformed independent variable (i.e., natural log of cortisol values), the inverse function of that transformation (i.e., exponential function) was applied prior to calculating the effect size (i.e., percent change) to return each coefficient to its value.

the first program session were associated with a statistically significant increase in levels of observed negative behavior during the first mounted program session. These findings suggest that negative perceptions in anticipation of riding for the first time, which are influenced by basal levels of cortisol on that day, along with increased physiological and affective arousal in response to riding, increased the negative behavior of EAL participants.

DISCUSSION

The main objective of this study was to examine the associations between adolescents' physiological characteristics, affective experiences, and behaviors during a novel equine activity approximately halfway through the 11-week program. In our examination of the emotional states of adolescents before and after their first mounted equine activity of the program, we found that negative emotion significantly decreased and positive emotion significantly increased. These findings echo findings by Frederick et al. (39), who found that at the end of a 5-week EAL program, academically-at-risk adolescents randomly assigned to additional EAL activities reported higher levels of hope and lower feelings of depression. These findings support the overall notion that getting to ride a horse can be enjoyable, while participants' experiences throughout an EAL session vary depending on the task, as well as the subjective experiences of that adolescent.

Next, we examined the extent to which adolescent characteristics and diurnal and momentary indices of physiological regulation predicted adolescent positive and negative emotion in anticipation and response to riding. Before riding, we found that higher levels of negative emotion were significantly associated with increased momentary cortisol levels, whereas higher levels of positive emotion were significantly associated with lower levels of momentary cortisol before riding and higher levels of afternoon basal cortisol. After the riding activity was completed, higher levels of negative emotion were significantly associated with higher cortisol reactivity in response to 10 min of riding, and being referred to the program, whereas higher levels of positive emotion were significantly associated with lower levels of cortisol reactivity in response to riding.

The presence of individual differences in cortisol reactivity to negative emotion in naturalistic settings is not surprising given the known role of differences in developmental histories, perceptions of stressors, and coping resources for individual differences in cortisol reactivity. Prior research found that the size of the HPA axis response to challenges intended to stimulate corticotropin-releasing hormone had a significant genetic component, whereas individual differences in cortisol reactivity to laboratory-based psychosocial stressors did not (40). Regardless of its origins, variability in cortisol responsivity to negative emotion and events experienced in daily life is potentially of considerable clinical interest. It is possible that "high cortisol responders" to this EAL challenge may experience more negative emotion and less positive behavior. Although participation in EAL activities may be generally enjoyable for adolescents, their experience as indicated by their emotional, physiological, and behavioral response at any point in the activity may vary based on HPA-axis activity, individual characteristics and referral status.

Finally, we examined the extent to which participants' positive and negative emotion in anticipation and response to riding informed the quality of observed adolescent behavior during their first mounted activity. We found that higher levels of observed negative behavior were significantly associated with higher levels of negative emotion before riding, lower levels of positive emotion after riding, and greater cortisol reactivity in response to riding for 10 min. Additionally, higher levels of negative behavior on the first day of the program were significantly associated with higher levels of negative behavior during the first mounted EAL session.

Based on these findings, it is important that program instructors and facilitators take into consideration some of the "invisible" individual characteristics that may be informing a participant's EAL experience, particularly during mounted sessions. Their attention should go beyond simply redirecting participant behavior with the intention of promoting safety, peer relations, activity goals, etc., to also recognize the different regulation abilities of the participants during activities that may be arousing to the adolescent. One avenue of accomplishing this may come from the nature of the programs themselves. EAL may provide a unique platform to assist adolescents in better understanding and cuing into their own physiological and emotional needs. Carlsson et al. (41) reported that clients and staff members engaged in equine assisted social work claimed that the horse's ability to cue into and respond to their emotions was influential in allowing themselves to become aware of those emotions. Notschaele (42) suggests that it is the horse's

ability to provide moment-to-moment feedback on human's non-verbal communication that provides the framework for a feedback system that humans do not typically encounter. The underlying idea for this feedback loop is further supported by evidence that horses do in fact respond both physically and behaviorally to human's psychological and physical stress (43, 44). With their knowledge of horse behavior, facilitators can thus provide valuable guidance to participants to assist them with downregulation following an arousing experience, by effectively utilizing the horse's behavior as an external feedback indicator. On the other hand, this approach suggests that all horses cope actively or visually with stressors that can occur in this situation. As such, it may place undue responsibility on the horse as an instrument, when in reality it may be unethical to wait for the horse to communicate discomfort related to the participant. In sum, while the horse may offer up recognizable indicators to facilitators that their client is experiencing stress, it is equally important that each program facilitator be able to independently recognize behaviors of stress in their human clients. Fostering increased awareness of the role of HPA axis activity and arousal during program participation may enable program facilitators to better recognize and respond to arousal in their clients. With the duel knowledge of indicators of stress in both humans and horses, facilitators will be able to better respond to human needs, while simultaneously protecting and promoting the wellbeing of the horses they are working with.

By paying attention to the behaviors and cues of both the adolescent and horse, program staff have the opportunity to take a more active role in facilitating the downregulation of aroused adolescents during mounted activities. At times arousing circumstances may require the highlighting of positive actions (i.e., "Nice job rewarding your horse for standing still while mounting"), naming and discussing "negatives" (i.e., "I wonder whether the horse can sense that you are nervous; what do you think?"), or directly instructing the adolescent to use the horse as a measure of their downregulation (i.e., "It seems like you may be gripping your horse with your legs which may be telling your horse that you want to go faster, even though you are also asking your horse to slow down. Let's see if your horse will relax with you; take a deep breath and relax your legs when you exhale"). It is important that facilitators and instructors of EAL programs are aware that participants may not be able to regulate their behavior (i.e., listen to direction, sit still, not pull on the reins) because they are preoccupied and possibly impaired in their own affective and physiological arousal in response to what they may perceive as a psychological or physical threat. As such, rather than focusing on changing the negative behavior per se, facilitators may need to focus on helping participants change their arousal and perception as a tool to facilitate desired positive behavior. Doing so will also provide opportunities for the facilitators to point out the horse's desired response, which can be used to reinforce downregulation and positive perception for the participant, functioning as a feedback loop in the physiological, affective, and behavioral domains. Overall, increasing the participants' awareness of emotion, behavior, and cognitions enhances EAL's original goal.

Strengths and Limitations

Strengths of this study lie in several methodological aspects in the measuring of various dependent and independent variables. First, the collection of the diurnal and momentary cortisol samples and participant moment-to-moment emotion were conducted under a precise, carefully-timed protocol. Although maintaining such a methodological protocol in a naturalistic setting is logistically and procedurally difficult to do, it adds a dynamic set of measures to the expanding literature on EAL programming. In addition, the modeling approach is one of the few in the literature that simultaneously examines diurnal, basal, and momentary activity of the HPA axis. Considering aspects that inform cortisol activity in humans comprehensively thereby informs realistic expectations about participants' ability to control their arousal and reduces the likelihood that participants, especially those with dysregulated patterns, are expected to regulate their behavior more than they are psychologically able. Not recognizing the role of arousal may create the incorrect impression that participants are not willing to follow directions, which can lead to unproductive tension between the participant, their peer, the facilitator, and the horse, particularly when attempts are made to redirect using behavioral approaches (i.e., rewards such as praise; punishment such as sitting out), which tend to be less effective when affective and physiological arousal underlie undesired actions. As such, we believe that these findings provide a much-needed contribution that can inform the practice of EAL for various populations. Another strength of this study is that behavior was assessed by three independent raters, including those unconnected to the EAL implementation and thus unvested in treatment success, the horse or participant. This reduces the likelihood that the ratings were biased by staff exaggerating positive treatment effects.

With regards to study limitations, while the data analyzed in this study were collected under naturalistic settings as a part of a larger randomized controlled trial, the nature of the data does not allow for causal interpretation of our findings. However, these findings may inform future causal experimentation examining "best practices" for program facilitation. Additionally, although we gathered self-reports on emotional states before and after riding, we did not measure participants' appraisal of their experience. Future work examining how participants appraise the situation at hand may better inform the relationship between their physiological reactivity, emotionality, and behavior.

CONCLUSION

In summary, this study provides evidence that studying the associations between participants' physiological and affective experiences in response to common EAL activities is informing our understanding of participants' individual differences in behavior. In the long term, gaining a better understanding of how the dynamics of participants' emotions and experiences relate to the dynamics of their cortisol levels and their behavior may help to illuminate the pathways by which EAL can get "under the skin" to influence program success. EAL programming staff have an opportunity to assist adolescents, particularly those at-risk and those experiencing high levels of stress and related symptoms, in downregulating their arousal during mounted program activities to encourage appropriate behaviors, as well as create positive, enjoyable, relaxing experiences. It is important therefore that program staff receive the necessary training and support related to participants' developmental characteristics in addition to their experience with horses in order to not only maintain program safety, but also to promote positive learning opportunities for program participants by highlighting the unique ways in which horses can facilitate these processes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the manuscript and have read and approved the final version. PP obtained funding, conceived the study concept and design, and drove the analysis and interpretation of data. AC participated in data collection, assisted in the analysis and interpretation of data, and contributed to the manuscript draft. JV critically revised the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Professional Association of Therapeutic Horsemanship International (PATH Intl.). Professional Association of Therapeutic Horsemanship Intl.: Ensuring Excellence and Changing Lives through Equine-Assisted Activities and Therapies. (2017). Available online at: https://www.pathintl.org/images/pdf/ about-narha/documents/2016-fact-sheet-for-web.pdf. (Accessed April 12, 2018).
- Hauge H, Kvalem IL, Berget B, Enders-Slegers, MJ, Braastad BO. Equineassisted activities and the impact on perceived social support, self-esteem and self-efficacy among adolescents-an intervention study. *Int J Adolesc Youth*. (2013) 18:1–21. doi: 10.1080/02673843.2013.779587
- Pendry P, Roeter S. Experimental trial demonstrates positive effects of equine facilitated learning on child social competence. *Hum Anim Interact Bull.* (2013) 1:1–19. doi: 10.1037/e565452013-002
- Pendry P, Carr AM, Smith AN, Roeter SM. Improving adolescent social competence and behavior: a randomized trial of an 11-week equine facilitated learning prevention program. J Prim Prev. (2014) 35:281–93. doi: 10.1007/s10935-014-0350-7
- Pendry P, Smith AN, Roeter SM. Randomized trial examines effects of equine facilitated learning on adolescents' basal cortisol levels. *Hum Anim Interact Bull.* (2014) 2:80–95.
- Nelson A, Signal T, Wilson R. Equine assisted therapy and learning: a survey of methodologies in Australia. Soc Anim J Hum Anim Stud. (2016) 24:337–57. doi: 10.1163/15685306-12341418
- Adam E. Momentary emotions and physiological stress levels in the everyday lives of working parents. In: Schneider B, Waite J, editors. *Being Together, Working Apart: Dual-Career Families and the Work-Life Balance*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press (2005). p. 105–33.
- Clow A, Hucklebridge F, Stalder T, Evans P, Thorn L. The cortisol awakening response: more than a measure of HPA axis function. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2010) 35:97–103. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.12.011
- 9. Lovallo WR. Stress and Health: Biological and Psychological Interactions. 2nd Edn. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications (2005).
- Adam EK, Gunnar MR. Relationship functioning and home and work demands predict individual differences in diurnal cortisol patterns in women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2001) 26:189–208. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4530(00)00045-7
- 11. Hauner KKY, Adam EK, Mineka S, Doane LD, DeSantis AS, Zinbarg R, et al. Neuroticism and introversion are associated with salivary

FUNDING

This work was supported through grant number 1R03HD066590-01 to the first author from the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health & Human Development and Mars-Waltham. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health & Human Development, the National Institutes of Health, or Mars-Waltham.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge Sue Jacobson, program coordinator of People-Pet Partnership at the College of Veterinary Medicine at Washington State University and Dr. Phyllis Erdman, associate Dean of the College of Education also at Washington State University, who implemented the PATH to Success program. We also thank all PATH to Success Study volunteers, research assistants, participants, their parents, and teachers.

cortisol patterns in adolescents. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2008) 33:1344–56. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2008.07.011

- Doane LD, Adam EK. Loneliness and cortisol: momentary, day-today, and trait associations. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2010) 35:430–41. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.08.005
- Adam EK, Doane LD, Zinbarg RE, Mineka S, Craske MG, Griffith JW. Prospective prediction of major depressive disorder from cortisol awakening responses in adolescence. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2010) 35:921–31. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.12.007
- Adam EK. Transactions among adolescent trait and state emotion and diurnal and momentary cortisol activity in naturalistic settings. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2006) 31:664–79. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2006.01.010
- Gunnar MR, Donzella B. Social regulation of the cortisol levels in early human development. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2002) 27:199–220. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4530(01)00045-2
- Doom JR, Hostinar CE, VanZomeren-Dohm AA, Gunnar MR. The roles of puberty and age in explaining the diminished effectiveness of parental buffering of HPA reactivity and recovery in adolescence. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2015) 59:102–11. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.04.024
- 17. Mikulincer M, Shaver PR. Attachment in Adulthood: Structure, Dynamics and Change. 2nd Edn. New York, NY: Guilford Press (2016).
- Kirschbaum C, Hellhammer DH. Salivary cortisol in psychobiological research: an overview. *Neuropsychobiology* (1989) 22:150–69. doi: 10.1159/000118611
- Dickerson SS, Kemeny ME. Acute stressors and cortisol responses: a theoretical integration and synthesis of laboratory research. *Psychol Bull.* (2004) 130:355–91. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.130.3.355
- Lupien SJ, McEwen BS. The acute effects of corticosteroids on cognition: integration of animal and human model studies. *Brain Res Rev.* (1997) 24:1–27. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0173(97)00004-0
- Gunnar MR. Psychobiological studies of stress and coping: an introduction. Child Dev. (1987) 58:1403–7. doi: 10.2307/1130680
- Heim C, Nemeroff CB. The role of childhood trauma in the neurobiology of mood and anxiety disorders: Preclinical and clinical studies. *Biol Psychiatry* (2001) 49:1023–39. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(01)0 1157-X
- 23. Fairchild G. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis function in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. In: Geyer M, Ellenbroek B,

Marsden C, editors. *Behavioral Neuroscience of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and its Treatment*. Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer (2010). p. 93–111.

- 24. Corbett BA, David S. Adolescence, stress and cortisol in autism spectrum disorders. *OA Autism* (2014) 1:2.
- 25. McGreevy P, McLean A. *Equitation Science*. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell Publishing (2010).
- LeBuffe P, Shapiro V, Naglieri J. An introduction to the Devereux Student Strengths Assessment (DESSA). 2009. Available online at: https://www. kaplanco.com/content/products/DESSAIntroduction.pdf
- 27. Epstein MH. Behavioral and Emotional Rating Scale-2nd Edition: A Strengths-Based Approach to Assessment. Austin, TX: PRO-ED (2004).
- 28. Reynolds CR, Kamphaus RW. Behavior Assessment System for Children. 2nd Edn. Circle Pines, MN: American Guidance Service (2007).
- 29. Kirschbaum C, Hellhammer DH. Salivary cortisol in psychobiological research: an overview. *Neuropsychobiology* (1989) 22:150–69.
- Csikszentmihalyi M, Larson R. Validity and reliability of the experiencesampling method. J Nerv Ment Dis. (1987) 175:526.
- Myin-Germeys I, Oorschot M, Collip D, Lataster J, Delespaul P, Van Os J. Experience sampling research in psychopathology: opening the black box of daily life. *Psychol Med.* (2009) 39:1533–47. doi: 10.1017/S0033291708004947
- Csikszentmihalyi M, Larson R. Validity and reliability of the experiencesampling method. J Nerv Ment Dis. (1987) 175:526.
- Mulligan CB, Schneider B, Wolfe R. Non-response and population representation in studies of adolescent time use. *Electron Int* J Time Use Res. (2005) 2:33–53. doi: 10.13085/eIJTUR.2.1.33-53
- Scollon C, Kim-prieto C, Diener E. Experience sampling : promises and pitfalls, strengths and weaknesses. (2003) 4:5–34. doi: 10.1007/978-90-481-2354-4
- Papp LM, Pendry P, Adam EK. Mother-adolescent physiological synchrony in naturalistic settings: within-family cortisol associations and moderators. J Fam Psychol. (2009) 23:882–94. doi: 10.1037/a0017147
- Pendry P, Adam EK. Associations between parents' marital functioning, maternal parenting quality, maternal emotion and child cortisol levels. *Int J Behav Dev.* (2007) 31:218–31. doi: 10.1177/0165025407074634
- 37. Chandler CK. *Animal Assisted Therapy in Counseling*. Milton Park: Taylor & Francis (2005).

- Lakens D. Calculating and reporting effect sizes to facilitate cumulative science: a practical primer for t-tests and ANOVAs. *Front Psychol.* (2013) 4:1–12. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00863
- Frederick KE, Ivey Hatz J, Lanning B. Not just horsing around: the impact of equine-assisted learning on levels of hope and depression in at-risk adolescents. *Commun Ment Health J.* (2015) 51:809–17. doi: 10.1007/s10597-015-9836-x
- 40. Kirschbaum C, Wust S, Faig HG, Hellhammer DH. Heritability of cortisol responses to human corticotropin-releasing hormone, ergometry, and psychological stress in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. (1992) 75:1526–1530. doi: 10.1210/jcem.75.6.1464659
- Carlsson C, Ranta DN, Traeen B. Equine assisted social work as a mean for authentic relations between clients and staff. *Hum Anim Interact Bull.* (2014) 2:19–38.
- 42. Notschaele I. Increasing Consciousness of Nonverbal Communication With Equine-Assisted Leadership Training (EALT): An Exploratory Study dissertation. Enschede: University of Twente (2011).
- Merkies K, Sievers A, Zakrajsek E, MacGregor H, Bergeron R, von Borstel UK. Preliminary results suggest an influence of psychological and physiological stress in humans on horse heart rate and behavior. J Vet Behav Clin Appl Res. (2013) 9:242–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jveb.2014.06.003
- Keeling LJ, Jonare L, Lanneborn L. Investigating horse-human interactions: the effect of a nervous human. Vet J. (2009) 181:70–1. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2009.03.013

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Pendry, Carr and Vandagriff. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Dog Training Intervention Shows Social-Cognitive Change in the Journals of Incarcerated Youth

Tiffany Syzmanski¹, Rita J. Casey^{1*}, Amy Johnson², Annmarie Cano¹, Dana Albright¹ and Nicholas P. Seivert¹

¹ Psychology, Wayne State University, Detroit, MI, United States, ² School of Nursing, Oakland University, Rochester, MI, United States

There is limited research assessing the effectiveness of Animal-Assisted Therapy in at-risk adolescent populations. In a recent study, 138 adjudicated adolescents participated in a randomized controlled trial of an animal-assisted intervention, in which participants either trained shelter dogs (Teacher's Pet group) or walked the dogs (control group), with both groups participating in classroom work related to dogs (1). Journal writing was a part of class activities for all youth in the study. Conventional assessments of youth behavior made by staff or youth themselves did not demonstrate the expected differences between the groups favoring the dog training group, as youth in both groups showed a significant increase in staff and youth rated internalizing behavior problems and empathy from the beginning to the end of the project (1). However, subsequent analysis of the journal content from 73 of the adjudicated youth reported here, did reveal significant differences between treatment and control groups, favoring the Teacher's Pet group. Youth participating in the dog training intervention showed through their journal writing greater social-cognitive growth, more attachment, and more positive attitudes toward the animal-assisted intervention compared to youth in the control group. The 73 youth whose journals were available were very similar to youth in the larger group. Their results illustrate that journaling can be a useful method of assessing effects of similar animal-assisted interventions for at-risk youth. Writing done by youth receiving therapy appeared to promote self-reflection, desirable cognitive change, and prosocial attitudes that may signify improving quality of life for such youth. The expressive writing of participants could reveal important effects of treatment beyond the behavioral changes that are often the targeted outcomes of animal-assisted interventions.

Keywords: dogs, dog training, incarcerated youth, journaling, animal-assisted treatment

INTRODUCTION

This study analyzed the content of journals kept by incarcerated youth who participated in a randomized controlled trial of an animal-assisted therapy, known as Teacher's Pet (1). Incarcerated youth in the United States are highly likely to have a psychiatric disorder (2), a predictor of recidivism (3). Effective treatment of at-risk youth is crucial not only to reduce the risk of recidivism in adulthood, but also to improve their quality of life (4–6). This project determined whether journal entries made during an animal-assisted treatment of detained youth could be analyzed meaningfully, and if so, whether their content provided insight into potential positive effects of the treatment.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Consultant, New Haven, CT, United States

Reviewed by:

Hsin-Yi Weng, Purdue University, United States Mitsuaki Ohta, Tokyo University of Agriculture, Japan

> *Correspondence: Rita J. Casey r.casey@wayne.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Humanities and Social Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 04 June 2018 Accepted: 12 November 2018 Published: 11 December 2018

Citation:

Syzmanski T, Casey RJ, Johnson A, Cano A, Albright D and Seivert NP (2018) Dog Training Intervention Shows Social-Cognitive Change in the Journals of Incarcerated Youth. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:302. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00302 Youth are placed in detention for many reasons. About a quarter of youth engage in severe crimes, such as homicide, robbery, or aggravated and sexual assault (7). However, the vast majority of imprisoned youth engage in less serious crimes such as theft, burglary, substance abuse, simple assault, weapon possession, running away, particularly from foster homes (8), or truancy, etc.

The majority of incarcerated youth in the United States have been given diagnoses or are likely to meet diagnostic criteria for some form of mental illness. Teplin et al. (4) found that the most common disorders diagnosed were (in terms of male and female prevalence, respectively), substance use disorders (50.7 and 46.8%) conduct and oppositional defiant disorder (41.4 and 45.6%), and high rates of other disorders characterized by internalizing symptoms such as anxiety (21.3 and 30.8%) and other mood problems (18.7 and 27.6%) (4). Other studies with detained youth have found similar rates of mental disorders (5, 6).

Given the high prevalence of psychopathology in this population, it is important that treatments are available for these youth, to address such problems. Treatment regimens for incarcerated youth most commonly focus on substance abuse. However, interventions with those targets are not sufficient to meet the needs of youth with other mental disorders and multiple diagnoses (4, 6, 9, 10). Nevertheless, very few facilities implement appropriate treatments for incarcerated youth. Wilson and Lipsey (11) examined the effects of different treatments of adjudicated youth aimed at reducing recidivism, finding that overall, they reduced recidivism rates by 12%. The most effective programs focused on building social and communication skills via reinforcement in learning adaptive interactions (12). Mixed results were found from other treatment methods, such as cognitive behavioral approaches and vocational training.

More recently, interaction with animals has become a way to provide treatment to youth with serious psychological difficulties, including incarcerated youth. Such treatments hold promise of being possibly easy to implement, and attractive as novel, highly liked intervention that many youth will enjoy (13). Such interventions have ranged widely in terms of the animals used as the central aspect of the treatment, as well as the kind of target problems and participants who are included (14).

Inexpensive methods for examining effects of animal assisted treatment, such as expressive writing, could be integrated into treatment programming, in order to show outcomes of animal-assisted interventions for incarcerated, high-risk youth. Journaling is a form of expressive writing that is typically done at regular, frequent intervals. Individuals doing journaling record their thoughts, feelings, and experiences about their life. It is an activity that has shown therapeutic as well as learning benefits (15–18), and can be used as either a treatment in itself, or as an adjunct or way to examine the outcomes of treatments. It is a form of self-reflection that can facilitate self-awareness, personal growth, insight into emotions and behaviors, and aid in restructuring persons' thoughts about their experiences.

Although expressive writing is considered to be helpful in adult populations, very few studies have focused on the benefits of expressive writing for youth. Journaling could potentially be

a very useful activity for adolescents in that it is an engaging and creative, especially in the age of social media in which youth are accustomed to sharing their thoughts and actions with their peers via the internet, often through writing (19, 20). Expressive writing could be a useful method for examining effects of treatment given to incarcerated youth, in that writing is inexpensive to implement, and can also help fill the passage of time for youth whose incarceration makes many ordinary youth activities beyond the range of possibility. Writing down thoughts and emotions about life events, particularly those that are stressful, can aid youth in expressing and understanding their deepest emotions and forming a deeper understanding of their life experiences. Writing can ultimately help to reduce stress by providing a form of written disclosure (17, 21). Keeping a journal can also help youth develop a sense of meaning in life, show their understanding of life events, and provide a window into critical thinking skills, changed self-perceptions, and better skills for coping with difficult emotions (15, 22).

Although more research is needed on expressive writing with adolescents, it is a promising activity for teens, particularly if it can help provide insight into those who are considered at-risk. Adolescents, particularly ones with behavioral problems, can use journaling to record their reactions to treatment and reflect on them (23). Journaling can also potentially aid in revealing youths' self-awareness of life experiences, which can, in turn, increase empathy toward others and ultimately, improve interpersonal relationships (23, 24). Thus, journaling among adolescents can facilitate examination of personal growth, self-awareness, and insight, especially since adolescence is a big transitional period in emotional development from childhood to adult life (20).

Expressive writing, with its emphasis on communication of emotions, thus presents a potentially welcome and cost-effective approach for assessing treatment outcomes for incarcerated youth. Through writing about their own emotions and thoughts associated with life events, they have an opportunity to develop their perspective taking, as well as improving insight into their own behavior and generating a sense of self-efficacy in their actions (25). Furthermore, when expressive writing through journaling is done as a way to look at the effects of a time-bound intervention, such as the animal-assisted treatment reported in this project, such writing has the potential to be a valuable asset to that intervention, allowing a look at changes that may be difficult to capture through additional outcome measures focused primarily on behavior ratings. A recent meta-analysis of effects of treatments given to youth with conduct disorder (26) found that youth self-ratings were typically non-significant, and similar ratings from parents and teachers showed small to moderate effects, mostly from parents. Thus journaling might offer a way to examine treatment outcomes of youth that will not be observed in self-ratings of youth behavior.

The original project from which the current study was drawn (1), was an animal-assisted therapy intervention with incarcerated youth, in which interaction with shelter dogs was a crucial part of the intervention. Participants in a dog-training intervention (known as Teacher's Pet) designed to teach youth how to train undersocialized dogs, were expected to improve in human social, emotional, and behavioral functioning. A control group, whose principal activity consisted of walking dogs for the same amount of time with dogs as the treatment group, were expected to have less positive outcomes than the dog-training youth,. However, behavior ratings from staff members at the facilities as well as self-ratings of the youth did not show positive changes as a function of group assignment. Rather, youth in both the Teacher's Pet intervention and the dog walking control group demonstrated increases in internalizing behaviors. In addition, all youth increased in empathy, with no differences by group assignment.

This project analyzed journal content of incarcerated teens who participated in that animal-assisted therapy (AAT) (1). We wanted to see whether journal writing would show outcomes that demonstrated differences between treatment and control conditions, consisting of youths' thoughts concerning social relationships and attitudes during the AAT. Thus, this project analyzed the journals produced by incarcerated youth who were participating in an animal-assisted therapy compared to journals of youth in a control condition. We looked for meaningful patterns of content in the youths' writing that would vary according to participants' group assignment to either the experimental treatment or the control condition.

Specifically, we hypothesized that the pattern of writing content would covary with participant group membership in ways showed more positive outcomes for the experimental condition. If this expectation was correct, journal writing of the experimental group's participants would show more positive signs of social cognition and attitudes than were observed in the journal writing of youth in the control group.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Participants in this project were drawn from the larger Teacher's Pet Research Study (1). That project consisted of 138 adolescents in two county juvenile detention centers in Southeast Michigan. By the end of the last cohort in June 2014, 73 participant journals were collected and identified as to particular youth. The missing journals were primarily unavailable because initially, the journal writing was not thought of as reflecting any meaningful outcome of the intervention, thus no plans were initially made to collect youth journals. However, a quick review of journals from some of the earliest participants in the project showed some interesting content, so journals were given code numbers to associate them with other data collected from individual participants. This took some time to implement, thus some youth took their writing materials with them when they left the facility they were in, before their journals could be copied. Other journals were copied, but without the needed identification to associate them with other individual data.

The youth whose journals were available to this project, were very similar in overall characteristics to the larger group from which they were drawn. Participants were mostly male (72.5%); 58.9% of participants were in the Teacher's Pet group (N = 43), and 41.1% of participants were in the Dog walking control group (N = 30) (see **Table 1** for overall characteristics of the youth whose journals were available for this study). The background

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of participants.

Variable	% of participants	N	ТР	DW
ETHNICITY				
White/Caucasian	49.3	36		
Black/African American	39.7	29		
Hispanic/Latino	5.5	4		
Other	5.5	4		
SEX				
Male	72.6	53	26	27
Female	27.4	20	17	3
Site 1	49.3	36	26	10
Site 2	50.7	37	17	20
TOTALS				
Treatment (TP)	58.9	43		
Control (DW)	41.1	30		
Overall	100.0	73		

TP, Teacher's Pet (Intervention); DW, Dog walking (Control).

of the youth with journals available for this study were very similar to that of the larger group. About one-quarter of the participants had a history of parental abuse or neglect, or a history in the foster care system. Two-thirds had a psychiatric diagnosis and/or had been in treatment for one. Ethnicity and gender were not specifically controlled for this study; rather, these characteristics reflected the general makeup of adolescents in the juvenile detention centers that were involved in the program. The percentages by ethnicity were very similar in the 73 youth in this report compared to the larger group. Analyses of the distribution of these characteristics in the larger and smaller groups showed no significant differences in the distribution of ethnicity ($X^2 =$ 0.385, p = 0.55) or gender ($X^2 = 0.212$, p = 0.66) between the larger set of 138 youth and the 73 youth whose journals were analyzed for this study.

Procedure

Participants in each cohort were randomly assigned to either an animal assisted therapy group (the experimental group, known as Teacher's Pet) or a dog walking control group. The Teacher's Pet Program is an animal assisted therapy program (AAT) that had already been carried out at both facilities prior to becoming the center of this research project. Those activities were familiar to center staff but had not been executed in comparison to any other intervention or comparison activity in the past. In the experimental group's activity, youth were instructed to train undersocialized dogs in order to make the dogs more suitable for adoption out of the shelters from which they came. Participants in the control group walked assigned dogs but did not teach them. Both youth who were dog walkers and youth who participated in Teachers' Pet training worked with the same dogs. Somewhat more youth were assigned to the Experimental (Teacher's Pet) group than the Control, dog walking group, because of facility staff requests, scheduling, and the desire to populate the Experimental group because of the small sample. This limitation is discussed further in the Discussion section. We

note, however, that the sizes of treatment and control groups were more similar across the 73 youth whose data are reported here, compared to the larger group ($X^2 = 4.495$, p = 0.034).

Consent

All project procedures were reviewed and approved by the Wayne State University Institutional Review Board, specifically by those committees that dealt with research involving vulnerable participants, in this case minors and prisoners (the latter also required U.S. Department of Health and Human Services approval, which was obtained prior to study commencement). Permission for every youth to participate in the Teacher's Pet Program was obtained from the parent or legal guardian of each youth, or from an advocate such as a facility staff member if parental or legal guardian consent could not be obtained, due to absence of a legal guardian. Assent was also obtained from each adolescent who participated. Youth were free to participate or not, and were allowed to stop participating in the program before their portion of the study was completed, although none chose to do so. Compensation for full completion of the Teacher's Pet Program consisted of a \$50 Target gift card that was given to each participant after completing the program, when their period of incarceration ended.

Study Conditions

The Teacher's Pet Program was completed in cohorts, with each cohort participating in training and dog walking that lasted 10 weeks. There were about 10 participants per cohort, with both experimental and control conditions being carried out for each cohort. Youth in each cohort were randomly assigned to either the animal assisted therapy group (Teacher's Pet—learning to train dogs), or the control group (walking the dogs only, for 10 weeks and the same amount of time with dogs as the experimental participants had). Participants in both conditions interacted with dogs for an equal period of time each week, about 2 h total. They also had classroom-based didactic sessions each week that focused on information about dog care, dog behavior, and humane treatment, with youth assigned to both conditions together in the same class periods. Journals were available and journal writing took place during those classroom sessions¹.

Sessions in which the participants interacted with the dogs occurred for 2 h each week in either an indoor gymnasium, or weather permitting, in an enclosed outdoor courtyard within the facility. Training of dogs occurred in 1 h increments, twice per week, whereas dog walkers either walked assigned dogs for 1 h twice per week or for half an hour 4 times per week. Participants in the experimental group were assigned a dog to train; the main goal for these participants was to train their assigned dog for one half of the program (5 weeks) and were then given another dog to train for the remaining 5 weeks of the program. Dog walkers were assigned different dogs for each session of dog walking, although some youth traded dogs for walking if they chose to do so. These participants were instructed not to train the dogs they walked. Experienced dog trainers or shelter staff were present with the youth and animals through every session of dog-youth interaction, to ensure both fidelity to the assigned activities and safety for the youth and the dogs. Coders were also present to observe participant behavior during training sessions.

Dogs in the Study

The dogs who participated in this project were brought in daily from nearby Southeast Michigan animal shelters. Facilitators or volunteers for the Teacher's Pet Study worked at the animal shelters and transported the dogs to and from the shelters for each session. No dogs were hurt in the course of their participation in this study. The procedures for the dogs selected for this project were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Wayne State University. All shelter dogs had a health examination as well as a temperament assessment. Potential dogs for this project also underwent another screening by Teacher's Pet staff to test for major behavioral issues, to ensure the safety of dogs and participants. This screening was essentially similar to that given dogs made available for adoption. Any dog that displayed aggression toward humans or other dogs was immediately ineligible for this study. The dogs included in this study were made up of a variety of breeds, commonly pit bull mixes, and were at least 1 year of age or older. Dogs that displayed minor behavior problems, such as jumping, pulling, and having socialization difficulties, made good candidates for the programs' enrichment and training.

The history of the program was such that dogs trained by the youth had a record of high success in being adopted once they had been trained by Teacher's Pet participants. Although dog adoption was not a specific outcome planned for this project, estimates are that adoption rates for the participating dogs were close to 90%. National estimates of adoption rates for shelter dogs are about 60% (27).

Didactics

All participants also engaged in a 1 hour classroom (didactic) session twice weekly, held after training or walking activities. Youth in these classroom activities were not separated by treatment condition, but were grouped together for all class sessions. In the classroom portion of the program, participants learned about dog training techniques, animal shelters, puppy mills, dog behavior, facts about certain dog breeds, etc. Teacher's Pet staff and the staff from the juvenile detention center facilitated the classroom sessions. During the last part of each classroom meeting, the youth were instructed to write in personal journals that were given to them specifically for this program. Participants had either specific writing assignments about varying topics (many relating to the participants' assigned dogs or material in the classroom), or the youth could write freely for this part of the classroom sessions. The youth were also allowed to use the journals to take notes on information that was presented during more didactic classroom portions, if they wished. Although assignments were made or suggested in some didactic sessions, journal content was not graded or evaluated for conformity to any specific instructions given during classroom sessions. The journal content became the primary focus of this study.

¹Additional details concerning the content of the Teacher's Pet intervention can be obtained from the authors upon request, or by going to the web site associated with the intervention (www.teacherspetmi.org). See Author Notes for information about contacting the authors.

Instruments

Instruments used for the original Teacher's Pet Study consisted mainly of ratings of youth by the facility staff, and selfreport measures given to participants pre- and post-intervention. Staff of the detention facilities also reviewed each participant's information and medical chart. Some information for this project was gathered from that review, including participant age, gender, ethnicity, psychiatric and medical history, and history in foster care.

Analysis of Participant Journal Content

Although all youth in the program (regardless of whether they were in the Teacher's Pet group or the control, dog walking group) had a journal to use during the didactic portion of the study, as noted, not all journals were made available for the project reported here as noted above.

Four raters were assigned to evaluate the content of the journals. Although each had some knowledge of the overall purpose of the project, the ratings that they did were blind to the condition to which journal writers were assigned. Raters did not serve as coders of the live interactions of youth with the dogs. Other than three of the journals that explicitly mentioned which group the writer was in, condition was not obvious from reading the journals. Each rater coded two-thirds of the journals, with each journal being rated by two additional and different raters among the group, through a random process.

Development of the Coding System

Through a series of analytic steps applied to the journals collected, we devised a coding system for the content of the journals. Originally, it was hoped that writing rated in the journals would represent 6 kinds of categories, including perspective-taking/empathy with others; humane attitudes, attachment to a dog or dogs, self-efficacy/self-perceived competence, emotion regulation of self, and overall reactions to the program. However, when the coders began an initial reading of the journals to orient themselves prior to coding, only some of those categories appeared easily observable, leaving much writing uncategorized.

Therefore, a coding system was developed inductively, beginning with the content of the youths' writing. First, journals were reviewed and topics and content that seemed important or which were mentioned by several youth were noted. These included topics presented freely in participant writing, things clearly appearing to respond to classroom presentations where journaling followed those presentations, and some interesting extraneous material such as drawings. These topics and characteristics were discussed extensively by the group of three coders, until we agreed initially on 50 different types of content or writing characteristics that were observed in the journals. A manual was developed in order to guide the researchers through the process of analyzing and coding individual journals for the 50 types of data that were observed across the entire set of available journals. This manual contained direct and indirect examples of each of the individual coding categories taken from excerpts of the journals themselves in order to help researchers with coding properly. Next, every journal was coded for each of these 50 types of content, on a numerical scale pertaining to how many times a certain category was mentioned or described in writing or observed within each individual journal.

Reliability of Initial Coding

For reliability purposes, every journal was rated by three raters, with the particular combination of raters determined by a random order designed to produce the same number of raters for each journal, and each rater rating the same number of journals as every other rater. In addition, every journal was rated by a total of three raters, with the configuration of which three persons rated any individual journal across the entire set of journals determined at random. The data obtained from multiple ratings of the same set of journals, were used to calculate pair-wise reliability as well as reliability across three raters. As a result of these ratings, several categories were removed from the rating system, because they were unreliable as coded, or had rarely been observed across the set of journals.

Obtained Reliability of the Remaining Categories

The obtained average internal consistency of ratings of the remaining categories (which were obtained through Intra-class correlation reliability coefficients (ICC) as recommended by Shrout and Fleiss (28) are found in Table 2. These categories were chosen based on the high range of agreement across three raters as well as the relevance of these categories to the study. Categories below ICC of 0.625 were dropped from further consideration. Individual code categories were then placed into groupings that appeared to be related, based on the content of each code, as described above. Thus, six larger categories were identified and labeled to reflect the items they contained: future orientation, cognitive growth and self-awareness. These, taken together, appeared to be primarily cognitive codes. Other responses, as coded, involved attachment, attitude toward the program and positivity of emotion. These together seemed to reflect primarily emotion-related content.

For the emotion-related codes, a group of codes called Attachment consisted of participants' writing about their interactions with their assigned dog, such as physical contact, empathy toward their assigned dogs or dogs in general (such as a negative reaction toward a movie on animal shelters), wanting to help dogs, or feeling sorry for their assigned dogs or other shelter dogs, writing about patience, physical contact with their dog (e.g., hugging), talking about having affection for their dog, as well as writing about the feelings or thoughts of the assigned dog. The codes categorized as Attitude Toward the Program included writing about the participant's general outlook of the program and what they got out of the program, writing about liking the program, training challenges or goals for their assigned dog, and writing about what they had learned in the program. Positivity of Emotion, the label given to another set of codes, included participant writing about their dog liking them, any mention of their own positive feelings (e.g., feeling good or happy) whether related to the program or not, mention of negative feelings whether related to the program **TABLE 2** | Sets of coding for participant journal contents.

Type of code	ICC*
COGNITIVE CODES	
Future orientation	
FUT Hope for assigned dog	0.95
FUT Participant hope for him- or herself	0.86
Cognitive growth	
COG Letter to adopter	0.98
COG Trainer notes	0.96
COG Mentioning dog behavior	0.91
COG Youth says dog has changed youth's attitude	0.63
Self-awareness	
SELF Having a relationship with staff	0.98
SELF Showing insight into own behavior	0.93
SELF Comparing self to dog	0.90
SELF What participant learned in program	0.88
EMOTIONAL CODES	
Attachment	
ATT Attachment	0.99
ATT Physical contact with dog	0.92
ATT Feelings and thoughts of dog	0.84
ATT Wanting to protect dog or other dogs	0.77
ATT Empathy toward dogs	0.73
Attitude toward the program	
APROG What participant learned in program	0.88
APROG Liking program	0.82
APROG Training challenge goal assigned	0.73
Positivity of Emotion	
LIKE Negative feelings	0.99
LIKE Happy walking or working dog	0.98
LIKE Positive feeling	0.98
LIKE Dog liking participant	0.89
LIKE Critiquing assigned dog	0.81

*ICC, Intraclass correlation coefficients, using the average of random raters (28).

or not, a critique of their assigned dog, and writing about being happy about working and/or being with their assigned dog.

For the cognitive-related codes, a group of codes labeled *Future Orientation* included writing about being hopeful of the future for themselves (e.g., writing about careers, what they plan on doing after the program, writing about the future in general, etc.) and being hopeful about the future of their assigned dog(s), e.g., hoping that the dog or dogs get adopted, etc. A set of codes called *Self-Awareness* included participants' writing about their relationship with the staff at the facility, showing insight into their own behavior (e.g., self-reflection), comparing themselves to their assigned dog and vice-versa, writing about what they had learned in the program (also included in the *Attitude Toward the Program* group); and mentioning positive and negative feelings whether the emotions were related to the program or not. Finally, the set of codes called *Cognitive Growth* included such things as a letter to the adopter of a dog, a flier or a story about

an assigned dog (a writing prompt given during the classroom portion in the study), the participant writing about how a dog changed the participant's attitude, writing about the observed behaviors of an assigned dog, and presence of notes left by the staff of the program (staff read participants' journals and left notes and/or follow-up questions for some but not all of the youth).

In summary, the codes were organized into larger, labeled sets of codes as described above, with the overall total of the individual ratings for each set serving as data for further analysis. **Table 2** contains interrater reliability coefficients for the codes making up each set.

Educational Level of Writing

It was reasonable that the sophistication or general education level of the journal writing could also have an effect on what youth wrote (29, 30), given that incarcerated youth often show academic deficits. It was also the case that no analysis of educational level was made in the larger project from which this study data had been obtained, nor did youth records indicate their educational level. Thus, it was decided to estimate youths' writing/education level, to make it available for analyses of experimental vs. control group differences in journal content. Participant journals were therefore rated based on overall written sophistication observed in each journal. Two expert raters with extensive background knowledge and teaching experience working with young writers and students made holistic ratings of each journal in determining educational sophistication based on journal writing content and detail. These raters had not met nor observed any of the participants during the intervention and were unaware of the group to which the youth writers had been assigned. Both raters rated every journal. Ratings were based on the general written sophistication of content in the journal entries, using a scale of 1-3, with "1" being lowest, "2" medium, and "3" highest in written sophistication. The inter-rater agreement for the two raters was 0.75 (Cohen's Kappa) across the full set of journals. The ratings of the two raters for each participant were summed, producing scores ranging from 2 to 6, with lower scores representing less writing skill or educational sophistication than higher scores. These scores were used in the data analysis to take into account possible effects, if any, of writing/educational sophistication on the content of the journals' content ratings.

After writing level scores were obtained, relations to writing content sets were analyzed. Education sophistication level had significant positive correlations with every set of codes, with higher writing levels associated with higher scores in the content categories. These relationships of general writing/educational level to content categories included Cognitive Growth; r(71) = 0.46, p < 0.01; Future Orientation; r(71) = 0.50, p < 0.01; Self-Awareness; r(71) = 0.49, p < 0.01; Attitude Toward the Program; r(71) = 0.38, p < 0.01; Positivity of Emotion r(71) = 0.29, p < 0.05; and Attachment r(71) = 0.40, p < 0.01. Thus, it was decided that educational sophistication would be

used as a covariate in subsequent analyses of differences between experimental and control groups².

Hypotheses

It was hypothesized that there would be significant between group differences for all 6 areas of journal content, whether Emotional (Attachment, Positivity of Emotion, Attitude Toward the Program) or Cognitive (Future Orientation, Cognitive Growth and Self-Awareness), in that participants in the Teacher's Pet group would have significantly higher average scores compared to participants in the dog walking group.

A MANCOVA (Multivariate Analysis of Covariance) was conducted in order to determine if there were significant differences between the journal content of treatment vs. control groups in terms of Cognitive Growth, Future Orientation, Self-Awareness, Attachment, Positivity of Emotion and Attitude Toward the Program seen in their journal entries, controlling for education sophistication level.

RESULTS

Group Differences

Table 3 reports the comparisons and effect sizes for each final code. As expected, there was a statistically significant difference between treatment vs. control groups in means for Cognitive Growth scores, $[F_{(1,71)} = 11.32, p = 0.05, Wilk's \Lambda = 0.84, partial$ $\eta^2 = 0.16$], in that the participants in the Teacher's Pet group had a significantly higher average Cognitive Growth score (Mean = 8.05, SD = 3.93) compared to the Dog walking group (*Mean* = 4.70, SD = 2.52), with an effect size for the intervention of g = 0.98, a large effect. Although group differences in Future Orientation scores were not significant, the effect size was moderate, g = 0.60, $[F_{(1,71)} = 3.65, p = 0.06]$. Self-Awareness scores, however, did not show group differences at or close to the conventional *p*-level, and did not produce a meaningful effect size $[F_{(1,71)} = 0.44, p = 0.51, g = 0.06]$. Thus, in terms of cognitive writing as a function of group membership, changes in Cognitive Growth and Future Orientation scores, favored the Teacher's Pet group, with moderate to large effects.

In terms of emotional aspects of their journal writing as seen in the emotion category scores, there were meaningful effect sizes favoring the Teacher's Pet treatment, in all three sets of coded writing (see Table 3). Scores for Attitude Toward the Program $[F_{(1,71)} = 12.67, p = 0.05]$, were significantly higher for participants in the Teacher's Pet group (Mean = 3.12, SD = 2.63) compared to participants in the dog walking group (*Mean* = 1.08, SD = 0.95), effect size of g = 0.97, a large effect. There were also significant differences on scores of Attachment for the two groups $[F_{(1,71)} = 7.28, p = 0.05, Wilk's \Lambda 0.82,$ partial $\eta^2 = 0.18$], in that participants in the Teacher's Pet group showed significantly higher scores for Attachment (Mean = 6.79, SD = 5.29), compared to participants in the dog walking group (Mean = 3.13, SD = 3.10), with an effect size that was moderately large, g = 0.81. The group differences for Positivity of Emotion, $[F_{(1,71)} = 3.43, p = 0.07]$, though not conventionally

TABLE 3 | Comparisons of experimental vs. control group for journal content codes.

Coding type	Experimental group mean (SD)	Control group mean (SD)	Effect size	р
COGNITIVE				
Future orientation	6.13 (2.91)	4.33 (3.15)	0.60	p = 0.06
Cognitive growth	8.05 (3.93)	4.70 (2.52)	0.98	p = 0.05
Self-awareness	3.14 (1.27)	3.04 (1.90)	0.06	p = 0.51
EMOTIONAL				
Attachment	6.79 (5.29)	3.13 (3.10)	0.81	p = 0.05
Attitude toward program	3.12 (2.63)	1.08 (0.95)	0.97	p = 0.05
Positivity of emotion	4.03 (1.21)	2.97 (2.64)	0.58	p = 0.07

Higher Means signify larger outcomes as seen in the coded measure of journaling content. Effect sizes were calculated using Hedge's g; its computation takes into account both differences and variation between treatment groups. It is noteworthy that strict use of $p \leq 0.05$ would eliminate consideration of a medium effect size, that is likely important.

significant, were just outside that level. In addition, the effect size for Positivity of Emotion was g = 0.58, a moderate effect. Thus, for ratings of emotional journal writing, then, youths' journal writing in the experimental group showed more positive attitudes about the animal assisted intervention they were doing, stronger attachment to dogs and other living things, and had more positive emotions in general than were observed in writing of the control group. Effects for the set of emotion scores ranged from high to moderate in size.

Overall, the Teacher's Pet intervention demonstrated effects seen through youths' journal writing that ranged from moderate to large in both emotional and cognitive ratings of their writing, with somewhat more differences visible in emotional compared to cognitive ratings of their journal entries.

DISCUSSION

The results indicate that there were significant differences between the Teacher's Pet (AAT) group and the Dog walking control group in the rated emotional as well as cognitive content of what participants wrote in their journal entries, with youth in the experimental group showing more positive outcomes. This result was somewhat surprising, given that the behavioral outcomes of the youth in the project did not show differences between the experimental and the control group (1). Both groups demonstrated increases in empathy and internalizing problems in analyses of the larger group of youth from which the journals reported here came.

A key question is why the journal writing revealed positive outcomes for treatment that were not seen in behavior ratings made by center personnel nor the ratings that youth gave themselves. Scores based on different journal content pertaining to all categories of codes other than Self-Awareness were noteworthy in showing medium to large effect sizes. Thus, the writing of the youths showed treatment-related positive outcomes in Cognitive Growth, Attitude Toward Being in the Program, Attachment, Future orientation, and Positivity of Emotion. Participating in the Teacher's Pet intervention

²Data from the study are available on request from the authors.

produced more positive effects, seen in youth journal writing, compared to the dog walking group.

One explanation for their higher average scores is that participants in the Teacher's Pet group were more likely to write adoption flyers, letters to potential adopters of their assigned dog as well as stories about their assigned dog. This writing prompt was given to all the participants during a classroom portion, before the dogs' "graduation day," at the end of the treatment period. However, because participants in the experimental group worked very closely with just two dogs, this kind of writing may have been more likely for them to do and do better than youth in the dog walking group, who walked several dogs.

The Teacher's Pet Staff also left notes in some of the participants' journals pertaining to any follow-up questions that a participant had, or a youth's journal content, or his or her progress in the program. This was a potential confounding factor for Cognitive Growth, as the staff knew the groups to which the participants were assigned. They may have been more likely to leave notes for participants in the experimental group regarding their progress in the program, which could have also accounted for the higher score for this category. However, no differences in the number of staff comments were noted between the two groups, however, though content of those comments were not evaluated separately.

Participants in the Teacher's Pet group had closer and very different kinds of interactions with their dogs than the dog walking group had, due to training their assigned dogs for the period of the study. Thus, experimental participants were more likely to be aware of and write about the behavior of their particular assigned dogs, compared to dog walkers who may have observed more general dog behavior seen in several animals. In addition, the training itself may have caused the experimental group to track their dog's problems as well as positive behaviors closely, more than would have been the case for the dog walkers. Learning about dog behavior during the educational portion of the study and applying that to their observations while working with their assigned dog(s), and writing about it, could have enhanced their understanding more than would have been the case for the dog walking group. This is consistent with the findings that journaling has helped individuals in therapy gain better understanding of their own behaviors and behaviors of others, and can aid in self-reflection and better overall treatment outcomes (23, 24).

Participants in the Teacher's Pet group also showed significantly higher scores for both Attachment and Attitude Toward Program. The Attachment code included components such as having empathy for the dog, physical contact, affection for their assigned dog), writing about dogs' feelings or thoughts, writing about patience, and wanting to help their own dog or other dogs in general. The higher scores for attachment seen in writing by the Teacher's Pet group could be because those participants spent more time training a specific dog and learning and being more aware of their dog's characteristics and behavior problems. This in turn could have facilitated a strong bond with the dog, possibly aiding their understanding of their dog's feelings or thoughts and promoting feelings of empathy as well as more attachment to their dog. Through this, these participants may also have been more understanding toward these dogs and their situation as shelter animals without homes, as well as writing about patience through the process of training a dog and changing its behaviors. Youth who walked dogs did not have such long-lasting relationships with particular dogs; they typically handled more dogs without being able to stick with just one animal for several sessions, thus their attachment to and knowledge of particular animals was less likely to occur. However, that potential explanation is countered by the finding in the larger project that both groups of youth increased in a formal rating of their empathy, which ordinarily might be expected to be related to content of their writing (1).

In addition, participants in the Teacher's Pet group also showed significantly higher ratings for their Attitude Toward the Program, seen in positive statements such as writing about liking the program, what they learned, and training challenges and goals for their assigned dogs, compared to youth in the dog walking group. Perhaps participants in the Teacher's Pet group were more likely to write and reflect on what they learned in the program through training their assigned dogs. These participants, compared to the control group, were more likely to set goals regarding training or problem behaviors of the dogs. Thus, these participants likely wrote more about what they got out of the program through this process. This is consistent with research findings (31, 32) that writing about what occurs in therapy and reflecting on it can help individuals gain insight and process what is happening in treatment and what benefits them.

There were no meaningful effect sizes Self-Awareness, which typically consisted of writing about having a relationship with the staff at the facility, showing insight into their own behavior, comparing themselves to their assigned dogs and vice-versa, writing about what they learned in the program or mentioning emotions regardless of whether the emotions were related to the program. All participants were asked to write about how their day went, and scoring of positive and negative emotions in the journals was done whether participants wrote about their emotions related to the program or some other topic. This writing prompt may have provided an opportunity for self-reflection for participants in both groups. Moreover, both groups attended the classroom portion of the study and could have reflected on class activities, which did not vary by group.

There is another puzzling aspect to the journal writing. The journal entries were made throughout training, not just at the end of the intervention. Thus, differences in writing as a function of receiving the intervention had an effect that occurred during the intervention, not necessarily as the overall final outcome of the intervention. If the journaling content reveals inner effects of the animal assisted intervention, those effects begin earlier and may build, before behavioral changes are observable.

It may also be worth considering that the original categories that the coders thought would be found in youths' writing were not usable. The coders were not highly familiar with the intervention, and may have also lacked knowledge of adolescent characteristics, or made inaccurate assumptions about the youth in the study. Coder characteristics are not often studied and might have influenced their original ideas about what journal content would include. Future studies should look more closely

at rater and coder characteristics to see how they match with what youth actually write about, as reactions to an intervention. Facility staff, who had a lot of contact with youth and thus presumably knew them well, did not see changes, but unfamiliar coders did see signs of change in the writing of the youth, that accorded with their group assignment. Facility staff ratings focused on behavior, whereas the writing more commonly reflected youths' internal thoughts. Changes in thinking and emotion may precede behavioral changes, or be unavailable to persons who have no access to youths' thoughts that could be found in their writing. Perhaps familiarity with youth being rated could alter rater or coder responses; this might particularly be the case among facility staff, where a great deal of disapproval and possible stigma might be attached to expectations of youth. Such negative expectations might not be present with a more neutral assessment, where raters and coders know only a little of the court-ordered placement of the youth.

Despite there being some areas of journal content that were similar for both groups, the results showing treatment effects offer interesting insights into the intervention. The journal content of participants in dog training therapy were rated more positively, on average, for several aspects of that writing. This underscores the idea that youth engaging in an animalassisted therapy intervention may show how the intervention has increased attachment, empathy, patience, and awareness of what youth have learned, through what they write about. Our findings highlight how journaling can demonstrate progress through treatment, and show attitudes, thought patterns, and emotions that many who work with troubled youth think are valuable outcomes, but which are very hard to observe in youth behavior. If so, this suggests that knowing the content of expressive writing of youth as they work with animals, may reveal the depths of how human-animal interaction influences the adolescents in a positive direction, before behavior change is evident (18).

Limitations

There were several limitations to this study. The number of participant with journals rated was smaller than the number of youth in the larger project. Although youth whose journals were available for rating appeared to be similar to the larger group, the missing journals cannot be ruled out as a cause of the differences in outcomes for this study compared to the larger project. It is possible, though not likely, that the writing of the youth whose journals were not available for analysis was sufficiently different from the journals analyzed for this report, that the group differences would not be present had all journals been rated.

It is not clear how these results are related to the outcomes of the larger study. It would be ideal had all the journals been analyzed for content, allowing direct comparison of outcomes for the full number of participants who received the intervention or the control. In addition, there was no follow-up of these participants. It is not known whether the positive outcomes seen in the writing of the experimental group do in fact predict better longer term outcomes, such as lower rates of recidivism. The youth in this study, while being generally representative of the facilities from which they were drawn, are not known as to what degree they represent at-risk incarcerated youth nationwide. The AAT, Teacher's Pet, in this project, is a longrunning, well-developed intervention that has highly trained staff. Other animal assisted interventions may not have the same degree of training and experience, which could be keys to success of treatments in general for mental health and behavior problems.

Finally, the uneven randomization due to facility constraints may have impacted the results, even though the group sizes for the 73 youth participant in this examination of journal writing, were more balanced than was the case for the 138 youth in the original project. This limitation is a function of conducting research with community partners, for which programmatic, staffing, and scheduling resources are natural priorities. Similar imbalances favoring more youth assigned to treatment are common in studies of conduct disordered youth (26). Researchers must continue to balance internal and external validity needs with the reality of conducting real-world investigations that can be affected by many competing priorities.

Implications and Recommendations

Given the simplicity of including journaling as a way to assess changes due to treatment, and the relatively low cost of animal assisted interventions, programs such as Teacher's Pet show promise for expanding the range of interventions for incarcerated youth. It is also worth assessing for use with persons, including youth, who for other reasons cannot receive the typical model of therapy that rests on one person with one therapist at a time, over an indefinite period. The efficiency of group interventions along with youth attraction to dogs, makes such interventions an attractive option for incarcerated youth, as well as community based treatment programs.

Recommendations for future research include studying the journal content of additional at-risk adolescents engaged in a similar intervention and analyzing common themes in the journals along with self-reported scores for behavioral problems pre and post-assessment, in order to evaluate behavioral progress. It could be beneficial to interview participants pre and postassessment in order to assess how the content of their writing relate to other youths' perceptions of their responses to intervention.

As it was primarily undesirable behavior that caused the youth in this project to be incarcerated, more study is needed to see whether animal-assisted interventions are effective in changing such youths' behavior after they are released. Using journaling as an adjunct to assessing other outcomes of treatment could show changes in motivations and attitudes that lead to successful post-incarceration adjustment. Long-term follow-up is therefore an essential need for future studies. Only by seeing whether the positive effects such as those found here in journal writing predict a lack of recidivism will it be clear that such interventions, assessed through journal writing, are accurately predictive of long term positive outcomes.

The findings of this study highlight the potential usefulness of journaling as a method for the assessment of treatment. This could be particularly valuable as a way to evaluate an active, very participatory intervention such as the animal-assisted therapy featured in this study, in which the participants trained dogs or worked closely with them. By analyzing the content of the journals of these participants, it appears that this animal-assisted therapy facilitated empathy, attachment, behavioral insight, and patience in the youth, outcomes that were shown only by examining the writing of the youth in treatment. This demonstrates that animal-assisted therapy can facilitate some changes in cognitive as well as emotional attitudes in youth that are not readily observable in their overt behavior. Those changes in turn can extend into improved interpersonal relationships and empathy toward others among the youth, after the intervention is over (33–35).

Journaling can be a cost-effective and useful way to assess the effects of treatments given to vulnerable adolescents, facilitating knowledge of treatment outcomes in a population that is still developing cognitively, who may not show therapeutic changes visibly, although changes are resulting from the treatment. Similar interventions including animals as a key feature of the treatment along with journaling as an assessment of responses to therapy, are promising for the possibility that they can ultimately show that treatments reduce recidivism and improve the quality of life for at-risk youth.

REFERENCES

- Seivert NP, Cano A, Casey RJ, Johnson A, May DK. Animal assisted therapy for incarcerated youth: a randomized controlled trial. *Appl Dev Sci.* (2018) 22:139–53. doi: 10.1080/10888691.2016.12 34935
- Underwood LA, Washington A. Mental illness and juvenile offenders. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2016) 13:228. doi: 10.3390/ijerph130 20228
- 3. Abracen J, Langton CM, Looman J, Gallo A, Ferguson M, Axford M, et al. Mental health diagnoses and recidivism in paroled offenders. *Int J Offender Ther Comp Criminol.* (2014) 58:765–79. doi: 10.1177/0306624X134 85930
- Teplin LA, Abram KM, McClelland GM, Dulcan MK, Mericle AA. Psychiatric disorders in youth in juvenile detention. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2002) 59:1133– 43. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.59.12.1133
- Wasserman GA, McReynolds LS, Ko SJ, Katz LM, Carpenter JR. Gender differences in psychiatric disorders at juvenile probation intake. *Am J Public Health* (2005) 95:131–7. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2003.0 24737
- Shufelt JL, Cocozza JJ. Youth with Mental Health Disorders in the Juvenile Justice System: Results From a Multi-State Prevalence Study. Delmar, NY: National Center for Mental Health and Juvenile Justice (2006). p. 1–6.
- Lipsey MW, Wilson DB, Cothern L. Effective intervention for serious juvenile offenders. In: US Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. (2000). Available online at: https://www.ncjrs.gov/ pdffiles1/ojjdp/181201.pdf
- Newton RR, Litrownik AJ, Landsverk JA. Children and youth in foster care: disentangling the relationship between problem behaviors and number of placements. *Child Abuse Neglect* (2000) 24:1363–74. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2134(00)00189-7
- Abram KM, Teplin LA, McClelland GM, Dulcan MK. Comorbid psychiatric disorders in youth in juvenile detention. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2003) 60:1097– 108. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.60.11.1097
- Young DW, Dembo R, Henderson CE. A national survey of substance abuse treatment for juvenile offenders. J Subst Abuse Treat. (2007) 32:255–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2006.12.018
- Wilson SJ, Lipsey MW. Wilderness challenge programs for delinquent youth: a meta-analysis of outcome evaluations. *Eval Program Plann.* (2000) 23:1–12. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7189(99)00040-3

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RC was one of the primary leaders of the original study, coprincipal investigator of the NIH grant that funded the project. AC was the principal investigator of the NIH grant for the original study. AJ was one of the co-principal investigators of the original, NIH funded project. She is the leader of the Teacher's Pet AAT program, which was central to the treatment condition in this project. TS was a research assistant to this project. She was central to the development and execution of the journal coding system reported in this project. NS was a graduate research assistant to this project, he analyzed data and reported on the larger project from which this study was developed. DA was a graduate research assistant to this project. She was involved in the planning of the project, and was a leader in the collection of data and interaction with shelter staff and coders for the project.

FUNDING

This research was supported by Grant #R03HD070621 from The Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health & Human Development and Mars-WALTHAM[®].

- Wilson SJ, Lipsey MW. School-based interventions for aggressive and disruptive behavior: update of a meta-analysis. Am J Prev Med. (2007) 33:S130–S143. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2007.04.011
- Payne E, Bennett PC, McGreevy PD. Current perspectives on attachment and bonding in the dog-human dyad, *Psychol Res Behav Manag.* (2015) 8:71–9. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S74972
- Hoagwood KE, Acri M, Morrissey M, Pet-Pierce R. Animal-assisted therapies for youth at risk for mental health problems: a systematic review. *Appl Dev Sci.* (2016) 21:1–13. doi: 10.1080/10888691.2015.1134267
- Snyder M. Journaling. In: Snyder M and Lundquist R editors. Complementary and Alternative Therapies in Nursing. 6th ed. New York, NY: Springer Publications (2010). p. 197–206.
- Hiemstra, R. (2001). Uses and benefits of journal writing. N Direct Adult Cont Educ. 90:19–26 doi: 10.1002/ace.17
- Baikie KA, Wilhelm K. Emotional and physical health benefits of expressive writing. *Adv Psychiatr Treat.* (2005) 11:338–46. doi: 10.1192/apt.11.5.338
- Stice E, Shaw H, Bohon C, Marti CN, Rohde P. A meta-analytic review of depression prevention programs for children and adolescents: factors that predict magnitude of intervention effects. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2009) 77:486. doi: 10.1037/a0015168
- DeGangi GA, Nemiroff MA. Kids' Club Letters: Narrative Tools for Stimulating Process and Dialogue in Therapy Groups for Children and Adolescents. New York, NY: Routledge (2010).
- Utley A, Garza Y. The therapeutic use of journaling with adolescents. J Creat Mental Health (2011) 6:29–41. doi: 10.1080/15401383.2011.557312
- Pennebaker JW. Writing about emotional experiences as a therapeutic process. *Psychol Sci.* (1997) 8:162–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.1997.tb00403.x
- Baikie KA, Geerligs L, Wilhelm K. Expressive writing and positive writing for participants with mood disorders: an online randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord. (2012) 136:310–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.11.032
- Kelley HM, Cunningham T, Branscome J. Reflective journaling with at-risk students. VISTAS (2015) 8:1–9. Available online at: https://www.counseling. org/knowledge-center/vistas/by-year2/vistas-2015/docs/default-source/ vistas/reflective-journaling-with-at-risk-students
- Furman R, Coyne A, Negi NJ. An international experience for social work students: self-reflection through poetry and journal writing exercises. J Teach Soc Work (2008) 28:71–85. doi: 10.1080/08841230802178946
- Cummings JA, Hayes AM, Saint DS, Park J. Expressive writing in psychotherapy: a tool to promote and track therapeutic change. *Professional Psychol Res Pract.* (2014) 45:378–86. doi: 10.1037/a0037682

- Bakker MJ, Greven CU, Buitelaar JK, Glennon JC. Practitioner review: psychological treatment for children and adolescents with conduct disorder problems – a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2017) 58:4–18. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12590
- 27. American Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals. *Animal Homelessness: Shelter Intake and Surrender: Pet Statistics.* (2018). Available online at: https://www.aspca.org/animal-homelessness/shelter-intake-and-surrender/pet-statistics
- Shrout PE, Fleiss JL. Intraclass correlations: uses in assessing rater reliability. Psychol Bull. (1979) 86:420–8. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.86.2.420
- Foley RM. Academic characteristics of incarcerated youth and correctional educational programs: a literature review. *J Emot Behav Disord*. (2001) 9:248– 59. doi: 10.1177/106342660100900405
- Trzesniewski K, Moffitt T, Caspi A, Taylor A., Maughan B. Revisiting the association between reading achievement and antisocial behavior: new evidence of an environmental explanation from a twin study. *Child Dev.* (2006) 77:72–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006. 00857.x
- Esterling BA, L'Abate L, Murray EJ, Pennebaker JW. Empirical foundations for writing in prevention and psychotherapy: mental and physical health outcomes. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (1999) 19:79–96.
- 32. Hymer S. The diary as therapy: the diary as adjunct to therapy. *Psychother Private Pract.* (1992) 9:13–30.

- 33. Kruger KA, Serpell JA. Animal-assisted interventions in mental health: definitions and theoretical foundations. In: Fine AH editor. *Handbook* on Animal-Assisted Therapy: Theoretical Foundations and Guidelines for Practice. Burlington, MA: Academic Press. (2010). p. 33–48. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-381453-1.10003-0
- Nimer J, Lundahl B. Animal-assisted therapy: a meta-analysis. Anthrozoos (2007) 20:225–38. doi: 10.2752/089279307X224773
- Proctor SL, Hoffmann NG, Allison S. The effectiveness of interactive journaling in reducing recidivism among substance-dependent jail inmates. Int J Offender Ther Comp Criminol. (2012) 56:317–32. doi: 10.1177/0306624X11399274

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Syzmanski, Casey, Johnson, Cano, Albright and Seivert. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Replication Pilot Trial of Therapeutic Horseback Riding and Cortisol Collection With Children on the Autism Spectrum

Zhaoxing Pan^{1,2}, Douglas A. Granger^{3,4}, Noémie A. Guérin⁵, Amy Shoffner¹ and Robin L. Gabriels^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Pediatrics, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States, ² Children's Hospital Colorado, Aurora, CO, United States, ³ Institute for Interdisciplinary Salivary Bioscience Research, University of California, Irvine, Irvine, CA, United States, ⁴ Bloomberg School of Public Health and School of Nursing, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁵ Center for the Human-Animal Bond of Purdue, College of Veterinary Medicine, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Consultant, New Haven, CT, United States

Reviewed by:

Andrea Beetz, University of Rostock, Germany Aviva Vincent, Case Western Reserve University, United States Caiti Peters, Colorado State University, United States

*Correspondence:

Robin L. Gabriels robin.gabriels@childrenscolorado.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Humanities and Social Sciences, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 17 April 2018 Accepted: 26 November 2018 Published: 14 January 2019

Citation:

Pan Z, Granger DA, Guérin NA, Shoffner A and Gabriels RL (2019) Replication Pilot Trial of Therapeutic Horseback Riding and Cortisol Collection With Children on the Autism Spectrum. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:312. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00312 We aimed to determine whether results of our prior randomized control trial [RCT; NCT02301195, (1)] of Therapeutic Horseback Riding (THR) for children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) could be replicated at a different riding center and if treatment effects also included differences in the expression of associations between problem behavior and the activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis. Participants with ASD (N = 16) ages 6-16 years were randomized by nonverbal intelligence quotient to either a 10-week THR group (n = 8) or no horse interaction barn activity (BA) control group (n = 8). Outcome measures were a standard speech-language sample and caregiver-report of aberrant and social behaviors. Participants' saliva was sampled weekly at a consistent afternoon time immediately pre- and 20 min' post-condition (later assayed for cortisol). Intent-to-treat analysis revealed that compared to controls, THR participants had significant improvements in hyperactivity, and social awareness, and significant improvements at the 0.1 significance level in irritability and social communication behaviors. There were no significant improvements in number of words or new words spoken during the standard language sample. Linear mixed effects model analysis indicated that greater weekly pre-lesson irritability levels were associated with smaller post-lesson reduction in salivary cortisol levels, and greater weekly prelesson hyperactivity levels were associated with smaller cortisol reduction in the THR group, but not in the BA control group. The findings represent a partial replication of prior results (1), extend prior observations to include THR effects on biobehavioral relationships and suggest that cortisol could be a target mediator for THR effects on irritability and hyperactivity behaviors in youth with ASD.

Clinical Trial Registration: Trial of Therapeutic Horseback Riding in Children and Adolescents with Autism Spectrum Disorder; http://clinicaltrials.gov, identifier: NCT02301195

Keywords: autism spectrum disorder, equine-assisted activities and therapies, human-animal interaction, therapeutic horseback riding, salivary cortisol

INTRODUCTION

In addition to core impairments in social and communication skills, restricted interests, and repetitive behaviors (2), individuals with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) have high rates of coexisting psychiatric symptoms that include anxiety, depression, irritability, and attention-deficit and hyperactivity disorder (3– 11). Such co-existing conditions can impair functioning, which puts this population at risk to engage in dangerous aberrant behaviors (12) (e.g., aggression and self-injury) and to seek costly crisis psychiatric care services (e.g., emergency department and inpatient hospitalization) (13, 14). To proactively address the core impairments and aberrant behaviors unique to individuals with ASD, one increasingly popular intervention is animalassisted intervention (AAI) (15, 16).

Systematic reviews of the literature reflect a recent increase in the quantity and quality of research on AAI with the pediatric population of individuals with ASD (15, 16). Most studies of AAI programs for ASD are comprised of 8-12 weekly sessions, and the most commonly reported outcome is improved social interactions. Horses are the most common species included in AAI research through the practice of therapeutic horseback riding (THR) (16); In 2015, Gabriels et al. conducted the first large-scale randomized clinical trial of THR for children with ASD, with 127 participants ages 6-16 (1). Compared to participants in a barn activity (BA) control group, participants in a 10-week THR intervention made significant improvements in symptoms of irritability and hyperactivity as measured by the Aberrant Behavior Checklist-Community (ABC-C) (17), improvements in core symptoms of autism (e.g., social cognition and social communication) measured by the Social Responsiveness Scale (SRS) (18), and word fluency (e.g., total number of words and new words spoken) measured by a standardized language sample (1). A more recent study of THR replicated use of the ABC-C (17) to measure outcomes in a sample of 26 children with ASD (19). This study found that children participating in five to seven 45-minute weekly riding lessons compared to a control group receiving treatment as usual, improved on the ABC-C (17) Hyperactivity scale, but not on the Irritability scale (19). It is promising that Harris and Williams (19) attempted to replicate the irritability and hyperactivity outcomes previously observed by Gabriels et al. (1); however, the advancement of the AAI field requires more methodological standardization and replication of methods to confirm the efficacy of THR on outcomes in children with ASD (15, 16, 20, 21). Additionally, improved methodological rigor can lead to an increased understanding of the mechanisms, such as physiological arousal levels, that might help explain observed benefits of, for example, THR on children with ASD.

The field of AAI has historically claimed that interacting with animals can reduce an individual's arousal level to dampen stressed/anxious states. There are a number of AAI studies that have observed favorable autonomic response patterns using physiological measures (e.g., cortisol, cardiovascular, electrodermal) in individuals when they are engaged with animals, providing support for the assertion that AAI can produce a regulated state of arousal (22). In the ASD population, poorly regulated emotional/arousal states tend to manifest as symptoms of stress/anxiety, depression, irritability, and hyperactivity, which are particularly prevalent (11, 23). Specifically, irritability behaviors in the ASD population have been characterized as heightened emotional (e.g., anger) and behavioral (e.g., aggression. severe tantrums, self-injury) reactivity (24), behaviors that often require high levels of intensive interventions. Given this information, it is reasonable to hypothesize that elements inherent in THR may activate a physiological state of regulation that leads to beneficial outcomes such as reductions in irritability behaviors.

Our understanding of the effects of AAI on physiological arousal levels such as the reactivity and regulation of environmentally sensitive biological systems, such as the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, and the association of these AAI-related changes in physiology with behavior in the context of ASD is in its infancy.

The HPA axis is one of the two main components of the psychobiology of the stress response, and its primary product, cortisol can accurately (using minimally invasive collection methods) be measured in saliva. An extensive literature reveals changes in cortisol in response to novelty, defeat, and social evaluative threat and these changes are most pronounced when individuals do not have prior experience or sufficient coping skills or resources to adapt to those events by changing their actions or thoughts [see for review (25)]. A 2014 review of cortisol investigations in the ASD population, reported that individuals with high rates of irritability behaviors show a more sluggish response of the HPA axis to stressors (26). A similar finding was reported in a study of high functioning (HF) boys with ASD who endorsed having high levels of irritability, yet their cortisol levels were lower/less responsive to a psychosocial stress test compared to HF boys with ASD who endorsed having lower levels of irritability (27). These recent study findings raise questions about the role of irritability in influencing the physiological response patterns (e.g., HPA axis) in the ASD population.

The handful of studies of HPA axis reactivity and regulation in ASD suggest that compared to typically-developing children, children with ASD experience higher HPA axis reactivity to daily stressors (28, 29). Understanding whether the effects of AAI reveal at both the behavioral surface, and the level of fast acting environmentally sensitive biological systems, like the HPA axis, may be key to advancing our understanding of individual differences in, or the degree of short- versus longer-term, benefits of AAI in the context of ASD. An RCT on typically-developing adolescents found that compared to a control group, adolescents participating in an 11-week equine-facilitated learning (EFL) program had lower basal salivary cortisol levels (30). One study examining the effect of service dogs on salivary cortisol levels of 42 children with ASD found that having a service dog led to significantly lower cortisol awakening responses (CAR), but did not influence average diurnal cortisol levels (31). In eight male children with ASD, hippotherapy led to reduced cortisol after riding compared to before riding, apart from the first riding session, which may represent the stressful effect of getting used to a new environment and riding for the first time (32). Overall, it seems that AAI may have a direct, at least short term, effect on reactivity and regulation of the HPA axis.

In the present study, the first aim was to implement a previously reported THR intervention model from a large scale RCT in a different THR riding center to examine its feasibility and effectiveness (1). The second aim was to extend the findings of Gabriels et al. (1) by replicating effects of THR on ASDrelated aberrant behavior, but also by examining treatment effects on levels of cortisol before and 20 min after THR, and on the expression of the association between cortisol and ASD-related aberrant behavior.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

For this IRB-approved study, participants were recruited via inpatient hospital and out-patient therapy services, schools, and ASD-parent groups. Participant inclusion criteria replicated those reported by Gabriels et al. (1): Ages 6-16 years; a diagnosis of ASD confirmed [i.e., meeting the cut-off of ≥ 15 on the Social Communication Questionnaire (SCQ) (33) and meeting the empirically-derived cutoffs for ASD or Autism on the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule-2nd Edition (ADOS-2) (34)]; a combined total score of >11 on the Irritability and Stereotypy subscales of the Aberrant Behavior Checklist-Community (ABC-C) (17); and a nonverbal IQ (NVIQ) score of \geq 40 standard score measured by the Leiter-3 (35). Exclusion criteria also included a screening for contraindications based on guidelines from the Professional Association of Therapeutic Horsemanship International (PATH Intl.) Standards for Certification and Accreditation (36). Contraindications included medical or behavioral concerns that might make it dangerous to participate in the horseback riding activity such as uncontrolled seizures, or a history of animal abuse. Participants were also excluded if they had participated in a THR intervention within 6 months prior to entering the study, weighed 200 pounds or more, exceeding the riding center's policies to ride a horse, or if they were taking steroid medications, as steroids might confound cortisol results. See Figure 1 for screening and enrollment information.

Study Design

Screening Visit I

Interested caregivers and participants were engaged in an IRBapproved informed consent/assent and screening process at the first authors' institution setting before traveling to the riding center for a second level screening. During this first screening, caregivers completed demographic, diagnostic and behavior rating forms regarding their child that included the SCQ (33), ABC-C (17) and the Spence Children's Anxiety Scale-Parent Version (SCAS-P) (37). Participants completed the Leiter-3 (35) and ADOS-2 (34). Additionally, participants and their caregivers were instructed (via demonstration and hands-on practice) how to collect saliva samples, provided with visual food cues to help stimulate saliva production and informed that the child participant needed to avoid eating, drinking or brushing teeth for at least 30 min before all sample collections occurred at the riding center.



FIGURE 1 | Screening, enrollment, randomization, and follow-up of study participants. ^aABC-C was not returned for one participant. ^bOne participant completed 5 sessions only. ^cOne participant completed 2 sessions only. ^dOf the 7 participants, one has no posttreatment SALT evaluation but ABC-C and SRS. ^eOf the 7 participants, one has no posttreatment ABC-C data but SALT and SRS.

Randomization

Participants meeting inclusion criteria were then randomized into either an intervention group (THR) or control Barn Activity (BA) control group with no horse contact, stratified by NVIQ (\leq 85 or >85).

Screening Riding Center for THR Research Site

This replication trial took place at a therapeutic riding center, located in a rural setting in the foothills of northern Colorado, approximately 1-h driving time from Wyoming. This riding center has been operating since 1997 and maintained Premier Accreditation through PATH (Professional Association of Therapeutic Horsemanship) International since 2002. This premiere accreditation status is the highest level of accreditation in the field of equine assisted activities and therapies (EAAT) and requires the facility to follow rigorous and comprehensive standards across all aspects of programming, including safety and animal welfare. This facility has 23 acres, two indoor arenas, a large outdoor arena and a large sensory trail. The riding center was evaluated for appropriateness to conduct research based on a standardized site review. The research site review screening addressed the need for consistent, high quality programming
for the duration of the 10-week intervention. During an on-site observation with research staff, the riding center confirmed it was able to provide an appropriate indoor/outdoor facility, horse's sound in mind and body, trained volunteers, and staff qualified to work with riders with ASD.

Screening Visit II: Riding Center

After participants' medical clearance forms were completed by and received from their physicians and caregivers, participants met with their assigned group leader at the riding center for an adaptive functioning screen. This screening visit involved an interview with the participant and caregiver about the participant's strengths and needs as well as a standardized 10min direct observational assessment of the participant's adaptive skills. For the THR group this involved a 10-min horseback riding activity and for the BA control group, a drawing activity about horses.

Intervention Fidelity

Before initiating interventions, site riding center instructors and volunteers participated in a 2-h presentation reviewing methods for working with children with ASD in the riding center environment. This presentation was delivered by the onsite coordinator (second author, who was a certified Advanced PATH International therapeutic riding instructor). Prior to the intervention phase of this study, this coordinator also trained the two riding center THR group instructors on the manual-based (38) methods for conducting the 10-week THR intervention and provided on-site observation of instructor implementation of 20% of the THR lesson to measure intervention fidelity. BA control group instructor implementation of 20% of lessons were also observed and measured using this same fidelity tool by the senior author, who was 80% reliable with the on-site coordinator on three consecutive THR lessons (38).

Intervention and Control Groups

Both the 10-week THR and the BA control group intervention were 45-min in length and involved two to four participants, per group, with at least one volunteer assigned to assist per participant. The content of the THR and BA control groups were consistent for each of the 10-weekly lessons and included information about horses and horse care as described in the manual (38). However, the control group did not have interactions with horses, rather participants were only exposed to a pony-sized stuffed horse, which they used to practice activities such as grooming and tacking. Both groups were led by a THR instructor and employed teaching methods consistent with best practices for children with ASD that included use of consistent routines, visual schedules, demonstration and other concrete visual cues to enhance comprehension of information and expectations. Both the THR and control groups were (45 min in length and involved the following general schedule of routines:

- Saliva collection
- Sit with a volunteer
- Start group
- Review group schedule
- Warm up exercises
- Lesson & activity

- Cool down exercises
- THR group dismount & thank horses All groups thank volunteers
- Drawing activity at table (20 min)
- Saliva collection

Of note, the control group leader and co-leader were the same as those who led the control group in the previous RCT (1). The THR and BA control groups occurred simultaneously (same day and afternoon times) at the riding center.

Outcome Measures

Baseline and post-intervention Measures

Systematic Analysis of Language Transcripts (SALT)

Within one month pre- and post-THR and control group interventions, a study speech therapist blind to participants' condition group assignment conducted a five-minute language sample with each participant using the Systematic Analysis of Language Transcripts (SALT) (39). The SALT (39) provides standard guidelines to elicit, transcribe, and analyze language samples from individuals, including those diagnosed with ASD. Language samples were transcribed from recordings and then entered into the SALT language analysis program to compute vocabulary diversity. The SALT (39) was an outcome measure used and described in the previous RCT (1).

Social Responsiveness Scale (SRS)

Additionally, within 1 month pre- and post- interventions, a consistent caregiver for each participant completed the Social Responsiveness Scale (SRS) (18) about their child's social behaviors. The SRS measures social impairments of ASD that includes five subscales (Social Awareness, Social Cognition, Social Motivation, Social Communication and Autistic Mannerisms) (18). The SRS was an outcome measure also described in the previous RCT (1, 18).

Intervention Phase Measures

Aberrant Behavior Checklist-Community (ABC-C)

During the 10-week intervention phase of this study, the identified consistent caregiver for each participant completed the ABC-C (17) form to report on participant's behavior observed during the week preceding each group lesson (THR or control). The subscales of the ABC-C include Irritability, Lethargy/Social Withdrawal, Stereotypy, Hyperactivity, and Inappropriate Speech behaviors and items are rated on a 0-3 Likert-type severity rating scale. This is a 58-item symptom checklist was the primary outcome measure described and demonstrating significant changes in participants of the THR group from the previous RCT (1).

Saliva collection and determination of cortisol

Immediately before each THR session and 20 min following each session, study personnel collected saliva samples from participants (THR and control) using an absorbent swab specifically designed for use with children (SalivaBio, Carlsbad, CA). These collection times occurred at a consistent afternoon time (between 1:00-5:00 PM) when diurnal cortisol levels typically decline (40). The first sample was collected immediately before the groups when participants were seated with their

Autism Therapeutic Horseback Riding Cortisol

volunteers either on a bench in the arena (THR group) or at a group table (BA control group). Participants were instructed to mouth the foam rod for 1 min. A mini 1-min sand timer was given to each participant to provide visual reference and enable them to track the collection time duration. The second saliva sample was collected 20 min after the conclusion of the standard 45-min THR or BA control group lessons (i.e., after dismounting the horse for the THR group and completing a review of things learned for the BA control group). Our methods to collect cortisol 20 minutes' post intervention is supported by previous findings that there is a 5-20-min lag in the detection of salivary cortisol (41). Participants followed the same procedures as previously described as each group participants sat at a table with their respective small groups and engaged in coloring or painting pictures. Each group (THR and control) sat in a separate room and did not have contact with each other. All samples were immediately frozen and shipped frozen to the Institute for Interdisciplinary Salivary Bioscience Research (IISBR) laboratory for analyses. Following methods described by Granger et al. (25), all saliva samples were assayed for cortisol using a commercially available immunoassay specifically designed for use with saliva without modification to the manufacturers recommended protocol https://www. salimetrics.com/assay-kits/#tab1 (Salimetrics, Carlsbad; Cat #1-3002). On the day of assay, samples were thawed, centrifuged to remove mucins, and assayed for cortisol in duplicate using an immunoassay specifically designed for use with saliva (Salimetrics, Carlsbad, CA) without modification to the manufacturers recommended protocol. The sample test volume was 25 μ l, range of calibrators from 0.01 to 3.0 μ g/dL, and lower limit of sensitivity 0.007 µg/dL. On average, inter and intra-assay coefficients of variation were less than 10 and 5% respectively. The average of the duplicate assays for each sample was used in the statistical analyses. Units for cortisol are expressed in micrograms per deciliter (ug/dL).

Data Analysis

All the analyses were conducted using SAS 9.4 software (SAS Institute Inc.¹). Demographic, diagnosis and baseline data were compared using Student t-tests and Fisher's exact tests for continuous and categorical variables respectively. The primary intent-to-treat analyses included data collected within 1 month pre- and post-THR and control group (or pre-session level of salivary cortisol at first and last week of intervention) and used a linear mixed effects model (LMM) without any data imputation. The LMM model consists of the baseline value and the postevaluations as outcome measures, evaluation time (baseline or post-evaluation) of outcome, group (THR or control) and their interaction term as fixed effects and an unstructured covariance. Test of the time by group interaction term was used to assess the statistical significance of THR effectiveness. Effect size was calculated as $(2xt \text{ value})/\sqrt{(DF)}$, from the contrast of the time by group interaction. Sensitivity analyses were conducted to see how robust the conclusion were, including: (a) repeating the ITT primary analyses among participants completed at least 80% of THR or BA lessons, (b) testing the effectiveness using LMM model while adjusting for age and NVIQ and baseline anxiety score and (c) fitting a linear mixed model to all the weekly data of ABC-C (17) and testing the time by group interaction. Weekly immediate change in salivary cortisol level after an intervention lesson was compared between two groups using LMM model. Association of this immediate cortisol change with irritability and hyperactivity was examined using LMM model. The fidelity of the THR treatment implementation was computed as a percentage of the eight intervention component ratings. Irritability subscale of ABC-C (17) was deemed as the primary outcome. No adjustment for multiple secondary outcome variables was applied.

Power of the Study

This study was a pilot study to replicate the RCT (1) study in a new riding center. This study was not powered to detect a specific effect size. A sample size of 16 (8 per arm) allows to detect an effect size of 1.5 common standard deviation with 80% power at 5% significance.

RESULTS

Preliminary Analyses

Of the 17 potential participants screened, 16 (94%) met study inclusion criteria and were enrolled in this trial and randomized (see **Figure 1**). Of note, 75% of this sample had community-based psychiatric diagnoses. Every participant in THR group and

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of Participants.

Characteristic	THR	BA control	p-value ^a
Number of participants	8	8	
Age, (Mean (SD), years)	11.88 (2.45)	9.80 (2.82)	0.14
Gender, males/females (counts)	6/2	7/1	1.0
IQ (Mean (SD)	102.88(16.28)	100.25 (29.26)	0.83
SCAS-P			
Panic Agoraphobia	4.63 (3.50)	1.13 (1.25)	0.03
Separation Anxiety	7.63 (5.76)	4.38 (4.14)	0.22
Physical Injury Fears	5.50 (4.04)	3.13 (3.04)	0.21
Social Phobia	5.50 (3.59)	3.38 (3.34)	0.24
Obsessive Compulsive	4.38 (4.07)	1.63 (1.51)	0.11
Generalized Anxiety Overanxious	6.63 (4.84)	3.88 (3.83)	0.23
Community psychiatric diagnoses	8/0	4/4	0.08
Y/N (counts)			
Current seizure disorder, Y/N (counts)	0/8	0/8	1.0
Psychotropic medicine, Y/N (counts)	6/2	3/5	0.31
Psychotic disorder	1/7	0/8	1.0
Mood disorder, Y/N (counts)	3/5	0/8	0.2
Anxiety disorder, Y/N (counts)	5/3	3/5	0.62
ADHD, Y/N (counts)	5/3	2/6	0.31
Learning disability, Y/N (counts)	1/7	0/8	1.0
Latino/Hispanic	1/7	0/8	1.0
Race			1.0
Caucasian	8	7	
Multiracial		1	

^a Two tailed p-value from two sample t-test and Fisher's exact test as appropriate (ug/dL). Date points of same symbol are from the same participants.

¹SAS Institute Inc., "SAS." (Cary, NC).

TABLE 2A Analysis of efficacy of Therapeutic Horseback Riding (THR) (n = 8) compared to the Barn Activity (BA) control (n = 8)^a.

		THR Group			BA Control Group	Interaction (Efficacy)			
	Baseline	EoT	Change	Baseline	EoT	Change			
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SEM)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SEM)	Mean (SEM)	pd	ESc
PRIMARY OUTCOME	VARIABLE – ABC-	c							
Irritability ^b	21.75 (13.27)	14.43 (13.38)	-6.44 (4.71)	11.57 (5.56)	18.33 (10.86)	6.97 (5.33)	-13.42 (7.11)	0.08	1.08
Lethargy	14.63 (9.59)	10.71 (3.20)	-4.64 (3.02)	10.57 (4.76)	11.83 (9.85)	2.29 (3.44)	-6.93 (4.58)	0.16	0.91
Stereotypy	6.38 (4.00)	5.29 (4.39)	-0.59 (0.77)	5.29 (6.16)	5.33 (6.80)	0.70 (0.92)	-1.29 (1.20)	0.31	0.67
Hyperactivity	22.50 (12.15)	16.00 (8.64)	-5.90 (3.28)	17.14 (4.10)	24.33 (6.02)	7.40 (3.73)	-13.30 (4.97)	0.02	1.49
Inappropriate Speech	4.50 (1.51)	3.43 (2.23)	-0.95 (1.16)	4.86 (3.58)	4.67 (4.03)	0.34 (1.32)	-1.29 (1.75)	0.48	0.43
SECONDARY OUTCO	ME VARIABLE - S	RS							
Social awareness	14.63 (4.31)	11.29 (1.38)	-3.67 (1.27)	12.38 (2.39)	13.57 (4.12)	1.23 (1.27)	-4.90 (1.80)	0.02	1.54
Social cognition	19.50 (7.09)	21.29 (3.30)	1.25 (1.85)	16.75 (6.36)	18.71 (7.43)	1.90 (1.85)	-0.66 (2.61)	0.81	0.14
Social Communication	37.38 (13.41)	34.57 (3.95)	-5.20 (2.48)	30.75 (10.00)	31.29 (10.98)	1.50 (2.48)	-6.70 (3.51)	0.08	1.17
Autistic Mannerism	20.38 (6.76)	20.29 (4.96)	-0.77 (2.17)	17.13 (4.76)	18.86 (6.47)	1.65 (2.17)	-2.42 (3.07)	0.45	0.45
Social Motivation	16.88 (5.99)	16.43 (4.28)	-1.96 (1.07)	13.25 (5.73)	12.71 (6.05)	-0.06 (1.07)	-1.90 (1.51)	0.23	0.73
SECONDARY OUTCO	ME VARIABLE - S	ALT							
Number different words	143.75 (65.40)	152.50 (66.06)	8.18 (11.01)	108.88 (81.04)	107.14 (57.03)	-12.96 (10.40)	21.14 (15.15)	0.19	0.78
Number words used	343.00 (171.53)	372.17 (170.43)	28.22 (30.85)	252.50 (208.57)	237.86 (138.22)	-39.86 (29.32)	68.07 (42.56)	0.13	0.88
SECONDARY OUTCO	ME VARIABLE - S	ALIVARY CORTIS	OL LEVEL (ug/d	IL)					
Pre-session cortisol	0.12 (0.084)	0.13 (0.09)	0.007 (0.04)	0.13 (0.08)	0.10 (0.07)	-0.03 (0.04)	0.037 (0.05)	0.49	0.41
Post-session cortisol	0.05 (0.02)	0.06 (0.03)	0.008 (0.04)	0.09 (0.05)	0.13 (0.13)	0.034 (0.04)	-0.026 (0.05)	0.63	0.29

^a Analyses included all participants who were randomized and had either baseline line and/or End of treatment (EoT) assessment. Cortisol assessed at intervention weeks one and the last week (weeks 9 or 10) for THR (n = 7) and BA control (n = 7) groups were used to approximate baseline and EoT cortisol level. Sample means and standard deviation were reported for baseline and EoT. Mean and standard errors of change and the time by group interaction are from mixed effects model analysis of baseline and EoT data for all the outcome variables. The mixed effects model consists of time (baseline/EoT), group (THR/BA control) and their interaction as fixed effects and an unstructured covariance. Test of the time by group interaction (i.e., THR minus Barn control in change from baseline) is used to assess the efficacy of THR.

^b Irritability subscale is deemed as the primary efficacy outcome in this study.

^cEffect size is calculated (2 \times t value)/ \sqrt{DF} from the contrast of the time by group interaction.

^dp-value < 0.05 are in bold face form.

four participants in control group had one or more psychiatric diagnoses. On the ABC-C (17) measure, participants in THR group had a more stereotypy behaviors and were more irritable and hyperactive at baseline. On the SCAS-P, participants in THR group had higher score on the Panic/Agoraphobia subscale. The groups did not differ otherwise at baseline (see **Tables 1, 2**). Five THR participants completed all 10 THR lessons; two completed nine lessons; and one completed five lessons. Two BA control group participants completed all 10 intervention lessons, four completed nine lessons, one completed eight lessons and one completed one lesson.

Intervention Fidelity THR Group

The average overall fidelity rating for the THR group was 92.22%, with average ratings in the four domains as follows: Teaching Techniques & Class Structure 88.32%; Volunteers 100%; Environment 100%.

Control Group

The average overall fidelity rating for the control group was 93.47%, with average ratings in the four domains as follows: Teaching Techniques & Class Structure 95.37%; Volunteers 80.55%; Environment 95.83%.

Clinical Outcomes

Tables 2A,B show the effectiveness of the THR intervention compared to the BA control group for the primary (ABC-C) and secondary (SRS, SALT, salivary cortisol) outcome variables. **Figure 2** shows the mean response patterns of the six outcome variables on which THR demonstrated favorable effect from the original RCT (1).

Primary Outcome Variable (ABC-C)

Participants in the THR group had lower average post- treatment Irritability and Hyperactivity subscale scores while participants in BA control group had higher average post-treatment scores for both subscales as compared to the baseline values (see Figures 2A,B). Between-treatment difference in post-treatment change was significant on the Hyperactivity subscale (es = 1.49, p = 0.02) and significant at the 0.1 significance level on the Irritability subscale (es = 1.08, p = 0.08), indicating THR participants made more improvements from baseline to post-treatment on both outcomes compared to BA control group participants. Moreover, a consistent result was found from the LMM analysis with baseline panic agoraphobia score as a covariate for irritability (p = 0.09) and hyperactivity (p = 0.02). Although not statistically significant, larger panic agoraphobia score was associated with larger irritability, but small hyperactivity score. If age and non-verbal IQ were

TABLE 2B | Completer analysis for efficacy^a.

	THR $(n = 7)$			BA Control ($n = 7$)			Interaction		
	Baseline	EoT	Change	Baseline	EoT	Change			
	Mean (SO)	Mean (SO)	Mean (SEM)	Mean (SO)	Mean(SO)	Mean (SEM)	Mean (SEM)	p ^d	ESc
ABC-C									
Irritability ^b	19.86 (13.12)	14.43 (13.38)	-5.43 (4.74)	12.00 (5.97)	18.33 (10.86)	6.76 (5.39)	-12.19 (7.18)	0.12	-1.00
Lethargy	16.57 (8.48)	10.71 (3.20)	-5.86 (2.96)	10.00 (4.94)	11.83 (9.85)	2.65 (3.38)	-8.50 (4.49)	0.08	-1.14
Stereotypy	5.86 (4.02)	5.29 (4.39)	-0.57 (0.76)	4.83 (6.62)	5.33 (6.80)	0.74 (0.91)	-1.31 (1.19)	0.30	-0.69
Hyperactivity	20.86 (12.13)	16.00 (8.64)	-4.86 (3.37)	17.33 (4.46)	24.33 (6.02)	7.28 (3.86)	-12.14 (5.12)	0.04	-1.39
Inappropriate Speech	4.29 (1.50)	3.43 (2.23)	-0.86 (1.15)	4.33 (3.61)	4.67 (4.03)	0.62 (1.32)	-1.48 (1.75)	0.42	-0.50
SRS									
Social awareness	15.43 (3.95)	11.29 (1.38)	-4.14 (1.27)	12.29 (2.56)	13.57 (4.12)	1.29 (1.27)	-5.43 (1.80)	0.01	-1.74
Social cognition	20.43 (7.11)	21.29 (3.30)	0.86 (1.90)	16.86 (6.87)	18.71 (7.43)	1.86 (1.90)	-1.00 (2.68)	0.72	-0.22
Social Communication	41.00 (9.33)	34.57 (3.95)	-6.43 (2.35)	29.29 (9.83)	31.29 (10.98)	2.00 (2.35)	-8.43 (3.32)	0.03	-1.46
Autistic Mannerism	21.71 (6.05)	20.29 (4.96)	-1.43 (2.16)	17.29 (5.12)	18.86 (6.47)	1.57 (2.16)	-3.00 (3.06)	0.35	-0.57
Social Motivation	18.57 (3.87)	16.43 (4.28)	-2.14 (1.05)	12.71 (5.96)	12.71 (6.05)	-0.00 (1.05)	-2.14 (1.49)	0.18	-0.83
SALT									
Number different words used	142.14 (70.47)	152.50 (66.06)	8.57 (11.15)	123.71 (74.88)	107.14 (57.03)	-16.57 (10.55)	25.14 (15.35)	0.13	0.95
Number words used	340.00 (185.05)	372.17 (170.43)	29.08 (31.59)	287.86 (197.69)	237.86 (138.22)	-50.00 (30.10)	79.08(43.63)	0.09	1.04

^a Analyses included all participants who were randomized and had either baseline line and/or End of treatment (EoT) assessment among those completed 80% of intervention lessons. Sample means and standard deviation were reported for baseline and EoT. Mean and standard errors of change and the time by group interaction are from mixed effects model analysis of baseline and EoT data for all the outcome variables. The mixed effects model consists of time (baseline/EoT), group (THR/Barn activity control) and their interaction as fixed effects and an unstructured covariance. Test of the time by group interaction (i.e. THR minus Barn in change from baseline) is used to assess the efficacy of THR.

^bIrritability subscale is deemed as the primary efficacy outcome in this study.

 $^c\textit{Effect}$ size is calculated (2 \times t value)/ $\sqrt{\textit{DF}}$ from the contrast of the time by group interaction.

^dp-value < 0.05 are in bold face form.

adjusted in the LMM model, significant effectiveness of THR was found respectively for irritability (p = 0.037) and hyperactivity (p = 0.013). The time course of the weekly Irritability and Hyperactivity scales (see Figures 2C,D) were also analyzed using a linear mixed effects model (LMM). Statistical test of the time by treatment interactions were significant (p = 0.016 for the Irritability and p = 0.0005 for Hyperactivity subscales). For the Irritability subscale, baseline and post-treatment means (SEM) estimated by LMM were respectively 21.75 (3.88) and 16.19 (3.96) for THR participants and 10.47 (3.95) and 17.28 (4.05) in BA control group participants, resulting in the between-treatment difference in change from baseline of 12.36 (3.97), which was statistically significant (p = 0.0023). For the Hyperactivity subscale, baseline and post-treatment means (SEM) were respectively 22.5 (3.03) and 17.67 (3.11) for THR participants and 16.22 (3.10) and 24.82 (3.19) in the BA control group participants; the corresponding between-treatment difference in change from base was then 13.42 (3.47), which was statistically significant (p = 0.0002). There was no significant difference between the two groups on any of the other ABC-C (17) subscales.

To examine the robustness of these primary analyses, the same analysis was repeated among the THR (n = 7) and BA (n = 7) participants, each who completed 80% or more intended sessions. These produced the same results for effects on the Irritability and Hyperactivity subscales (**Table 2A**).

Secondary Outcome Variables SRS, SALT, and Salivary Cortisol

SRS

For the SRS (18), the THR group had greater improvements on the Social Communication (p = 0.08) and Social Awareness (p = 0.02) subscales compared to the BA control group. In analysis of participants who completed at least 8 weeks of the THR and BA control group interventions, the SRS Social Communication subscale became significant (p = 0.03), a finding similar to the previously published RCT (1). There was no significant difference between groups on any other of the SRS subscales.

SALT

On the SALT (39) there was no statistically significant difference in improvement of number words or different words spoken after treatment between the two groups even though the response pattern was in favor of THR group, similar to the previous RCT (1).

Salivary Cortisol

We compared week one cortisol levels and the cortisol levels collected the last week of intervention to assess efficacy. Separate analyses were conducted for pre-lesson and post-lesson cortisol levels. Median (range) of salivary sample collection times of pre-lesson were 13:45 (12:53–13:45) for THR and 13:45 (12:15–14:30) for BA at first week and 14:23 (12:50–14:30) for THR and 12:30 (12:27–14:09) for BA at the last lesson. There was no difference



between two groups in the change of pre-lesson (p = 0.49) or post-lesson (p = 0.63) cortisol levels between the first and last week of the intervention (**Table 2A**). This non-significance remained after adjusting for salivary sampling time and baseline panic agoraphobia scores (p = 0.61 for pre-lesson and p = 0.62 for post-lesson cortisol). Of a total of 60 completed THR lessons, pre- and post-lesson salivary samples were successfully collected for 90% riding lessons while salivary samples were collected in 74% of a total 65 BA control lessons.

Looking at all the weekly data together with a LMM analysis, a significant decrease in cortisol after the THR lessons was observed in THR participants (mean (SEM): from 0.11 (0.012) to 0.07 (0.009), p = 0.004). The decrease in cortisol after the BA control lessons was significant at 0.1 level in the BA control participants (mean (SEM): from 0.13 (0.014) to 0.10 (0.010),

p = 0.07). However, THR group did not show significantly more post-lesson decline in cortisol as compared to BA control (p = 0.38).

In fact, the post-lesson cortisol change can either be an increase or decrease, varying from participant to participant from week to week. Association of weekly Irritability or Hyperactivity subscale scores with weekly post-lesson cortisol change was then examined using LMM. Greater ABC-C weekly Irritability and Hyperactivity scores were respectively associated with a smaller amount of cortisol reduction after the THR lesson (**Figure 3**, slope = 0.002, p = 0.053 for Irritability and slope = 0.003, p = 0.028 for Hyperactivity). Such a relationship was not statistically significant in BA the control group. However, there was no statistically significant difference in slope between the two groups (p = 0.68 for Irritability and p = 0.93 for Hyperactivity).



These LMM analyses were also conducted while adjusting for time of pre-lesson salivary cortisol sampling and the minutes between pre- and post-lesson salivary cortisol collection in order to remove the potential confounding effect of the diurnal decrease of cortisol. These analyses produce the same significant (p < 0.05) correlation results as the unadjusted analyses.

DISCUSSION

This article reports results from a replication pilot of an RCT study that evaluated the effects of THR for children with ASD (1). Both studies compared a 10-week manual-based (38) THR intervention to a BA control group. The present replication study took place at a different riding center and enrolled 16 participants ages 6-16 years with a study confirmed diagnosis of ASD. The goals of the current study were to replicate the RCT, and to explore the effect of THR on salivary cortisol for children with ASD. Part of the results of the RCT were replicated, in that compared to the BA control group, THR participants significantly improved on the ABC-C (17) Hyperactivity subscale (p = 0.02). Additionally, the THR group had significant improvements at 0.1 level on the ABC-C (17) Irritability subscale (p = 0.08) and SRS (18) Social Communication subscale (p = 0.08). The replication of finding for hyperactivity but not the irritability subscale on the ABC-C matches up with another small scale study of the effect of THR for children with ASD (19), indicating that THR may have a stronger effect on hyperactivity than on irritability behaviors. There were no significant improvements in the number of words or new words spoken on the SALT (39) standard language sample. There was no significant decrease in salivary cortisol over 10-weeks intervention for either the THR or the BA control group. When examining the immediate pre- and post-lesson cortisol level changes, children with lower pre-session measures of Hyperactivity and Irritability behaviors on the ABC-C showed greater post-lesson decreases in salivary cortisol. This may suggest that pre-lesson cortisol can be considered as target mediator outcome for future THR research.

There are several limitations of this study. This study is limited by the small sample size, which limited power and randomization. Although randomly assigned, groups were significantly different from one another in pre-test irritability and hyperactivity, and co-occurring conditions. This factor may lead to a biased estimate of THR efficacy due to a regression to the mean. The THR intervention was replicated in the same state where the original trial was conducted, which limits the generalization of the results to other populations.

This is the first known study to report partial replication of results from a previous RCT of THR, thereby extending previous THR efficacy findings by examining the effects of a standardized THR intervention at a different riding center. A future larger scale replication study can provide conclusive replication validation. This study also provides preliminary data to objectively evaluate if the act of riding a horse in the context of a standard 10-week THR group can have immediate biological effect on reducing stress levels as measured by salivary cortisol levels as compared to the BA control. Although significant between group differences on cortisol reduction was not found in this pilot study, it appears that the extent of cortisol reduction after THR was associated with the participants' level of irritability and hyperactivity prior to riding. This very preliminary finding suggests that cortisol may play some role in the THR effect on irritability and hyperactivity. A larger scale study is required to investigate the potential mediation effect of cortisol activity on THR.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Colorado Multiple Institutional Review Board. The protocol was approved by the Colorado Multiple Institutional Review Board. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. This study protocol was approved by the Colorado Multiple Institute Review Board.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ZP served as the statistical expert for this study and wrote the result section of this manuscript. DG assisted with study

REFERENCES

- Gabriels RL, Pan Z, Dechant B, Agnew JA, Brim N, Mesibov G. Randomized controlled trial of therapeutic horseback riding in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2015) 54:541–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2015.04.007
- American Psychiatric A, American Psychiatric Association DSMTF, Joint Information Service of the American Psychiatric A, The National Association for Mental H, American Medico-Psychological A, American Psychiatric Institute for R, et al. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders DSM-5*. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association (2013).
- Ghaziuddin M, Ghaziuddin N, Greden J. Depression in persons with autism: implications for research and clinical care. J Autism Develop Disord. (2002) 32:299–306. doi: 10.1023/A:1016330802348
- Leyfer OT, Folstein SE, Bacalman S, Davis NO, Dinh E, Morgan J, et al. Comorbid psychiatric disorders in children with autism: interview development and rates of disorders J Autism Develop Disord. (2006) 36:849–61. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0123-0
- Matson JL, Nebel-Schwalm M. Assessing challenging behaviors in children with autism spectrum disorders: a review. *Res Develop Disabilit.* (2007) 28:567–79. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2006.08.001
- Simonoff, E., Pickles, A., Chairman, T., Chandler, S., Loucas, T., and Baird, G. (2008). Psychiatric disorders in children with autism spectrum disorders: Prevalence, comorbidity and associated factors in a population-derived sample. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 47, 921–9. doi: 10.1097/CHI.0b013e318179964f
- LoVullo SV, Matson JL. Comorbid psychopathology in adults with autism spectrum disorders and intellectual disabilities. *Res Develop Disabilit.* (2009) 30:1288–96. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2009.05.004
- Smith KR, Matson JL. Social skills: differences among adults with intellectual disabilities, co-morbid autism spectrum disorders and epilepsy. *Res Develop Disabilit.* (2010c) 31, 1366–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2010. 07.002

design and methods, supervised assay of project samples, and provided editorial comments on the manuscript. NG assisted in writing the introduction of this manuscript. AS was contracted as consultant for this study and provided editorial edits to this manuscript. RG was the principal investigator of this study and contributed to writing the majority of this manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Portions of the research described in this study have been previously presented at the International Meeting for Autism Research in May 2016 (Baltimore, USA). The authors gratefully acknowledge children and families who participated in this study along with those who assisted with this project: Briar Dechant, Laurie Burnside, MSM, CCRC, Shaina Holderness, MA, Tina Farrell, CCC-SLP, Jessie Lucas, BA, Kat Blasco, MSW, and staff and volunteers of the Hearts and Horses Therapeutic Riding Center, particularly program director, Jan Pollema, M.Ed., Alex Whittey, and Michele Kane, MA, LPCC and Tamara Merritt. We also thank Luitpold Pharmaceuticals and Allen Mann for donating Adequan[®] for the horses in this study in coordination with the riding center's veterinarian and thank Stephanie Luallin for her technical assistance formatting this manuscript.

- Smith KR, Matson JL. Psychopathology: differences among adults with intellectually disabled, comorbid autism spectrum disorders and epilepsy. *Res Develop Disabilit.* (2010b) 31:743–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2010. 01.016
- Smith KR, Matson JL. Behavior problems: differences among intellectually disabled adults with co-morbid autism spectrum disorders and epilepsy. *Res Develop Disabilit.* (2010a) 31:1062–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2010. 04.003
- Mayes SD, Calhoun SL, Murray MJ, Ahuja M, Smith LA. Anxiety, depression, and irritability in children with autism relative to other neuropsychiatric disorders and typical development. *Res Autism Spectr Disord.* (2011) 5:474–85. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2010.06.012
- Siegel M, Gabriels RL. Psychiatric hospital treatment of children with autism and serious behavioral disturbance. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am.* (2014) 23:125–42. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2013.07.004
- McGonigle JJ, Venkat A, Beresford C, Campbell TP, Gabriels RL. Management of agitation in individuals with autism spectrum disorders in the emergency department. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am* (2014) 23:83–95. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2013.08.003
- Nayfack AM, Huffman LC, Feldman HM, Chan J, Saynina O, Wise PH. Hospitalizations of children with autism increased from 1999 to 2009. J Autism Develop Disord. (2014) 44:1087–94. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1965-x
- O'Haire ME. Animal-assisted intervention for autism spectrum disorder: a systematic literature review. J Autism Dev Disord. (2013) 43:1606–22. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1707-5
- O'Haire ME. Research on animal-assisted intervention and autism spectrum disorder, 2012–2015. *Appl Develop Sci.* (2017) 21:200–16. doi: 10.1080/10888691.2016.1243988
- Aman MG, Singh NN, Stewart AW, Field CJ. The aberrant behavior checklist: a behavior rating scale for the assessment of treatment effects. *Am J Mental Defic.* (1985) 89:485–91.
- 18. Constantino JN. *The Social Responsiveness Scale*. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services (2002).

- Harris A, Williams JM. The impact of a horse riding intervention on the social functioning of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2017) 14:776. doi: 10.3390/ijerph140 70776
- Anestis MD, Anestis JC, Zawilinski LL, Hopkins TA, Lilienfeld SO. Equinerelated treatments for mental disorders lack empirical support: a systematic review of empirical investigations. *J Clin Psychol.* (2014) 70:1115–32. doi: 10.1002/jclp.22113
- 21. Arnold LE. The alone rangers and silver. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2015) 54:535–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2015.04.010
- Beetz A, Uvnas-Moberg K, Julius H, Kotrschal K. Psychosocial and psychophysiological effects of human-animal interactions: the possible role of oxytocin. *Front Psychol.* (2012) 3:234. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00234
- van Steensel FJ, Bögels SM, Perrin S. Anxiety disorders in children and adolescents with autistic spectrum disorders: a meta-analysis. *Clin Child Family Psychol Rev.* (2011) 14:302. doi: 10.1007/s10567-011-0097-0
- 24. Berkowitz L. Aggression: Its Causes, Consequences, and Control. New York, NY: Mcgraw-Hill Book Company (1993).
- Granger DA, Fortunato CK, Beltzer EK, Virag M, Bright MA, Out D. Focus on methodology: salivary bioscience and research on adolescence: an integrated perspective. J Adolesc. (2012) 35:1081–95. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2012.01.005
- Taylor JL, Corbett BA. A review of rhythm and responsiveness of cortisol in individuals with autism spectrum disorders. *Psychoneuroendrinology* (2014) 49:207–28. doi: 10.10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.07.015
- Mikita N, Hollocks MJ, Papadopoulos AS, Aslani A, Harrison S, Leibenluft E, et al. Irritability in boys with autism spectrum disorders: an investigation of physiological reactivity. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* (2015) 56:1118–26. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12382
- Corbett BA, Mendoza S, Abdullah M, Wegelin JA, Levine S. Cortisol circadian rhythms and response to stress in children with autism. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2006) 31:59–68. doi: 10.1016/j. psyneuen.2005.05.011
- Spratt EG, Nicholas JS, Brady KT, Carpenter LA, Hatcher CR, Meekins KA, et al. Enhanced cortisol response to stress in children in autism. J Autism Develop Disord. (2012) 42:75–81. doi: 10.1007/s10803-011-1214-0
- Pendry P, Smith AN, Roeter SM. Randomized trial examines effects of equine facilitated learning on adolescents' basal cortisol levels. *Hum Ani Interact Bull.* (2014) 2:80–95. Available online at: https://www.keulseweg.nl/media/ onderzoek12.pdf
- Viau R, Arsenault-Lapierre G, Fecteau S, Champagne N, Walker C-D, Lupien,S. Effect of service dogs on salivary cortisol secretion in autistic children. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2010) 35:1187–93. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.02.004
- Tabares C, Vicente F, Sánchez S, Aparicio A, Alejo S, Cubero J. Quantification of hormonal changes by effects of hippotherapy in the autistic population. *Neurochem J.* (2012) 6:311–6. doi: 10.1134/S1819712412040125

- Rutter M, Bailey A, Lord C. Social Communication Questionnaire. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services (2003).
- Lord C, Rutter M, diLavore PC, Risi S, Gotham K, Bishop S. Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule 2nd Edition Manual. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services (2012).
- 35. Roid GH, Miller LJ. *Leiter International Performance Scale-Revised (Leiter-R)* Wood Dale, IL: Stoelting (1997).
- PATH International. PATH International. (2011). Available online at : http:// www.pathintl.org/ (Accessed Feb 21, 2018).
- Nauta MH, Scholing A, Rapee RM, Abbott M, Spence SH, Waters A. A parent report measure of children's anxiety. *Behav Res Ther* (2004) 42:813–39. doi: 10.1016/S0005-7967(03)00200-6
- Shoffner A, Gabriels R. Therapeutic Horseback Riding Intervention Manual. Unpublished Manusript, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO (2008).
- 39. Miller JF, Chapman RS. SALT: A computer program for the Systematic Analysis of Language Transcripts. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin (2000).
- Clow A, Hucklebridge F, Stalder T, Evans P, Thorn L. The cortisol awakening response: more than a measure of HPA axis function. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2010) 35:97–103. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.12.011
- Kirschbaum C, Wust S, Faig HG, Hellhammer DH. Heritability of cortisol responses to human corticotropin-releasing hormone, ergometry, and psychological stress in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (1992) 75:1526–30.

Conflict of Interest Statement: RG is a co-author of the book, Growing Up with Autism: Working with School-aged Children and Adolescents (Guilford Press) and the book, Autism from Research to Individualized Practice (Jessica Kingsley Publishers), from which she receives royalties. Current grant funding for RG provided by Simons and Lurie Foundations, MARS/WALTHAM, and The Human-Animal Bond Research Institute (HABRI) Foundation. We note that DG is the founder and Chief Scientific and Strategy advisor at Salimetrics and Salivabio and the nature of these relationships is managed by the policies of the committees on conflict of interest at Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine and the University of California at Irvine

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Pan, Granger, Guérin, Shoffner and Gabriels. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Measuring Human-Animal Attachment in a Large U.S. Survey: Two Brief Measures for Children and Their Primary Caregivers

Regina M. Bures^{1*}, Megan Kiely Mueller^{2,3} and Nancy R. Gee^{4,5}

¹ Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD), Bethesda, MD, United States, ² Cummings School of Veterinary Medicine, Tufts University, North Grafton, MA, United States, ³ Tisch College of Civic Life, Tufts University, Medford, MA, United States, ⁴ Department of Psychology, SUNY at Fredonia, Fredonia, NY, United States, ⁵ WALTHAM Centre for Pet Nutrition, Melton Mowbray, United Kingdom

Researchers in the human-animal interaction (HAI) field face a challenge in generalizing the impact of pet ownership and companion animal interaction from small samples to larger populations. While researchers in Europe and Australia have included measures of pet ownership and attachment in surveys for some time (e.g., the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children), survey researchers in the United States have been slow to incorporate questions related to HAI in population representative studies. One reason for this may be that many of the current HAI-related measures involve long, complex scales. From the survey administration perspective, using complex scales is costly in terms of both time and money. The development and validation of brief measures of HAI will facilitate the inclusion of these measures in larger surveys. This paper describes the psychometric properties of two brief attachment measures used in the first population-representative study of child development in the United States that includes HAI items, the 2014 Panel Study of Income Dynamics (PSID) Child Development Supplement (CDS). We use two measures derived from the 29 item CENSHARE Pet Attachment Survey, one for children aged 8-17 (6-items) and one for the primary caregiver (3 items). The results suggest that such brief measures of attachment to pets are psychometrically valid and are a practical method of measuring HAI attachment in larger surveys using only a few survey items. We encourage HAI researchers to work with other ongoing surveys to incorporate these and comparable HAI measures.

Keywords: child development, human-animal interaction (HAI), population representative sample, measurement, Panel Study of Income Dynamics (PSID)

INTRODUCTION

Research on human-animal interaction (HAI) has focused on how companion animals affect the health and well-being for people of all ages [see (1-3)]. Pets are often given the status of family members (4, 5), and can play important roles in children's lives (6). The "pet effect" is that living with an animal can improve human health and well-being (7), and there is a growing body of evidence—both consistent, and inconsistent—exploring this concept. Some research has shown positive effects of HAI, including that pets can serve as a source of emotional support, ease anxiety, and encourage exercise (8). However, there are also a number of studies

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peggy D. McCardle, Consultant, New Haven, CT, United States

Reviewed by:

Mary Renck Jalongo, Haskins Laboratories, United States Chris Fradkin, Pontifical Catholic University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Regina M. Bures regina.bures@nih.gov

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Children and Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 28 September 2018 Accepted: 11 April 2019 Published: 14 May 2019

Citation:

Bures RM, Mueller MK and Gee NR (2019) Measuring Human-Animal Attachment in a Large U.S. Survey: Two Brief Measures for Children and Their Primary Caregivers. Front. Public Health 7:107. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00107 that have demonstrated mixed or null findings regarding the health benefits of pet ownership (2, 9). Most of the studies to date that have examined the association between companion animals and children's health, development and well-being have been based on small, non-representative sample sizes, which limits the generalizability of the findings. There remain significant gaps in our knowledge of the social and health consequences of human-animal interaction, particularly for children and child development.

Researchers investigating the impact of animals on human health and well-being recognize the importance of understanding the nature of the bond that humans and animals share [e.g., (10)]. Many researchers argue that deriving benefits from humananimal interaction is likely related to the type and depth of emotional connection between the human and the animal (8) and measures of pet attachment have been developed to assess this connection.

MEASURING ATTACHMENT TO PETS

Wilson et al. (11) concluded that few measures of pet attachment existed that were reliable and valid, but, since then, several measures have been developed. Anderson (12) provided the first compendium of measures of pet attachment and other aspects of the human-animal bond. Gee and Schulenberg (13) integrated information from this compendium and others (14, 15) into recommendations focused on examining the impact of animals in educational settings. The frequent use of attachment measures within the HAI field demonstrates the importance of understanding the quality of human-animal relationships as a component of the theoretical framework for understanding HAI in families. While progress has been made in measuring HAI, the field remains focused on small studies and there remains a need for brief measures that can be incorporated into population representative surveys.

INTEGRATION OF HAI MEASURES INTO NATIONAL SURVEYS

Several large European and Australian surveys have incorporated HAI measures but, to date, despite the fact that 68% of American households report owning at least one pet (16), few U.S. population-representative data collections do so. When HAI questions are included in U.S. surveys they often relate to a single topic such as dog ownership or dog walking (17, 18). One strategy for developing generalizable findings about HAI and child health and development is to add HAI measures into existing large scale, national surveys, such as longitudinal panel studies. This approach allows researchers to leverage robust and diverse samples and to use the longitudinal data to analyze how pet ownership affects human health and development. HAI measures can also be included cross-sectionally to allow for retrospective analyses using other measures of mental and physical health embedded within the study.

Few large-scale, longitudinal U.S. studies exist because of the extensive resources needed to develop and maintain such projects

over multiple periods of measurement. The trade-offs between survey length and costs limits the addition of new measures and, as a result, pet-related questions are usually limited to dog or general pet ownership. Based on small studies, we know that HAI appears to be a critical factor in promoting human health and healthy development, especially among children. We argue that, to assess the effects of pet ownership on health and development at the population level, measures of HAI included in large studies need to go beyond simple pet ownership to include measures of the quality of the human-animal relationship. Inclusion of HAI measures in large, population-representative studies requires the construction of short-form measures of HAI attachment. This paper describes two brief measures of HAI attachment (assessing child and parent attachment to pets) that can be incorporated into larger studies and, in doing so, addresses the need for validated, short form measures of attachment that can feasibly be included in large, population representative surveys.

PRESENT STUDY

To address the need for validated, short form measures of HAI in youth, we assessed the psychometric properties of a shortened version of an existing attachment measure CENSHARE Pet Attachment Survey (PAS); (19) within a longitudinal, nationally representative study. We also assessed a similar attachment measure for the primary caregiver, typically a parent.

DATA AND METHODS

The Panel Study of Income Dynamics (PSID) is a longitudinal, nationally representative household survey that began in 1968. The original sample comprised over 18,000 individuals living in 5,000 families in the United States. The PSID Child Development Supplement (CDS) is a supplemental study to the main study. The first CDS study collected data on a sample of children from PSID families who were 0 to 12 years old in 1997, and followed those children over three waves, ending in 2007-08. The CDS-2014 includes all eligible children in PSID households born since 1997. This paper uses publicly available, de-identified data from the PSID CDS dataset. For additional information on the PSID CDS see: https://psidonline.isr.umich.edu/Studies.aspx.

The CDS-2014 collected data on children from the household primary caregiver (PCG) and, for older children, the children themselves. Primary caregivers are parents/guardians, typically mothers, who co-reside with CDS children and answer questions about each CDS child and about themselves and the household environment. Pet-related questions were added to the instruments for both the PCG and the older children. The questions on pet ownership and attachment were added to the PSID-CDS with funding support provided by MARS/WALTHAMTM through the NICHD-MARS/WALTHAMTM public-private partnership. The inclusion of these questions in the CDS will provide baseline measures of levels of pet interaction and levels of child development that may potentially be revisited in future waves of data collection.

TABLE 1 | Pet Attachment Questions Included in the PSID CDS.

	Response distributions (100%)						
	Never	Sometime	es Often	Almost always	Mean (SD)	Correlation with total	Factor 1
Child Sample ($n = 931$)							
How often do you spend time each day playing with or exercising your pet?	5.4	29.3	37.4	27.9	2.87 (0.88)	0.5448	0.6274
How often is your pet aware of your different moods?	12.8	31.8	31.3	24.1	2.67 (0.98)	0.4365	0.5113
When you come home, how often is your pet the first one you greet?	7.5	22.4	22.2	47.9	3.11 (0.99)	0.5051	0.5834
When you feel bad, how often do you seek your pet for comfort?	15.6	33.1	24	27.3	2.63 (1.04)	0.5377	0.6168
How often do you consider your pet to be a member of your family?	1.8	5.7	11.8	80.7	3.71 (0.65)	0.4143	0.4815
How often do you have your pet near you when you study, read, or watch TV?	18.4	31	25.1	25.5	2.58 (1.06)	0.5066	0.5830
Total reliability (Cronbach Alpha)						0.7518	
Eigen value							1.95
Primary Caregiver Sample ($n = 1,536$)							
Do you spend time each day playing with or exercising your pet?	11.5	32.3	28.5	27.7	2.72 (0.99)	0.5921	0.6908
When you feel bad, do you seek your pet for comfort?	27.7	36.5	21.7	14.1	2.22 (1.00)	0.5722	0.6723
How often do you consider your pet to be a member of your family?	5.5	9.6	15	69.9	3.49 (0.88)	0.5050	0.5915
Total reliability (Cronbach Alpha)						0.7329	
Eigen value							1.28

The older children, ages 8–17, were asked questions about the characteristics of their pets and interactions with family pets, including whether the child has a pet as well as a favorite pet, type of pet, and six questions about pet attachment. For the PCGs, questions included the number and types of pets in families and the PCG's interaction with and attitudes about their pets. The petrelated items for PCGs included number and type of current pets, whether the family had a pet 5 years ago, reasons for not owning a pet, and three questions related to pet attachment.

The attachment items for both child and parental pet attachment are based on a subset of items from the CENSHARE PAS, which was comprised of 29 items [see (12, 19)]. The items included in the CDS were chosen to address several specific aspects of pet relationships that have been hypothesized as theoretically important aspects of the human-animal bond: physical activity engagement, emotional and social support, and proximity (6, 10, 20). The response options for the CDS attachment questions (e.g., "... How often do you spend time each day playing with or exercising your pet?") were "Almost always, often, sometimes, or never." For the analyses, the coding of the responses was reversed so that "almost always" was coded as 4; "never" as 1. An attachment score was calculated by averaging the 6 items for the children and the 3 items for the PCGs.

In addition to the pet attachment measures, we examined several demographic and family characteristics including sex, age, family size, presence of only one child under 18 in the household, only one pet in the household, dog ownership, and cat ownership. Sex is coded female = 1, male = 0. Age and family size are continuous measures. All other measures are dichotomous: the child is the only child under 18 in the household (or the PCG reports only one child under 18 in the household), child or PCG reports a single pet (1 = one pet, 0 = more than one pet). All children and PCGs in the analyses have at least one pet. Thus, we include measures of dog ownership [has dog = 1; other pet(s) = 0] and cat ownership [has cat = 1; other pet(s) = 0]. For the children, a single pet, typically a dog or cat, is reported on; the PCGs are asked about all family pets so they may potentially report both a dog and a cat.

The PSID CDS 2014 collected data from 2,525 PCGs, typically parents, and 1,508 older children. Because the focus of this paper is the pet attachment questions, we exclude cases with missing responses to these questions. Our analytic sample includes respondents who reported having one or more pets and responded to all of the pet attachment questions (1,536 PCGs and 931 children). Principal factor analyses, correlation matrices, and additional descriptive statistics are reported in the results. Statistical analyses were conducted separately for the child and PCG samples using SAS 9.4. All results are unweighted.

RESULTS

Table 1 summarizes the pet attachment questions included in the PSID CDS 2014. The response distributions of the questions demonstrate distribution across the response options. The only question to which a majority of both child (nearly 81%) and PCGs (70 %) responded "Almost always" was "… how often do you consider your pet to be a member of your family?" This is also reflected in the mean for this measure (range 1 = never to 4 = almost always): for children the mean response was 3.71 (SD = 0.65) and for PCGs 3.49 (SD = 0.88).

Our analyses of the pet attachment questions and attachment scales follow the initial Holcomb et al. (19) approach. To examine the internal consistency of the two sets of pet attachment measures, we conducted two principal factor analyses to explore the relationships between the pet questions included in the child and PCG surveys and single measures of human-animal attachment. A single factor was extracted for both the child

TABLE 2	Descriptive	statistics
---------	-------------	------------

Measure	%/mean	SD
CHILD SAMPLE		
Female	48.9	
Age	13.0	2.61
Only child in household	19.5	
Family size	4.6	1.46
One pet in household	43.6	
Dog	73.7	
Cat	17.8	
Attachment Score	2.9	0.63
PRIMARY CAREGIVER SAMPLE		
Female	79.4	
Age	37.6	9.08
One child in household	35.2	
Family size	4.0	1.32
One pet in household	43.6	
Dog	78.3	
Cat	34.1	
Attachment score	2.8	0.78

(6 item) and PCG (3 item) samples. For the child sample the eigenvalue was 1.95; the PCG sample eigenvalue was 1.28. For the pet attachment measures, we conducted correlation analyses and computed the Cronbach's coefficient alpha. **Table 1** summarizes the questions and the results of these analyses, including the overall Cronbach's alpha. The alpha coefficients for the analyses were 0.7518 (child) and 0.7329 (PCG), suggesting that the two sets of items have acceptable internal consistency.

For the children, the mean scores for the combined pet Attachment measure was 2.9 (SD = 0.63); for the PCGs, 2.8 (SD = 0.78). Additional descriptive results are summarized in **Table 2**. While almost half (48.9%) of the child sample was female, nearly 80% of the PCGs were female, consistent with most PCGs being the mothers. In the CDS 2014, 63% of the older children and 61% of the PCGs reported having one or more pets. Approximately 44% of both children and PCGs reported a single pet in their household. Among the pet families, dogs (73.7% child, 78.3% PCG) were the most common pet, followed by cats (17.8% child, 34.1% PCG). Differences between these numbers may be attributable to question wording: In the CDS, the children were asked if they had a favorite pet and what it was; whereas the PCG asked specifically about different types of pets.

ANOVA was used to test the significance of relationships between several key measures (see **Table 2**) and attachment. Oneway ANOVA was used to test for significance by gender, age, one child in house under 18, family size, one pet in household, dog in household, and cat in household. Girls (M = 2.99, F = 8.36, p < 0.004) and women (M = 2.84, F = 8.16, p < 0.004) had significantly higher levels of attachment than boys (M = 2.87) and men (M = 2.70). Age was not significantly associated with attachment for either the child or PCG samples. Only one child in the house under age 18 was significantly associated with higher attachment for both children (M = 3.04, F = 7.52, p < 0.006) and PCGs (M = 2.87, F = 5.04, p < 0.02) compared to children

(M = 2.90) and PCGs (M = 2.78) in households with more than one child. Family size was significantly associated with pet attachment for both children (F = 5.13, p < 0.0001) and PCGs (F = 2.48, p < 0.008), with higher attachment among the larger families. Children (M = 2.87, F = 6.29, p < 0.01) and PCGs (M = 2.70, F = 27.74, p < 0.0001) who reported having only one pet had slightly lower mean of attachment than other pet owners (child M = 2.97, PCG M = 2.90). This finding may reflect the diversity of pets with some pets such as turtles or fish being less interactive. Having a dog was significantly associated with higher attachment for both children (M = 2.99, F = 23.46, p < 0.0001) and PCGs (M = 2.92, F = 117.30, p < 0.0001), with the mean attachment score higher for dog owners than for other pet owners (child M = 2.76, PCG M = 2.42). The results for cats were mixed: for children with cats the attachment scores were not significantly different from those without cats (but other pets); for the PCGs, cat ownership was significantly related to higher attachment (M = 2.95, F = 26.37, p < 0.0001) compared to other pet owners (M = 2.74).

DISCUSSION

This purpose of this paper was to describe and evaluate two shortened versions of the CENSHARE PAS that were incorporated into the PSID CDS 2014. Principal factor and correlation analyses of our 6-item older child and 3-item PCG versions of the PAS demonstrated a single factor, general attachment, and acceptable reliability. Using 29 items, Holcomb et al. (19) had identified 2 subscales within the original CENSHARE PAS: relationship maintenance (16 items) and intimacy (11 items). These two subscales had similar scores (3.16, 3.17) and were moderately correlated. Of the questions included in the CDS-2014, the exercise (child & PCG), moods (child), and greeting (child) questions were identified as parts of the Holcomb et al.'s (19) relationship maintenance subscale; the comfort (child & PCG), family (child & PCG), and study, read or watch TV (child) questions were identified as parts of their intimacy subscale.

Our findings of a single factor are due in part to the limited number of items included in the two measures. The larger instrument will likely continue to be useful for smaller studies, where researchers may be more focused on describing the dimensions of the human-animal bond. The lower scale scores (2.93, 2.81) for these brief scales may also reflect the limited nature of the shortened items. These issues reflect some of the limitations of the current analyses: The current findings may be missing some of the nuance of the multiple attachment subscales. In addition, the design of the parent study, the PSID CDS, focused on child development and well-being. This limited both the number of scale questions and additional pet-related questions. Nonetheless, we argue that the benefits outweigh the limitations and encourage other researchers to explore the use of shorter measures in large, ongoing studies to incorporate a general measure of human-animal attachment in studies that may focus on broader social, behavioral, and health topics.

In comparing some of the ANOVA results, several findings are consistent with those of the earlier study including: greater levels of attachment among girls and women and lower levels of attachment in larger households. We also find higher levels of attachment among dog owners. Findings for the cats are mixed with, no significant relationship in the child sample, but a positive relationship for the PCGs. This may reflect the greater relative reliance of the PCG short scale on the intimacy subscale (2 of 3 items) of the PAS. These differences underscore the need to measure the presence of pets, as well as attitudes toward pets, consistently both within and across surveys.

The field of human-animal interaction continues to grow and there is an increasing need for shorted, validated measures of dimensions of human-animal relationships. This paper has demonstrated multiple benefits of the development and use of brief attachment scales. Shorter scales can be cost-effective when seeking to include measures in large, population representative studies such as the PSID where space is at a premium. In the current paper, we have demonstrated that the shorter scales appear to be reliable and valid indicators of a general measure of pet attachment for older children and their primary caregivers. There is an ongoing need to explore the validity of brief measures in more detail and conduct more detailed

REFERENCES

- Beck AM, Meyers NM. Health enhancement and companion animal ownership. Ann Rev Publ Health. (1996) 17:247–57. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pu.17.050196.001335
- 2. Purewal R, Christley R, Kordas K, Joinson C, Meints K, Gee N, et al. Companion animals and child/adolescent development: a systematic review of the evidence. *Int J Environ Res Publ Health.* (2017) 14:234. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14030234
- 3. Wells DL. The effects of animals on human health and well-being. *J Soc Issues*. (2009) 65:523–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-4560.2009.01612.x
- Cain AO. Pets as family members. Marriage Fam Rev. (1985) 8:5-10. doi: 10.1300/J002v08n03_02
- Sanders CR. Actions speak louder than words: close relationships between humans and nonhuman animals. Symbol Interact. (2003) 26:405–26. doi: 10.1525/si.2003.26.3.405
- Melson GF, Fine AH. Animals in the lives of children. In: Fine AH, editor. Handbook on Animal-Assisted Therapy. 4th ed. San Diego, CA: Academic Press (2015). p. 179–94.
- Herzog H. The impact of pets on human health and psychological wellbeing: fact, fiction, or hypothesis? *Curr Direct Psychol Sci.* (2011) 20:236–9. doi: 10.1177/0963721411415220
- Esposito L, McCune S, Griffin JA, Maholmes V. Directions in human-animal interaction research: child development, health, and therapeutic interventions. *Child Dev Perspect.* (2011) 5:205–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00175.x
- Miles JNV, Parast L, Babey SH, Griffin BA, Saunders JM. A propensity-scoreweighted population-based study of the health benefits of dogs and cats for children. *Anthrozoös*. (2017) 30:429–44. doi: 10.1080/08927936.2017.1335103
- Mueller MK. Human-animal interaction (HAI) as a context for positive youth development: a relational developmental systems approach to constructing HAI theory and research. *Hum Dev.* (2014) 57:5–25. doi: 10.1159/0003 56914
- Wilson CC, Netting E, New JC. The pet attitude inventory. Correct journal title is : Anthrozoös. (1987) 1:76–84.
- Anderson DC. Assessing the Human-Animal Bond: A Compendium of Actual Measures. West Lafayette, IN: Purdue University Press (2007).
- 13. Gee NR, Schulenburg AN. Recommendations for measuring the impact of animals in education settings. In: Gee NR, Fine AH, McCardle P, editors. How Animals Help Students Learn: Research and Practice for Educators and

analyses of differences in attachment across both human and pet characteristics and among additional populations, particularly younger children, where measurement of relational bonds via self-report measures can be challenging. Future work will take a deeper look at the current data to explore the relationship between pet attachment and multiple dimensions of family and child well-being and development.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This article involves secondary analysis of publicly available data. It does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed by any of the authors. Therefore, ethical approval was not required.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RB, MM, and NG all contributed to the abstract, literature review, introduction, and discussion. RB conducted the data analyses and drafted the data and methods and results sections.

Mental-Health Professionals. New York, NY: Routledge Publishers, Taylor & Francis Group (2017).

- Strauss E, Sherman EMS, Spreen O. A Compendium of Neuropsychological Tests: Administration, Norms and Commentary. London: Oxford University Press (2006).
- Wilson CC, Netting FE. The status of instrument development in the human–animal interaction field. *Anthrozoös.* (2012) 25(Suppl. 1):S11–55. doi: 10.2752/175303712X13353430376977
- American Pet Products Association. (2017). Industry Statistics and Trends. Available online at: http://www.americanpetproducts.org/press_ industrytrends.asp (accessed August 15, 2017).
- Reeves MJ, Rafferty AP, Miller CE, Lyon-Callo SK. The impact of dog walking on leisure-time physical activity: results from a populationbased survey of Michigan adults. J Phys Activ Health. (2011) 8:436–44. doi: 10.1123/jpah.8.3.436
- Thorpe RJ, Simonsick EM, Brach JS, Ayonayon H, Satterfield S, Harris TB, et al. Dog ownership, walking behavior, and maintained mobility in late life. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2006) 54:1419–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2006.00856.x
- Holcomb R, Williams C, Richards S. The elements of attachment: relationship maintenance and intimacy. J Delta Soc. (1985) 2:28–34.
- Payne E, Bennett PC, McGreevy PD. Current perspectives on attachment and bonding in the dog-human dyad. *Psychol Res Behav Manage*. (2015) 8:71–9. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S74972

Disclaimer: The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the National Institutes of Health, *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, or any component of the federal government.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Bures, Mueller and Gee. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Human-Animal Interaction Research: Progress and Possibilities

James A. Griffin^{1*}, Karyl Hurley² and Sandra McCune³

¹ The National Institutes of Health, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, Bethesda, MD, United States, ² Mars Incorporated, Global Scientific Affairs, McLean, VA, United States, ³ The WALTHAM Centre for Pet Nutrition, Leicestershire, United Kingdom

Keywords: human-animal interaction, animal-assisted interventions, anthrozoology, companion animals, service animals, child development, autism spectrum disorder, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder

Ten years ago, while reviewing the extant research literature on Human-Animal Interaction (HAI), a single question came to mind: "Why don't we know more about this topic?" (Griffin et al., 2011). A decade later the answer appears to have been, in part, a lack of infrastructure to organize and support stand-alone workshops and symposia at scientific conferences (and resulting edited volumes and journal articles) and concomitant sustained funding for rigorous research studies. As evidenced by this *Frontiers* Research Topic which includes 13 original data papers, the 10-year Public-Private Partnership (PPP) between the *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD) and the WALTHAM[®] Centre for Pet Nutrition (WALTHAM[®]), a part of Mars Incorporated, has enabled the Human-Animal Interaction (HAI) field to make remarkable progress in, by scientific standards, a very brief timespan (McCune et al., 2020). In the final Opinion paper of this *Frontiers* Research Topic, Human-Animal Interaction Research: A Decade of Progress, we provide a commentary on how progress in basic and translational HAI research can be sustained as well as explore how ongoing challenges and untapped possibilities will impact the next decade of HAI research.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Livio Provenzi, Neurological Institute Foundation Casimiro Mondino (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Andrea Saffran, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany

> *Correspondence: James A. Griffin james.griffin@nih.gov

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Developmental Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 17 June 2019 Accepted: 28 November 2019 Published: 20 December 2019

Citation:

Griffin JA, Hurley K and McCune S (2019) Human-Animal Interaction Research: Progress and Possibilities. Front. Psychol. 10:2803. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02803

EXEMPLARS OF PROGRESS FROM THIS *FRONTIERS* RESEARCH TOPIC

The 13 papers that comprise the core of this Research Topic are a microcosm of the advances that have been made in HAI research, including the range of human and animal participants, the rigor of the study designs employed, and the diversity (and commonality) of measures used to capture mediator/moderator and outcome variables of interest.

Human Participants

Although the initial studies funded under the PPP were constrained to those that would address the developmental mission of NICHD, the range of ages represented across the 13 studies is nonetheless impressive, with age of human participants ranging from 4-month-old infants (Hurley and Oakes, 2018) to adolescents (Pendry et al., 2018) and young adults (Syzmanski et al., 2018). The inclusion of a broad age range is important to document variations in HAI with development, and indeed, across the lifespan (Friedmann and Gee, 2018). Funding opportunities under the PPP were later expanded to include people with disabilities and those in need of rehabilitative services, further broadening the range of human participants (although this is not represented in this Research Topic because those studies are ongoing). In addition, the study participants represented in this Research Topic include children and adolescents from a wide variety of normative (e.g., Meints et al., 2018) and clinical populations (e.g., Gabriels et al., 2018; Schuck et al., 2018). Approximately half of the studies (7) represented are based on samples of typically developing children, with another including them as one of three subgroups. A range of clinical populations was represented in

157

the studies, including individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD, three studies), Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD, two studies), and incarcerated youth (one study). Despite the diversity of age and sample background characteristics, only one of the 13 studies (Jacobson and Chang, 2018) specifically examined the role of socioeconomic status (SES) as it relates to HAI and socioemotional outcomes. Racial/ethnic and cultural variables were not examined, and gender differences were not a focus of the analyses. One of the studies (MacLean and Hare, 2018) did not include humans at all; rather, it examined differences between assistance and detection dogs.

Animal Participants

It is important to note that the studies employed or examined the relationship of children to a wide variety of animals, including dogs (the most common), horses (second), cats, and guinea pigs. While these studies undergo ethical review to ensure the welfare of the animals, the animal part of HAI is often not assessed, and the majority of the studies did not report the results of measures in the animals assessing stress at the behavioral or physiological level. Likewise, most did not report complete information on the age and gender of the animal, spaying/neutering status, and, if part of an intervention, what training and certification the animal had received and when. Additional information on the handlers of assistance or service dogs if they participated during an intervention would also aid replication and meta-analysis of these variables across a wide range of studies.

Study Design

Four of the studies employed a randomized controlled trial design, and another employed an integrated control group design with each child being his or her own control (before and after a learning intervention and at the follow-up testing). One used survey data from a nationally representative study. The remaining studies used samples of convenience and employed surveys, observation, and laboratory testing to examine associations across a variety of types of HAI and child outcomes. Although progress has been made, more HAI studies are needed that employ randomized designs with sufficient sample sizes to ensure adequate power and control conditions that address competing explanations for detected effects.

Measures and Methodology

The 13 studies in the Research Topic employed a wide range of measures, including salivary cortisol to assess Hypothalamic Pituitary Adrenal (HPA) axis reactivity and stress levels (Pendry et al., 2018; Pan et al., 2019), survey questions (Bures et al., 2019), and a genetic assay to look at the relationship between a single polymorphism in the oxytocin receptor and individual differences in response to HAI activities (Kertes et al., 2018).

Two studies specifically focused on examining the psychometric properties of HAI survey items related to children's attachment to their pets (Hart et al., 2018; Bures et al., 2019) and another used observational coding of children's interactions with animals in a naturalistic setting (Gabriels et al.,

2018). Such methodology papers are critical to the advancement of HAI research.

LOOKING TO THE FUTURE

It is important to note that while the 13 research papers that make up this Frontiers Research Topic provide a fair representation of the types of research funded by the PPP, they are only a partial representation of such studies. Some of the PPP-supported investigations have already published their findings elsewhere, and others are still actively engaged in data collection and analysis. Likewise, important collections of HAI journal articles have been published on topics ranging from Animal-Assisted Interventions (AAIs) in special populations (McCune et al., 2017), the range of experiences children have with companion animals (Beetz et al., 2018), and the growing university-based infrastructure supporting HAI research (Serpell et al., 2017; O'Haire et al., 2018). Taken together, these efforts document the growth that has taken place over the last decade in HAI research. The overarching question now is what will be necessary to sustain such growth over the next 10 years?

The progress of the past decade covers a number of fronts: increased use of a single keyword to index publications (humananimal interaction), the widespread adoption of standardized terms and definitions (IAHAIO, 2014), increased methodological rigor in terms of study designs, standardized measurements (including genetic and biomarker assays), expansion of HAI research into new settings (Gee et al., 2017), and better communication across scientific disciplinary boundaries via scientific journals and professional societies (as evidenced by this *Frontiers* Research Topic). In order to build upon and sustain this growth there are a number of practices that need to be adopted or more widely utilized by the field, including but not limited to those outlined below.

Use of Video

Although significant progress has been made in measuring human and animal behavioral and physiological responses, the "I" in HAI has largely gone unmeasured. The availability of low-cost high-definition video recording and editing makes it possible for researchers conducting HAI studies in laboratories, homes and other naturalistic settings to record HAIs as they take place for later coding and analysis. An exemplar of this approach (Guérin et al., 2018) demonstrates the power of having video from multiple studies with different populations to establish the psychometric properties of a behavior coding tool. Indeed, using video to record both training sessions prior to implementing interventions and the interventions themselves could make it possible to implement the intervention at another site with fidelity, allow for the coding of behaviors by raters blind to the intent of the intervention, and provide a resource for secondary data analyses and meta-analyses. A data library, Databrary, partially funded through grants from the NICHD and the National Science Foundation (NSF), has been established to promote the archiving and sharing of video data to improve the reproducibility of studies and accelerate the pace of scientific discoveries across a range of disciplines (Gilmore et al., 2018).

Data Sharing

Clearly data archiving and sharing should not be limited to video data—HAI researchers should be encouraged to document and archive their datasets so that they can be used for secondary and meta-analytic studies by others in the field and by researchers from other disciplines who might code and analyze their data for variables of interest outside of HAI *per se* (e.g., language samples from young children interacting with their pets). One such data repository is the Data and Specimen Hub (DASH) funded by the NICHD, which provides archiving infrastructure for both electronic data and biospecimens (Hazra et al., 2018).

Documenting and Manualizing Animal-Assisted Interventions

With the proliferation of AAIs comes the challenge of reproducibility and dissemination. Few AAI studies report their interventions in sufficient detail to allow for replication by another researcher or a practitioner in the field. Such information is critical to avoid failures of replication or improper implementation with clinical populations. The potential list of such details is extensive; e.g., how free is the animal to approach/withdraw or to interact with a subject? Is the subject allowed to touch the animal, and if so, in what way? How is the animal introduced to the subject? How is the intervention executed (such as reading to an animal?). These details would likely need to be included in supplementary material for a journal article or to be available for download on a lab website (e.g., Tufts Institute for Human-Animal Interaction, 2016). Likewise, there is a need to systematically report on various training and certification programs for therapy and service animals (e.g., what criteria were used to screen and select the therapy animals and their human owners or handlers for inclusion in the study? Were one or more certifications accepted for the animals/handlers?). It is important to document such details for future replication studies and potential adoption by other service providers for AAIs as well as visitation programs, especially those serving potentially vulnerable populations (e.g., individuals in hospitals and nursing homes).

Inclusion

Although HAI research is carried out around the globe, the majority of studies conducted utilize convenience samples that are homogeneous in socioeconomic status, race/ethnicity, and cultural and religious background of the participants. Even fewer examine cross-cultural differences employing geographically diverse samples within and across countries (McCune et al., 2014). There is a great deal of work ahead for the field to fully explore these differences as they relate to HAI. These include the complex relationships between humans and other animals, with some seen as a source of food, others as beloved pets. As pet ownership becomes more accepted in some countries it is possible to treat this change as a natural experiment to examine how attitudes toward HAI change, and meet resistance, over time (Headey et al., 2008).

POTENTIAL PITFALLS: WHAT WILL NOT CONTRIBUTE TO GROWTH OF HAI RESEARCH?

While the remarkable growth of HAI research over the last decade has added significantly to our scientific knowledge base, it is worth highlighting a few persistent and new trends that will not contribute to the accumulation of knowledge regarding HAI.

Pets Do Not Confer Immortality

It is now commonplace to hear a news report about the health benefits of pet ownership, only to hear a similar story highlighting the exact opposite results (Herzog, 2011). To be clear, it is very important to examine the health benefits of companion animals, service animals, and AAIs generally, including the mechanisms by which those gains are realized (Serpell et al., 2017), and to acknowledge the strengths and limitations of the corpus of research used as the basis for statements by, for example, the American Heart Association (Levine et al., 2013) and the Mayo Clinic (Creagan et al., 2015).

Not all studies indicate benefits, and the data are not consistently positive or in agreement. At the heart of the contradictory findings is the fact that many studies on both sides of the health claims debate are generated by survey data that provide very limited information, often having a single item on pet ownership and a few health questions (Batty et al., 2017). Such studies cannot take into account reasons for (or to forego) pet ownership, the length of pet ownership, the relationship to the pet (positive and negative), including attachment, etc. (Ding et al., 2017). There are very likely both positive and negative effects of pet ownership on human health, with the aggregated data resulting in statistically significant associations depending on the sample and covariates employed in the analysis (Mueller et al., 2018). Obtaining a pet to obtain health benefits would be like seeking a spouse because married people tend to live longer (Tatangelo et al., 2017); one would likely be unhappy with the outcome.

A similar cautionary flag must also be raised regarding the benefits of service animals with select populations: although the preliminary research findings are promising (O'Haire and Rodriguez, 2018), many factors must be taken into account in the decision to obtain a service animal, including the ability to care for it (Crossman and Kazdin, 2015).

Proliferation of Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

There are times when the generation of new research findings in a given area warrant a similar rapid turn-around in the number of systematic reviews in that area of science. One such example is AAI studies with children who have Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD), a topic which has generated a plethora of studies and two rapid cycle systematic reviews (O'Haire, 2013, 2016). That said, the number of systematic reviews and meta-analyses being conducted on this topic alone (Berry et al., 2013; Davis et al., 2015; Hill et al., 2018) indicates that disciplinary journals are being saturated with articles reviewing the same small set of papers with little or no cross-referencing of the other extant literature, including other systematic reviews. Journal editors and peer reviewers need to do at least a cursory search of the literature to see if manuscripts are sufficiently different from previous publications to warrant further consideration.

A similar issue will arise as data archiving becomes more common, allowing for secondary data analysis. Editors and reviewers must make sure any secondary papers are not reporting findings previously published by the original authors of the study. The bottom line is that to make meaningful contributions to the advancement of HAI research, investigators conducting systematic reviews and meta-analyses need to ensure that they are making a meaningful contribution to the current knowledge base and using the findings from their reviews and metaanalyses to make informed recommendations regarding future research directions, including topics, designs and measures. These reviews must not shy away from documenting null and negative effects, as well as noting adverse events that occur across similar interventions, as these are important for determining the risk level associated with an intervention and optimal ways to manage it.

CONCLUSION: BUILD IT AND THEY WILL COME

The PPP cannot claim credit for the significant advances in infrastructure supporting HAI research (university-based research centers, new dedicated journals, the second of two Frontiers Research Topics dedicated to HAI research), but it

REFERENCES

- Batty, G. B., Zaninotto, P., Watt, R. G., and Bell, S. (2017). Associations of pet ownership with biomarkers of ageing: population based cohort study. *BMJ* 359:j5558. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j5558
- Beetz, A., Hart, L. A., Jegatheesan, B. I., and Koda, N. (2018). Editorial: children and companion animals: psychosocial, medical and neurobiological implications. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 5:112. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00112
- Berry, A., Borgi, M., Francia, N., Alleva, E., and Cirulli, F. (2013). Use of assistance and therapy dogs for children with autism spectrum disorders: a critical review of the current evidence. J. Altern. Complement. Med. 19, 73–80. doi: 10.1089/acm.2011.0835
- Bures, R. M., Mueller, M. K., and Gee, N. R. (2019). Measuring human-animal attachment in a large U.S. survey: two brief measures for children and their primary caregivers. *Front. Public Health* 7:107. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00107
- Creagan, E. T., Bauer, B. A., Thomley, B. S., and Borg, J. M. (2015). Animal-assisted therapy at Mayo Clinic: the time is now. *Complement. Ther. Clin. Pract.* 21, 101–104. doi: 10.1016/j.ctcp.2015.03.002
- Crossman, M. K., and Kazdin, A. E. (2015). Additional evidence is needed to recommend acquiring a dog to families of children with autism spectrum disorder: a response to Wright and colleagues. J. Autism. Dev. Disord. 46, 332–335. doi: 10.1007/s10803-015-2542-2
- Davis, T. N., Scalzo, R., Butler, E., Stauffer, M., Farah, Y. N., Perez, S., et al. (2015). Animal assisted interventions for children with autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review. *Educ. Train. Autism Dev. Disab.* 50, 316–329. Available online at: http://www.jstor.org/stable/24827513
- Ding, D., Bauman, A. E., Sherrington, C., McGreevy, P. D., Edwards, K. M., and Stamatakis, E. (2017). Dog ownership and mortality outcomes in England:

can claim some small role in encouraging their foundation and development (Esposito et al., 2011), with a concomitant rise in the adaptation of rigorous research designs and methodologies and the use of standardized measures which allow for comparison of methodologies and findings across studies. All of these factors support the accumulation of a growing empirical knowledge base and interdisciplinary research teams capable of conducting high quality HAI studies. It is hoped that the PPP has and will continue to contribute to the maturation of a field that provides timely evidenced-based information to guide topics ranging from pet ownership and social isolation to addressing the contributions of service animals to the social functioning of children with ASD and military service veterans with PTSD. The breadth of the HAI field is both a blessing and a curse, but those committed to advancing our understanding of the complex relationship between humans and animals would not have it any other way.

AUTHOR'S NOTE

The views expressed in this article are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the National Institutes of Health, *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, or the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made substantial, direct and intellectual contributions to the work, and approved it for publication.

a pooled longitudinal analysis of cohorts. Am. J. Prev. Med. 54, 289–293. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2017.09.012

- Esposito, L., McCune, S., Griffin, J. A., and Maholmes, V. (2011). Directions in human-animal interaction research: child development, health, and therapeutic interventions. *Child Dev. Perspect.* 5, 205–211. doi:10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00175.x
- Friedmann, E., and Gee, N. R. (2018). Critical review of research methods used to consider the impact of human-animal interaction on older adults' health. *Gerontologist* 150: 964–972. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnx150
- Gabriels, R. L., Pan, Z., Guérin, N. A., Dechant, B., and Mesibov, G. (2018). Long-term effect of therapeutic horseback riding in youth with autism spectrum disorder: a randomized trial. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 5:156. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00156
- Gee, N. R., Griffin, J. A., and McCardle, P. M. (2017). Human-animal interaction research in school settings: current knowledge and future directions. AERA Open 3, 1–9. doi: 10.1177/2332858417724346
- Gilmore, R. O., Kennedy, J. L., and Adolph, K. E. (2018). Practical solutions for sharing data and materials from psychological research. Adv. Methods Pract. Psychol. Sci. 1, 121–130. doi: 10.1177/2515245917746500
- Griffin, J. A., McCune, S., Maholmes, V., and Hurley, K. (2011). "Human-animal interaction research: an introduction to issues and topics," in *How Animals Affect Us: Examining the Influence of Human-Animal Interaction on Child Development and Human Health*, eds P. McCardle, S. McCune, J. A. Griffin, and V. Maholmes (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 3–9.
- Guérin, N. A., Gabriels, R. L., Germone, M. M., Schuck, S. E. B., Traynor, A., Thomas, K. M., et al. (2018). Reliability and validity assessment of the observation of human-animal interaction for research (OHAIRE) behavior coding tool. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 5:268. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00268

- Hart, L. A., Hart, B. L., Thigpen, A. P., Willits, N. H., Lyons, L. A., and Hundenski, S. (2018). Compatibility of cats with children in the family. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 5:278. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00278
- Hazra, R., Tenney, S., Shlionskaya, A., Samavedam, R., Baxter, K., Ilekis, J., et al. (2018). DASH, the data and specimen hub of the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. *Sci. Data* 5:180046. doi: 10.1038/sdata.2018.46
- Headey, B., Na, F., and Zheng, R. (2008). Pet Dogs benefit owners' health: a 'Natural Experiment' in China. Soc. Indic. Res. 87:481. doi: 10.1007/s11205-007-9142-2
- Herzog, H. (2011). The impact of pets on human health and psychological wellbeing: fact, fiction, or hypothesis? *Curr. Direct. Psychol. Sci.* 20, 236–239. doi: 10.1177/0963721411415220
- Hill, J., Ziviani, J., Driscoll, C., et al. (2018). Can canine-assisted interventions affect the social behaviours of children on the autism spectrum? A systematic review. *Rev. J. Autism Dev. Disord.* 6, 13–25. doi: 10.1007/s40489-018-0151-7
- Hurley, K., and Oakes, L. M. (2018). Infants' daily experience with pets and their scanning of animal faces. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:152. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00152
- IAHAIO (2014). IAHAIO White Paper 2014: The IAHAIO Definitions for Animal Assisted Intervention and Guidelines for Wellness of Animals Involved. Retrieved from: http://iahaio.org/best-practice/white-paper-on-animalassisted-interventions/
- Jacobson, K. C., and Chang, L. (2018). Associations between pet ownership and attitudes toward pets with youth socioemotional outcomes. *Front. Psychol.* 9:2304. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02304
- Kertes, D. A., Hall, N., and Bhatt, S. S. (2018). Children's relationship with their pet dogs and OXTR genotype predict child–pet interaction in an experimental setting. *Front. Psychol.* 9:1472. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01472
- Levine, G. N., Allen, K., Braun, L. T., Christian, H. E., Friedmann, E., Taubert, K. A., et al. (2013). Pet ownership and cardiovascular risk: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 127, 353–363. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e31829201e1
- MacLean, E. L., and Hare, B. (2018). Enhanced selection of assistance and explosive detection dogs using cognitive measures. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 5:236. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00236
- McCune, S., Esposito, L., and Griffin, J. A. (2017). Introduction to a thematic series on animal assisted interventions in special populations. *Appl. Dev. Sci.* 21, 136–138. doi: 10.1080/10888691.2016.1252263
- McCune, S., Kruger, K. A., Griffin, J. A., Esposito, L., Freund, L. S., Hurley, K. J., et al. (2014). Evolution of research into the mutual benefits of human-animal interaction. *Anim. Front.* 4, 49–58. doi: 10.2527/af.2014-0022
- McCune, S., McCardle, P., Griffin, J. A., Esposito, L., Hurley, K., Bures, R., et al. (2020). Overview of a 10-year MARS-NIH research partnership. *Front. Vet. Sci.*
- Meints, K., Brelsford, V., and De Keuster, T. (2018). Teaching children and parents to understand dog signaling. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 5:257. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00257
- Mueller, M. K., Gee, N. R., and Bures, R. M. (2018). Human-animal interaction as a social determinant of health: descriptive findings from the health and retirement study. *BMC Public Health* 18:305. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5188-0
- O'Haire, M. E. (2013). Animal-assisted intervention for autism spectrum disorder: a systematic literature review. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 43:1606. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1707-5

- O'Haire, M. E. (2016). Research on animal-assisted intervention and autism spectrum disorder, 2012–2015. *Appl. Dev. Sci.* 21, 200–216. doi: 10.1080/10888691.2016.1243988
- O'Haire, M. E., Bibbo, J., Mueller, M. K., Ng, Z. Y., Buechner-Maxwell, V. A., and Hoffman, C. F. (2018). Overview of centers and institutes for human-animal interaction in the United States. *Hum. Anim. Interact. Bull.* 6, 3–22. https:// www.apa-hai.org/human-animal-interaction/haib/centers-and-institutes-forhuman-animal-interaction-in-the-united-states/
- O'Haire, M. E., and Rodriguez, K. E. (2018). Preliminary efficacy of service dogs as a complementary treatment for posttraumatic stress disorder in military members and veterans. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 86, 179–188. doi: 10.1037/ccp0000267
- Pan, Z., Granger, D. A., Guérin, N. A., Shoffner, A., and Gabriels, R. L. (2019). Replication pilot trial of therapeutic horseback riding and cortisol collection with children on the autism spectrum. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 5:312. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00312
- Pendry, P., Carr, A. M., and Vandagriff, J. L. (2018). Adolescents' affective and physiological regulation shape negative behavior during challenging equine assisted learning activities. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 5:300. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00300
- Schuck, S. E. B., Johnson, H. L., Abdullah, M. M., Stehli, A., Fine, A. H., and Lakes, K. D. (2018). The role of animal assisted intervention on improving self-esteem in children with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Front. Pediatr.* 6:300. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00300
- Serpell, J., McCune, S., Gee, N., and Griffin, J. A. (2017). Current challenges to research on animal-assisted interventions. *Appl. Dev. Sci.* 21, 223–233. doi: 10.1080/10888691.2016.1262775
- Syzmanski, T., Casey, R. J., Johnson, A., Cano, A., Albright, D., and Seivert, N. P. (2018). Dog training intervention shows social-cognitive change in the journals of incarcerated youth. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 5:302. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00302
- Tatangelo, G., McCabe, M., Campbell, S., and Szoeke, C. (2017). Gender, marital status and longevity. *Maturitas* 100, 64–69. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2017.03.002
- Tufts Institute for Human-Animal Interaction (2016). Animal-Assisted Interventions: How-to Guide for Facilities. Retrieved from: http://hai.tufts. edu/animal-assisted-intervention-manual-for-facilities-now-available-todownload/

Conflict of Interest: KH is employed by Mars Incorporated, Global Scientific Affairs, McLean, VA, United States. SM was employed by the Mars Incorporated, WALTHAM Centre for Pet Nutrition, Leicestershire, United Kingdom.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Griffin, Hurley and McCune. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

